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To OUR SHAREHOLDERS:

GULLEN/FROST BANKERS, ING.

U RS5TRONG RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 2007 AFFIRM OUR RELATIONSHIP-BASED

strategy. During a year in which financial services companies across the U.S. announced staggering

iosses, Cullen/Frost delivered solid performance, resulting in another record year. In uncertain times, when people

seek safety and quality, Frost is often that safe haven for both customers and investors. Over our 140 years as a

Texas-based company, we have thrived by remaining true to the principles and standards that built this company,

while delivering real value to our customers,

In navigating the current economic volatility, we
continue to focus on our core businesses—banking,
investments and insurance. Acquisitions we made in 2006
gave us a lift, helping us grow both loans and deposits, while
strengthening our fee income business,

Cullen/Frost again attained record levels of profitability
in 2007, reporting $212.1 million in annual eamings for the
year, or $3.55 per diluted commeon share, an increase of
9.5 percent over year-end 2006 results. We saw double-
digit growth in both loans and deposits, with the $7.8 billion
in loans and $10.5 billion in deposits both all-time highs.
Net interest income rose 10.6 percent to $518.7 million. Also
contributing to our results was an 11.4 percent increase in
nop-interestincome, to $268.2 million. Itwas especially good
to see olir net interest margin increase to 4.69 percent for the
year—an accomplishment, in light of the Fed cutting interest
rates by 100 basis points during the second half of 2007.

During our company’s long history, success in a given
year is never due 1o one single accomplishment. Rather, it is
the result of an ongoing process in which our philosophy and
values lead us to a business approach that, in turn, leads us
to make good, strategic business decisions. This approach, when
combined with outstanding execution, leads to our success.

Consistent with this process, we believe oursuccess
this year was partly the result of several strategic decisions
made in the past, based on our relationship philosophy. In
2000 we withdrew from the residential mortgage business,
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which we believed had lost its relationship focus and become
a commoditized business, with insufficient profitability.
During that same time frame, and for the same reason,
we also got out of the indirect lending business, primarily
automobile loans through dealers. And more than 20 years
ago, we sold our credit card portfolio, as this industry was
controlled by a small number of large money-center banks
and had become a business of scale.

These businesses are heavily weighted toward trans-
actions, not relationships. We felt we could instead enhance
value ro our customers by developing deeper relationships
and offering products with benefits that can make a
difference in the lives of our customers.

Another strategic decision came early in the fourth
quarter of 2007 when we purchased a seven-year
$1.2 billion interest rate swap that moved us to a more
interest-rate-neutral position, helping to mitigate the
possible impact of interest rate volatility on our earnings.
With this move, we hope 1o be judged on our performance
in the things that matter to our customers, with less impact
from the changes in interest rates.

To make sure our activities are aligned with our
objectives, last year we identified six strategic priorities, I
would like to share these with you and tell you a little
about how we are working to meet them. Our employees
have embraced them and are committed to keeping our

company on course.
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FiNaNcIAL HIGHLIGHTS

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS,

NET INCOME

PER COMMON SHARE DATA

Net Income — Basic
Net Income - Diluted
Cash Dividends

Book Value

PERFORMANCE RATIOS

Return on Average Assets
Return on Average Equiry
Net Interest Margin

Dividend Pay-out Rario

YEAR-END BALANCE SHEET DATA

Loans

Securities

Earning Assets

Total Assets

Non-interest-bearing Demand Deposits
Interest-bearing Deposits

Total Deposirs

Long-term Debt and Other Borrowings

Shareholders” Equity

EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

2007

13.485.014
3.5397.903
6.931.770
HL529.673
400.323
1.477.088

2006

$ 193,591

$3.49
3.42
1.32
23.01

1.67
18.03
4.67
37.91

$ 7,373,384
3,350,455
11,460,741
13,224,189
3,699,701
6,688,208
10,387,905

428,636
1,376,883




First, we will quickly address and identify under-
performing markets. Throughout our Texas markers, if we
see a market not performing as well as we'd like, we search
for any underlying reasons and address them promptly with
management-supported processes and priorities that help
our employees succeed.

Second, we will expand and align our financial center
network. Although we didn’t make any bank acquisitions
in 2007, we did open four new financial centers in our
markets, two in Austin, one in San Antonio and our first in
the city of Brownsville in our Rio Grande Valley region.
We also relocated three locations to upgraded new facilities,
all to better serve our customers in the growing Texas
markets we serve.

Third is to provide and communicate attractive value
propositions to our customers and prospects. Throughout
our company, we work proactively to help customers
experience the value and distinction of deep relationships.
As much of the financial industry moves away from the
relationship model to become more of a commeodity, our
relationship-based approach guides us in our business
decisions and helps us provide insight and counsel that will

make our customers’ lives better.
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years, we have developed processes to help us execute this
discipline. While we have focused on this discipline for
several years, we have moved it to a different level. Only afrer
analyzing what a customer truly needs do we suggest the
resources, products and services that will make a difference
to the customer’s future. This team-selling discipline is a
central factor in our growth.

Finally, we constantly work to improve our ability to
attract, develop and retain the right people. Now more than
ever, it is vital that we bring in outstanding people and help
them succeed as a part of our Frost team.

As [ mentioned earlier, we finished the year with
$7.8billioninloans,asolid 14.4 percent increase over the
previous year. While some of this growth was the result
of three acquisitions we made in 2006, our relationship
managers also worked to raise loan numbers for the year.
It is worth noting that commercial and industrial (C&I)
loans represent almost half of the total loan portfolio,
significantly higher than most other financial institutions. A
high percentage of C&I loans reflects stronger and deeper
customer relationships, including operating accounts
and a line of credit as a source of operating capital to the

business. This relationship advantage also applies in Frost’s

“ONLY AFTER ANALYZING WHAT A GUSTOMER

TRULY NEEDS DO WE SUGGEST THE RESOURCES,

PRODUGTS AND SERVIGES THAT WILL MAKE A

DIFFERENGCE TO THE CUSTOMER'S FUTURE.'

Fourth, we willincrease new customerrelationships
by effective prospecting. We began idenrifying top-tier
business prospects, and our relationship managers are
working through a list of 25,000-plus prospects that we
believe are more likely to appreciate Frost's relationship way
of doing business.

Fifth, team selling across product lines enables us
to broaden and deepen customer relationships. Over the

owner-occupied real estate loans, which represent more than
half of our total commercial real estate {CRE) portfolio. At
Frost, CRE loans represent 38 percent of total loans, a lower
percentage, on average, than our peers. Why this marters
is that we have relatively fewer transaction-based real
estate loans and more owner-occupied and C&I loans that
tend to fit well with our relationship approach and higher
profitability model.
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CULLEN/FROST BANKERS. ING.

We have developed a sophisticared and strategic
process of identifying companies that have steady growth
patterns and strong management that we believe are likely
to respond to the value of a long-term relationship with
Frost. Through repular contact, we are finding success in

helping these prospects understand our value proposition

well in our aircraft leasing program, where we successfully
expanded more than haif of aircraft lease transactions during
2007 1o full banking and investment relationships.

[ was pleased to see average annual deposits increase
11.2 percent over 2006, to $10.2 billion. By maintaining a

strong deposit base—34.5 percent of it in non-interest-bearing

“"FROST HAS ONE OF THE HIGHEST

RETENTION RATES

IN THE

INDUSTRY, AND WE

ARE JUSTIFIABLY PROUD OF THIS."

and moving their business to Frost when they are ready to
make a change. Qur Texas customers know we are here
for the long term, supporting them and serving as strategic
partners and advisors.

We areseeing greatacceptance of our remote deposit
capture product, which we launched in 2006, enabling
commercial customers to deposit checks electronically
from their office computer at any time, without the need
to come into a Frost location. With increased traffic and
gas prices, customers appreciate the convenience of this
enhancement. During the third quarter, we extended the
deadline for same-day deposits to two hours after our motor
banks close. This allows customers to get same-day credit
for deposits made up to 8:00 p.m. We now have more
than 900 depositing locations using remote capture, with
monthly totals deposited now regularly exceeding $1 billion.
Remote capture gives us an opportunity to Sccept deposits
from customers with locations outside of Texas, and we now
receive deposits from 20 additional states.

Frost Leasing has seen good success through referrals
from other business units at Frost. Our commercial leasing
division now partners with major manufacturers of medical
and dental equipment, as well as other heavy equipment, to
provide competitive financing through Frost Leasing. We
anticipate that this vendor finance program will not only
produce higher leasing volumes but also provide another touch

point in our team-selling efforts. This discipline has worked

deposits—we are able to manage our cost of funds, a strategy
that is central to our business model. As loans have grown,
our loan-to-deposir ratio has also increased, to 73 percent,
but this is still well below our peers. Qur solid deposit base
continues to give Frost an important funding advantage.

Technology continues to be important, with plans
to update our commercial loan platform. We are also
committed to upgrading the technology that supports the
sales and customer service functions in consumer banking.
This investment in the future will help us take better care
of our customers. '

We constantly work to improve the reliability and
security of our online banking service and web site, and to
make it easier for our individual and business customers to
use. To provide an extra level of security, we launched multi-
factor authentication for consumers and small businesses in
late 2006, and issued security tokens to larger companies
with more complex treasury management needs.

During the year, we introduced a new online banking
user interface to better organize the site and make it easier
for customers to see account activity and make transactions,
At the same time, we added efficiencies to improve
response and performance. We look forward to adding
new functionality in 2008 and are particularly excited
about the launch of online banking in Spanish this year.
Close to 60 percentof consumer customers and more than

40 percent of business customers now use online banking,
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a percentage that has grown steadily since we first launched
our online banking platform a decade ago. Online banking
continues to be an integral way many of our customers
du business with us, and we are committed to conrinually
innovating in this area.

Helping to fulfill our value propositions, in 2007, we
repositioned our consumer checking products, enhancing
them with new features and reducing costs of some services
to make them more attractive. Even as we continue to
see positive growth in the number of consumer checking
accounts, we always keep an eye on retention ratios. Frost
has one of the highest retention rates in the industry, and
we are justifiably proud of this. At year-end, we also saw
a 16 percent growth in our home equity products, while
maintaining good asset quality.

As | mentioned earlier in this letter, we opened seven
new financial centers in 2007, four new ones and three
relocations. During the year, we opened the Stone Oak

financial center in an area of San Antonio experiencing

“"PRIVATE TRUST,

SERVIGCES,

BROKERAGE AND

REPORT 2007

expansion reflects the strategic and analytical approach we
take in selecting financial center locations by identifying
areas with existing businesses and households, as well
as growth potential.

Our commitment to accessibility reached a new level
this year as we became the first financial institution in the
nation to offer real-time American Sign Language (ASL)
interpretation service to the deaf and hard-of-hearing
community through a partnership with Deaf Link®. The
program, which was initially offered in four locations in
San Antonio, will expand to all Frost regions by the end of
2008. In these locations, videoconference equipment helps
our employees connect to ASL interpreters at Deaf Link®,
enabling us to communicate with deaf and hard-of-hearing
customers in their language.

Non-interest income continues to represent approx-
imately one-third of our total income, as we offer our
customers a wide array of investment and custodial services,

treasury management services and insurance products.

INVESTMENT

RETIREMENT SERVICES AND

WEALTH MANAGEMENT SERVIGCES ALL PERFORMED

EXTREMELY WELL FOR US THIS YEAR. '

great growth and encompassing a large medical community.
We opened two financial centers in the burgeoning Austin
market, one in the 26 Doors center near the Seton Medical
Center and one at Tech Ridge, in north Austin. During
2007, we opened a location in Brownsville, our first in
this city. We also replaced several older locations with
newer facilities. In San Antonio, we moved our Central
Park location, which had been in an office building, into
a free-standing financial center called Park North. In the
Houston region, we relocated our NASA financial center to
anew building. We also moved our Alamo financial center in
the Rio Grande Valley region into a new, larger facility. This

Our Financial Management Group continues to make
a strong contribution to our bottom line, with managed and
custodial trust assets growing to $24.8 billion by the end of
the year. Private rrust, brokerage and investment services,
retirement services and wealth management services all
performed extremely well for us this year. Our brokerage
division had its best year ever, representing a 42.1 percent
increase in fee income over 2006. Frost’s team-selling
approach has brought additional awareness to investment
services, especially in times of economic uncertainty, as
more people realize they may need help in managing their

investments. Wealth management services now has offices
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in San Antonio and Dallas, providing comprehensive and
integrated financial, investment, tax and estate planning
advice for our highest-net-worth clients across the state. Fee
income from wealth management services increased by nearly
. 77 percent over the previous year, with John Eadie and his
team doing an outstanding job. John was again recognized
by Worth magazine as one of the nation’s top 100 wealth

advisors, and we are proud of his accomplishments.

“"AMID

THE VOLATILITY

of reassurance, and we have already seen some effects of
this flight to quality. We learned important lessons from our
experiences in other difficult times—including the Great
Depression and the energy, real estate and banking crisis
of the 1980s—that will help guide us through the current
difficult economic times, Thar said, it is worth noting that the
Texas economy continues to outpace that of the nation, with

a job growth of 3 percent last year, double that of the rest of

IN THE FINANGIAL

MARKETS DURING 2007,

WE HAD OUR BEST YEAR EVER.

Through our Capital Markets group, we continue
to offer derivarives to hedge commodity prices or interest rate
risks thata client may have. For example, we have been selling
derivatives in commodities like natural gas and heating oil,
where producers need to fix the price and limir risk.

Our insurance subsidiary has grown steadily, producing
an 18 percent increase in revenue from new business over the
previous year. Team selling efforts from trust, brokerage, and
personal and commercial bankers accounted for 19 percent
of new business and validated our approach. Insurance
commissions for the year grew 8 percent. Lare in the year,
we acquired an independent employee benefits company,
Prime Benefits, to compiement our Austin region.

One subtle change you may have noticed this year, if
you received mail from us or called us, is that we now call
ourselves Frost, rather than Frost Bank, recognizing that
we are more than a bank. We have been in the banking
business since 1868, the investment and hiduciary business
since 1919 and the insurance business since 1999, so it
was time to reflect the breadth, and at the same time the
simplicity, of who we are and what we do.

Amid the volatility in the financial markets during
2007, we had our best year ever. Customers and investors
alike know that during times of economic uncertainty, the

depth and reach of our experience can provide a measure
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the country. Even in an environment of slowing economic
growth, I wouldn't want to be anywhere else but Texas.
As always, our outstanding employees make our success
possible. With their dedication, commitment and energy,
they develop the needed processes and prierities, and then
they help us succeed by executing well. They know, as [ do,
that the most important thing we do for our customers and
our shareholders every day is to add value, and I thank them.
I want to also express my appreciation to our directors,
who provide me with a valuable, independent point of view all
through the year. And my thanks also goto you, our share-
helders, far your confidence and belief in our company. We

will continue to work hard to earn and maintain your trust.

SINGCERELY,

QL érhs

DICK EVANS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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PART 1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The disclosures set forth in this item are qualified by Item 1A. Risk Factors and the section captioned
“Forward-Looking Statements and Factors that Could Affect Future Results™ in Item 7. Management's Discussion
and Analvsis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this report and other cautionary staiements sel
Jorth elsewhere in this report.

The Corporation

Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. (“Cullen/Frost™), a Texas business corporation incorporated in 1977, is a financial
holding company and a bank holding company headquartered in San Antonio, Texas that provides, through its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Corporation™), a broad array of products and services throughout
numerous Texas markets. The Corporation offers commercial and consumer banking services, as well as trust and
investrent management, investment banking, insurance, brokerage, leasing, asset-based lending, treasury man-
agement and item processing services. At December 31, 2007, Cullen/Frost had consolidated total assets of
$13.5 hillion and was one of the largest independent bank holding companies headquartered in the State of Texas.

The Corporation’s philosophy is to grow and prosper, building long-term relationships based on top quality
service, high ethical standards, and safe, sound assets. The Corporation operates as a locally oriented, community-
Dased financial services organization, augmented by experienced, centralized support in select critical areas. The
Corporation’s local market orientation is reflected in its regional management and regional advisory boards, which
are comprised of local business persons, professionals and other community representatives, that assist the
Corporation’s regional management in responding to local banking needs. Despite this local market, commu-
nity-based focus, the Corporation offers many of the products available at much larger money-center financial
institulions.

The Corporation serves a wide variety of industries including, among others, energy, manufacturing, services,
construction, retail, telecommunications, healthcare, military and transportation. The Corporation’s customer base
is similarly diverse. The Corporation is not dependent upon any single industry or customer.

The Corporation’s operating objectives include expansion, diversification within its markets, growth of its fee-
based income, and growth internally and through acquisitions of financial institutions, branches and financial
services businesses. The Corporation seeks merger or acquisition partners that are culturally similar and have
experienced management and possess either significant market presence or have potential for improved profitability
through financial management, economies of scale and expanded services. The Corporation regularly evaluates
merger and acquisition opportunities and conducts due diligence activities related to possible transactions with
other financial institutions and financial services companies. As a result, merger or acquisition discussions and, in
some cases, negotiations may take place and future mergers or acquisitions involving cash, debt or equity securities
may occur. Acquisitions typically involve the payment of a premium over book and market values. and, therefore,
some dilution of the Corporation’s tangible book value and net income per common share may occur in connection
with any future transaction. During 2007, the Corporation acquired Prime Benefits. Inc. (Austin market area), an
independent insurance agency that specializes in providing employee benefits to businesses. During 2006, the
Corporation acquired Texas Community Bancshares, Inc. {Dallas market area), Alamo Corporation of Texas (Rio
Grande Valley market area) and Summit Bancshares, Inc. (Ft. Worth market area). During 2005, the Corporation
acquired Horizon Capital Bank (Houston market area). Details of these transactions are presented in Note 2 —
Mergers and Acquisitions in the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data, which is located elsewhere in this report.

Although Cullen/Frost is a corporate entity, legally separate and distinct from its affiliates, bank holding
companies such as Cullen/Frost are generally required to act as a source of financial strength for their subsidiary
banks. The principal source of Cullen/Frost’s income is dividends from its subsidiaries. There are certain regulatory
restrictions on the extent to which these subsidiaries can pay dividends or otherwise supply funds to Cullen/Frost.
See the section captioned “Supervision and Regulation™ for further discussion of these matters.
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Cullen/Frost’s executive offices are located at 100 W. Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205, and its
telephone number is (210) 220-4011.

Subsidiaries of Cullen/Frost

The New Galveston Company

Incorporated under the laws of Delaware, The New Galveston Company is a wholly owned second-tier
financial holding company and bank holding company, which directly owns all of Cullen/Frost’s banking and non-
banking subsidiaries with the exception of Cullen/Frost Capital Trust I1, Alamo Corporation of Texas Trust [ and
Summit Bancshares Statutory Trust 1.

Cullen/Frost Capital Trust I, Alamo Corporation of Texas Trust I and Summit Bancshares Statutory Trust 1

Cullen/Frost Capital Trust I (“Trust II"") is a Delaware statutory business trust formed in 2004 for the purpose
of issuing $120.0 million in trust preferred securities and lending the proceeds to Cullen/Frost. Alamo Corporation
of Texas Trust 1 (“Alamo Trust™} is a Delaware statutory trust formed in 2002 for the purpose of issuing $3.0 million
in trust preferred securities. Cullen/Frost acquired Alamo Trust through the acquisition of Alamo Corporation of
Texas on February 28, 2006. Summit Bancshares Statutory Trust I (“Summit Trust™) is a Delaware stattory trust
formed in 2004 for the purpose of issuing $12.0 million in trust preferred securities. Summit Trust was acquired by
Cullen/Frost through the acquisition of Summit Bancshares on December 8, 2006. Cullen/Frost guarantees, on a
limited basis, payments of distributions on the trust preferred securities and payments on redemption of the trust
preferred securities.

Trust I, Alamo Trust and Summit Trust (collectively referred to as the “Capital Trusts™) are variable interest
entities (VIEs) for which the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary, as defined in Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN) No. 46 “Consclidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 (Revised December 2003).” In accordance with FIN 46R, the accounts of the
Capital Trusts are not included in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. See the Corporation’s
accounting policy related to consolidation in Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, which is
located elsewhere in this report.

Despite the fact that the accounts of the Capital Trusts are not included in the Corporation’s consolidated
financial statements, the $135.0 million in trust preferred securities issued by these subsidiary trusts are included in
the Tier | capital of Cullen/Frost for regulatory capital purposes as allowed by the Federal Reserve Board. In
February 2005, the Federal Reserve Board issued a final rule that allows the continued inclusion of trust preferred
securities in the Tier | capital of bank holding companies. The Board’s final rule limits the aggregate amount of
restricted core capital elements (which includes trust preferred securities, among other things) that may be included
in the Tier | capital of most bank helding companies to 25% of all core capital elements, including restricted core
capital elements, net of goodwill less any associated deferred tax liability. Large, internationally active bank
holding companies (as defined) are subject to a 15% limitation. Amounts of restricted core capital elements in
excess of these limits generally may be included in Tier 2 capital. The final rule provides a five-year transition
period, ending March 31, 2009, for application of the quantitative limits. The Corporation does not expect that the
quantitative limits will preclude it from including the $135.0 million in trust preferred securities in Tier | capital,
However, the trust preferred securities could be redeemed without penalty if they were no longer permitted to be
included in Tier 1 capital.

On January 7, 2008, the Corporation redeemed $3.1 million of floating rate (three-month LIBOR plus a margin
of 3.30%) junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures, due January 7, 2033, held of record by Alamo Trust.
Concurrently, the $3.0 million of floating rate {three-month LIBOR plus a margin of 3.30%) trust preferred
securities issued by Alamo Trust were also redeemed. On February 21, 2007, the Corporation redeemed
$103.1 million of 8.42% junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures, Series A due February 1, 2027, held
of record by Cullen/Frost Capital Trust I, a prior Delaware statutory business trust wholly-owned by the
Corporation. As a result of the redemption, the Corporation incurred $5.3 million in expense during the first
quarter of 2007 related 10 a prepayment penalty and the write-off of the unamortized debt issuance costs.
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Concuirently, the $100 miltion of 8.42% trust preferred securities issued by Cullen/Frost Capiial Trust I were also
redeemed. See Note 9 — Borrowed Funds and Note 12 — Regulatory Matters in the notes to consolidated financial
staterints included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, which is located elsewhere in this
report.

The Frost National Bank

The Frost National Bank (“Frost Bank™) is primarily engaged in the business of commercial and consumer
banking through more than 100 financial centers across Texas in the Austin, Corpus Christi, Dallas, Fort Worth,
Houston, Rio Grande Valley and San Antonio regions. Frost Bank was chartered as a national banking association in
[899, but its origin can be traced to a mercantile partnership organized in 1868. At December 31, 2007, Frost Bank
had c¢nsolidated total assets of $13.5 billion and total deposits of $10.5 billion and was one of the largest
commercial banks headquartered in the State of Texas.

ngniﬁcam services offered by Frost Bank include:

* Commercial Banking. Frost Bank provides commercial banking services to corporations and other
business clients. Loans are made for a wide variety of general corporate purposes, including financing
for industrial and commercial properties and to a lesser extent. financing for interim construction related to
rindustrial and commercial properties, financing for equipment, inventories and accounts receivable, and
acquisition financing, as well as commercial leasing and treasury management services.

* Consumer Services. Frost Bank provides a full range of consumer banking services, including checking
_accounts, savings programs, automated téller machines, overdraft facilities, installment and real estate loans,
home equity loans and lines of credit, drive-in and night deposit services, safe deposit facilities, and
brokerage services.

* International Banking. Frost Bank provides international banking services to customers residing in or

« dealing with businesses located in Mexico. These services consist of accepting deposits (generally only in
U.S. dollars), making loans (in U.S. dollars only). issuing letters of credit, handling foreign collections,
transmitting funds. and to a limited extent, dealing in foreign exchange.

-1 Correspondent Banking. Frost Bank acts as correspondent for approximately 300 financial institutions,
which are primarily banks in Texas. These banks maintain deposits with Frost Bank, which offers them a full
range of services including check clearing, transfer of funds, fixed income security services. and securities

. custody and clearance services.

s Trust Services. Frost Bank provides a wide range of trust, investment, agency and custodial services for
individual and corporate clients. These services include the administration of estates and personal trusts. as

, well as the management of investment accounts for individuals, employee benefit plans and charitable

. foundations, At December 31, 2007, the estimated fair value of trust assets was $24.8 billion, including
managed assets of $10.5 billion and custody assets of $14.3 billion.

* Capital Markets — Fixed-Income Services.  Frost Bank’s Capital Markets Division was formed to meet the
1 transaction needs of fixed-income institutional investors. Services include sales and trading, new issue
underwriting, money market trading, and securitics safekeeping and clearance.

Frast Insurance Agency, Inc.

Frost [nsurance Agency, Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Frost Bank that provides insurance brokerage
services to individuals and businesses covering corporate and perscnal property and casualty insurance products. as
well s group health and life insurance products.

Frast Brokerage Services, Inc,

Frost Brokerage Services, Inc. {“FBS”) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Frost Bank that provides brokerage
serviges and performs other transactions or operations related to the sale and purchase of securities of all types. FBS
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is registered as a fully disclosed introducing broker-dealer under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and, as such,
does not hold any customer accounts.

Frost Premium Finance Corporation

Frost Premium Finance Corporation is a wholly owned subsidiary of Frost Bank that makes loans to qualified
borrowers for the purpose of financing their purchase of property and casualty insurance.

Frost Securities, Inc.

Frost Securities, Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary that provides advisory and private equity services to middle
markel companies in Texas.

Muain Plaza Corporation

Main Plaza Corporation is a wholly owned non-banking subsidiary that occasionally makes loans to qualified
borrowers. Loans are funded with current cash or borrowings against internal credit lines.

Daltex General Agency, Inc.

Daltex General Agency, Inc. is a wholly owned non-banking subsidiary that operates as a managing general
insurance agency providing insurance on certatn auto loans financed by Frost Bank.

Other Subsidiaries

Cullen/Frost has various other subsidiaries that are not significant to the consolidated entity.

Operating Segments

Cullen/Frost’s operations are managed along two reportable operating segments consisting of Banking and the
Financial Management Group. See the sections captioned “Results of Segment Operations” in Item 7. Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note |9 — Operating
Segments in the noles to consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supple-
mentary Data. which are located elsewhere in this report.

Competition

There is significant competition among commercial banks in the Corporation’s market areas. As a result of the
deregulation of the financial services industry (see the discussion of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Mod-
ernization Act of 1999 in the section of this item captioned “Supervision and Regulation™), the Corporation also
competes with other providers of financial services, such as savings and loan associations, credit unions, consumer
finance companies, securitics firms, insurance companies, insurance agencies, commercial finance and leasing
companies, full service brokerage firms and discount brokerage firms. Some of the Corporation’s competitors have
greater resources and, as such, may have higher lending limits and may offer other services that are not provided by
the Corporation. The Corporation generally competes on the basis of customer service and responsiveness 10
customer needs, available loan and deposit products, the rates of interest charged on loans, the rates of interest paid
for funds, and the availability and pricing of trust, brokerage and insurance services.

Supervision and Regulation

Cullen/Frost, Frost Bank and many of its non-banking subsidiaries are subject to extensive regulation under
federal and state laws. The regulatory framework is intended primarily for the protection of depositors, federal
deposit insurance funds and the banking system as a whole and not for the protection of security holders.

Set forth below is a description of the significant elements of the laws and regulations applicable to Cullen/
Frost and its subsidiaries. The description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the statutes,
regulations and policies that are described. Also, such statutes, regulations and policies are continually under review
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by Coiigress and state legislatures and federal and state regulatory agencies. A change in statutes, regulations or
regulatory policies applicable to Cullen/Frost and its subsidiaries could have a material effect on the business of the
Corpofation.

Regulatory Agencies

Cullen/Frost is a legal entity separate and distinct from Frost Bank and its other subsidiaries. As a financial
holdin2 company and a bank holding company, Cullen/Frost is regulated under the Bank Holding Company Act of
1956, as amended ("BHC Act™), and is subject to inspection, examination and supervision by the Board of
Govemors of the Federal Reserve System (“Federal Reserve Board™). Cullen/Frost is also under the jurisdiction of
ihe Sei:urities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™) and is subject to the disclosure and regulatory requirements of
the Seturities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as administered by
the SEC. Cullen/Frost is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™) under the trading symbol “CFR.” and is
subject to the rules of the NYSE for listed companies.

Frost Bank is organized as a national banking association under the National Bank Act. It is subject to
regulation and examination by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“*OCC”) and the Federal Deposit
[nsurance Corporation (“FDIC™).

Many of the Corporation’s non-bank subsidiaries also are subject to regulation by the Federal Reserve Board
and other federal and state agencies. Frost Securities, Inc. and Frost Brokerage Services, Inc. are regulated by the
SEC, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) and state securities regulators. The Corporation’s
insurance subsidiaries are subject to regulation by applicable state insurance regulatory agencies. Other non-bank
subsidiaries are subject to both federal and state laws and regulations.

Bark Holding Company Activities

Ih general, the BHC Act limits the business of bank holding companies to banking. managing or controlling
banks'and other activities that the Federal Reserve Board has determined to be so closely related to banking as to be
a proper incident thereto. As a result of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Modernization Act of 1999 (“GLB
Act”), which amended the BHC Act, bank holding companies that are financial holding companies may engage in
any aétivity, or acquire and retain the shares of a company engaged in any activity that is either (i) financial in nature
or inc:dental to such financial activity (as determined by the Federal Reserve Board in consultation with the OCC)
or (ii) complementary to a financial activity, and that does not pose a substantial risk to the safety and soundness of
depository institutions or the financial system generally (as solely determined by the Federal Reserve Board).
Activities that are financial in nature include securities underwriting and dealing, insurance underwriting and
making merchant banking investments.

If a bank holding company seeks to engage in the broader range of activities that are permitted under the BHC
Act for financial holding companies, (i) all of its depository institution subsidiaries must be “well capitalized” and
“well managed” and (ii) it must fite a declaration with the Federal Reserve Board that it elects to be a “financial
holding company.” A depository institution subsidiary is considered to be “well capitalized” if it satisfies the
requirements for this status discussed in the section captioned “Capital Adequacy and Prompt Corrective Action,”
inclucled elsewhere in this item. A depository institution subsidiary is considered “well managed” if it received a
composite rating and management rating of at least “satisfactory” in its most recent examination. Cullen/Frost’s
declajation to become a financial holding company was declared effective by the Federal Reserve Board on
March 11, 2000.

In order for a financial holding company to comunence any new activity permitted by the BHC Act, or to
acquive a company engaged in any new activity permitted by the BHC Act, each insured depository institution
subsitliary of the financial holding company must have received a rating of at least “satisfactory” in its most recent
exarmuation under the Community Reinvestment Act. See the section captioned “Community Reinvestment Act”
included elsewhere in this item.

The BHC Act generally limits acquisitions by bank holding companies that are not qualified as financial
holding companies to commercial banks and companies engaged in activities that the Federal Reserve Board bhas
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determined to be so closely related to banking as to be a proper incident thereto. Financial holding companies like
Cullen/Frost are also permitted to acquire companies engaged in activities that are financial in nature and in
aclivities that are incidental and complementary to financial activities without prior Federal Reserve Board
approval.

The BHC Act, the Federal Bank Merger Act, the Texas Banking Code and other federal and state statutes
regulate acquisitions of commercial banks. The BHC Act requires the prior approval of the Federal Reserve Board
for the direct or indirect acquisition of more than 5.0% of the voting shares of a commercial bank or its parent
holding company. Under the Federal Bank Merger Act. the prior approval of the OCC is required for a national bank
to merge with another bank or purchase the assets or assume the deposits of another bank. In reviewing applications
seeking approval of merger and acquisition transactions, the bank regulatory authorities will consider, among other
things, the competitive effect and public benefits of the transactions, the capital position of the combined
organization, the applicant’s performance record under the Community Reinvestment Act (see the section
captioned “Community Reinvestment Act” included elsewhere in this item) and fair housing laws and the
effectiveness of the subject organizations in combating money laundering activities.

Dividends

The principal source of Cullen/Frost’s cash revenues is dividends from Frost Bank. The prior approval of the
OCC is required if the total of all dividends declared by a national bank in any calendar year wouid exceed the sum
of the bank’s net profits for that year and its retained net profits for the preceding two calendar years, less any
required transfers to surplus. Federal law also prohibits national banks from paying dividends that would be greater
than the bank’s undivided profits after deducting statutory bad debt in excess of the bank’s aliowance for loan losses.
Under the foregoing dividend restrictions, and without adversely affecting its “well capitalized” status, Frost Bank
could pay aggregate dividends of approximately $189.2 million to Cullen/Frost, without obtaining affirmative
governmental approvals, at December 31, 2007. This amount is not necessarily indicative of amounts that may be
paid or available to be paid in future periods.

In addition, Cullen/Frost and Frost Bank are subject to other regulatory policies and requirements relating to
the payment of dividends, including requirements to maintain adequate capital above regulatory minimums. The
appropriate federal regulatory authority is authorized to determine under certain circumstances relating to the
financial condition of a bank holding company or a bank that the payment of dividends would be an unsafe or
unsound practice and to prohibit payment thereof. The appropriate federal regulatory authorities have indicated that
paying dividends that deplete a bank’s capital base to an inadequate level would be an unsafe and unsound banking
practice and that banking organizations should generally pay dividends only out of current operating earnings.

Borrowings

There are vartous restrictions on the ability of Cullen/Frost and its non-bank subsidiaries to borrow from, and
engage in certain other transactions with, Frost Bank. In general, these restrictions require that any extensions of
credit must be secured by designated amounts of specified collateral and are limited, as to any one of Cuilen/Frost or
its non-bank subsidiaries, to 10% of Frost Bank’s capital stock and surplus, and. as to Cullen/Frost and all such non-
bank subsidiaries in the aggregate, to 20% of Frost Bank’s capital stock and surplus,

Federal law also provides that extensions of credit and other transactions between Frost Bank and Cullen/Frost
or one of its non-bank subsidiaries must be on terms and conditions, including credit standards, that are substantially
the same or at least as favorable to Frost Bank as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions involving
other non-affiliated companies or, in the absence of comparable transactions, on terms and conditions. including
credit standards, that in good faith would be offered to, or would apply te, non-affiliated companies.

Source of Strength Doctrine

Federal Reserve Board policy requires bank holding companies to act as a source of financial and managerial
strength to their subsidiary banks. Under this policy, Cullen/Frost is expected to commit resources to support Frost
Bank, including at times when Cullen/Frost may not be in a financial position to provide such resources. Any capital
loans by a bank holding company to any of its subsidiary banks are subordinate in right of payment to deposits and
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to certdin other indebtedness of such subsidiary banks, The BHC Act provides that, in the event of a bank holding
company’s bankruptcy, any commitment by the bank holding company to a federal bank regulatory agency 0
maintajn the capital of a subsidiary bank will be assumed by the bankruptcy trustee and entitled to priority of
payment.

In addition, under the National Bank Act, if the capital stock of Frost Bank is impaired by losses or otherwise,
the OCC is authorized to require payment of the deficiency by assessment upon Cullen/Frost. If the assessment is
not paid within three months, the OCC could order a sale of the Frost Bank stock held by Cullen/Frost to make good
the deficiency.

Capital Adequacy and Prompt Corrective Action

Bunks and bank holding companies are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by
state and federal banking agencies. Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt corrective
action regulations, involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items calculaled
under fegulatory accounting practices. Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments
by reghlators about components, risk weighting and other factors.

The Federal Reserve Board, the OCC and the FDIC have substantially similar risk-based capiial ratio and
leverage ratio guidelines for banking organizations. The guidelines are intended to ensure that banking organi-
ration$ have adequate capital given the risk levels of assets and off-balance sheet financial instruments. Under the
guidelines, banking organizations are required to maintain minimum ratios for Tier | capital and total capital to
risk-weighted assets {including certain off-balance sheet items, such as letiers of credit). For purposes of calculating
the ratios, a banking organization’s assets and some of its specified off-balance sheet commitments and obligations
are asdigned to various risk categories. A depository institution’s or holding company’s capital, in turn, is classified
in one' of three tiers, depending on type:

» Core Capital {(Tier 1). Tier 1 capital includes common equity. retained earnings, quatifying non-cumu-
lative perpetual preferred stock, a limited amount of qualifying cumulative perpetual steck at the holding
company level, minority interests in equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries, qualifying trust preferred
securities, fess goodwill, most intangible assets and certain other assets.

= Supplementary Capital (Tier 2).  Tier 2 capital includes, among other things, perpetual preferred stock and
trust preferred securities not meeting the Tier | definition. qualifying mandatory convertible debt securities,
qualifying subordinated debt, and allowances for possible loan and lease losses, subject to limitations.

*' Market Risk Capital (Tier 3). Tier 3 capital includes qualifying unsecured subordinated debt.

Gullen/Frost, like other bank holding companies, currently is required to maintain Tier 1 capital and “total
capita]” {the sum of Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3 capital) equal to at least 4.0% and 8.0%, respectively. of its total risk-
weighjed assets (including various off-balance-sheel items, such as letters of credit). Frost Bank, like other
depository institutions, is required 10 maintain similar capital levels under capital adequacy guidelines. For a
depository institution to be considered “well capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective
action. its Tier 1 and total capital ratios must be at least 6.0% and 10.0% on a risk-adjusted basis. respectively.

Bank holding companies and banks subject to the market risk capital guidelines are required to incorporate
market and interest rate risk components into their risk-based capital standards. Under the market risk capital
guidelines, capital is allocated to support the amount of market risk related to a financial institution’s ongoing
trading activities.

Bank holding companies and banks are also required to comply with minimum leverage ratio requirements.
The leverage ratio is the ratio of a banking organization’s Tier | capital to its total adjusted quarterly average assets
{(as delined for regulatory purposes). The requirements necessitale a minimum leverage ratio of 3.0% for financial
holding companies and national banks that either have the highest supervisory rating or have implemented the
appropriate federal regulatory authority’s risk-adjusted measure for market risk. All other financial holding
compunies and national banks are required to maintain a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%, unless a different
minintum is specified by an appropriate regulatory authority. For a depository institution to be considered *“well
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capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, its leverage ratio must be at least 5.0%.
The Federal Reserve Board has not advised Cullen/Frost, and the OCC has not advised Frost Bank, of any specific
minimum leverage ratio applicable to it.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended (“FDIA™), requires among other things, the federal banking
agencies to take “prompt corrective action” in respect of depository institutions that do not meet minimum capital
requirements, The FDIA sets forth the following five capital tiers: “well capitalized,” “adequately capitalized,”
“undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized” and “critically undercapitalized.” A depository institution’s
capital tier will depend upon how its capital levels compare with various relevant capital measures and certain other
factors, as established by regulation. The relevant capital measures are the total capital ratio, the Tier 1 capital ratio
and the leverage ratio.

Under the regulations adopted by the federal regulatory authorities, a bank will be: (i) “well capitalized™ if the
institution has a total risk-based capital ratio of 10.0% or greater, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 6.0% or greater,
and a leverage ratio of 5.0% or greater, and is not subject to any order or written directive by any such regulatory
authority to meet and maintain a specific capital level for any capital measure; (i) “adequately capitalized” if the
institution has a total risk-based capital ratio of 8.0% or greater, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 4.0% or greater,
and a leverage ratio of 4.0% or greater and is not “well capitalized”; (iii) “undercapitalized” if the institution has a
total risk-based capital ratio that is less than 8.0%, a Tier | risk-based capital ratio of less than 4.0% or a leverage
ratio of less than 4.0%; (iv) “significantly undercapitalized” if the institution has a total risk-based capital ratio of
less than 6.0%, a Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of less than 3.0% or a leverage ratio of less than 3.0%; and
(v) “critically undercapitalized” if the institution’s tangible equity is equal to or less than 2.0% of average quarterly
tangible assets. An institution may be downgraded to, or deemed to be in, a capital category that is lower than
indicated by its capital ratios if it is determined to be in an unsafe or unsound condition or if it receives an
unsatisfactory examination rating with respect to certain matters. Cullen/Frost believes that, as of December 31,
2007, its bank subsidiary, Frost Bank, was “well capitalized,” based on the ratios and guidelines described above. A
bank’s capital category is determined solely for the purpose of applying prompt corrective action regulations, and
the capital category may not constitute an accurate representation of the bank’s overall financial condition or
prospects for other purposes.

The FDIA generally prohibits a depository institution from making any capital distributions (including
payment of a dividend) or paying any management fee to its parent holding company if the depository institution
would thereafter be “undercapitalized.” “Undercapitalized” institutions are subject to growth limitations and are
required to submit a capital restoration pan. The agencies may not accept such a plan without determining, among
other things, that the plan is based on realistic assumptions and is likely to succeed in restoring the depository
institution’s capital. In addition. for a capital restoration plan to be acceplable, the depository institution’s parent
holding company must guarantee that the institution will comply with such capital restoration plan. The aggregate
liability of the parent holding company is limited to the lesser of (i} an amount equal to 5.0% of the depository
institution’s total assets at the time it became undercapitalized and (ii) the amount which is necessary (or would
have been necessary) to bring the institution into compliance with all capital standards applicable with respect to
such institution as of the time it fails to comply with the plan. If a depository institution fails to submii an acceptable
plan, it is treated as if it is “significantly undercapitalized.”

“Significantly undercapitalized™ depository institutions may be subject to a number of requirements and
restrictions, including orders to sell sufficient voting stock to become “adequately capitalized.” requirements to
reduce total assets, and cessation of receipt of deposits from correspondent banks. “Critically undercapitalized”
institutions are subject to the appointment of a receiver or conservator.

For information regarding the capital ratios and leverage ratio of Cullen/Frost and Frost Bank see the
discussion under the section captioned “Capital and Liquidity” included in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 12 — Regulatory Matters in the notes to
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, elsewhere in
this report.

The federal regulatory authorities’ risk-based capital guidelines are based upon the 1988 capital accord of the
Basel Commiittee on Banking Supervision (the “BIS™). The BIS is a committee of central banks and bank

10




supervisors/regulators from the major industrialized countries that develops broad policy guidelines for use by each
country’s supervisors in determining the supervisory policies they apply. In 2004, the BIS published a new capital
accord to replace its 1988 capital accord (“BIS I1™). BIS II provides two approaches for setting capital standards for
credit tisk — an internal ratings-based approach tailored to individual institutions’ circumstances and a standard-
ized adproach that bases risk weightings on external credit assessments to a much greater extent than permitted in
existing risk-based capital guidelines. BIS 11 also would set capital requirements for operational risk and refine the
existin capital requirements for market risk exposures.

The U.S. banking and thrift agencies are developing proposed revisions to their existing capital adequacy
regulations and standards based on BIS TI. In November 2007, the agencies adopted a definitive final rule for
impiedlenling BIS II in the United States that would apply only to internationally active banking organizations, or
“core banks” — defined as those with consolidated total assets of $250 billion or more or consolidated on-balance
sheet foreign exposures of $10 billion or more. The final rule will be effective as of April 1. 2008. Other
1J.S. banking organizations may elect to adopt the requirements of this rule (if they meet applicable qualification
requir¢ments), but they will not be required to apply them. The rule also allows a banking organization’s primary
federal supervisor to determine that the application of the rule would not be appropriate in light of the bank’s asset
size, level of complexity, risk profile, or scope of operations. This new proposal, which is intended to be finalized
before the core banks may start their first transition period year under BIS 11, will replace the agencies’ earlier
propoged amendments 1o existing risk-based capital guidelines to make them more risk sensitive (formerty referred
10 as the “BIS I-A” approach).

The Corporation is not required to comply with BIS 11, The Corporation has not made a determination as to
whether it will elect to apply the BIS I requirements when they become effective.

Deposir Insurance

Substantially all of the deposits of Frost Bank are insured up to applicable limits by the Deposit Insurance Fund
(“DIF") of the FDIC and are subject to deposit insurance assessments 1o maintain the DIF. The FDIC utilizes a rigk-
based nssessment system that imposes insurance premiums based upon a risk matrix that takes into account a bank’s
capita] level and supervisory rating (“CAMELS rating”). As of January 1, 2007, the previous nine risk categories
atilized in the risk matrix were condensed into four risk categories which continue to be distinguished by capital
levels and supervisory ratings. For large, Risk Category 1 institutions {generally those with assets in excess of
$10 billion) that have long-term debt issuer ratings, including Frost Bank, assessment rates are determined from
weighted-average CAMELS component ratings and long-term debt issuer ratings. The minimum annualized
assessnent rate for large institutions is 5 basis points per $100 of deposits and the maximum annualized assessment
rate is, 7 basis points per $100 of deposits. Quarterly assessment rates for large institutions in Risk Category 1 may
vary within this range depending upen changes in CAMELS component ratings and long-term debt issuer ratings.

Frost Bank was not required to pay any depasit insurance assessments in 2007. Under the Federal Depasit
[nsuraince Reform Act of 2005, which became law in 2006, Frost Bank received a one-time assessment credit of
$8.2 million that can be applied against future premiums, subject to certain limitations. This credit was utilized to
offset $4.2 million of assessments during 2007. As of December 31, 2007, approximately $4.0 million of the credit
remained available to offset future deposit insurance assessments, The Corporation expects this credit to be
available to offset assessments through the second quarter of 2008. This credit is not available to offset Financing
Corporation (“FICQ”) assessments. Frost Bank paid $1.2 million in FICQ assessments during 2007 related to
outstanding FICO bonds to the FDIC as collection agent. The FICO is a mixed-ownership government corporation
establ shed by the Competitive Equality Banking Act of 1987 whose sole purpose was to function as a financing
vehicle for the now defunct Federal Savings & Loan Insurance Corporation.

Depositor Preference

The FDIA provides that, in the event of the “liguidation or other resolution™ of an insured depository
institytion. the claims of depositors of the institution, including the claims of the FDIC as subrogee of insured
depositors, and certain claims for administrative expenses of the FDIC as a receiver, will have priority over other
generul unsecured claims against the institution. If an insured depository institution fails, insured and uninsured




depositors, along with the FDIC, will have priority in payment ahead of unsecured, non-deposit creditors, including
the parent bank holding company, with respect to any extensions of credit they have made to such insured depository
institution.

Liabiliry of Commonly Controlled Institutions

FDIC-insured depository institutions can be held liable for any loss incurred, or reasonably expected to be
incurred, by the FDIC due to the default of an FDIC-insured depository institution controlled by the same bank
holding company. or for any assistance provided by the FDIC to an FDIC-insured depository institution controlled
by the same bank holding company that is in danger of default. “Default”™ means generally the appointment of a
conservator or receiver, “In danger of default” means generally the existence of certain conditions indicating that
default is likely to occur in the absence of regulatory assistance.

Community Reinvestment Act

The Community Reinvestment Act of 1977 (“*CRA™) requires depository institutions to assist in meeting the
credit needs of their market areas consistent with safe and sound banking practice. Under the CRA, each depository
institution is required to help meet the credit needs of its market areas by, among other things, providing credit to
low- and moderate-income individuals and communities. Depository institutions are periodically examined for
compliance with the CRA and are assigned ratings. In order for a financial holding company to commence any new
activity permitted by the BHC Act, or to acquire any company engaged in any new activity permitted by the BHC
Act, each insured depository institution subsidiary of the financial holding company must have received a rating of
at least “satisfactory” in its most recentl examination under the CRA, Furthermore, banking regulators take into
account CRA ratings when considering approval of a proposed transaction.

Financial Privacy

In accordance with the GLB Act, federal banking regulators adopted rules that limit the ability of banks and
other financial institutions to disclose non-public information about consumers to nonaffiliated third parties. These
limitations require disclosure of privacy policies to consumers and, in some circumstances, allow consumers to
prevent disclosure of certain personal information to a nonaffiliated third party. The privacy provisions of the GLB
Act affect how consumer information is transmitted through diversified financial companies and conveyed o
outside vendors.

Anti-Money Laundering and the USA Patriot Act

A major focus of governmental policy on financial institutions in recent years has been aimed al combaling
money laundering and terrorist financing. The USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 (the “USA Patriot Act”) substantially
broadened the scope of United States anti-money laundering laws and regulations by imposing significant new
compliance and due diligence obligations, creating new crimes and penalties and expanding the extra-territorial
jurisdiction of the United States. The United States Treasury Department has issued and, in some cases, proposed a
number of regulations that apply various requirements of the USA Patriot Act to financial institutions such as
Cullen/Frost’s bank and broker-dealer subsidiaries. These regulations impose obligations on financial institutions to
maintain appropriate policies, procedures and controls to detect, prevent and report money laundering and terrorist
financing and to verify the identity of their customers. Certain of those regulations impose specific due diligence
requirements oh financial institutions that maintain correspondent or private banking relationships with
non-U.S. financial institutions or persons. Failure of a financial institution to maintain and implement adeguate
programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing, or to comply with all of the relevant laws or
regulations, could have serious legal and reputational consequences for the institution.

Office of Foreign Assets Control Regulation

The United States has imposed economic sanctions that affect transactions with designated foreign countries,
nationals and others. These are typically known as the “OFAC” rules based on their administration by the
U.S. Treasury Department Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”). The OFAC-administered sanctions
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targeting countries take many different forms. Generally. however, they contain one or more of the following
elements: i} restrictions on trade with or investment in a sanctioned country, including prohibitions against direct or
indirect imports from and exports to a sanctioned country and prohibitions on “U.S. persons™ engaging in financial
transactions relating to making investments in, or providing investment-related advice or assistance to, a sanctioned
country; and ii) a blocking of assets in which the government or specially designated nationals of the sanctioned
country have an interest, by prohibiting transfers of property subject to U.S. jurisdiction (including property in the
possession or control of U.S. persons). Blocked assets {e.g., property and bank deposits) cannot be paid out,
withdrawn. set off or transferred in any manner without a license from OFAC. Failure to comply with these
sanctions could have serious legal and reputational consequences.

Legislative Initiatives

From time to time, various legislative and regulatory initiatives are introduced in Congress and state
legislalures, as well as by regulatory agencies. Such initiatives may include proposals to expand or contract the
powers of bank holding companies and depository institutions or proposals to substantially change the financial
institution regulatory system. Such legislation could change banking statutes and the operating environment of the
Corporation in substantial and unpredictable ways. If enacted. such legislation could increase or decrease the cost of
doing business, limit or expand permissible activities or affect the competitive balance among banks, savings
associations, credit unions, and other financial institutions. The Corporation cannot predict whether any such
legislazion will be enacted, and, if enacted, the effect that it, or any implementing regulations, would have on the
financial condition or results of operations of the Corporation. A change in statutes, regulations or regulatory
policies applicable to Cullen/Frost or any of its subsidiaries could have a material effect on the business of the
Corporation.

Employees

At December 31, 2007, the Corporation employed 3,781 full-time equivalent employees. None of the
Corporation’s employees are represented by collective bargaining agreements. The Corporation believes its
cmployee relations to be good. ;

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The names, ages as of December 31, 2007, recent business experience and positions or offices held by each of
the exncutive officers of Cullen/Frost are as follows:

Name and Position Held Age Recent Business Experience
T.C. Frost 80 Officer and Director of Frost Bank since 1930,
Sentor Chairman of the Board Chairman of the Board of Cullen/Frost from 1973
and Director toc October 1995. Chief Executive Officer of

Cullen/Frost from July 1977 to October 1997,
Senior Chairman of Cullen/Frost from October
1995 to present.

Richard W. Evans, Jr. 61 Officer of Frost Bank since 1973. Chairman of the
Chairman of the Board, Board and Chief Executive Officer of Cullen/Frost
Chief Executive Officer and Director from October 1997 to present.

Patrick B. Frost 47  Officer of Frost Bank since 1985. President of Frost
President of Frost Bank and Director Bank from August 1993 to present. Director of

Cullen/Frost from May 1997 to present.

Phillip D. Green 53 Officer of Frost Bank since July 1980. Group
Group Executive Vice President, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Chizf Financial Officer of Cullen/Frost from October 1995 to present.

David W, Beck 57 Officer of Frost Bank since July 1973. President,
President, Chief Business Banking Chief Business Banking Officer of Frost Bank
Off cer of Frost Bank from February 2001 to present.



Name and Position Held Ape Recent Business Experience

Robert A. Berman 45 Officer of Frost Bank since January 1989. Group
Group Executive Vice President, Executive Vice President. Internet Financial Services
Internet Financial Services of Frost Bank of Frost Bank from May 2001 to present.

Paul H. Bracher 51  Officer of Frost Bank since January 1982. President,
President, State Regions of Frost Bank State Regions of Frost Bank from February 2001 to

present.

Richard Kardys 61 Officer of Frost Bank since January 1977. Group
Group Executive Vice President, Executive Vice President, Executive Trust Officer of
Executive Trust Officer of Frost Bank Frost Bank from May 2001 to present.

Paul J. Olivier 55 Officer of Frost Bank since August 1976. Group

Group Executive Vice President,
Consumer Banking of Frost Bank

Executive Vice President, Consumer Banking of
Frost Bank from May 2001 to present.

William L. Perotti 50 Officer of Frost Bank since December 1932, Group
Group Executive Vice President, Chief Credit Executive Vice President, Chief Credit Officer of
Officer and Chief Risk Officer of Frost Bank Frost Bank from May 2001 to present. Chief Risk

Officer of Frost Bank from April 2005 to present.

Emily A. Skillman 63 Officer of Frost Bank since January 1998. Senior
Group Executive Vice President, Vice President, Human Resources of Frost Bank from
Human Resources of Frost Bank July 2000 to October 2003. Group Executive Vice

President, Human Resocurces of Frost Bank from
October 2003 to present.

There are no arrangements or understandings between any executive officer of Cullen/Frost and any other
person pursuant to which such executive officer was or is to be selected as an officer.

Available Information

Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Cullen/Frost is required to file annual, quarterly and current
reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). You may
read and copy any document Cullen/Frost files with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street,
N.E.. Washington, ).C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about the public
reference room. The SEC maintains a website at http://www.sec.gov that conlains reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Cullen/Frost files
electronically with the SEC.

Cullen/Frost makes available, free of charge through its website, its reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, and
amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished to the
SEC. Additionally, the Corporation has adopted and posted on its website a code of ethics that applies to its
principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. The Corporation’s website
also includes its corporate governance guidelines and the charters for its audit committee, its compensation and
benefits committee, and its corporate governance and nominating commitiee. The address for the Corporation’s
website is http://www.frostbank.com. The Corporation will provide a printed copy of any of the aforementioned
documents to any requesting shareholder.




ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Corporation’s common stock is subject to risks inherent to the Corporation’s business.
The material risks and uncertainties that management believes affect the Corporation are described below. Before
raaking an investment decision, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below together
with all of the other information included or incorporated by reference in this report. The risks and uncertainties
cescribed below are not the only ones facing the Corporation. Additional risks and uncertainties that management is
rot aware of or focused on or that management currently deems immaterial may also impair the Corporation’s
business operations. This report is qualified in its entirety by these risk factors.

If any of the following risks actually occur, the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected. If this were to happen, the market price of the Corporation’s common
stock could decline significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related To The Corporation’s Business
The Corporation Is Subject To Interest Rate Risk

The Corporation’s earnings and cash flows are largely dependent upon its net interest income. Net interest
income is the difference between interest income earned on interest-earning assets such as loans and securities and
interest expense paid on interest-bearing liabilities such as deposits and borrowed funds. Interest rates are highly
sensitive to many factors that are beyond the Corporation’s control, including general economic conditions and
policies of various governmental and regulatory agencies and, in particular, the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System. Changes in monetary policy, including changes in interest rates, could influence not only the
interes: the Corporation receives on loans and securities and the amount of interest it pays on deposits and
horrowings, but such changes could also affect (i) the Corporation’s ability to originate oans and obtain deposits,
(ii) the fair value of the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities, and (iii) the average duration of the
Corporation’s mortgage-backed securities portfolio. If the interest rates paid on deposits and other borrowings
increase at a faster rate than the interest rates received on loans and other investments, the Corporation’s net interest
income, and therefore earnings, could be adversely affected. Earnings could also be adversely affected if the interest
rates received on loans and other investments fall more quickly than the interest rates paid on deposits and other
borrowings.

Although management believes it has implemented effective asset and liability management strategies,
including the use of derivatives as hedging instruments, to reduce the potential effects of changes in interest rates on
the Co-poration’s results of operations, any substantial, unexpected, prolonged change in market interest rates could
have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations. See the section
captioned “Net Interest Income” in ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations located elsewhere in this report for further discussion related to the Corporation’s man-
agement of interest rate risk.

‘The Corporation Is Subject To Lending Risk

There are inherent risks associated with the Corporation’s lending activities. These risks include, among other
things. the impact of changes in interest rates and changes in the economic conditions in the markets where the
Corporation operates as well as those across the State of Texas and the United States. Increases in interest rates
and/or weakening economic conditions could adversely impact the ability of borrowers to repay outstanding loans
or the value of the collateral securing these loans. The Corporation is also subject to various laws and regulations
‘hat affect its lending activities. Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could subject the
Corporation to regulatory enforcement action that could result in the assessment of significant civil money
senalties against the Corporation.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 81% of the Corporation’s loan portfolio consisted of commercial and
ndustrial, construction and commercial real estate mortgage loans. These types of loans are generally viewed as
1aving more risk of default than residential real estate loans or consumer loans. These types of loans are also
ypically larger than residential real estate loans and consumer joans. Because the Corporation’s loan portfolio
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contains a significant number of commercial and industrial, construction and commercial real estate loans with
relatively large balances, the deterioration of one or a few of these loans could cause a significant increase in non-
performing loans. An increase in non-performing loans could result in a net loss of earnings from these loans, an
increase in the provision for possible loan losses and an increase in loan charge-offs, all of which could have a
material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations. See the section captioned
“Loans” in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
located elsewhere in this report for further discussion related to commercial and industrial, construction and
commercial real estate loans.

The Corporation’s Allowance For Possible Loan Losses May Be Insufficient

The Corporation maintains an allowance for possible loan losses, which is a reserve established through a
provision for possible loan losses charged to expense, that represents management’s best estimate of probable losses
that have been incurred within the existing portfolio of loans. The allowance, in the judgment of management, is
necessary to reserve for estimated loan losses and risks inherent in the loan portfolio. The level of the allowance
reflects management’s continuing evaluation of industry concentrations; specific credit risks; loan loss experience;
current loan portfolio quality; present economic, political and regulatory conditions and unidentified losses inherent
in the current loan portfolio. The determination of the appropriate level of the allowance for possible loan losses
inherently involves a high degree of subjectivity and requires the Corporation to make significant estimates of
current credit risks and future trends, all of which may undergo material changes. Changes in economic conditions
affecting borrowers, new information regarding existing loans, identification of additional problem loans and other
factors, both within and outside of the Corporation’s control, may require an increase in the allowance for possible
loan losses. In addition, bank regulatory agencies periodically review the Corporation’s allowance for loan losses
and may require an increase in the provision for possible loan losses or the recognition of further loan charge-offs.
based on judgments different than those of management. In addition. if charge-offs in future periods exceed the
allowance for possible loan losses. the Corporation will need additional provisions to increase the allowance for
possible loan losses. Any increases in the allowance for possible loan losses will result in a decrease in net income
and, possibly, capital, and may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of
operations. See the section captioned “Altowance for Possible Loan Losses” in Item 7. Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations located elsewhere in this report for further
discussion related to the Corporation’s process for determining the appropriate level of the allowance for possible
loan losses.

The Corporarion Is Subject To Environmental Liability Risk Associated With Lending Activities

A significant portion of the Corporation’s lean portfolio is secured by real property. During the ordinary course
of business, the Corporation may foreclose on and take title to properties securing certain loans. In doing so, there is
a risk that hazardous or toxic substances could be found on these properties. If hazardous or toxic substances are
found. the Corporation may be liable for remediation costs, as well as for personal injury and property damage.
Environmental laws may require the Corporation to incur substantial expenses and may materially reduce the
affected property’s value or limit the Corporation’s ability to use or sell the affected property. In addition, future
laws or more stringent interpretations or enforcement policies with respect to existing laws may increase the
Corporation’s exposure to environmental liability. Although the Corporation has policies and procedures to perform
an environmental review before initiating any foreclosure action on real property, these reviews may not be
sufficient to detect ali potential environmental hazards. The remediation costs and any other financial liabilities
associated with an environmental hazard could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial
condition and results of operations.

The Corporation’s Profitability Depends Significantly On Economic Conditions In The State Of Texas

The Corporation’s success depends primarily on the general economic conditions of the State of Texas and the
specific tocal markets in which the Corporation operates, Unlike larger national or other regional banks that are
more geographically diversified, the Corporation provides banking and financial services to customers across Texas
through financial centers in the Austin, Corpus Christi, Dallas, Fort Worth, Houston, Rio Grande Valley and
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San Antonio regions. The local economic conditions in these areas have a significant impact on the demand for the
Corporation’s products and services as well as the ability of the Corporation’s customers to repay loans, the value of
the collateral securing loans and the stability of the Corporation’s deposit funding sources. A significant decline in
genera! economic conditions, caused by inflation, recession, acts of terrorism, outbreak of hostilities or other
international or domestic occurrences, unemployment, changes in securities markets or other factors could impact
these local economic conditions and, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition
and results of operations.

The Corporation Operates In A Highly Competitive Industry and Market Area

The Corporation faces substantial competition in all areas of its operations from a variety of different
competitors, many of which are larger and may have more financial resources. Such competitors primarily include
national, regional, and community banks within the various markets the Corporation operates. Additionally, various
out-of-state banks have entered or have announced plans to enter the market areas in which the Corporation
currently operates. The Corporation also faces competition from many other types of financial institutions,
including, without limitation, savings and loans, credit unions, finance companies, brokerage firms, insurance
companies, factoring companies and other financial intermediaries. The financial services industry could become
izven more competitive as a result of legislative, regulatory and technological changes and continued consolidation.
3anks. securities firms and insurance companies can merge under the umbrella of a financial holding company,
‘which can offer virtually any type of financial service, including banking, securities underwriting, insurance (both
agency and underwriting) and merchant banking. Also, technology has lowered barriers to entry and made it
sossible for non-banks to offer products and services traditionally provided by banks. such as automatic transfer and
wtomatic payment systems. Many of the Corporation’s competitors have fewer regulatory constraints and may
aave lower cost structures. Additionally, due to their size, many competitors may be able to achieve economies of
scale and, as a result, may offer a broader range of products and services as well as better pricing for those products
and services than the Corporation can.

The Corporation’s ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors, including, among other
things:

» The ability to develop, maintain and build upon long-term customer relationships based on top quality

service, high ethical standards and safe, sound assets.

+ The ability to expand the Corporation’s market position.

* The scope, relevance and pricing of products and services offered to meet customer needs and demands. -

» The rate at which the Corporation introduces new products and services relative to its competitors.

» Customer satisfaction with the Corporation’s level of service.

*» Industry and general economic trends.

Failure to perform in any of these areas could significantly weaken the Corporation’s competitive position,
which could adversely affect the Corporation’s growth and profitability, which, in turn, could have a material
adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations.

The Corporation Is Subject To Extensive Government Regulation and Supervision

The Corporation, primarily through Cullen/Frost, Frost Bank and certain non-bank subsidiaries, is subject to
extensive federal and state regulation and supervision. Banking regulations are primarily intended to protect
depositors’ funds, federal deposit insurance funds and the banking system as a whole, not security holders. These
regulations affect the Corporation’s lending practices, capital structure, investment practices, dividend policy and
growth, among other things. Congress and federal regulatory agencies continually review banking laws, regulations
and policies for possible changes. Changes to statutes, regulations or regulatory policies, including changes in
interpretation or implementation of statutes, regulations or policies, could affect the Corporation in substantial and
unpredictable ways. Such changes could subject the Corporation to additional costs, limit the types of financial
services and products the Corporation may offer and/or increase the ability of non-banks to offer competing
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financial services and products, among other things. Failure to comply with laws, regulations or policies could
result in sanctions by regulatory agencies, civil money penalties and/or reputation damage, which could have a
material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of operations. While the
Corporation has policies and procedures designed to prevent any such violations, there can be no assurance that
such violations will not cccur. See the section captioned “Supervision and Regulation” in Item 1. Business and
Note 12 — Regulatory Matters in the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data, which are located elsewhere in this report.

The Corporation’s Controls and Procedures May Fail or Be Circumvented

Management regularly reviews and updates the Corporation’s internal controls, disclosure controls and
procedures, and corporate governance policies and procedures. Any system of controls, however well designed and
operated, is based in part on certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurances that the
objectives of the system are met. Any failure or circumvention of the Corporation’s controls and procedures or
failure to comply with regulations related to controls and procedures could have a material adverse effect on the
Corporation’s business, results of operations and financial condition,

New Lines of Business or New Products and Services May Subject The Corporation to Additional Risks

From time to time, the Corporation may implement new lines of business or offer new products and services
within existing lines of business. There are substantial risks and uncertainties associated with these efforts,
particularly in instances where the markets are not fully developed. In developing and marketing new lines of
business and/or new products and services the Corporation may invest significant time and resources. Initial
timetables for the introduction and development of new lines of business and/or new products or services may not be
achieved and price and profitability targets may not prove feasible. External factors, such as compliance with
regulations, competitive alternatives, and shifting market preferences, may also impact the successful implemen-
tation of a new line of business or a new product or service. Furthermore, any new line of business and/or new
product or service conld have a significant impact on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s system of internal
controls. Failure to successfully manage these risks in the development and implementation of new lines of business
or new products or services could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Cullen/Frost Relies On Dividends From Its Subsidiaries For Most Of Its Revenue

Culien/Frost is a separate and distinct legal entity from its subsidiaries. It receives substantially all of its
revenue from dividends from its subsidiaries. These dividends are the principal source of funds to pay dividends on
the Corporation’s common stock and interest and principal on Cullen/Frost’s debt. Various federal and/or state laws
and regulations limit the amount of dividends that Frost Bank and certain non-bank subsidiaries may pay to Cullen/
Frost. Also, Cullen/Frost’s right to participate in a distribution of assets upon a subsidiary’s liquidation or
reorganization is subject to the prior claims of the subsidiary’s creditors. In the event Frost Bank is unable to
pay dividends to Cullen/Frost, Cullen/Frost may not be able to service debt, pay obligations or pay dividends on the
Corporation’s common stock. The inability to receive dividends from Frost Bank could have a material adverse
effect on the Corporation’s business, financial condition and results of operations. See the section captioned
“Supervision and Regulation” in Item 1. Business and Note 12 — Regulatory Matters in the notes to consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, which are located elsewhere
in this report.

Potential Acquisitions May Disrupt the Corporation’s Business and Dilute Stockholder Value

The Corporation seeks merger or acquisition partners that are culturally similar and have experienced
management and possess either significant market presence or have potential for improved profitability through
financial management, econcmies of scale or expanded services. Acquiring other banks, businesses, or branches
involves various risks commonly associated with acquisitions, including, among other things:

* Potential exposure to unknown or contingent liabilities of the target company.
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+ Exposure to potential asset quality issues of the targer company.

« Difficulty and expense of integrating the operations and personnel of the target company.

+ Potential disruption to the Corporation’s business.

« Potential diversion of the Corporation’s management’s time and attention.

« The possible loss of key employees and customers of the target company.

= Difficulty in estimating the value of the target company.

+ Potential changes in banking or tax laws or regulations that may affect the target company.

The Corporation regularly evaluates merger and acquisition opportunities and conducts due diligence
activities related to possible transactions with other financial institutions and financial services companies. As
a result, merger or acquisition discussions and, in some cases, negotiations may take place and future mergers or
acquisitions involving cash, debt or equity securities may occur at any time. Acquisitions typically involve the
payment of a premium over book and market values, and, therefore, some dilution of the Corporation’s tangible
book value and net income per common share may occur in connection with any future transaction. Furthermore,
failure to realize the expected revenue increases, cost savings, increases in geographic or product presence, and/or
other projected benefits from an acquisition could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial
condition and results of operations.

During 2007, the Corporation acquired Prime Benefits, Inc. (Austin market area). During 2006, the Corpo-
ration acquired Texas Community Bancshares, Inc. (Dallas market area), Alamo Corporation of Texas (Rio Grande
Vallev market area) and Summit Bancshares, Inc. (Fort Worth market area). During 2003, the Corporation acquired
Horizon Capital Bank (Houston market area). Details of these transactions are presented in Note 2 — Mergers and
Acquisitions in the notes to consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data, which is located elsewhere in this report.

The Corporation May Not Be Able To Attract and Retain Skilled People

The Corporation’s success depends. in large part, on its ability to attract and retain key people. Competition for
the best people in most activities engaged in by the Corporation can be intense and the Corporation may not be able
to hirz people or to retain them. The unexpected loss of services of one or more of the Corporation’s key personnel
could have a material adverse impact on the Corporation’s business because of their skills, knowledge of the
Corporation’s market, years of industry experience and the difficulty of promptly finding qualified replacement
personnel. The Corporation does not currently have employment agreements or non-competition agreements with
any of its senior officers.

The Corporation’s Information Systems May Experience An Interruption Or Breach In Security

The Corporation relies heavily on communications and information systems to conduct its business. Any
failure, interruption or breach in security of these systems could result in failures or disruptions in the Corporation’s
custemer relationship management, general ledger, deposit, loan and other systems. While the Corporation has
policies and procedures designed to prevent or limit the effect of the failure, interruption or security breach of its
information systems, there can be no assurance that any such failures, interruptions or security breaches will not
occur or, if they do occur, that they will be adequately addressed. The occurrence of any failures, interrupiions or
security breaches of the Corporation’s information systems could damage the Corporation’s reputation, result in a
loss of customer business, subject the Corporation to additional regulatory scrutiny, or expose the Corporation to
civil litigation and possible financial liability, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the
Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations.

The Corporation Continually Encounters Technological Change

The financial services industry is continually undergoing rapid technological change with frequent intro-
duct.ons of new technology-driven products and services. The effective use of technology increases efficiency and
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enables financial institutions to better serve customers and to reduce costs. The Corporation’s future success
depends, in part, upon its ability to address the needs of its customers by using technology to provide products and
services that will satisfy customer demands, as well as to create additional efficiencies in the Corporation’s
operations. Many of the Corporation’s competitors have substantially greater resources o invest in technological
improvements. The Corporation may not be able to effectively implement new technology-driven products and
services or be successful in marketing these products and services to its customers, Failure to successfully keep pace
with technological change affecting the financial services industry could have a material adverse impact on the
Corporation’s business and, in turn, the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations.

The Corporation Is Subject To Claims and Litigation Pertaining To Fiduciary Responsibility

From time to time, customers make claims and take legal action pertaining to the Corporation’s performance of
its fiduciary responsibilities. Whether customer claims and legal action related 1o the Corporation’s performance of
its fiduciary responsibilities are founded or unfounded, if such claims and legal actions are not resolved in a manner
favorable to the Corporation they may result in significant financial liability and/or adversely affect the market
perception of the Corporation and its products and services as well as impact customer demand for those products
and services. Any financial liability or reputation damage could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s
business, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of
operations.

Severe Weather, Natural Disasters, Acts Of War Or Terrorism and Other External Events Could Significantly
Impact The Corporation’s Business

Severe weather, natural disasters, acts of war or terrorism and other adverse external events could have a
significant impact on the Corporation’s ability to conduct business. Such events could affect the stability of the
Corporation’s deposit base, impair the ability of borrowers to repay outstanding loans, impair the value of collateral
securing loans, cause significant property damage, result in loss of revenue and/or cause the Corporation to incur
additional expenses. Although management has established disaster recovery policies and procedures, the occur-
rence of any such event in the future could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s business, which, in
turn, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Associated With The Corporation’s Common Stock
The Corporation’s Stock Price Can Be Volatile

Stock price volatility may make it more difficult for you to resell your common stock when you want and at
prices you find attractive. The Corporation’s stock price can fluctuate significantly in response to a variety of factors
including, among other things:

* Actual or anticipated variations in quarterly results of operations.
¢ Recommendations by securities analysts.

« Operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the
Corporation.

* News reports relating to trends, concerns and other issues in the financial services industry.
* Perceptions in the marketplace regarding the Corporation and/or its competitors.
» New technology used, or services offered, by competitors.

+ Significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commit-
ments by or involving the Corporation or its competitors,

* Failure to integrate acquisitions or realize anticipated benefits from acquisitions.
* Changes in government regulations.

* Geopolitical conditions such as acts or threats of terrorism or military conflicis.
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General market fluctuations, industry factors and general economic and political conditions and events. such
1s economic slowdowns or recessions, interest rate changes or credit loss trends, could also cause the Corporation’s
stock price to decrease regardless of operating results.

The Trading Volume In The Corporation’s Common Stock Is Less Than That Of Other Larger Financial
Services Companies

Although the Corporation’s common stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), the
trading volume in its common stock is less than that of other larger financial services companies. A public trading
market having the desired characteristics of depth, liquidity and orderliness depends on the presence in the
marketplace of willing buyers and selters of the Corporation’s common stock at any given time. This presence
depends on the individual decisions of investors and general economic and market conditions over which the
Corporation has no control. Given the lower trading volume of the Corporation’s common stock, significant sales of
the Corporation’s common stock, or the expectation of these sales, could cause the Corporation’s stock price to tall,

An Investinent In The Corporation’s Common Stock Is Not An Insured Deposit

The Corporation’s common stock is not a bank deposit and, therefore, is not insured against loss by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), any other deposit insurance fund or by any other public or private entity.
Investment in the Corporation’s common stock is inherently risky for the reasons described in this “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this report and is subject to the same market forces that affect the price of common stock in
any company. As a result, if you acquire the Corporation’s common stock, you could lose some or all of your
investment.

The Corporation’s Articles Of Incorporation, By-Laws and Shareholders Rights Plan As Well As Certain
Banking Laws May Have An Anti-Takeover Effect

Provisions of the Corporation’s articles of incorporation and by-laws, federal banking laws, including
regulatory approval requirements, and the Corporation’s stock purchase rights plan could make it more difticult
for a third party to acquire the Corporation, even if doing so would be percetved to be beneficial to the Corporation’s
shareholders. The combination of these provisions effectively inhibits a non-negotiated merger or other business
comkination, which, in turn, could adversely affect the market price of the Corporation’s common stock.

Risks Associated With The Corporation’s Industry

The Earnings Of Financial Services Companies Are Significantly Affected By General Business And Economic
Condlitions

The Corporation’s operations and profitability are impacted by general business and economic conditions in
the United States and abroad. These conditions include short-term and long-term interest rates, inflation, money
supply, political issues, legislative and regulatory changes, fluctuations in both debt and equity capital markets,
broad trends in industry and finance, and the strength of the U.S. economy and the local economies in which the
Corporation operates, all of which are beyond the Corporation’s control. A deterioration in economic conditions
could result in an increase in loan delinquencies and non-performing assets, decreases in loan collateral values and a
decrease in demand for the Corporation’s products and services, among other things, any of which could have a
material adverse impact on the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operations.

Financial Services Companies Depend On The Accuracy And Completeness Of Information About Customers
And Counterparties

In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into other transactions, the Corporation may rely on information
furn:shed by or on behalf of customers and counterparties, including financial statements, credit reports and other
financial information. The Corperation may also rely on representations of those customers, counterparties or other
third parties, such as independent auditors, as to the accuracy and completeness of that information. Reliance on
inaccurate or misleading financial statements, credit reports or other financial information could have a material
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adverse impact on the Corporation’s business and, in turn, the Corporation’s financial condition and results of
operations.

Consumers May Decide Not To Use Banks To Complete Their Financial Transactions

Technology and other changes are allowing parties to complete financial transactions that historically have
involved banks through altemative methods. For example, consumers can now maintain funds that would have
historically been held as bank deposits in brokerage accounts or mutual funds. Consumers can also complete
iransactions such as paying bills and/or transferring funds directly without the assisiance of banks. The process of
eliminating banks as intermediaries, known as “disintermediation,” could result in the loss of fee income, as well as
the loss of customer deposits and the related income generated from those deposits. The loss of these revenue
streams and the lower cost deposits as a source of funds could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s
financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Corporation’s headquarters are located in downtown San Antonio, Texas. These facilities, which are
owned by the Corporation, house the Corporation’s executive and primary administrative offices, as well as the
principal banking headquarters of Frost Bank. The Corporation also owns or leases other facilities within its
primary market areas in the regions of Austin, Corpus Christi, Dallas, Fort Worth, Houston, Rio Grande Valley and
San Antonio. The Corporation considers its properties to be suitable and adequate for its present needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Corporation is subject to various claims and legal actions that have arisen in the normal course of
conducting business. Management does not expect the ultimate disposition of these matters to have a material
adverse impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends

The Corporation’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. {(“*NYSE") under the symbol
“CFR”. The tables below set forth for each quarter of 2007 and 2006 the high and low intra-day sales prices per
whare of Cullen/Frost’s common stock as reported by the NYSE and the cash dividends declared per share.

2007 2006

sales Price Per Share High Low High Low
First QUATIET . . . ..ottt e $57.05 $51.24  $55.88 $52.34
Second QUAMET . .. oottt e 54.18 50.49 5849 52.04
Third quarter .. ... ... . i e 55.00 48.34 59.55 54.48
Fourth quarter .. ... ... e 54.00 47.55 58.67 53.09
Cash Dividends Per Share 2007 2006
FAPSE QUATIET . . .« o ottt e e e e $0.34  $0.30
Second QUAITEE . . ...ttt it 0.40 0.34
Third QUATIET . .. oot ettt e e 0.40 0.34
FOUIth QUAET . « . .. oottt ittt s et 0.40 0.34

TOL. -« o oo et e $1.54  $1.32

As of December 31, 2007, there were 58,662,130 shares of the Corporation’s common stock outstanding held
by 1,804 holders of record. The closing price per share of common stock on December 31,2007. the last trading day
of the Corporation’s fiscal year. was $50.66.

The Corporation’s management is currently committed to continuing to pay regular cash dividends; however,
there can be no assurance as to future dividends because they are dependent on the Corporation’s future earnings,
capitzl requirements and financial condition. See the section captioned “Supervision and Regulation” included in
Item |. Business, the section captioned “Capital and Liquidity” included in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 12 -— Regulatory Matters in the notes to
consclidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, all of which
are jrcluded elsewhere in this report.

Stcck-Based Compensation Plans

Information regarding stock-based compensation awards outstanding and available for future grants as of
December 31, 2007, segregated between stock-based compensation plans approved by shareholders and stock-
based compensation plans not approved by shareholders, is presented in the table below. Additional information
regarding stock-based compensation plans is presented in Note 13 — Employee Benefit Plans in the notes to
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data located
elsewhere in this report.

Number of Shares

to be 1ssued Upon Weighted-Average Number of Shares
Exercise of Exercise Price of Available for
Plan Category Outstanding Awards  Outstanding Awards Future Grants
Plans approved by shareholders............... 4,526,276 $45.44 1,896,150
Plans not approved by shareholders .. .. ........ — — —
Total. ..o e e 4,526,276 $45.44 1,896,150
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Stock Repurchase Plans

The Corporation has maintained several stock repurchase plans authorized by the Corporation’s board of
directors. In general, stock repurchase plans allow the Corporation to proactively manage its capital position and
return excess capital to sharcholders. Shares purchased under such plans also provide the Corporation with shares of
common stock necessary to satisfy obligations related to stock compensation awards. Under the current plan, which
was approved on April 26, 2007, the Corporation was authorized to repurchase up to 2.5 million shares of its
common stock from time to time over a two-year period in the open market or through private transactions. Under
the plan, the Corporation repurchased 2.1 million shares at a total cost of $109.4 million during 2007. Under the
prior plan, which expired on April 29, 2006, the Corporation was authorized to repurchase up 10 2.1 million shares
of its common stock from time to time over a two-year period in the open market or through private transactions. No
shares were repurchased during 2006. During 2003, the Corporation repurchased 300 thousand shares at a cost of
$14.4 million. Over the life of this plan, the Corporation repurchased a total of 833.2 thousand shares at a cost of
$39.9 million.

The following table provides information with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of the Corporation or
any “affiliated purchaser” (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), of the
Corporatiocn’s commen stock during the fourth quarter of 2007.

Maximum
Number of Shares
Total Number of That May Yet Be
Shares Purchased Purchased Under
Total Number of Average Price as Part of Publicly the Plans at the

Period Shares Purchased Paid Per Share Amounced Plans End of the Period
October 1, 2007 to October 31,

2007 ..., 19,3819 $50.73 —_ 403,764
November 1, 2007 to November 30,

2007 ... — —_ — 403,764
December 1, 2007 to December 31,

2007 o — — — 403,764
Total . ... ... .. ... ... .. ... .. .. 19,381 $50.73

(1) Represents repurchases made in connection with the exercise of certain employee stock options and the vesting
of certain share awards.
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Performance Graph

The performance graph betow compares the cumulative total shareholder return on Culien/Frost Common
$tock with the cumulative total return on the equity securities of companies included in the Standard & Poor’s 500
Stock Index and the Standard and Poor’s 500 Bank Index, measured at the last trading day of each year shown. The
yzraph assumes an investment of $100 on December 31, 2002 and reinvestment of dividends on the date of payment
without commissions. The performance graph represents past performance and should not be considered to be an

indication of future performance.

Cumulative Total Returns
on $100 Investment Made on December 31, 2002

5250

—— Cullen/Frost

$200 | &= S&P 500
—O— S&P 500 Banks

$150 N ,uw

—o0—

T

$100 {¥
$50
$0 I I I 1 I T
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Cullen/Frost $100.00 | $127.46 | $156.18 | $176.66 | $188.05 | $175.82
S&F 500 100.00 | 128.63 | 142.59| 14958 | 173.15] 182.64
S&P 500 Banks 10000 | 12636 139.06 | 13521 | 156.65| 109.95
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following consolidated selected financial data is derived from the Corporation’s audited financial
statements as of and for the five years ended December 31, 2007. The following consolidated financial data
should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report. All of the
Corporation’s acquisitions during the five years ended December 31, 2007 were accounted for using the purchase
method. Accordingly, the operating results of the acquired companies are included with the Corporation’s results of
operations since their respective dates of acquisition. Dollar amounts, except per share data, and common shares

outstanding are in thousands.

Consolidated Statements of Income
Interest income:
Loans, including fees

Year Ended December 31,

2007

2000

2005

2004

2003

$573,039 $502,657 $359.587 $249,612 $233,463

Securities . . . ... . e 165,317 144501 131,943 135,035 125,778
Interest-bearing deposits . . .................... 390 251 150 63 104
Federal funds sold and resell agreements . . .. ... ... 29,893 36,550 18,147 8,834 9.601
Total interest iINCOME. . . .. ..., 768,847 683,959 509,827 393,544 368,946
Interest expense:
Deposits . . ..o e e 190,237 155090 78,934 39,150 37,406
Federai funds purchased and repurchase agreements . . . 31,951 31,167 16,632 5,775 4,059
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures . . . 11,283 17,402 14,908 12,143 8,735
Subordinated notes payable and other borrowings . . . 16,639 11,137 8,087 5,038 4,988
Total interest expense ... ................... 250,110 214,796 118,561 62,106 55,188
Net interestincome . .. .................... 318,737 469,163 391,266 331438 313758
Provision for possible loan losses .. ........... ... 14,660 14,150 10,230 2,500 10,544
Net interest income after provision for possible
loanlosses . ............. ... 504,077 455,013 381,016 328,938 303,214
Non-interest income;
Trust fees . .. .o e 70,359 63,469 58,353 53910 47486
Service charges on deposit accounts ... .......... 80,718 77,116 78,751 87.415 87,805
Insurance commissions and fees . . .............. 30,847 28,230 27,731 30,981 28,660
Other charges, commissions and fees. ... . ... .. ... 32,558 28,105 23,125 22,877 22,522
Net gain (loss) on securities transactions . ... ...... 15 (H 19 (3,377 4)
Other . .o e e e 53,734 43,828 42,400 33,304 28,848
Total non-interest income . . ................. 268,231 240,747 230,379 225,110 215,361
Non-interest expense:
Salaries and Wages . ... ... ..o 200982 190,784 166,059 158,039 146622
Employee benefits .......................... 47,005 46,231 41,577 40,176 38,316
Netococupancy ..........vviiniininunnnnn.. 38,824 34,695 31,107 29,375 29,286
Furniture and equipment . . .. .................. 32,821 26,293 23,912 22,771 21,768
Intangible amortization ., , ...... ... .......... 8,860 5,628 4,859 5,346 5,886
Other . . e e 124864 106,722 99,493 80,323 84,157
Total non-interest expense . . ................. 462,446 410,353 367,007 345,030 326,035
Income before income taxes . ... ............. ... 309,862 285407 244,388 209,018 192,540
InCome taxes ..o v it e 97,791 91,816 78,965 67,693 62,039

Net income
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Per Common Share Data

Met income —basic . ..............
Met income —diluted . . ....... ... ..
Cash dividends declared and paid . . . . ..
Bookvalue......................
Common Shares OQutstanding
FPeriod-end . . ... ... ... ... ... ...
Weight:d-average shares — basic . . .. ..
Dilutive effect of stock compensation . . .
Weightzd-average shares — diluted. . . ..
P'erformance Ratios

Return on average equity: ...........
et intzrest income to average earning
ASSEeIS . L. .. e e s
Dividend pay-outratio. . ............
Balance Sheet Data
PPeriod-end:
Loans ... ..o i i
Earning assets . . .. .......ovnv...
Total assets . .. .............. ...
Non-interest-bearing demand
deposits. . ... ..o
Interest-bearing deposits. .. ... ... ..
Total deposits .. ............ ...
Lonz-term debt and other
buorrowings . ... ...
Shareholders’ equity. . . ...........
Average:
0
Earning assets . . . ...............
Total assets . .. ... .............
Non-interest-bearing demand
deposits. . ... ...
Interest-bearing deposits. . ... ... ...
Total deposits .. ........ ... ...
Long-term debt and other
borrowings . .................
Shareholders’ equity. . . ...........
Asset Quality
Allowance for possible loan losses . .. ..
Allowance for possible loan losses to
period-end loans .. ..............
Net loan charge-offs . ..............
Net loan charge-offs to average loans . . .

Non-performing assets 10:
Total loans plus foreclosed assets . . . .
Totalassets . . ....... ... ...t
Consolidated Capital Ratios
Tier | risk-based capital ratio. ... ...
Total risk-based capital ratio. . . .....
Leverageratio . . .. ..............
Average shareholders’ equity to
average total assets. . ...........

As of or for the Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

3 360 % 349 % 315 % 274 % 2.54

3.55 342 3.07 2.66 2.48

1.54 1.32 1.165 1.035 0.94

25.18 23.01 18.03 15.84 14.87

58,662 59,839 54,483 51,924 51,776

58,952 55,467 52,481 51,651 51,442

761 L1775 1,322 1,489 1,216

59,713 56,642 53,803 53,140 52,658
1.63% 1.67% 1.63% 1.47% 1.36%

15.20 18.03 18.78 17.91 17.78

4.69 4.67 4.45 4.05 3.98

42.83 37.91 37.18 38.06 37.15

$ 7769362 $ 7,373,384  $ 6,085,055 $5,164,991  $4,590,746

11,556,385 11,460,741 10,197,059 8,891,859 8,132,479

13.485,014 13,224,189 11,741,437 9,952,787 9,672,114

3,597,903 3,699,701 3,484,932 2,969,387 3,143.473

6,931,770 6,688,208 5,661,462 5,136,291 4925384

10,529,673 10,387,909 9,146,394 8,105,678 8,068,357

400,323 428,636 415,422 377,677 255.845

1,477,088 1,376.883 982.236 822,395 770,004

$ 7,464,140 $ 6,523,906 § 5,594,477  $4.823,198  $4,497.489

11,339.876 10,202,981 8,968,906 8,352.334 8,011,081

13,041,682 11,581,253 10,143,245 9.618,849 9,583,829

3,524,132 3,334,280 3,008,750 2,914,520 3,037,724

6,688,509 5,850,116 5,124,036 4,852,166 4,539,622

10,212,641 9,184,356 8,132,786 7,766,686 7,577,346

413,700 405,752 387,612 363,386 264,428

1,395,022 1,073,599 880,640 789,073 733,994

$ 92339 $ 95085 $ 80325 § 75810 § 83,501
1.19% 1.30% 1.32% 1.47% 1.82%

$ 18406 § 1,110 $ 3921 5 10,191 §  9.627
0.25% 0.17% 0.16% 0.20% 0.21%

$ 20849 $ 57,749 $ 38927 § 3916 $ 52,794
0.38% 0.78% 0.64% 0.76% 1.15%

0.22 0.44 0.33 0.39 0.55
9.96% 11.25% 12.24% 12.83% 11.41%

12.59 13.43 14.94 15.99 15.01

8.37 9.56 9.62 9.18 7.83

10.70 9.27 8.68 8.20 7.66
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The following tables set forth unaudited consolidated selected quarterly statement of operations data for the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. Dollar amounts are in thousands, except per share data.

Year Ended December 31, 2007

dth 3Ird 2nd Ist
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Interest inCOME . . .. ... i et e e $188,370 $194.874  $193,021 $192,582
Interest Xpense. . .. ...ttt e 57,610 64,250 63,501 64,749
Net Interest iNCOME . . .« oo v i e et e et e et e e e 130,760 130,624 129,520 127,833
Provision for possible loan losses . ... ................. 3,576 5,784 2,650 2,650
Non-interest income™ . ... ... ... 66,383 70,756 64,020 67,072
NON-INLErest EXPENSE . . . ot v i e e 114,150 113,567 112,642 122,087
Income before income taxes. .. ............cvrun... 79417 82,029 78,248 70,168
INCOME 1aXES . . o ottt e et e e e 24,717 25,566 24,619 22,889
T 1 Tel o 11 L= UG $ 54700 $ 56,463 $ 53629 § 47279
Net income per common share:

BasiC. ... e e $ 094 $ 097 % 090 $ 079

Diluted . ... .. e 0.93 0.95 0.89 0.78

Year Ended December 31, 2006
4th 3rd 2nd 1st
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

INterest iNCOME . . . . ottt e e $181,974 $176,407 $168,738  $156,840
Interest €Xpense. . ... ... it i e e 60,745 57,881 31,770 44,400
Net interest iNCOME . . . oo it et e e e o 121,229 118,526 116,968 112,440
Provision for possible loan losses. . . .................. 3.400 1,711 5,105 3,934
Non-interest income™® . . .. .. ... .. 58,400 60,566 60,750 61,031
NOR-IMIErESt EXPENSE . . . v v vttt e e e e et e e 105,595 103,610 100,679 100,469
Income before income (axes. . ... ... .o vn e, 70,634 73,771 71,934 69,068
INCOmE taXes . . . ..t e e 22,272 23,769 23,384 22,391
NetINCOME . . .t e e e e $ 48,362 3§ 50,002 % 48,550 % 46,677
Net income per common share:

BasiC. .o e e e e $ 08 $ 090 $ 08 % 086

Diluted . ... .. e 0.84 0.88 0.86 0.83

(1) Includes net gain on securities transactions of $15 thousand during the fourth quarter of 2007.
(2) Includes net loss on securities transactions of $1 thousand during the first quarter of 2006.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements and Factors that Could Affect Future Results

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not statements of historical fact
constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
(.he “Act”), notwithstanding that such statements are not specifically identified as such. In addition, certain
statements may be contained in the Corporation’s future filings with the SEC, in press releases, and in oral and
vritien statements made by or with the approval of the Corporation that are not statements of historical fact and
constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Act. Examples of forward-looking statements
iriclude, but are not limited to: (i) projections of revenues, expenses, income or loss, earnings or loss per share, the
payment or nonpayment of dividends, capital structure and other financial items; (i) statements of plans, objectives
and expectations of Cullen/Frost or its management or Board of Directors, including those relating to products or
services; (iii) statements of future economic performance; and (iv) statements of assumptions underlying such
statements. Words such as “believes”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “intends”, “targeted”, “continue”, “remain”, “will”,
“should”, “may” and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the
exclusive means of identifying such statements.

Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially
from those in such statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ from those discussed in the forward-
{ooking statements include, but are not limited to:

* Local, regional, naticnal and international economic conditions and the impact they may have on the
Corporation and its customers and the Corporation’s assessment of that impact.

* Changes in the level of non-performing assets and charge-offs.

+ Changes in estimates of future reserve requirements based upon the periodic review thereof under relevant
regulatory and accounting requirements.

* The effects of and changes in trade and monetary and fiscal policies and laws, including the interest rate
policies of the Federal Reserve Board.

» Inflation, interest rate, securities market and monetary fluctuations.
* Political instability.
+ Acts of God or of war or terrorism.

* The timely development and acceptance of new products and services and perceived overall value of these
products and services by users.

+ Changes in consumer spending, borrowings and savings habits.

+ Changes in the financial performance and/or condition of the Corporation’s borrowers.
* Technological changes.

= Acquisitions and integration of acquired businesses.

» The ability to increase market share and control expenses.

* Changes in the competitive environment among financial holding companies and other financial service
providers.

» The effect of changes in laws and regulations (including laws and regulations concerning taxes, banking,
securities and insurance) with which the Corporation and its subsidiaries must comply.

= The effect of changes in accounting policies and practices, as may be adopted by the regulatory agencies, as
well as the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the Financial Accounting Standards Board and
other accounting standard setters.




Changes in the Corporation’s organization, compensation and benefit plans.

The costs and effects of legal and regutatory developments including the resolution of legal proceedings or
regulatory or other governmental inquiries and the results of regulatory examinations or reviews.

Greater than expected costs or difficulties related to the integration of new products and lines of business.
* The Corporation’s success at managing the risks involved in the foregoing items.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which such statements are made. The Corporation
undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date
on which such statement is made, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

The Corporation

Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. (Cullen/Frost) is a financial holding company and a bank holding company
headquartered in San Antonio, Texas that provides, through its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Corporation”), a broad array of products and services throughout numerous Texas markets. The Corporation
offers commercial and consumer banking services, as well as trust and investment management, tnvestment
banking, insurance brokerage, leasing, asset-based lending, treasury management and item processing services.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Accounting Estimates

The accounting and reporting policies followed by the Corporation conform, in all material respects, to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and to general practices within the financial services
industry. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. While the Corporation bases estimates on historical experience,
current information and other factors deemed to be relevant, actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Corpoeration considers accounting estimates to be critical to reported financial results if (i) the accounting
estimate requires management to make assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain and (ii) different
estimates that management reasonably could have used for the accounting estimate in the current period, or changes
in the accounting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, could have a material impact on
the Corporation’s financial statements.

Accounting policies related to the allowance for possible loan losses are considered to be critical, as these
policies involve considerable subjective judgment and estimation by management. The allowance for possible loan
losses is a reserve established through a provision for possible loan losses charged to expense, which represents
management’s best estimate of probable losses that have been incurred within the existing portfolio of loans. The
allowance, in the judgment of management, is necessary lo reserve for estimated loan losses and risks inherent in the
loan porifolio. The Corporation’s allowance for possible loan loss methodology is based on guidance provided in
SEC Staff Accounting Bulietin No. 102, **Selected Loan Loss Aliowance Methodology and Documentation Issues”
and includes allowance allocations calculated in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan,” as amended by SFAS 118, and allowance
allocations determined in accordance with SFAS No. 3, “Accounting for Contingencies.” The level of the allowance
reflects management’s continuing evaluation of industry concentrations, specific credit risks, loan loss experience,
current loan portfolio quality. present economic, political and regulatory conditions and unidentified losses inherent
in the current loan portfolio, as well as trends in the foregoing. Portions of the allowance may be allocated for
specific credits; however, the entire allowance is available for any credit that, in management’s judgment, should be
charged off. While management utilizes its best judgment and information available, the ultimate adequacy of the
allowance is dependent upon a variety of factors beyond the Corporation’s control, including the performance of the
Corporation’s loan portfclio, the economy, changes in interest rates and the view of the regulatory authorities
toward loan classifications. See the section captioned “Allowance for Possible Loan Losses” elsewhere in this
discussion for further details of the risk factors considered by management in estimating the necessary level of the
allowance for possible loan losses. -
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Overview

The following discussion and analysis presents the more significant factors affecting the Corporation’s
financial condition as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and results of operations for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2007. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements, notes thereto and other financial information appearing elsewhere
in this report. The Corporation acquired Prime Benefits, Inc. in 2007, Summit Bancshares, Inc. (*Summit”), Alamo
Corporation of Texas (“Alamo”) and Texas Community Bancshares, Inc. (“TCB”) in 2006 and Horizon Capital
Bank (“Horizon™) in 2005. All of the Corporation’s acquisitions during the reported periods were accounted for as
purchase transactions, and as such, their related results of operations are included from the date of acquisition. See
Note 2 — Mergers and Acquisitions in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included
¢lsewhere in this report.

Tuxable-equivalent adjustments are the result of increasing income from tax-free loans and investments by an
mount equal to the taxes that would be paid if the income were fully taxable based on a 35% federal tax rate, thus
making tax-exempt yields comparable to taxable asset vields,

Dollar amounts in tables are stated in thousands, except for per share amounts.

Results of Operations

Net income totaled $212.1 million, or $3.55 diluted per common share, in 2007 compared to $193.6 million, or
$3.42 diluted per common share, in 2006 and $165.4 million, or $3.07 diluted per common share, in 2005.

Selected income statement data, returns on average assets and average equity and dividends per share for the
comparable periods were as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Taxable-equivalent net inferest income .. ...t $534,195 $479,138  $398,938
"Taxable-equivalent adjustment. . . ...... ... ... . oo 15,458 9,975 7,672
INEt INTETESE INCOIME. . . Lttt v et e e e e e nann s 518,737 469,163 391,266
Provision for possible loan losses . ... ... .. oo 14,660 14,150 10,250
NOD-IMETESt INCOME . . . . oottt it et et e et et e e e e 268,231 240,747 230,379
NON-TILEIESt CXPETISE. « o o vttt i e it e e e 462,446 410,353 367,007
Income before INCOME taXeS . . . . .. vt i i i et e e i 309,862 285,407 244 388
MCOME TAKES © . vt et et e et ettt e e e e e 97,791 91,816 78,965
T D Yer ) 111 <A $212.071  $193,591 $165,423
Earnings per common share:

BasiC e e e e $§ 360 $ 349 % 315

Diluted . . . . 3.55 342 3.07
Return on average assels. . . . ... oo v it o e 1.63% 1.67% 1.63%
Return on average equily. . . . .. ... i i e 15.20 18.03 18.78

Net income for 2007 increased $18.5 million, or 9.5%, compared to 2006. The increase was primarily due to a
$49.6 million increase in net interest income and a $27.5 million increase in non-interest income. The impact of
these items was partly offset by a $52.1 million increase in non-interest expense, a $6.0 million increase in income
tax exoense and a $510 thousand increase in the provision for possible loan losses. Net income for 2006 increased
$28.2 million, or 17.0%, compared to 2005. The increase was primarily due to a $77.9 million increase in net
interest income and a $10.4 million increase in non-interest income. The impact of these items was partly offset by a
$43.3 million increase in non-interest expense, a $12.9 million increase in income tax expense and a $3.9 million
increase in the provision for possible loan losses.

Dietails of the changes in the various components of net income are further discussed below.
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Net Interest Income

Net interest income is the difference between interest income on earning assets, such as loans and securities,
and interest expense on liabilities, such as deposits and borrowings, which are used to fund those assets. Net interest
income is the Corporation’s largest source of revenue, representing 65.9% of total revenue during 2007. Net interest
margin is the taxable-equivalent net interest income as a percentage of average earning assets for the period. The
level of interest rates and the volume and mix of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities impact net interest
income and net interest margin,

The Federal Reserve Board influences the general market rates of interest, including the deposit and loan rates
offered by many financial institutions. The Corporation’s loan portfolio is significantly affected by changes in the
prime interest rate. The prime interest rate, which is the rate offered on loans to borrowers with strong credit, began
2005 at 5.25% and increased 50 basis points in each of the four quarters to end the year at 7.25%. During 2006, the
prime interest rate increased 50 basis points in the first quarter and 50 basis points in the second quarter to end the
year at 8.25%. During 2007, the prime interest rate decreased 50 basis points in the third quarter and 50 basis points
in the fourth quarter to end the year at 7.25%. The federal funds rate, which is the cost of immediately available
overnight funds, fluctuated in a similar manner. It began 2005 at 2.25% and increased 50 basis points in each of the
four quarters to end the year at 4.25%. During 2006, the federal funds rate increased 50 basis points in the first
quarter and 50 basis points in the second quarter to end the vear at 5.25%. During 2007, the federal funds rate
decreased 50 basis points in the third quarter and 50 basis points in the fourth quarter to end the year at 4.25%.

The Corporation’s balance sheet has historically been asset sensitive, meaning that earning assets generally
reprice more quickly than interest-bearing liabilities. Therefore, the Corporation’s net interest margin was likely to
increase in sustained periods of rising interest rates and decrease in sustained periods of declining interest rates. In
an effort to make the Corporation’s balance sheet less sensitive 1o changes in interest rates, the Corporation entered
into interest rate swaps during the fourth quarter of 2007 that effectively convert $1.2 billion of loans with floating
interest rates tied to the prime rate into fixed rate loans for a period of seven years. See Note 17 — Derivative
Financial Instruments in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
report for additional information related to these interest rate swaps. As a result, the Corporations balance sheet is
more interest-rate neutral and changes in interest rates are expected to have a less significant impact on the
Corporation’s net interest margin. The Corporation is primarily funded by core deposits, with non-interest-bearing
demand deposits historically being a significant source of funds. This lower-cost funding base is expected 10 have a
positive impact on the Corporation’s net interest income and net interest margin in a rising interest rate environment.
During January 2008, the federal funds rate and the prime interest rate each decreased 125 basis points to 3.00% and
6.00%, respectively. The Corporation currently believes it is reasonably possible the federal funds rate and the
prime interest rate will decrease further in the foreseeable future; however, there can be no assurance to that effect or
as to the magnitude of any decrease should a decrease occur, as changes in market interest rates are dependent upon
a variety of factors that are beyond the Corporation’s control. Further analysis of the components of the
Corporation’s net interest margin is presented below,
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The following table presents the changes in taxable-equivalent net interest income and identifies the changes
clue 1o differences in the average volume of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the changes due to
changes in the average interest rate on those assets and liabilities. The changes in net interest income due to changes
in both average volume and average interest rate have been allocated to the average volume change or the average
interest rate change in proportion to the absolute amounts of the change in each. The Corporation’s consolidated
averagz balance sheets along with an analysis of taxable-equivalent net interest income are presented on pages 116
and 117 of this report. :

2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
Due to Change in Due to Change in
Rate Volume Total Rate Volume Total
nterest-bearing deposits . ... ...... ... $ (44 $ 189 $ 145 §$ 155 $ (54 $ 101
Federal funds seld and resell
AEPEEMENIS . o .o ot e i v e s 496 {7.151) {6,655) 6,633 11,770 18,403
Securities:
Taxable. ... .......... .. ... ... 6,417 8,866 15,283 4474 7,333 11,807
Tax-exempt. . ... ...covneetnnnn (138) 8,973 8,835 (58) 1,222 1,164
Loans . . o oo e — 72,763 72,763 66,202 78,758 144,960
Total earning assets . . ........... 6,731 83,640 90,371 77,406 99,029 176,435
Savings and interest checking . ..... ... 1,520 456 1,976 1,221 349 1,570
Money market deposit accounts. . ... ... 914 14,497 15,411 28,660 15.257 43917
Timeaccounts. . . .................. 6,709 10,749 17,458 11,088 11,219 22,307
Publicfunds . ................... .. 707 (405) 302 6,033 2,329 8,362
Federal funds purchased and repurchase
agreements .. ... ... .. (3,209) 3,993 784 6,709 7.826 14,535
Junior subordinated deferrable interest
debentures. . ........... ... ... ... A71) (5,648) (6,119) 2,209 285 2,494
Subordinated notes payable and other
OIS . o e e (152) 5,752 5,600 2,365 — 2,365
Federal Home Loan Bank advances. . . .. 47 (145) 98) 22 663 685
Total interest-bearing liabilities. . . . . 6,065 20,249 35,314 58.307 37.928 96,235
Changes in taxable-equivalent net inierest
IMCOME . o vt e e e e e e et e e e as $ 606 $54,391  $55,057  §$19,099 $61,101 $ 80,200

Taxable-equivalent net interest income for 2007 increased $55.1 million, or 11.5%. compared to 2006. The
increase primarily resulted from an increase in the average volume of earning assets. The average volume of earning
assets for 2007 increased $1.1 billion compared to 2006. Over the same time frame, the net interest margin
increased 2 basis points from 4.67% in 2006 to 4.69% in 2007. The increase in the average volume of earing assets
was due in part to the acquisition of Summit in the fourth quarter of 2006. See Note 2 — Mergers and Acquisitions
in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. The increase in
net interest margin was primarily due to an increase in the average yield on interest earning assets partly offset by an
increase in the average cost of funds. The average yield on interest earning assets during 2007 was 6.89% compared
to 6.76% during 2006. This increase was partly due to a 24 basis point increase in the average yield on securities.
Furthermore. the Corporation had a larger proportion of average interest earning assets invested in higher-yielding
loans during 2007 relative to 2006. During 2006, market interest rates rose during each of the first two quarters
while the reductions in market rates during 2007 did not occur until the latter part the year, The positive impact of
higher average market rates and the more favorable mix of interest earning assets on the net interest margin was
partly offsct by an increase in the average cost of funds compared to the increase in the average yield on interest-
earning assets. The average cost of funds increased 8 basis points to 3.14% during 2007 from 3.06% during 2006.
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The increase in cost of funds was partly due to an increase in the relative proportion of average interest-bearing
deposits, particularly higher-cost money market and time deposits, to 65.5% of total average deposits during 2007
from 63.7% of total average deposits during 2006.

Taxable-equivalent net interest income for 2006 increased $80.2 million, or 20.1%, compared to 2003. The
increase primarily resulted from an increase in the average volume of earning assets combined with an increase in
the net interest margin. The average volume of earning assets for 2006 increased $1.2 billion compared to 2005.
Over the same time frame, the net interest margin increased 22 basis points from 4.45% in 2005 to 4.67% in 2006,
The increase in the average volume of earning assets was due in part to the acquisitions of TCB and Alamo during
the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006. The increase in the net interest margin was
primarily driven by an increase in the average yield on earning assets, which increased from 5.77% during 2005 to
6.76% during 2006. The increase in the average yield on earning assets was partly due to an increase in the relative
proportion of loans, which generally carry higher yields compared to other types of earning assets. Loans increased
from 62.4% of total average earning assets during 2005 to 63.9% of total average earning assets during 2006. The
increase in the net interest margin was also partly due to the aforementioned increases in market interest rates.

The average volume of loans, the Corporation’s primary category of earning assets, increased $940.2 million,
or 14.4%, during 2007 compared to 2006 and increased $929.4 million, or 16.6%, during 2006 compared to 2003.
The average yield on loans was 7.76% during both 2007 and 2006 and 6.46% during 2005. As stated above, the
Corporation had a larger proportion of average earning assets invested in loans during both 2007 compared to 2006
and 2006 compared to 2005. Such investments have significantly higher yields compared to securities and federal
funds sold and resell agreements and, as such, have a more positive effect on the net interest margin, The average
volume of securities increased $332.2 million in 2007 compared to 2006 and increased $109.0 million in 2006
compared to 2005. The average yield on securities was 5.24% during 2007 compared to 5.00% during 2006 and
4.84% during 2005. The fluctuations in securities average balances during the comparable years were primarily in
U.S. government agency securities and U.S. Treasury securities. Average federal funds sold and resell agreements
decreased $139.0 million during 2007 compared to the 2006 and increased $197.3 million during 2006 compared to
2003, The average yield on federal funds sold and resell agreements was 5.15% during 2007 compared to 5.08%
during 2006 and 3.48% during 2005,

Average deposits increased $1.0 billion during 2007 compared to 2006 and $1.1 billion in 2006 compared to
2005. The increase in the average volume of deposits during 2007 and 2006 was due in part to the acquisitions of
TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006. The increase in
average deposits over the comparable years was primarily in interest-bearing deposits. Average interest-bearing
deposits increased $838.4 million during 2007 compared to 2006 and $726.1 million during 2006 compared to
2005. The ratio of average interest-bearing deposits to total average deposits was 65.5% during 2007 compared to
63.7% in 2006 and 63.0% in 2005. The average cost of interest-bearing deposits and total deposits was 2.84% and
1.86% during 2007 compared to 2.65% and 1.69% during 2006 and 1.54% and 0.97% during 2005. The increase in
the average cost of interest-bearing deposits was primarily the result of increases in interest rates offered on deposit
products due to higher average market interest rates. Additionally, the relative proportion of lower-cost savings and
interest checking to total interest-bearing deposits has trended downward during the comparable periods.

The Corporation’s net interest spread, which represents the difference between the average rate earned on
earning assets and the average rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities, was 3.75% in 2007 compared to 3.70% in
2006 and 3.83% in 2005. The net interest spread, as well as the net interest margin, will be impacted by future
changes in short-term and long-term interest rate levels, as well as the impact from the competitive environment. A
discussion of the effects of changing interest rates on net interest income is set forth in item 7A. Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk included elsewhere in this report.

The Corporation’s hedging policies permit the use of various derivative financial instruments, including
interest rate swaps, caps and floors, to manage exposure to changes in interest rates. Details of the Corporation’s
derivatives and hedging activities are set forth in Note 17 — Derivative Financial Instrurments in the accompanying
notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. Information regarding the impact of
floctuations in interest rates on the Corporation’s derivative financial instruments is set forth in Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk included elsewhere in this report.
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Provision for Possible Loan Losses

The provision for possible loan losses is determined by management as the amount to be added to the
¢llowance for possible loan losses after net charge-offs have been deducted to bring the allowance to a level which,
in management’s best estimate, is necessary to absorb probable losses within the existing loan portfolio. The
provision for possible loan losses totaled $14.7 million in 2007 compared to $14.2 million in 2006 and $10.3 million
in 2005. See the section captioned “Allowance for Possible Loan Losses™ elsewhere in this discussion for further
analysis of the provision for possible loan losses.

INon-Interest Income

The components of non-interest income were as follows:

2007 2006 2005

EUST FEES .« o o v v v et e e e e e e e e e $ 70,359 $ 63,469 §$ 58,353
Service charges on deposit accounts ... ... ..o 80,718 77,116 78,751
Tnsurance commmissions and fees . ... .. o e 30,847 28,230 27,731
Other charges, commissions and fees. ........... .o 32,558 28,105 23,125
Net gain (10ss) on securities transactions ... ............vvvero e 15 (0 19
REE & v v e e e e e e 53,734 43,828 42,400

TOUL. « o ot et e e e e $268231  $240,747  $230,379

Total non-interest income for 2007 increased $27.5 million, or 11.4%, compared to 2006 while total non-
nterest income for 2006 increased $10.4 million, or 4.5%, compared to 2005. Changes in the various components of
10n-interest income are discussed in more detail below.

Trust Fees. Trust fee income for 2007 increased $6.9 million, or 10.9%, compared to 2006 while trust fee
mcoms for 2006 increased $5.1 million, or 8.8%, compared to 2005. Investment fees are the most significant
somponent of trust fees, making up approximately 71% of total trust fees in 2007 and approximately 70% in 2006
and 2005. Investment and other custodial account fees are generally based on the market value of assets within a
trust account. Volatility in the equity and bond markets impacts the market value of trust assets and the related
investment fees.

The increase in trust fee income during 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily the result of increases in
investment fees (up $5.7 million), real estate fees (up $545 thousand) and securities lending income {up $506
thousand). This increase was slightly offset by a decrease in oil and gas fees (down $104 thousand). The increases in
investment fees were primarily due to higher equity valuations during 2007 compared to 2006 and growth in overall
trust assets and the pumber of trust accounts.

The increase in trust fee income during 2006 compared to 2005 was primarily the result of increases in
investnent fees (up $3.1 million), oil and gas trust management fees (up $994 thousand), custody fees (up $566
thousznd) and estate fees (up $358 thousand). The increase in investment fees was primarily due to higher equity
valuations during 2006 compared to 2005 and growth in overall trust assets and the number of trust accounts. The
increase in oil and gas trust management fees was partly due to increased market prices, new production and new
lease bonuses.

At December 31, 2007, trust assets, including both managed assets and custody assets, were primarily
composed of fixed income securities (41.2% of trust assets), equity securities (39.3% of trust assets) and cash
equivalents (12.7% of trust assets). The estimated fair value of trust assets was $24.8 billion (including managed
assets of $10.5 billion and custody assets of $14.3 billion) at December 31, 2007 compared to $23.2 billion
(including managed asscts of $9.3 billion and custody assets of $13.9 billion) at December 31, 2006 and
$18.1 billion (including managed assets of $8.3 billion and custody assets of $9.8 billion) at December 31, 2005.

Service Charges on Deposit Accounts.  Service charges on deposit accounts for 2007 increased $3.6 million,
or 4.7%, compared to 2006. Increases in overdraft/insufficient funds charges on consumer accounts
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(up $4.4 million) and commercial accounts (up $1.7 thousand) were partly offset by decreases in service charges on
commercial accounts (down $2.4 million} and consumer accounts (down $728 thousand). The increases in
overdraft/insufficient funds charges on both commercial and consumer accounts were partly the result of growth
in deposit accounts and an increase in the per-occurrence fee charged. The decrease in service charges on
commercial accounts was primarily related to decreased treasury management fees. The decreased treasury
management fees resulted primarily from a higher earnings credit rate. The earnings credit is the value given to
deposits maintained by treasury management customers. Because average interest rates were higher compared to
2006, deposit balances became more valuable and yielded a higher earnings credit rate. As a result, customers were
able to pay for more of their services with earning credits applied to their deposit balances rather than through fees.

Service charges on deposit accounts for 2006 decreased $1.6 million, or 2.1%, compared to 2005. The decrease
was primarily related to service charges on commercial accounts (down $4.0 million) and consumer accounts (down
$561 thousand) partly offset by increases in overdraftfinsufficient funds charges on consumer accounts (up
$1.8 million) and commercial accounts (up $620 thousand). The decrease in service charges on commercial
accounts was primarily related to decreased treasury management fees primarily resulting from a higher carnings
credit rate, The decrease in treasury management fees resulting from the higher earnings credit rate was partly offset
by the additional fees from an increase in billable services. The increase in overdraft/insufficient funds charges on
both commercial and consumer accounts was partly the result of growth in deposit accounts.

Insurance Commissions and Fees. Insurance commissions and fees for 2007 increased $2.6 million, or 9.3%,
compared to 2006. The increase was primarily related to higher commission income (up $2.0 million) and an
increase in contingent commissions (up $567 thousand). Insurance commissions and fees for 2006 increased $499
thousand, or 1.8%, compared to 2005. The increase was primarily related to higher commission income (up $770
thousand) partly offset by a decrease in contingent commissions (down $271 thousand).

Insurance commissions and fees include contingent commissions totaling $3.7 million during 2007 compared
to $3.1 million during 2006 and $3.4 million during 2003, Contingent commissions primarily consist of amounts
received from various property and casualty insurance carriers, The carriers use several non-client specific factors
to determine the amount of the contingency payments. Such factors include the aggregate loss performance of
insurance policies previously placed and the volume of business, among other things. Such commissions are
seasonal in nature and are mostly received during the first quarter of each year. These commissions totaled
$3.3 million during 2007 and $2.8 million during both 2006 and 2005. Contingent commissions also include
amounts received from various benefit plan insurance companies related to the volume of business generated and/or
the subsequent retention of such business. These commissions totaled $366 thousand, $376 thousand and $584
thousand during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Other Charges, Commissions and Fees.  Other charges, commissions and fees for 2007 increased $4.5 mil-
lion, or 15.8%, compared to 2006. The increase was primarily reiated to increases in commission income related to
the sale of money market accounts (up $1.3 million) and mutual funds (up $898 thousand). The Corporation also
recognized account management fees totaling $1.3 million related to a line of business acquired in connection with
the acquisition of Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006.

Other charges, commissions and fees for 2006 increased $5.0 million, or 21.5%, compared to 2005. The
increase was primarily related to an increase in investment banking fees related to corporate advisory services (up
$2.8 million) and increases in commission income related to the sale of money market accounts {up $846 thousand)
and mutual funds (up $645 thousand). These increases were partially offset by decreases in letter of credit fees
(down $616 thousand). During the second quarter of 2006, the Corporation recognized investment banking fees
related to corporate advisory services totaling $2.8 million, which was primarily related to a single transaction.
During the third quarter of 2006, the Corporation recognized investment banking fees related to corporate advisory
services totaling $1.3 million, which was primarily related to two transactions. Investment banking fees related to
corporate advisory services are transaction based and can vary significantly from quarter to quarter.

Net Gain/Loss on Securities Transactions. During 2007, the Corporation realized a net gain on securities
transactions of $15 thousand related to the sales of available-for-sale securities with an amortized cost totaling
$64.9 million. During 2006, the Corporation realized a net loss on securities transactions of $1 thousand related to
the sales of available-for-sale securities with an amortized cost totaling $26.9 million. During 2005, the Corporation
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realized a net gain on securities transactions of $19 thousand related to the sales of available-for-sale securities with
zn amortized cost totaling $19.8 million.

Other Non-Interest Income. Other non-interest income increased $9.9 million, or 22.6%, during 2007
compared to 2006. Contributing to the increase during 2007 were increases in sundry income from various
iniscellaneous items (up $3.3 million), income from check card usage (up $3.0 million), lease rental income (up
%1.4 million), gains on the sales of foreclosed and other assets (up $1.2 million) and income from securities trading
and customer derivative activities (up $872 thousand). These increases were partly offset by decreases in gains on
the sales of student loans (down $1.0 million) and mineral interest income (down $570 thousand). During 2007
significant components of sundry income included $2.4 million in income recognized from the collection of interest
and other charges on loans charged-off in prior years and $1.2 million in income recognized in connection with
settlements and other recoveries.

Other non-interest income increased $1.4 million, or 3.4%, in 2006 compared to 2005. During 2005, the
Corporation realized $2.4 million in income from the net proceeds from the settlement of legal claims against
certain former employees who were employed within the employee benefits line of business in the Austin region of
Frost [nsurance Agency. Also during 2005, the Corporation recognized $2.0 million in income related to a
Jistribution received from the sale of the PULSE EFT Association whereby the Corporation and other members of
‘he Association received distributions based in part upon each member’s volume of transactions through the PULSE
network. Excluding the income related to these items during 2005, other non-interest income for 2006 increased
$5.8 million, or 15.3%, compared to 2005. Contributing to the effective increase during 2006 were increases in
incomz from check card usage (up $2.7 million), earnings on cashier’s check balances {up $1.5 million), income
from securities trading activities (up $521 thousand) and mineral interest income {up $462 thousand).

Non-Interest Expense

The components of non-interest expense were as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Salaries and WagES . . - .o vt et et $200,982  $190,784  $166,059
Employee benefits ... ... ... . 47,095 46,231 41,577
NEL OCCUPANCY . ¢ o v vttt aa e e nia s e e n s 38,824 34,695 31,107
Furniture and eqUIPMIENT . ... .o it e 32,821 26,293 23,912
Intangible amortization . .. ... ... ot 8,860 5,628 4,859
011771 (PO P 124,864 106,722 99,493

Total. .« . o ot e e $462.446  $410,353  $367,007

Total non-interest expense for 2007 increased $52.1 million, or 12.7%, compared to 2006 while total non-
interest expense for 2006 increased $43.3 million, or 11.8%, compared to 2005. Changes in the various components
of non-interest expense are discussed below.

Salaries and Wages.  Salaries and wages for 2007 increased $19.2 million, or 10.1%, compared to 2006. The
increuse was primarily related to normal, annual merit increases, an increase in headcount and an increase in
commissions related to higher insurance revenues. The increases in headcount were primarily related the acqui-
sitions of TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006.

Salaries and wages expense for 2006 increased $24.7 million, or 14.9%, compared to 2005. The increase was
partly related to normal, annual merit increases and an increase in headcount. The increase in headcount was
primzrily related to the acquisitions of Horizon during the fourth quarter of 2005, TCB and Alamo during the first
quartzr of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006. Also, effective January 1, 2006, the Corporation
began recognizing compensation expense related to stock options in connection with the adoption of a new
accounting standard, as further discussed in Note 13 — Employee Benefit Plans. Stock-based compensation
expense related to stock options and non-vested stock awards totaled $9.2 million during 2006 compared to
$2.0 million during 2005.
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Employee Benefits. Employee benefits expense for 2007 increased $864 thousand, or 1.9%, compared 1o
2006. The increase was primarily related to increases in expenses related to the Corporation’s 401(k) and profit
sharing plans (up $3.5 million) and payroll taxes (up $943 thousand). These increases were partially offset by
decreases in medical costs (down $2.1 million), workers compensation insurance cost (down $834 thousand) and
expenses related to the Corporation’s defined benefit retirement and restoration plans (down $778 thousand). The
decrease in medical expense was primarily related to a decrease in certain accruals for medical expense as a result of
lower projected medical costs. The decrease in workers compensation insurance expense was primarily related to a
reversal in certain related accruals based on current projected costs.

Employee benefits expense for 2006 increased $4.7 million, or 11.2%, compared to 2005. The increase was
primarily related to increases in medical insurance expense (up $1.8 million), payroll taxes (up $i.4 million),
expenses related to the Corporation’s defined benefit retirement and restoration plans (up $796 thousand) and
expenses related to the Corporation’s 401(k) and profit sharing plans (up $718 thousand).

The Corporation’s defined benefit retirement and restoration plans were frozen effective as of December 31,
2001 and were repiaced by the profit sharing plan. Management believes these actions help reduce the volatility in
retirement plan expense. However, the Corporation still has funding obligations related (o the defined benefit and
restoration plans and could recognize retirement expense related to these plans in future years, which would be
dependent on the return earned on plan assets, the level of interest rates and employee turnover. Employee benefits
expense related 1o the defined benefit retirement and restoration plans totaled $1.9 million in 2007, $2.7 million in
2006 and $1.9 million in 2005. Future expense related to these plans is dependent upon a variety of factors,
including the actual return on plan assets.

For additional information related to the Corporation’s employee benefit plans, see Note 13 — Employee
Benefit Plans in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

Net Occupancy. Net occupancy expense for 2007 increased $4.1 million, or 11.9%, compared to 2006. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in lease expense (up $1.7 million), service contracts expense (up $517
thousand), property tax expense (up $513 thousand), utilities expense (up $422 thousand) and building maintenance
(up $382 thousand). These increases were partly related to the additional facilities added in connection with the
acquisitions of TCB and Alame during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006.

Net occupancy expense for 2006 increased $3.6 million, or 11.5%, compared to 2005. The increase was
primarily related to increases in utilities expenses (up $739 thousand), property taxes (up $591 thousand),
depreciation expense related to buildings (up $586 thousand) and in lease expense (up $565 thousand), as well
as increases in various other categories of occupancy expense. These increases were partly related to the additional
facilities added in connection with the acquisitions of Horizon during the fourth quarter of 20035, TCB and Alamo
during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006.

Furniture and Equipment. Furniture and equipment expense for 2007 increased $6.5 million, or 24.8%,
compared to 2006. The increase was primarily related to increases in software maintenance expense (up
$2.9 million), depreciation expense related to furniture and fixtures (up $1.7 million), software amortization
expense (up $1.1 million) and service contracts expense (up $596 thousand). The increases in various furniture and
equipment expenses were partly related to the acquisitions of TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and
Summit during the fourth guarter of 2006. Additionally, the Corporation entered into software maintenance
contracts in connection with new operating platforms related to retail delivery during the second quarter of 2007.

Furniture and equipment expense for 2006 increased $2.4 million, or 10.0%, compared to 2005, The increase
was primarily due to increases in software maintenance (up $1.9 million}, depreciation expense related to furniture
and fixtures (up $1.4 million) and service conlracts expense (up $698 thousand). The impact of these items was
partly offset by a decrease in software amortization expense (down $1.9 million)., The increase in software
maintenance and depreciation expense related to furniture and fixtures was partly due to management’s decision to
no longer outsource certain data processing functions.

Intangible Amortization. Intangible amortization is primarily related to core deposit intangibles and, 1o a
lesser extent, intangibles related to non-compete agreements and customer relationships. Intangible amortization
totaled $8.9 million for 2007 compared to $5.6 million for 2006 and $4.9 million for 2003. Intangible amortization
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in 2007 was primarily due to the amortization of new intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisitions
of TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006. See Note 7 —
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this report.

Irtangible amortization for 2006 increased $769 thousand, or 15.8%, compared to 2005 primarily due to the
amortization of new intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisitions of Horizon during the fourth
yuarter of 2005, TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006.

During 2005, the Corporation wrote-off certain customer relationship intangibles totaling $147 thousand and
zoodwill totaling $2.0 million in connection with the settlement of legal claims against certain former employees of
Srost Insurance Agency. Gross settlement proceeds of $4.5 million were reduced by the write-off of these assets in
-he de-ermination of the $2.4 million net proceeds recognized in the settlement. See the analysis of other non-
interest income in the section captioned “Non-Interest Income” included elsewhere in this discussion.

Other Non-Interest Expense. Other non-interest expense for 2007 increased $18.1 million, or 17.0%,
sompared to 2006. Significant components of the increase included increases in sundry expense from various
miscellaneous items (up $5.7 million), advertising/promotions expenses {up $2.6 million), amortization of net
deferred costs related to loan commitments (up $1.9 million) and leased property depreciation (up $1.2 million).
Included in sundry expense from various miscellaneous items was $5.3 million in expense recognized during the
first quarter of 2007 related to a prepayment penalty and the write-oft of the unamortized debt issuance costs
incurred in connection with the redemption of $103.1 mitlion of 8.42% junior subordinated deferrable interest
debentures. Also included was $1.0 million in expense related to a contribution for previously unmatched employee
contributions to the Corporation’s 401(k) plan, $548 thousand in expense related (o indemnification obligations
with Visa USA, $373 thousand in expense related to the reimbursement of certain expenses previously paid by the
Corporation’s defined benefit pension plan and $275 thousand in expense related to settlements.

As stated above, the Corporation accrued $548 thousand in connection with the Corporation’s obligation to
indemnify Visa USA for costs and liabilities incurred in connection with certain litigation based on the
Corporation’s proportionate membership interest in Visa USA. Visa USA is currently undergoing a restructuring
and initial public offering that is expected to occur in the first half 2008. In connection with this restructuring and
initial public offering, Visa USA members are expected to receive shares in Visa, Inc. in exchange for their
memtership interest. A portion of the shares allocated to Visa USA members is expected to be withheld to cover the
costs and liabilities associated with the aforementioned litigation whereby Visa USA members would not be
required to make any cash payments to settle the indemnification obligations. While the Corporation expects these
events to occur, there can be no assurance that the restructuring and initial public offering of Visa, Inc. will be
successful and that the shares of Visa, Inc. allocated to the Corporation will have sufficient value to cover the
Corporation’s obligations under the indemnification agreement. Furthermore, additional accruals may be required
in future periods should the Corporation’s estimate of its obligations under the indemnification agreement change.

Other non-interest expense for 2006 increased $7.2 million, or 7.3%, compared to 2005. Components of the
increase during 2006 included professional service expense (up $5.1 million), amortization of net deferred costs
associated with unfunded loan commitments (up $2.2 million), check card expense (up $1.3 million), stationery,
printing and supplies expense (up $1.1 million), travel expense (up $930 thousand), meals and entertainment
expense (up $866 thousand) and write-downs of other real estate owned (up $743 thousand), among other things.
The increases in professional services expense, stationery, printing and supplies expense, travel expense and meals
and entertainment expense were partly refated (o acquisitions and integration activities. The increase in these iterms
was partly offset by a decrease in outside computer service expense (down $6.3 million). The reduction in outside
computer services resulted as the Corporation is no Jonger outsourcing certain data processing functions.

39




Results of Segment Operations

The Corporation’s operations are managed along two operating segments: Banking and the Financial
Management Group (“FMG™). A description of each business and the methodologies used to measure financial
performance is described in Note 19 — QOperating Segments in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial
-statements included elsewhere in this report. Net income (loss) by operating segment is presented below:

2007 2006 2005
Banking .. ... .. e e $200,387 $184,141  $159,177
Financial Management Group . .. .. ...... . ... .. ..., 27.317 22.652 16,666
Non-Banks . . . ... e e (15,633 (13,202) (10,4200
Consolidated net INCOME . . . . ... e $212,071  $193,591 $165,423

Banking

Net income for 2007 increased $16.2 million, or 8.8%, compared to 2006, The increase was primarily the result
of a $47.7 million increase in net interest income and a $16.2 million increase in non-interest income partly offset by
a $40.6 million increase in non-interest expense and a $6.5 million increase in income tax expense. Net income for
2006 increased $25.0 million, or 15.7%, compared to 2005. The increase was primarily the result of a $71.8 million
increase in net interest income and a $2.6 million increase in non-interest income partly offset by a $35.3 million
increase in non-interest expense, a $10.3 million increase in income tax expenses and a $4.0 million increase in the
provision for possible loan losses.

Net interest income for 2007 increased $47.7 million, or 10.3%, compared to 2006 while net interest income
for 2006 increased $71.8 million, or 18.3%, compared to 2005. The increase in 2007 compared to 2006 was
primarily the result of growth in the average volume of earning assets. The increase in 2006 compared to 20035
primarily resulted from growth in the average volume of earning assets combined with a increase in the net interest
margin which resulted, in part, from a general increase in market interest rates and an increase in the relative
proportion of higher-yielding loans as a percentage of total average earning assets. See the analysis of net interest
income included in the section captioned “Net Interest Income” included elsewhere in this discussion.

The provision for possible loan losses for 2007 totaled $14.7 million compared to $14.2 million in 2006 and
$10.2 million in 2005. See the analysis of the provision for possible loan losses included in the section captioned
“Allowance for Possible Loan Losses” included elsewhere in this discussion.

Non-interest income for 2007 increased $16.2 million, or 10.0%, compared to 2006. The increase was
primarily due to increases in other non-interest income, service charges on deposits and insurance commissions and
fees. Non-interest income for 2006 increased $2.6 million, or 1.6%, compared to 2005. The increase was prirharily
due to increases in other charges, commissions and fees partly offset by a decrease in service charges on deposit
accounts. See the analysis of other non-interest income, service charges on deposit accounts and insurance
commissions and fees included in the section captioned “Non-Interest Income” included elsewhere in thig
discussion.

Non-interest expense for 2007 increased $40.6 million, or 11.9%, compared to 2006. The banking segment
experienced increases in all categories of non-interest expense during the comparable periods. These increases were
partly related to the acquisitions of TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth
quarter of 2006. Combined, salaries and wages and employee benefits increased $16.1 million, The increase was
primarily the result of normal, annual merit increases, increases in headcount, an increase in commissions related to
higher insurance revenues, increases in expenses related to the Corporation’s employee benefit plans and an
increase in payroll taxes. Other non-interest expense increased $10.8 miilion during 2007 compared to 2006. Other
non-interest expense was most significantly impacted by certain non-recurring sundry charges in addition to
increases in advertising/promotions expenses, amortization of net deferred costs related to loan commitments and
leased property depreciation, among other items. Net occupancy expense increased due to an increase in lease
expense, service contracts expense, property tax expense, utilities expense and building maintenance. Furniture and
equipment expense increased primarily due to increases in software maintenance expense, depreciation expense
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related to furniture and fixtures, software amortization expense and service contracts expense. Intangible amor-
tization increased primarily due to the amortization of new intangible assets acquired in connection with the
aforementioned acquisitions. See the analysis of these items included in the section captioned “Non-Interest
Expense” included elsewhere in this discussion.

Non-interest expense for 2006 increased $35.3 million, or 11.6%, compared to 2005. The increase was
primarily related to increases in salaries and wages, employee benefits expense, net occupancy expense, furniture
and equipment expense and other non-interest expensc. Combined, salaries and wages and employee benefits
increased $24.7 million during 2006 compared to 2005. This increase was primanly the result of normal, annual
merit increases, increases in headcount as well as increases in medical insurance expense. payroll taxes, expenses
rzlated to the Corporation’s employee benefit plans and stock-based compensation expense. Other non-interest
expens: increased $3.9 million, or 5.5%, primarily due o increases in professional service expenses, amortization
of net deferred costs associated with unfunded loan commitments, check card expense, stationery, printing and
supplies expense, travel expenses and meals and entertainment expense, among other things. These increases were
partly offset by a decrease in outside computer service expense. The increase in net occupancy expense was
primarily due to an increase in utilities expenses, property taxes, depreciation expense related to buildings and lease
expensz. The increase in furniture and equipment expense was primarily due to increases in software maintenance
expensz, depreciation expense related to furniture and fixtures and service contracts expense partly offset by a
decrease in software amortization expense. The increases in net occupancy expense and furniture and equipment
¢xpensg are partly related to the additional facilities added in connection with the acquisitions of Horizon during the
fourth quarter of 2005, TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and Summit during the fourth quarter of
7006. See the analysis of these items included in the section captioned “Non-Interest Expense” included elsewhere
in this discussion.

Frost Insurance Agency, which is included in the Banking segment, had gross commission revenues of
%31.2 million in 2007 compared to $28.6 million in 2006 and $28.1 million in 2005. Insurance commission revenues
increased $2.6 million, or 9.2%, during 2007 compared to 2006. The increase during 2007 was primarily related to
lhigher commission income. Insurance commission revenues increased $517 thousand, or 1.8%, during 2006
compared to 2005. The increase during 2006 compared to 2005 was primarily related to higher commission income
tup $787 thousand) partly offsct by a decrease in contingent commission income (down $270 thousand). See the
analysis of insurance commissions and fees included in the section captioned “Non-Interest Income” included
:Isewhere in this discussion.

Finoncial Management Group (FMG)

Net income for 2007 increased $4.7 million compared to 2006. The increase was primarily due to an
$11.9 million increase in non-interest income and an $859 thousand increase in net interest income partly offsetby a
$5.7 million increase in non-interest ¢xpense and a $2.5 million increase in income tax expense. Net income for
2006 increased $6.0 million, or 35.9%, compared to 2005. The increase was primarily due to an $8.6 million
\nerease in net interest income and a $7.7 million increase in non-interest income partly offset by a $7.1 million
increase in non-interest expense and a $3.2 million increase in income tax expense.

Net interest income for 2007 increased $859 thousand, or 3.8% compared to 2006 and increased $8.6 million,
or 6.14% in 2006 compared to 2005. Net interest income during both 2007 and 2006 was impacted by higher average
markel interest rates which in turn impacted the funds transfer price paid on FMG’s repurchase agreements. Net
interest income from 2006 was also impacted by an increase in the average volume of repurchase agreements.

Non-interest income for 2007 increased $11.9 million, or 15.2%, compared to 2006. The increase was
primarily due to an increase in trust fees (up $7.0 million), other charges, commissions and fees (up $4.2 million)
and other income (up $924 thousand). Non-interest income for 2006 increased %7.7 million, or 10.9%, compared to
2005. The increase was primarily due to an increase in trust fees (up $5.3 million).

Trust fee income is the most significant income component for FMG. Investment fees are the most significant
component of trust fees, making up approximately 71% of total trust fees for 2007 and 70% of total trust fees for
both 2006 and 2005. Investment and other custodial account fees are generally based on the market value of assets
withit: a trust account. Volatility in the equity and bond markets impacts the market value of trust assets and the
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related investment fees. FMG has experienced an increasing frend in investment fees since 2003 primarily due to
higher equity valuations and growth in overall trust assets and the number of trust accounts. See the analysis of trust
fees included in the section captioned “Non-Interest Income” included elsewhere in this discussion,

The increase in other charges, commissions and fees during 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to
increases in commission income related to the sales of money market accounts, mutual funds and annuity products.
FMG also recognized account management fees totaling $1.3 million related to a line of business acquired in
connection with the acquisition of Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006. The increase in other income during
2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to increases in income from securities trading as well as other
miscellaneous income.

Non-interest expense for 2007 increased $5.7 million, or 8.6%, compared to 2006. The increase was primarily
due o salaries and wages and employee benefits (combined up $4.6 million) and an increase in other non-interest
expense (up $960 thousand). The increase in salaries and wages and employee benefits was primarily the result of
normal, annual merit increases and increases in expenses related to employee benefit plans and payroll taxes. The
increase in other non-interest expense was primarily due to general increases in the various components of other
non-interest expense, including cost allocations.

Non-interest expense for 2006 increased $7.1 million, or 12.1%, compared to 2005. The increase was primarily
due 0 an increase in salaries and wages and employee benefits and other non-interest expense. The increases in
salaries and wages and employee benefits {on a combined basis, up $4.0 million) were primarily the result of
normal, annual merit increases, increases in headcount and increases in expenses related to stock-based compen-
sation, payroll taxes, medical insurance and employee benefit plans. The increase in other non-interest expense (up
$3.1 million) was primarily due to general increases in the various components of other non-interest expense,
including cost allocations.

Non-Banks .

The net loss for the Non-Banks operating segment increased $2.4 million for 2007 compared to 2006. The
increase was primarily due to $5.3 million in expense recognized during the first quarter of 2007 related to a
prepayment penalty and the write-off of the unamortized debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the
redemption of $103.1 million of 8.42% junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures,

The net loss for the Non-Banks segment increased $2.8 million during 2006 compared to 2003. The increase
was primarily due to a decrease in net interest income due in part to the variable-rate junior subordinated deferrable
interest debentures issued in February 2004. As market interest rates increased, the Non-Banks segment expe-
rienced a corresponding increase in interest cost related to this debt. Additionally, during 2006, the Corporation had
added interest cost from the $3.1 million of variable-rate junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures
acquired in connection with the acquisition of Alamo in the first quarter and $12.4 million of variable-rate junior
subordinated deferrable interest debentures acquired in connection with the acquisition of Summit in the fourth
quarter.

Income Taxes

The Corporation recognized income tax expense of $97.8 million, for an effective tax rate of 31.6% for 2007
compared to $21.8 million, for an effective rate of 32.2%, in 2006 and $79.0 million, for an effective rate of 32.3%,
in 2005. The effective income tax rates differed from the U.S. statutory rate of 35% during the comparable periods
primarily due to the effect of tax-exempt income from loans, securities and life insurance policies.
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Sources and Uses of Funds

Tke following table illustrates, during the years presented, the mix of the Corporation’s funding sources and
the assets in which those funds are invested as a percentage of the Corporation’s average total assets for the period
indicated. Average assets totaled $13.0 billion in 2007 compared to $11.6 billion in 2006 and $10.1 billion in 2005.

2007 2006 2005

Sources of Funds:

Deposits:
Non-interest-bearing . . . . . .. oottt s 27.0% 288% 29.9%
Interest-bearing . .. ... .. oo oot 513 50.5 505
Federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements .. . ......... ... ...... 6.6 6.6 6.0
Long-term debt and other borrowings. . ... ... ... .. i 32 35 38
Other non-interest-bearing liabilities . .. ... ... ... ... . o i 1.2 1.3 1.3
Equity capital ... ... 10.7 9.3 8.7
4 21 [ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
{ses of Funds:
LIS © o vttt e e e e e 572% 563% 55.1%
GECUTIHIES - o v ot vttt it v e et e s 252 25.5 28.1
Federal funds sold, resell agreements and other interest-earning assets. .. ... .. 4.5 6.3 5.2
Other noON-interest-earning ASSELS . . ...t vu v e e 13.1 11.9 11.6
4 L7 [ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Deposits continue 1o be the Corporation’s primary source of funding. Although trending down as a percentage
of total funding sources, non-interest-bearing deposits remain a significant source of funding, which has been a key
factor in maintaining the Corporation’s relatively low cost of funds. Non-interest-bearing deposits totaled 34.5% of
total average deposits in 2007 compared to 36.3% in 2006 and 37.0% in 2005. The decrease in the relative
proportion of non-interest-bearing deposits to total deposits was partly due to decreases in average correspondent
hank deposits (see related information regarding this decrease in the section captioned “Deposits” included
vlsewhere in this discussion).

The Corporation primarily invests funds in loans and securities. Loans continue to be the largest component of
the Corporation’s mix of invested assets. Average loans increased $940.2 million, or 14.4%, in 2007 compared to
2006 and $929.4 million, or 16.6%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The increase in 2007 was partly due to the
acquisition of $824.5 million in loans in connection with the acquisition of Summit during the fourth quarter of
2006. The increase in 2006 and 2005 was partly due to the acquisition of $326.3 million in loans in connection with
‘he acquisition of Horizon during the fourth quarter of 2005, $289.6 million in loans in connection with the
scquisition of TCB and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and $824.5 million in loans in connection with the
acquisition of Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006. Excluding the impact of the loans acquired in these
acquisitions, average loans increased $379.0 million, or 6.9%, in 2006 compared to 2003. See additional
information regarding the Corporation’s loan portfolio in the section captioned “Loans” included elsewhere in
this discussion. The relative proportion of funds invested in securities in 2006 decreased compared 1o 2005, while
the relative proportion of funds invested in federal funds sold, reselt agreements and other interest-earming assets
increased as the Corporation chose to delay the reinvestment of funds in longer-term securities unti more favorable
investment yields became available.
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Loans

Year-end loans were as follows:

Percentage
2007 of Total 2006 2005 2004 2003
Commercial and industrial:
Commercial ............. $3,472,759 44.7% $3,229,570 $2,610,178 $2,361,052 $2,081,631
Leases ................. 184,140 24 174,075 148,750 114,016 77,909
Asset-based, ......... . ... 32,963 0.4 33,856 41,288 34,687 36,683
Total commercial and
industeial . ........... 3,689,862 47.5 3,437,501 2,800,216 2,509,755 2,196,223
Real estate:
Construction:
Commercial. .. ......... 560,176 7.2 649,140 590,635 419,141 349,152
Consumer . ............ 61,595 0.8 114,142 87,746 37,234 23,399
Land:
Commercial. . .......... 397,319 5.1 407,055 301,907 215,148 178,022
Consumer . ............ 2,996 — 5,394 10,369 3,675 5,169
Commercial mortgages . . ... 1,982,786 25.5 1,760,469 1,409,811 1,185431 1,102,138
1-4 family residential
MOTIEAZES . . v o v v v e v 938,077 1.3 125,294 95,032 86,098 113,756
Home equity and other
CONSUMET. . ... vvvnnnn.. 587,721 7.6 508,574 460,941 387,864 292,255
Total real estate . . .. ... .. 3,690,670 47.5 3,576,068 2,956,441 2,334,591 2,063,891
Consumer:
Indirect. ................ 2,031 — 3,475 2,418 3,648 8,358
Student loans held for sale. . . 62,861 0.8 47,335 51,189 63,568 58,280
Other .................. 323,320 4.2 310,752 265,038 247,025 246,173
Other .................... 29,891 04 27,703 27,201 21,819 28,962
Uneamed discount .. ... ..... (29273)  (0.4) (29,450)  (17,448) (15415  (i1,141)
Total . ......... ... ...... $7.769,362 100.0% $7.373,384 $6,085,055 $5,164,991 $4,590,746

Overview. Total loans at December 31, 2007 increased $396.0 million, or 5.4%, compared to December 31,
2006, The Corporation stopped originating mortgage and indirect consumer loans during 2000, and as such, these
portfolios are excluded when analyzing the growth of the loan portfolio. Student loans are similarly excluded
because the Corporation primarily originates these loans for resale. Accordingly, student loans are classified as held
for sale. Excluding 1-4 family residential mortgages, the indirect lending portfolio and student loans, loans
increased $409.1 million, or 5.7%, from December 31, 2006. Total loans at December 31, 2006 increased
$1.3 billion, or 21.2%, compared to December 31, 2005. During 2006, the Corporation acquired $1.1 billion in
loans in connection with the acquisitions of TCB, Alamo and Summit. Excluding these acquired loans, total year-
end loans increased $174.2 million, or 2.9%, from December 31 2005. Total loans at December 31, 2005 increased
$920.1 million, or 17.8%, compared to December 31, 2004, During 2005, the Corporation acquired $326.3 million
in loans in connection with the acquisition of Horizon. Excluding these acquired loans, total year-end loans
increased $593.8 million, or 11.5%, from December 31, 2004,

The majority of the Corporation’s loan portfolio is comprised of commercial and industrial foans and real
estate loans. Commercial and industrial loans made up 47.5% and 46.6% of total loans while real estate loans made
up 47.5% and 48.5% of total loans at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Real estate loans include both
commercial and consumer balances. Of the $1.1 billion of loans acquired in connection with the acquisitions of
TCB, Alamo and Summit during 2006, approximately 33% were commercial and industrial loans and approx-
imately 62% were real estate loans, Of the $326.3 million of loans acquired in connection with the acquisition of
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Forizon during 2005, approximately 20% were commercial and industrial and approximately 74% were real estate
loans.

Loan Origination/Risk Management. The Corporation has certain lending policies and procedures in place
that are designed to maximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. Management reviews and approves
these policies and procedures on a regular basis. A reporting system supplements the review process by providing
management with frequent reports related to loan production, loan quality, concentrations of credit, loan delin-
quencies and non-performing and potential problem loans. Diversification in the loan portfolio is a means of
managing risk associated with fluctuations in economic conditions.

Commercial and industrial loans are underwritien after evaluating and understanding the borrower’s ability to
operate profitably and prudently expand its business. Underwriting standards are designed to promote relationship
banking rather than transactional banking. Once it is determined that the borrower’s management possesses sound
ethics and solid business acumen, the Corporation’s management examines current and projected cash flows to
determine the ability of the borrower to repay their obligations as agreed. Commercial and industrial loans are
primarily made based on the identified cash flows of the borrower and secondarily on the underlying collateral
provided by the borrower. The cash flows of borrowers, however, may not be as expected and the collateral securing
these loans may fluctuate in value. Most commercial and industrial loans are secured by the assets being financed or
other business assets such as accounts receivable or inventory and may incorporate a personal guarantee; however,
some short-term loans may be made on an unsecured basis. In the case of loans secured by accounts receivable, the
availability of funds for the repayment of these loans may be substantially dependent on the ability of the borrower
to collect amounts due from its customers.

Commercial teal estate loans are subject to underwriting standards and processes sirnilar to commercial and
industrial loans, in addition to those of real estate loans, These loans are viewed primarily as cash flow loans and
secondarily as loans secured by real estate. Commercial real estate lending typically involves higher loan principal
amounts and the repayment of these loans is generally largely dependent on the successful operation of the property
securing the loan or the business conducted on the property securing the loan. Commercial real estate loans may be
more adversely affected by conditions in the real estate markets or in the general economy. As detailed in the
discussion of real estate loans below, the properties securing the Corporation’s commercial real estate portfolio are
diverse in terms of type and geographic location, This diversity helps reduce the Corporation’s exposure to adverse
ezonomic events that affect any single market or industry. Management monitors and evaluates commercial real
estate loans based on collateral, geography and risk grade criteria. As a general rule, the Corporation avoids
financing single-purpose projects unless other underwriting factors are present to help mitigate risk. The Corpo-
rition also utilizes third-party experts to provide insight and guidance about economic conditions and trends
affecting market areas it serves. In addition, management tracks the level of owner-occupied commercial real estate
loans varsus non-owner occupied loans, At December 31, 2007, approximately 60% of the outstanding principal
balance of the Corporation’s commercial real estate loans were secured by owner-occupied properties.

With respect to loans to developers and builders that are secured by non-owner occupied properties that the
Corporation may originate from time to time, the Corporation generally requires the borrower to have had an
existing relationship with the Corporation and have a proven record of success. Construction loans are underwritten
utilizing feasibility studies, independent appraisal reviews, sensitivity analysis of absorption and lease rates and
f:nancial analysis of the developers and property owners. Construction loans are generally based upon estimates of
costs and value associated with the complete project. These estimates may be inaccurate, Construction loans often
involve the disbursement of substantial funds with repayment substantially dependent on the success of the ultimate
project. Sources of repayment for these types of loans may be pre-committed permanent loans from approved long-
term lenders, sales of developed property or an interim loan commitment from the Corporation until permanent
f nancing is obtained. These loans are closely monitored by on-site inspections and are considered to have higher
rsks than other real estate loans due to their ultimate repayment being sensitive to interest rate changes,
governmental regulation of real property, general economic conditions and the availability of long-term financing.

The Corporation originates consumer loans utilizing a computer-based credit scoring analysis to supplement
the underwriting process. To monitor and manage consumer loan risk, policies and procedures are developed and
modified, as needed, jointly by line and staff personnel. This activity, coupled with relatively small loan amounts
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that are spread across many individual borrowers, minimizes risk. Additionally, trend and outlook reports are
reviewed by management on a regular basis. Underwriting standards for home equity loans are heavily influenced
by statutory requirements, which include, but are not limited to, a maximum loan-to-value percentage of 80%,
collection remedies, the number of such loans a borrower can have at one time and documentation requirements.

The Corporation maintains an independent loan review department that reviews and validates the credit risk
program on a periodic basis. Results of these reviews are presented to management. The loan review process
complements and reinforces the risk identification and assessment decisions made by lenders and credit personnel,
as well as the Corporation’s policies and procedures.

Commercial and Industrial Loans. Commercial and industrial loans increased $252.4 miliion, or 7.3% from
$3.4 billion at December 31, 2006 to $3.7 billion at December 31, 2007. The Corporation’s commercial and
industrial loans are a diverse group of loans to small, medium and large businesses. The purpose of these loans
varies from supporting seasonal working capital needs to term financing of equipment. While some short-term loans
may be made on an unsecured basis, most are secured by the assets being financed with collateral marging that are
consistent with the Corporation’s loan policy guidelines. The commercial and industrial loan portfolio also includes
the commercial lease and asset-based lending portfolios as well as purchased shared national credits (“SNCs™),
which are discussed in more detail below.

Industry Concentrations.  As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no concentrations of loans within
any single industry in excess of 10% of total loans, as segregated by Standard Industrial Classification code (“*SIC
code”). The SIC code is a federally designed standard industrial numbering system used by the Corporation to
categorize loans by the borrower’s type of business. The following table summarizes the industry concentrations of
the Corporation’s loan portfolio, as segregated by SIC code. Industry concentrations are stated as a percentage of
year-end total loans as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006

Industry concentrations:

2 T 8.6% 8.0%
Medical SErVICES . . . v vt e 5.5 3.7
Building cOnStIUCtION . .. .. ... o e 4.6 44
Public fInance . . . . . e e e e 4.4 35
BTV IS & i e e e e 3.9 4.1
Manufacturing, other. . ... . ... .. e 34 34
General and specific trade contractors ... ... ... .. .. . 2.8 3.5
ISUTANCE . . e e e e e e 2.8 24
Religion . . . . e 2.6 2.6
Legal Services. . ..t 25 24
| 2111 2 11 2.1 2.1
All other (35 categories in 2007 and 2006) .. ... ... ... .. .. . . i e 56.8 57.9
Total 1oans . . ... e e e e e e e 100.0% 100.0%

The Corporation’s largest concentration in any single industry is in energy. Year-end energy loans were as
follows:

2007 2006
Energy loans: :

Production . . oo e e e e e e e $468,204  $424,474
SerVICE . e e 133,733 116,018
Traders . ... e e 13,621 12,501
Manufacturing . . . .. ..o e e 46,868 32,929
Rl nim g . . .ot e e e e e 2,072 721

Total energy I0anS ..ottt e e e e e e e $664,498  $586,643




Large Credit Relationships. The market areas served by the Corporation include three of the top ten most
populated cities in the United States. These market areas are also home to a significant number of Fortune
500 companies. As a result, the Corporation originates and maintains large credit relationships with numerous
commercial customers in the ordinary course of business. The Corporation considers large credit relationships to be
those with commitments equal to or in excess of $10.0 million, excluding treasury management lines exposure,
p-ior to any portion being sold. Large relationships also include loan participations purchased if the credit
relationship with the agent is equal to or in excess of $10.0 million. In addition to the Corporation’s normal policies
and procedures related to the origination of large credits, the Corporation’s Central Credit Committee {CCC) must
approve all new and renewed credit facilities which are part of large credit relationships. The CCC meets regularly
and reviews large credit relationship activity and discusses the current pipeline, among other things. The following
teble provides additional information on the Corporation’s large credit relationships outstanding at year-end.

2007 2006

Number of Period-End Balances Number of Period-End Balances
Relationships Committed Outstanding Relationships Committed Outstanding

Large credit relationships:
$20.0 million and greater ....... 110 $3.421,582 $1,555,253 91 $2,616.,299 $1,318,739
$10.¢+ million to $19.9 million. . . . 147 2,078,651 1,131,512 117 1,640,185 888,097

Growth in outstanding balances related to large credit relationships primarily resulted from an increase in
commitments. As of December 31, 2007, approximately $649.0 million of the committed amount for credit
relationships in excess of $20.0 million and approximately $851.6 million of the committed amount for credit
relationships between $10.0 million and $19.9 million were related to newly reported large credit relationships. The
average commitment per large credit relationship in excess of $20.0 million totaled $31.1 million at December 31,
2007 and $28.8 million at December 31, 2006. The average outstanding balance per large credit relationship with a
commitment in excess of $20.0 million totaled $14.1 million at December 31, 2007 and $14.5 million at
Lrecember 31, 2006. The average commitment per large credit relationship between $10.0 million and $19.9 million
totaled $14.1 million at December 31, 2007 and $14.0 million at December 31, 2006. The average outstanding
balance per large credit relationship with a commitment between $10 million and $19.9 million totaled $7.7 million
at December 31, 2007 and $7.6 million at December 31, 2006.

Purchased Shared National Credits. Purchased SNCs are participations purchased from upstream financial
o-ganizations and tend to be larger in size than the Corporation’s originated portfolio. The Corporation’s purchased SNC
portfolio totaled $411.9 million at December 31, 2007, increasing from $360.1 million at December 31, 2006. At
LCrecember 31, 2007, 63.3% of outstanding purchased SNCs was related to the energy industry. The remaining purchased
SNCs were diversified throughout various other industries, with no other single industry exceeding 10% of the total
parchaszd SNC portfolio. Additionally, almost all of the outstanding balance of purchased SNCs was included in the
commercial and industrial portfolio, with the remainder included in the real estate categories. SNC participations are
osiginated in the normal course of business to meet the needs of the Corporation’s customers. As a matter of policy, the
Corporation generally only participates in SNCs for companies headquartered in or which have significant operations
within the Corporation’s market areas. In addition, the Corporation must have direct access to the company’s
management, an existing banking relationship or the expectation of broadening the relationship with cther banking
products and services within the following 12 to 24 months. SNCs are reviewed at least quarterly for credit quality and
b.siness development successes. The following table provides additional information about certain credits within the
Corporation’s purchased SNCs portfolio as of year-end.

2007 2006

Number of Period-End Balances Number of Period-End Balances
Relationships Committed Outstanding Relationships Committed Qutstanding

Purchased shared national credits:
$20.0 million and greater . . .. . 22 $532,860 $264,475 17 $427,700 $215478
$10.0 million to $19.9 million. . 18 242,225 137,606 18 247,250 129,151
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Real Estate Loans. Real estate loans totaled $3.7 billion at December 31, 2007, an increase of $114.6 million,
or 3.2%, compared to $3.6 billion at December 31, 2006. Commercial real estate loans totaled $2.9 billion, or 79.7%
of total real estate loans, at December 31, 2007 and $2.8 billion or 78.9% of total real estate loans, at December 31,
2006. The majority of this portfolio consists of commercial real estate mortgages, which includes both permanent
and intermediate term loans. The Corporation’s primary focus for the commercial real estate portfolio has been
growth in loans secured by owner-occupied properties. These loans are viewed primarily as cash flow loans and
secondarily as loans secured by real estate. Consequently, these loans must undergo the analysis and underwriting

process of a commercial and industrial loan, as well as that of a real estate loan.

The following tables summarize the Corporation’s commercial real estate loan portfolio, as segregated by
(1) the type of property securing the credit and (ii) the geographic region in which the property is located. Property
type concentrations are stated as a percentage of year-end total commercial real estate loans as of December 31,

2007 and 2006:

Property type:
Office building . . .. .. ...
Office/WarehoUSE . . . . e e
-4 family . . .o e e
Medical offices and Services .. . i i e e e
Retall . . . o e e e e e e e
Religious . . o
Land in development. . ... ... .o e e
Non-farm/non-residential . . ... ... ... . e

Fort WOrth . . e

Dallas. . ... e
AUSHN . e
Rio Grande Valley. . . ... .. . . i
Corpus Christi. . .. .. .. e e

Total commercial real estate loans . . .. ... i e

2007 2006

16.0% 21.3%

15.8 13.1
9.6 10.3
54 59
6.4 3.1
5.0 4.1
5.0 7.1
5.0 34

31.8 29.7

100.0% 100.0%

29.0% 29.8%

228 223
21.0 18.9
8.3 9.2
8.2 7.8
5.5 6.6
5.2 5.4

100.0% 100.0%

Consumer Loans. The consumer loan portfolio, including all consumer real estate, totaled $1.1 billion at
December 31, 2007, increasing $23.6 million, or 2.2%, from $1.1 billion at December 31, 2006. Excluding 1-4
family residential mortgages, indirect loans and student loans, total consumer loans increased $36.8 million, or

3.9%, from December 31, 2006.
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As the following table illustrates as of year-end, the consumer loan portfolio has five distinct segments,
including consumer real estate, consumer non-real estate, student loans held for sale, indirect consumer loans and
1-4 family residential mortgages.

2007 2006

COMSITUCHION . « v s e v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 61,595 § 114,142
Land . o e e e 2,996 5,394
Home 2quity 10ans . . ... .ottt 282,947 241,680
Home equity lines of credit . ... ... ... .. o i 86,873 87,103
Other consumer real eState . . .. o v vttt i e e e 217,901 179,791
Total consumer real EStALE . . . . . v vt vttt v e e e e 652,312 628,110
Consumer NON-TEAl ESEALE . . . . . . v it e et e et e e e e 323,320 310,752
Student loans held for sale . .. oo it e e e e e 62,861 47,335
[T 751 0= vx A OO UGN 2,031 3,475
1-4 family residential MOMBAZES . . . .. ..ot e 98,077 125,294
Total conSUMET l0AMS - . . o s et e o e et e e e e e e $1,138,601  $1,114,966

Consumer real estate loans, excluding 1-4 family mortgages, increased $24.2 million, or 3.9%, from
December 31, 2006. Home equity loans were first permitted in the State of Texas beginning January 1, 1998.
(Combined, home equity loans and lines of credit made up 56.7% and 52.3% of the consumer real estate Joan total at
December 31, 2007 and 2006. The Corporation offers home equity loans up to 80% of the estimated value of the
personal residénce of the borrower, less the value of existing mortgages and home improvement loans.

The consumer non-real estate loan portfolio primarily consists of automobile loans, unsecured revolving credit
products, personal loans secured by cash and cash equivalents, and other similar types of credit facilities.

The Corporation primarily originates student loans for resale. Accordingly, these loans are considered “held
for sale.” Student loans are included in total loans in the consolidated balance sheet. Student loans are generally sold
on a non-recourse basis after the deferment period has ended; however, from time to time, the Corporation has sold
such loans prior to the end of the deferment period. The Corporation sold approximately $63.1 million of student
loans during 2007 compared to $70.3 million during 2006 and $73.2 million during 2005.

Tae indirect consumer loan segment has continued to decrease since the Corporation’s decision to discontinue
originzting these types of loans during 2000. Indirect loans increased $1.1 million during 2006 compared to 2005 as
a result of loans acquired in connection with the acquisitions of TCB, Alamo and Summit.

The Corporation also discontinued originating [-4 family residential mortgage loans in 2000. This portfolio
will continue to decline due to the decision to withdraw from the mortgage origination business. {-4 family
residential mortgage loans increased $30.3 million during 2006 compared to 2005 as a result of loans acquired in
connection with the acquisitions of TCB, Alamo and Summit.

Foreign Loans. The Corporation makes U.S. dollar-denominated loans and commitments to borrowers in
‘Mexico. The outstanding balance of these loans and the unfunded amounts available under these commitments were
not significant at December 31, 2007 or 2006.
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Maturities and Sensitivities of Loans to Changes in Interest Rates.  The following table presents the maturity
distribution of the Corporation’s loans, excluding 1-4 family residential real estate loans, student loans and
unearned discounts, at December 31, 2007, The table also presents the portion of loans that have fixed interest rates
or variable interest rates that fluctuate over the life of the loans in accordance with changes in an interest rate index
such as the prime rate or LIBOR.

After One,
Due in One but Within After Five
Year or Less Five Years Years Total
Commercial and industrial .. .................. $1,818,402 $1,460,937 $ 410,523 $3,689,862
Real estate construction . ..................... 288,507 189,488 143,776 621,771
Commercial real estate and land . .. ... .......... 399,844 1,053,591 926,670 2,380,105
Consumerandother . ....... .. ... ............ 133,421 302,647 509,891 945,959
Total, . ... ... e $2,640,174  $3,006,663  $1.990.860 $7,637.697
Loans with fixed interest rates. . .. .............. $ 873640 S$1,162,518 $1,115,954  $3,152,112
Loans with floating interest rates. ... ............ 1,766,534 1,844,145 874,906 4,485,585
Total. . ... .. e 52,640,174 33,006,663  $1,990,860 $7,637,697

The Corporation may renew loans at maturity when requested by a customer whose financial strength appears
to support such renewal or when such renewal appears to be in the Corporation’s best interest. In such instances, the
Corporation generally requires payment of accrued interest and may adjust the rate of interest, require a principal
reduction or modify other terms of the loan at the time of renewal. The Corporation has entered into interest rate
swaps that effectively convert $1.2 billion of loans with floating interest rates tied to the prime rate reported in the
table above into fixed rate loans for a period of seven years. See Note 17 — Derivative Financial Instruments in the
accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report for additional infor-
mation related to these interest rate swaps.
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MNon-Performing Assets and Potential Problem Loans

Non-Performing Assets.  Year-end non-performing assets and accruing past due loans were as follows:

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Mon-accrual loans:
Commercial and industrial ... ................ $11,445 $20,813  $25,556  $27,089  $35914
Realestate. . ... ..ottt i i ieae 12,026 29,580 4,963 2471 10,766
Consumerandother.......... ... ueinnann. 972 1,811 2,660 883 771
Total non-accrual loans. . .................. 24,443 52,204 33,179 30,443 47,451
Festructured loans . . ... ... it —_ _ —_ — —
Foreclosed assets:
Real estille. . . .. e 4,596 5,500 4,403 7,369 5,054
Other. .. e e e e 810 45 1,345 1,304 289
Total foreclosed assets ... .. ..o ov s 5,406 5,545 5,748 8,673 5,343
Total non-performing assets .. .......... .- $29,849  $57,749  $38,927 $39,116  $52,794
Ratio of non-performing assets to:
Total loans and foreclosed assets . ............. 0.38% 0.78% 0.64% 0.76% 1.15%
Total asSelS . . . . v oo e e e 0.22 0.44 0.33 0.39 0.55
Accruing past due loans:
w8 dayspastdue. . ... $45290 $56,836  $32,908 $20,895  $24,419
90 ormore days pastdue . ... ... ... 14,347 10,917 7,921 5,231 14,462
Total accruing past due loans .. ..., ........ $59,637 $67,753  $40,829  $26,126  $38,88]
Ratio of accruing past due loans to total loans:
30w dayspastdue . .. ... e 0.58% 0.77% 0.54% 0.41% 0.53%
90 crmore dayspastdue . . ... ... 0.9 0.15 0.13 0.10 0.32
Total accruing past due leans ... ............ 0.77% 0.92% 0.67% 0.51% 0.85%

Non-performing assets include non-accrual loans, restructured loans and foreclosed assets. Non-performing
assets al December 31, 2007 decreased $27.9 million from December 31, 2006. The decrease was largely related to
2 single credit relationship totaling $23.1 million. The properties securing this credit relationship were sold at
auction during 2007. Due to the shortfall in the proceeds from the sale of the properties, the Corporation recognized
charge-offs totaling $6.3 million, as further discussed in the section captioned “Allowance For Possible Loan
lLosses” included elsewhere in this discussion. This credit relationship was first reported as a potential problem
Jduring the third quarter of 2006 and was the primary cause of the increase in non-accrual loans reported at
December 31, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005.

Generally, loans are placed on non-accrual status if principal or interest payments become 90 days past due
and/or management deems the collectibility of the principal and/or interest to be in question, as well as when
“equired by regulatory requirements. Loans to a customer whose financial condition has deteriorated are considered
for non-accrua) status whether or not the loan is 90 days or more past due. For consumer loans, collectibility and loss
wre generally determined before the loan reaches 90 days past due. Accordingly, losses on consumer loans are
-ecorded al the time they are determined. Consumer loans that are 90 days or more past due are generally either in
liquidation/payment status or bankrupicy awaiting confirmation of a plan. Once interest accruals are discontinued,
accrued but uncollected interest is charged to current year operations. Subsequent receipts on non-accrual loans are
recorded as a reduction of principal, and interest income is recorded only after principal recovery is reasonably
assured. Classification of a loan as non-accrual does not preclude the ultimate collection of loan principal or
mnteresl.

Restructured loans are loans on which, due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition, the original
terms have been modified in favor of the borrower or either principal or interest has been forgiven.
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Foreclosed assets represent property acquired as the result of borrower defaults on loans. Foreclosed assets are
recorded at estimated fair value, less estimated selling costs, at the time of foreclosure. Write-downs occurring at
foreclosure are charged against the allowance for possible loan losses. On an ongoing basis, properties are appraised
as required by market indications and applicable regulations. Write-downs are provided for subsequent declines in
value and are included in other non-interest expense along with other expenses related to maintaining the properties.

Potential Problem Loans. Potential problem loans consist of loans that are performing in accordance with
contractual terms but for which management has concerns about the ability of an obliger to continue to comply with
repayment terms because of the obligor’s potential operating or financial difficulties. Management monitors these
loans closely and reviews their performance on a regular basis. As of December 31, 2007, the Corporation had
$30.3 million in loans of this type which are not included in either of the non-acerual or 90 days past due loan
categories. At December 31, 2007, potential problem loans consisted of 9 credit relationships. Of the fotal
outstanding balance at December 31, 2007, approximately 32.2% related to a customer that operates in the auto
supplies industry, approximately 28.0% related to three customers that operate in the building and real estate
development industry and approximately 23.8% related to a customer in the insurance industry. Weakness in these
companies’ operating performance has caused the Corporation to heighten the attention given to these credits.

Allowance For Possible Loan Losses

The allowance for possible loan losses is a reserve established through a provision for possible loan losses
charged to expense, which represents management’s best estimate of probable losses that have been incurred within
the existing portfolio of loans. The allowance, in the judgment of management, is necessary to reserve for estimated
loan losses and risks inherent in the loan portfolio. The Corporation’s allowance for possible loan loss methodology
is based on guidance provided in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 102, “Selected Loan Loss Allowance
Methodology and Documentation Issues” and includes allowance allocations calculated in accordance with
SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan,” as amended by SFAS 118, and allowance
allocations calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” Accordingly, the meth-
odology is based on historical loss experience by type of credit and internal risk grade, specific homogeneous risk
pools, and specific loss allocations, with adjustments for current events and conditions. The Corporation’s process
for determining the appropriate level of the allowance for possible loan losses is designed to account for credit
deterioration as it occurs. The provision for possible loan losses reflects loan quality trends, including the levels of
and trends related to non-accrual loans, past due loans, potential problem loans, criticized loans and net charge-offs
or recoveries, among other factors. The provision for possible loan losses also reflects the totality of actions taken
on all loans for a particular period. In other words, the amount of the proviston reflects not only the necessary
increases in the allowance for possible loan losses related to newly identified criticized loans, but it also reflects
actions taken related to other loans including, among other things, any necessary increases or decreases in required
allowances for specific loans or loan pools.

The level of the allowance reflects management’s continuing evaluation of industry concentrations, specitic
credit risks, loan loss experience, current loan portfolio quality, present economic, political and regulatory
conditions and unidentified losses inherent in the current loan portfolio. Portions of the allowance may be allocated
for specific credits; however, the entire allowance is available for any credit that, in management’s judgment, should
be charged off. While management utilizes its best judgment and information available, the ultimate adequacy of
the allowance is dependent upon a variety of factors beyvond the Corporation’s control, including the performance of
the Corporation’s loan portfolio, the economy, changes in interest rates and the view of the regulatory authorities
toward loan classifications.

The Corporation’s allowance for possible loan losses consists of three elements: (i) specific valuation
allowances determined in accordance with SFAS 114 based on probable losses on specific loans; (ii) historical
valuation allowances determined in accordance with SFAS 5 based on historical loan loss experience for similar
loans with similar characteristics and trends; and (iii} general valuation allowances determined in accordance with
SFAS 5 based on general economic conditions and other gualitative risk faciors both internal and external to the
Corporation.
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The allowances established for probable losses on specific loans are based on a regular analysis and evaluation
of classified loans. Loans are classified based on an internal credit risk grading process that evaluates, among other
things: (1) the obligor’s ability to repay; (ii) the underlying collateral, if any; and (iii) the economic environment and
industry in which the borrower operates. This analysis is performed at the relationship manager level for all
commercial loans. Loans with a calculated grade that is below a predetermined grade are adversely classified. Once
1 loan is classified, a specia! assets officer analyzes the loan to determine whether the loan is impaired and, if
impairzd, the need to specifically allocate a portion of the allowance for possible loan losses to the loan. Specific
valuation allowances are determined by analyzing the borrower’s ability 1o repay amounts owed, collateral
Jeficiencies, the relative risk grade of the loan and economic conditions affecting the borrower’s industry, among
ather things. If after review, a specific valuation allowance is not assigned to the loan, and the loan is not considered
‘0 be impaired, the loan is included with a pool of similar loans that is assigned a historical valuation allowance
zalculated based on historical loss experience.

Eistorical valuation allowances are calculated based on the historical loss experience of specific types of loans
and the internal risk grade of such loans at the time they were charged-off. The Corporation calculates historical loss
ratios for pools of similar loans with similar characieristics based on the proportion of actual charge-offs
experienced to the total population of loans in the pool. The historical loss ratios are periodically vpdated based
on actaal charge-off experience. A historical valuation allowance is established for each pool of similar loans based
upon the product of the historical loss ratio and the total dollar amount of the loans in the pool. The Corporation’s
pools of similar loans include similarly risk-graded groups of commercial and industrial loans, commercial real
estate loans, consumer loans and 1-4 family residential mortgages.

General valuation allowances are based on general economic conditions and other qualitative risk factors both
internal and external to the Corporation. In general, such valuation allowances are determined by evaluating, among
other things: (i} the experience, ability and effectiveness of the bank’s lending management and staff; (i) the
effectiveness of the Corporation’s loan policies, procedures and internal controls: (iii} changes in asset quality;
(iv) changes in loan portfolio volume; (v) the composition and concentrations of credit; {vi) the impact of
competition on loan structuring and pricing; (vii) the effectiveness of the internal loan review function; (viii) the
impact of environmental risks on portfolio risks; and (ix) the impact of rising interest rates on portfolio risk.
Management evaluates the degree of risk that each one of these components has on the quality of the loan portfolio
on a quarterly basis. Each component is determined to have either a high, moderate or low degree of risk. The results
are then input into a “general allocation matrix” to determine an appropriate general valuation allowance.

“ncluded in the general valuation allowances are allocations for groups of similar loans with risk characteristics
that exceed certain concentration limits established by managemeni. Concentration risk limits have been estab-
lished, among other things, for certain industry concentrations, large balance and highly leveraged credit rela-
tionships that exceed specified risk grades, and loans originated with policy exceptions that exceed specified risk
grades.

Loans identified as losses by management, internal loan review and/or bank examiners are charged-off,
Furthermore, consumer loan accounts are charged-off automatically based on regulatory requirements.
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The table below provides an allocation of the year-end allowance for possible loan losses by loan type;
however, allocation of a portion of the allowance to one category of 1oans does not preclude its availability to absorb
losses in other categories:

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Allowance Percentage Allowance Percentage Allowance Percentage Allowance Percentage Allowance Percentage
for of Loans for of Lozgns for of Loans for of Loans for of Loans
Possible in each Paossible in each Possible in each Paossible in each Possibie in each

Loan Category to Loan Category to Loan Category to Loan Category to Loan Category to
Losses  Total Loans  Losses  Total Loans  Losses  Total Loans Losses  Total Loans  Losses  Total Loans

Commercial and

industriat. . . . . $50.245 471%  $44.603 46.2%  $50,357 45.7% 349,696 484% $42,504 47.6%
Real estate . .. .. 20,800 475 24955 485 16,378 48.6 12,393 451 19,752 450
Consumer. . . ... 10,721 50 8,238 49 5,303 5.2 4,436 6.1 3.920 6.8
Other. . ....... 2.705 04 2,125 0.4 1,556 0.5 1,081 0.4 1,217 0.6
Unallocated . . . . 7.868 — 16,164 — 6.731 - 8,204 -— 16,108 —

Total ....... $92,339  100.0% $96085  1000% $80,325  100.0% $75810  100.0% $83501  100.0%

During 2007, the reserve allocated to commercial and industrial loans increased compared to 2006 primarily
due to an increase in general valuation allowances related to large balance and highly leveraged credit relationships
that exceed specified risk grades and an increase in the level of classified loans which impacted the level of
allocations required based upon historical loss experience. The increase from these items was partly offset by a
decrease in specific valuation allowances determined in accerdance with SFAS 114, Specific valuation allowances
related to commercial and industrial loans decreased approximately $5.5 million in 2007 compared to 2006. The
decrease in the reserve allocated to real estate loans during 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily related to a
decrease in specific valuation allowances of approximately $3.0 million and a decrease in general valuation
allowances previously allocated to compensate for concentration risk related to certain higher-risk categories of real
estate loans. The decrease in specific valuation allowances related to real estate loans was primarity due to the
charge-off of a large credit relationship during 2007, as further discussed below. Specific valuation allowances
related to this credit relationship totaled $2.0 million at December 31, 2006. The increase in the reserve allocated to
consumer loans during 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to growth in the consumer loan portfolio
combined with an increase in the historical loss ratio associated with consumer loans. The unallocated portion of the
allowance for possible loan losses decreased during 2007 compared to 2006. During 2006, higher unallocated
TESETves were maintained in part due to the relative uncertainty of the credit quality of certain loans acquired in
connection with the acquisition of Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006.

During 2006, the reserve allocation related to real estate loans increased compared to 2005 primarily due to
growth in the real estate loan portfolio and an increase in specific valuation allowances determined in accordance
with SFAS 114. The overall growth in real estate loans included growth in several of the higher-risk categories of
real estate loans, which resulted in higher reserve allocations to compensate for the additional concentration risk.
Specific valuation allowances related to real estate loans increased approximately $2,7 million in 2006 compared to
2005. The decrease in the reserve aliocation for commercial and industrial loans during 2006 compared to 2005 was
primarily due to a decrease in the level of criticized commercial and industrial loans and a decrease in specific
valvation allowances partly offset by growth in the commercial and industrial loan portfolio. Specific valuation
allowances related to commercial and industrial loans decreased approximately $2.1 million in 2006 compared to
2005. The increase in the reserve allocation for consumer loans during 2006 compared to 20035 was primarily due to
growth in the consumer loan portfolio. The overall growth in loans resulted in an increase in historical valuation
allowances determined in accordance with SFAS 5 based on historical loan loss experience for similar loans with
similar characteristics and trends. The reserves allocated in accordance with SFAS 5 for all types of loans were also
impacted by an increase in the relative percentage by which the historical valuation allowances are adjusted to
compensate for current qualitative risk factors, The increase in the unallocated portion of the allowance for possible
loan losses during 2006 compared to 2005 was partly related to the relative uncertainty of the credit quality of
certain loans acquired in connection with the acquisition of Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006.

During 2005, the reserve allocation related to real estate loans increased compared to 2004 primarily due to
growth in the real estate loan portfolio combined with an increase in the level of criticized loans. The overall growth
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in real estate loans included growth in several of the higher-risk categories of real estate loans, which resulted in
higher reserve allocations to compensate for the additional concentration risk. The increase in the reserve allocation
jor commercial and industrial Joans during 2005 compared to 2004 was primarily due to an increase in the level of
criticized loans combined with growth in the commercial and industrial loan portfolio. The growth in real estate and
commercial and industrial oans as well as the level of criticized loans in these portfolios resulted in an increase in
historical valuation allowances determined in accordance with SFAS 5 based on historical loan loss experience for
similar loans with similar characteristics and trends. The reserves allocated in accordance with SFAS 5 for all types
of loans were impacted by a reduction in the relative percentage by which the historical valuation allowances are
adjusted to compensate for current qualitative risk factors. Specific valuation allowances determined in accordance
with SEAS 114 related to commercial and industrial loans decreased approximately $2.1 million in 2005 compared
:0 2004, Specific valuation allowances for other types of loans were not significant at December 31, 2003.

During 2004, reserve allocations for commercial and industrial loans increased compared to 2003 despite a
decline in the level of criticized loans. The increase in reserve allocations was the result of portfolio growth and
increases in historical valuation allowances determined in accordance with SFAS 5 based on historical loan loss
sxperience for similar loans with similar characteristics and trends. Specific valuation allowances determined in
accordance with SFAS 114 related to commercial and industrial loans decreased in 2004 compared to 2003. The
reserve allocations related to real estate loans increased in 2003 primarily due to increases in specific valuation
allowances. These allocations were reduced in 2004 as many of the loans were repaid, charged-oft or reclassified
due to improved performance.

The unallocated reserve was higher in 2003 as a result of the prevailing weaker economic conditions, which
helped create a higher risk environment for loan portfolios. The Corporation responded to this higher risk
envircnment by increasing unallocated reserves based on risk factors thought to increase with the slowing
economy. During 2004, improving economic conditions appeared to reduce the overall risk environment for loan
portfolios. Furthermore, the Corporation began to experience positive trends in several important credit quality
measures including the levels of past due loans, potential problem loans and criticized assets. As a result, the level of
unallocated reserve was decreased in 2004 through a reduction in the provision for loan losses, as further discussed
below, and a reallocation of amounts to commercial and industrial loans as discussed above.
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Activity inthe allowance for possible loan losses is presented in the following table. There were no charge-offs
or recoveries related to foreign loans during any of the periods presented.

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Balance of allowance for possible loan

losses at beginning of year. .. .. ... $ 96,085 $ 80325 % 75810 $ 83501 $ 82,584
Provision for possible loan losses . . . . 14,660 14,150 10,250 2,500 10,544
Allowance for possible loan losses

acquired . .. ... L. —_ 12,720 3,186 — —
Charge-offs:

Commercial and industrial . ... . ... (7,541) (10,983) (8,448) (12,570} (11,627

Realestate . .................. (9,309) (727) (531) (2,724) (1,607)

Consumer and other .. .......... (8,309) (7,223 {6,126) 4,721 (3,761

Total charge-offs .. ........... (25,159} (18,933) (15,105) (20,015) (16,995)

Recoveries:

Commercial and industrial. . ... ... 2,125 3,019 2,409 6,219 5,581

Realestate ................... 331 433 351 718 272

Consumer and other .. .......... 4,297 4,321 3,424 2,887 1,515

Total recoveries. . ... ......... 6,753 7,823 6,184 9,824 7,368

Net charge-offs. .. ............... (18,406) (11,110) (8,921) (10,191) (9,627)
Balance atend of year ............ $ 92339 % 96085 $ 80325 $ 75810 $ 83,501
Net charge-offs as a percentage of

average loans . ................ 0.25% 0.17% 0.16% 0.20% 0.21%
Allowance for possible loan losses as a

percentage of year-end loans . . .. .. 1.19 1.30 1.32 1.47 1.82
Allowance for possible loan losses as a

percentage of year-end non-accrual

loans. .. ... o 3778 184.1 2421 249.0 176.0
Average loans outstanding during the

VEAL ot $7,464,140  $6,523,906  $5,594,477  $4,823,198  $4,497,489
Loans outstanding at vear-end . . ... .. 7,169,362 7,373,384 6,085,055 5,164,991 4,590,746
Non-accrual leans outstanding at

year-end ... ... .. ..., 24,443 52,204 33,179 30,443 47,451

As stated above, the provision for possible loan losses reflects loan quality trends, including the level of net
charge-offs or recoveries, among other factors. The provision for possible loan losses increased $510 thousand in
2007 to $14.7 million compared to $14.2 million in 2006 and increased $3.9 million in 2006 compared to
$10.3 million in 2003. The increase in the provision for possible loan losses in 2007 was primarily due to an increase
in net charge-offs as well growth in the loan portfolio. The increase in the provision for possible loan losses in 2006
was primarily due to growth in the loan portfolic. The provision for possible loan losses increased in 2005 in part
due to an increase in the level of criticized loans. The increase in the provision for possible loan losses in 2005 was
also partly due to the overall growth in the loan portfolio.

Net charge-offs in 2007 increased $7.3 million compared to 2006 while net charge-offs in 2006 increased
$2.2 miilion compared to 2005. During 2007, the Corporation recognized real estate related charge-offs totaling
$6.3 miilion related 10 a single credit relationship. At the time of the charge-off, the Corporation had a specific
valuation allowance totaling $3.8 million allocated to this credit relationship. This valuation allowance was
accumulated through prior provisions as the credit relationship deteriorated and moved through the Corporation’s
problem loan classification and reporting process. The amount by which charge-offs related to this credit
relationship exceeded the specific valuation allocated to this credit relationship was recognized as additional
provision during 2007. Net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans increased 8 basis points in 2007 compared
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to 2006, Excluding the aforementioned $6.3 million in charge-offs related to a single credit relationship, net charge-
offs as a percentage of average loans would have decreased 1 basis point in 2007 compared to 2006.

Management believes the level of the allowance for possible loan losses was adequate as of December 31,
2007. Should any of the factors considered by management in evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for possible
lnan losses change, the Corporation’s estimate of probable loan losses could also change, which could affect the
lizve! of future provisions for possible loan losses.

Securities

Year-end securities were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Percentage Percentage Percentage
Amount of Total Amount of Total Amount of Total
Held to maturity:
U.S. government agencies
and corporations . ., . .. $ 7,125 02% § 9,096 03% §$ 11,701 0.4%
Other ................ 1,000 — 1,000 — 1,000 —
Total . .............. 8,125 0.2 10,096 0.3 12,701 0.4
Available for sale:
US. Treasuty .......... — — 89,683 2.7 84,309 2.7
U.S. government agencies
and corporations ... ... 2,845,311 83.0 2,902,609 36.6 2,676,103 87.0
States and political
subdivisions. .. .. ... .. 524,085 15.3 310,376 9.3 271,293 8.8
Other ................ 37,616 1.1 28,285 0.8 27.406 0.9
Total .. ...t 3,407,012 95.4 3,330,953 994 3,059,111 994
Trading:
US Treasury .......... 11,913 0.4 8,515 0.3 6,217 0.2
States and political
subdivisions. .. ....... — — g91 — — —
Total .. ............. 11,913 0.4 9,406 0.3 6,217 0.2
Total securities ....... $3,427.050 100.0%  $3,350,455 100.0%  $3,078,029 100.0%
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The following tables summarize the maturity distribution schedule with corresponding weighted-average
yields of securities held to maturity and securities available for sale as of December 31, 2007. Weighted-average
yields have been computed on a fully taxable-equivalent basis using a tax rate of 35%. Mortgage-backed securities
and collateralized mortgage obligations are included in marturity categories based on their stated maturity date.
Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations. Other securities classified as available for sale include stock in the Federal Reserve Bank and the
Federal Home Loan Bank, which have no maturity date. These securities have been included in the total column
only.

Within 1 Year 1-5 Years 5.10 Years After 10 Years Total
‘Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted ‘Weighted
Average Average Average Average Average
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
Held o maturity:
U.S. government
agencies and
corporations . ... § 53 831% $ 46 9.60% $ 1.629 713% % 5,397 595% $ 7,125 6.26%
Other .. ......,. — 1,000 428 — — 1,000 428
Total . . ....... $ 53 8.31 $ 1,046 451 $ 1.629 7.13 $ 5397 5.95 § 8,125 6.02
Availtable for Sale:
U.S. government
agencies and
corporations . . .. $37,256 459% § 6814 469% $200,891 501%  $2,600,350 509% $2.845.311 SO8%
States and political
subdivisions . . .. 12,45] 6.33 118,349 6.07 01,803 6.03 301,482 6.23 524,745 6.16
Other .......... — — — — 37.616 —
Total. . ....... $49,707 5.03 $125,163 5.99 $292,694 533 $2,901,832 5.21 $3,407,012 525

Securities are classified as held to marurity and carried at amortized cost when management has the positive
intent and ability to hold them to maturity, Securities are classified as available for sale when they might be sold
before maturity. Securities available for sale are carried at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses
reported in other comprehensive income, net of tax, The remaining securities are classified as trading. Trading
securities are held primarily for sale in the near term and are carried at their fair values, with unrealized gains and
losses included immediately in other income. Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at
the time of purchase. Securities with limited marketability, such as stock in the Federal Reserve Bank and the
Federal Home Loan Bank, are carried at cost.

At December 31, 2007, there were no holdings of any one issuer, other than the U.S. government and its
agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of the Corporation’s shareholders’ equity.

The average taxable-equivalent yield of the securities portfolic was 5.24% in 2007 compared to 5.00% in 2006
and 4.84% in 2005. During 2007 and 2006, average taxable-equivalent vields on mortgage-backed securities
increased primarily as a result of higher reinvestment yields. See the section captioned “Net Interest Income”
included elsewhere in this discussion. The overall growth in the securities portfolio over the comparable periods
was primarily funded by deposit growth.
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Deposits

The table below presents the daily average balances of deposits by type and weighted-average rates paid
thereon during the years presented:

2007 2006 2005
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Balance Rate Paid Balance Rate Paid Balance Rate Paid
Mon-interest-bearing:
Commercial and
individual ............ § 3,224,741 $3,005,811 $2,639,071
Cormespondent banks . . .. .. 248 591 277,332 323,712
Publicfunds ............ 50,800 51,137 45,967
Total . ....oovivr e 3,524,132 3,334,280 3,008,750
Interest-bearing:
Private accounts:
Savings and interest
checking ........... 1,401,437 0.47% 1,283,830 0.36% 1,206,055 0.25%
Money market deposit
accoumts . .......... 3,494,704 3.08 3,022,866 3.05 2,646,975 1.82
Time accounts of
$100,000 or more. . ... 773,324 4.44 617,790 393 501,040 245
T me accounts under
$100,000 . .......... 600,383 4.25 505,189 3.67 393,419 2.09
Public funds ............ 409,661 3.89 420,441 372 376,547 1.93
Total . ... v 6,688,509 2.84 5,850,116 2.65 5,124,036 1.54
Total deposits . ........ $10,212,641 1.86 $9,184,396 1.69 $8,132,786 0.97

Average deposits increased $1.0 billion in 2007 compared to 2006 and increased $1.1 billion in 2006 compared
*0 2003. The majority of the increase in average deposits during 2007 compared to 2006 was related to the full year
mpact of the acquisition of $973.9 million in deposits in connection with the acquisition of Summit in the fourth
quarter of 2006. Approximately $633.9 million of the increase in average deposits during 2006 compared to 2005
resulted from the Corporation’s acquisition of $319.1 million of deposits in connection with the acquisition of
Horizon during the fourth quarter of 2005, $381.6 million of deposits in connection with the acquisitions of TCB
and Alamo during the first quarter of 2006 and the aforementioned $973.9 million of deposits in connection with the
acquisition of Summit during the fourth quarter of 2006. The deposits acquired during 2006 included approximately
$426.6 million of non-interest-bearing commercial and individual deposits and approximately $928.9 million of
interest-bearing deposits (encompassing $246.1 million of savings and interest checking accounts, $314.2 million
of money market accounts and $368.6 million of time accounts). The deposits acquired during 2005 included
approximately $152.1 million of non-interest-bearing commercial and individual deposits and approximately
$167.0 million of interest-bearing deposits (encompassing $44.6 million of savings and interest checking accounts,
$56.7 million of money market accounts and $65.7 million of time accounts).

The majority of the increase in average deposits during the comparable years was in average interest-bearing
depos:ts. The ratio of average interest-bearing deposits to total average deposits increased to 63.5% in 2007 from
63.7% in 2006 and 63.0% in 2003. The average cost of interest-bearing deposits and total deposits was 2.84% and
1.86% during 2007 compared to 2.65% and 1.69% during 2006 and 1.54% and 0.97% during 2005. The increase in
the avarage cost of interest-bearing deposits during 2007 compared to 2006 and during 2006 compared to 2005 was
primarily the result of higher interest rates offered on deposit products due to higher average market interest rates.
Additionally, the relative proportion of lower-cost savings and interest checking to total interest-bearing deposits
has trended downward during the comparable periods.
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The following table presents the proportion of each component of average non-interest-bearing deposits to the
total of such deposits during the years presented:

2007 2006 2005

Commercial and individual . . . ... .. ... . . . e 91.5% 90.2% 87.7%

Correspondent banks . .. ..o L e 7.1 83 10.8

Public funds . . ... 1.4 1.5 1.5
Total. .. e e e e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Average non-interest-bearing deposits increased $189.9 million, or 5.7%, in 2007 compared to 2006 while
average non-interest-bearing deposits increased $325.5 million, or 10.8%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The increase
in 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to $218.9 million, or 7.3% increase in average commercial and
individual deposits partly offset by a $28.7 million decrease in average correspondent bank deposits. The increase in
2006 compared to 2003 was primarily due to a $366.7 million, or 13.9%, increase in average commercial and
individual demand deposits partly offset by a $46.4 million, or 14.3%, decrease in average correspondent bank
deposits. The increase in average commercial and individual demand deposits was partly due to the added deposits
acquired in the aforementioned acquisitions. Average commercial and individual demand deposits during 2007,
2006 and 2005 included approximately $116.0 million, $68.6 million and $10.3 million of deposits that were
received under a contractual relationship assumed in connection with the acquisition of Horizon. The Corporation
expects this contractual relationship will be terminated in 2008. The decrease in correspondent bank deposits during
the comparable periods was partly due to declines in volumes related to several large customers, one of which had
unusually high average volumes during the latter part of 2005 and early 2006.

The following table presents the proportion of each component of average interest-bearing deposits to the total
of such deposits during the years presented:
2007 2006 2005

Private accounts:

Savings and interest checking .. ........ . ... . . o i 21.0% 21.9% 23.5%
Money market deposit accounts . .. .. ... ... e 522 51.7 517
Time accounts of $100,000 Or MOTE . . . .o ottt e e 11.6 10.6 9.8
Time accounts under $100,000. . . . . .. e 9.1 8.6 7.7
Public funds . ... .. . e e e e 6.1 7.2 7.3
TOta] . . e e e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Total average interest-bearing deposits increased $838.4 million, or 14.3%, in 2007 compared to 2006 and
increased $726.1 million, or 14.2%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The growth in average deposits during 2007 and
2006 was partly due to the added deposits acquired in the aforementioned acquisitions. The Corporation has
experienced a shift in the relative mix of interest-bearing deposits during the comparable years as the proportion of
higher-yielding time accounts and money market deposit accounts has increased while the proportion of savings
and interest checking accounts has decreased. The shift in relative proportions appears to be related to the higher
interest rate environment experienced over the last two years as many customers appear to have become more
inclined to invest their funds for extended periods.
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Geographic Concemtrations. The following table summarizes the Corporation’s average total deposit
portfolio, as segregated by the geographic region from which the deposit accounts were originated. Certain
accounts, such as correspondent bank deposits, are recorded at the statewide level. Geographic concentrations are
stated as a percentage of average total deposits during the years presented.

2007 2006 2005

San ADIONID . o .t i e e e 321% 359% 385%
o 1] ) 18.6 204 18.8
Fort Worth . ... e 22.1 14.6 14.3
1 £ 11 106 . 109 11.0
Corpus CRIISHL. . .. ... e e e e e 6.4 6.8 7.6
D T 4.2 49 43
Rio Grande Valley. . . . o ... e 3.7 4.0 1.5
SAlEWRHE . . . . e 23 2.7 4.0

0 02 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The Corporation experienced deposit growth in all regions during 2007 compared to 2006 with the exception
of the Dallas and Statewide regions. Average deposits in the Dallas region decreased $27.0 million, 6.0%, and
average deposits for the Statewide region decreased $2.6 million, or 1.1%. The increase in the Fort Worth region
was impacted by the $973.9 million in deposits acquired in connection with the acquisition of Summit in December
2006. Excluding the impact of this acquisition, the Austin region had the largest dollar volume and percentage
increase during 2007 compared to 2006, increasing $74.7 million, or 7.5%. Average deposits for the Corpus Christi
region increased $35.9 million, or 5.8%. Changes in the average volume of deposits during 2007 compared to 2006
for other regions were not significant.

The Corporation experienced deposit growth in all regions during 2006 compared to 2005 with the exception
of the Statewide region. Average deposits for the Statewide region decreased $81.5 million, or 24.9%, in 2006
compared to 2005. The decrease was primarily related to the declines in correspondent bank deposits discussed
above. The geographic concentrations of average deposits for certain regions was impacted by acquisitions. The
Houston region was impacted by the acquisition of Horizon, while the Dallas region was impacted by the
acquisition of TCB, the Rio Grande Valley region was impacted by the acquisition of Alamo and the Fort Worth
rzgion was impacted by the acquisition of Summit. Excluding the impact of these acquisitions, the San Antonio
rzgion had the largest dollar volume increase during 2006 and 2005, increasing $146.5 million, or 4.7%, in 2006
compared to 2005. In terms of percentage growth and excluding the impact of acquisitions, the Austin and Rio
Crande Valley regions had the largest increases during 2006, Average deposits in the Austin region increased
$105.1 million, or 11.7%, in 2006 compared to 2005. Average deposits in the Rio Grande Valley region increased
$13.8 million, or 11.3%, in 2006 compared to 2005.

Foreign Deposits.  Mexico has historically been considered a part of the natural trade territory of the
Corporation’s banking offices. Accordingly, U.S. dollar-denominated foreign deposits from sources within Mexico
l-ave traditionalty been a significant source of funding. Average deposits from foreign sources, primarily Mexico,
totaled $699.5 million in 2007, $711.0 million in 2006 and $641.2 million in 2005.

Short-Term Borrowings

The Corporation’s primary source of short-term borrowings is federal funds purchased from correspondent
banks and repurchase agreements in the natural trade territory of the Corporation, as well as from upstream banks.
Federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements totaled $933.1 million, $864.2 million and $740.5 million at
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The maximum amount of these borrowings outsianding at any month-end was
£945.0 million in 2007, $864.2 million in 2006 and $740.5 miilion in 2005. The weighted-average interest rate on
federal funds purchased was 3.69%, 5.05% and 3.93% at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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The following table presents the Corporation’s average net funding position during the years indicated:

2007 2006 2005
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Baiance Rate Balance Rate Balance Rate
Federal funds sold and reseil
agreements . ., .. ............... $ 579,964 5.15% $ 718,950 508% % 521,674 3.48%
Federal funds purchased and repurchase
agreements . ... .. ... . ... (867,152) 3.68 (764,173)  4.08 (605,965) 2.74
Net funds position .............. $(287,188) $ (45,223) $ (34,291)

The net funds purchased position increased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to a $82.3 million
decrease in average federal funds sold and a $56.7 million decrease in average resell agreements combined with a
$95.2 million increase in average repurchase agreements and a $7.8 million increase in average federal funds
purchased. The net funds purchased position decreased in 2006 compared to 2005 primarily due to a $141.7 million
increase in average federal funds sold, a $55.6 million increase in average resell agreements and a $9.3 million
decrease in average federal funds purchased partly offset by a $167.5 million increase in average repurchase
agreements. The average balance of federal funds sold and resell agreements was elevated in 2006 as the
Corporation chose to delay the reinvestment of funds in longer-term securities until more favorable investment
yields became available,

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements, Commitments, Guarantees, and Contractual
Obligations

The following table summarizes the Corporation’s contractual obligations and other commitments to make
future payments as of December 31, 2007. Payments for borrowings do not include interest. Payments related to
leases are based on actual payments specified in the underlying contracts. Loan commitments and standby letters of
credit are presented at contractual amounts; however, since many of these commitments are expected to expire
unused or only partially used, the total amounts of these commitments do not necessarily reflect future cash
requirements.

Payments Due by Period

More than 3 Years or
1 Year but More but
1 Year or Less than Less than 5 Years or
Less 3 Years 5 Years More Total
Contractual obligations:
Subordinated notes payable........ .. $ — — S$150,000 $100,000 $ 250,000
Junior subordinated deferrable interest
debentures .................... — —_ — 139,177 139,177
Federal Home Loan Bank advances. . .. 4,569 6,533 37 7 11,146
Operating leases . ... .............. 16,148 24,687 15,937 37,485 94,257
Deposits with stated maturity dates . . .. 1,388,885 137,348 635 20 1,526,888

1,409,602 168,568 166,609 276,689 2,021,468

Other commitments:
Commitments to extend credit. . ... ... 58,880 3,511,765 687,019 566,517 4,824,181
Standby letters of credit ... ......... 3,110 211,250 18,244 3,317 235,921

61,990 3,723,015 705,263 569,834 5,060,102

Total contractual obligations and other
commitments .................. $1.471,592  $3,891,583  $871.872  $846,523  $7,081,570
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Firancial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk. In the normal course of business, the Corporation enters
into various transactions, which, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States,
are not included in its consolidated balance sheets. The Corporation enters into these transactions to meet the
financing needs of its customers. These transactions include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of
ciedit, which involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts
recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The Corporation minimizes its exposure to loss under these
commitments by subjecting them to credit approval and monitoring procedures. The Corporation also holds certain
assets which are not included in its consolidated balance sheets including assets held in fiduciary or custodial
capacity on behalf of its trust customers and certain collateral funds resulting from acting as an agent in its securities
lending program.

Commitments to Extend Credit. The Corporation enters into contractual commitments to extend credit,
normally with fixed expiration dates or termination clauses, at specified rates and for specific purposes. Substan-
tially all of the Corporation’s commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific
¢ edit s:andards at the time of loan funding. Commitments to extend credit outstanding at December 31, 2007 are
inctuded in the table above.

Standby Letters of Credit. Standby letters of credit are written conditional commitments issued by the
Corporation to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. In the event the customer does not perform
in accordance with the terms of the agreement with the third party, the Corporation would be required to fund the
commitment. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Corporation could be required to make is
represented by the contractual amount of the commitment. If the commitment is funded, the Corporation would be
entitled to seek recovery from the customer. The Corporation’s policies generally require that standby letter of
credit arrangements contain security and debt covenants similar to those contained in loan agreements. Standby
letters of credit outstanding at December 31, 2007 are included in the table above,

Trust Accounts. The Corporation also holds certain assets in fiduciary or custodial capacity on behalf of its
t'ust customers. The estimated fair value of trust assets was approximately $24.8 billion (including managed assets
of $10.5 billion and custody assets of $14.3 billion) at December 31, 2007. These assets were primarily composed of
fixed income securities (41.2% of wust assets), equity securities (39.3% of trust assets) and cash equivalents (12,7%
of trust assets).

Securities Lending. The Corporation lends certain customer securitics to creditworthy brokers on behalf of
those customers. If the borrower fails to return these securities, the Corporation indemnifies its customers based on
the fair value of the securities. The Corporation holds collateral received in securities lending transactions as an
zgent. Accordingly, such collateral assets are not assets of the Corporation. The Corporation requires borrowers to
provide collateral equal to or in excess of 100% of the fair value of the securities berrowed. The collateral is valued
dlaily end additional collateral is requested as necessary. The maximum future payments guaranteed by the
Corporation under these contractual agreements (representing the fair value of securities lent to brokers) totaled
1.9 billion at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007, the Corporation held in trust liquid assets with a fair
value of $1.9 billion as collateral for these agreements.

(Capital and Liquidity

Capital. At December 31, 2007, shareholders’ equity totaled $1.5 billion compared to $1.4 billion at
December 31, 2006. In addition to net income of $212.1 million, other significant changes in shareholders’ equity
during 2007 included $110.4 million in treasury stock purchases, $90.8 million of dividends paid, $23.6 million of
proceeds from stock option exercises and the related tax benefits of $8.6 million and $9.7 million related to stock-
based compensation. The accumulated other comprehensive loss component of shareholders’ equity totaled
37.4 million at December 31, 2007 compared to accumulated other comprehensive loss of $54.9 million at
December 31, 2006. This fluctuation was related to the after-tax effect of changes in the accumulated gain/loss on
effective cash flow hedging derivatives, changes in the fair value of securities available for sale and changes in the
funded status of the Corporation’s defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans. Under regulatory requirements,
amour.ts reported as accumulated other comprehensive income/loss related to these items do not increase or reduce
regulatory capital and are not included in the calculation of risk-based capital and leverage ratios. Regulatory
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agencies for banks and bank holding companies utilize capital guidelines designed to measure Tier | and total
capital and take into consideration the risk inherent in both on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items. See
Note 12 — Regulatory Matters in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this report.

The Corporation paid quarterly dividends of $0.34, $0.40, $0.40 and $0.40 per common share during the first,
second, third and fourth quarters of 2007, respectively, and $0.30, $0.34, $0.34 and $0.34 per common share during
the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2006. This equates to a dividend payout ratio of 42.8% in 2007 and
37.9% in 2006.

The Corporation has maintained several stock repurchase plans authorized by the Corporation’s board of
directors. In general, stock repurchase plans allow the Corporation to proactively manage its capital position and
return excess capital to shareholders. Shares purchased under such plans also provide the Corporation with shares of
common stock necessary to satisfy obligations related to stock compensation awards. Under the current plan, which
was approved on April 26, 2007, the Corporation was authorized to repurchase up to 2.5 million shares of its
commen stock from time to time over a two-year peried in the open market or through privale transactions. Under
the plan. the Corporation repurchased 2.1 million shares at a total cost of $109.4 millien during 2007. Under the
prior plan, which expired on April 29, 2006, the Corporation was authorized to repurchase up 1o 2,1 million shares
of its common stock from time to time over a two-year period in the open market or through private transactions. No
shares were repurchased during 2006. During 2005, the Corporation repurchased 300 thousand shares at a cost of
$14.4 million. Over the life of this plan. the Corporation repurchased a total of 833.2 thousand shares at a cost of
$39.9 million. Also see Part U1, Item 5 — Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities, included elsewhere in this report.

Liquidiry. Liquidity measures the ability to meet current and future cash flow needs as they become due. The
liquidity of a financial institution reflects its ability to meet loan requests, to accommodate possible outflows in
deposits and to take advantage of interest rate market opportunities. The ability of a financial institution to meet its
current financial obligations is a function of its balance sheet structure, its ability to liquidate assets, and its access to
alternative sources of funds. The Corporation seeks to ensure its funding needs are met by maintaining a level of
liquid funds through asset/liability management,

Asset liquidity is provided by liquid assets which are readily marketable or pledgeable or which will mature in
the near future. Liquid assets include cash, interest-bearing deposits in banks, securities available for sale,
maturities and cash flow from securities held to maturity, and federal funds sold and resell agreements.

Liability liquidity is provided by access to funding sources which include core deposits and correspondent
banks in the Corporation’s natural trade area that maintain accounts with and sell federal funds to Frost Bank, as
well as federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements from upstream banks.

Since Cullen/Frost is a holding company and does not conduct operations, its primary sources of liquidity are
dividends upstreamed from Frost Bank and borrowings from outside sources. Banking regulations may limit the
amount of dividends that may be paid by Frost Bank. See Note 12 — Regulatory Matters in the accompanying notes
to consolidated financial statements included eisewhere in this report regarding such dividends. At December 31,
2007, Cullen/Frost had liquid assets, including cash and resell agreements, totaling $60.8 million. Cullen/Frost also
had outside funding sources available, including a $25.0 million short-term line of credit with another financial
institution. The line of credit matures annually and bears interest at a fixed LIBOR-based rate or floats with the
prime rate. There were no borrowings outstanding on this line of credit at December 31, 2007.

The Corporation’s operating objectives include expansion, diversification within its markets, growth of its fee-
based income, and growth internally and through acquisitions of financial institutions, branches and financial
services businesses. The Corporation seeks merger or acquisition partners that are cuiturally similar and have
experienced management and possess either significant market presence or have potential for improved profitability
through financial management, economies of scale and expanded services. The Corporation regularly evaluates
merger and acquisition opportunities and conducts due diligence activities related to possible transactions with
other financial institutions and financial services companies. As a result, merger or acquisition discussions and, in
some cases, negotiations may take place and future mergers or acquisitions involving cash, debt or equity securities
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may oceur. Acquisitions typically involve the payment of a premium over book and market values, and, therefore,
some dilution of the Corporation’s tangible book value and net income per common share may occur in connection
with any future transaction.

01 February 15, 2007, the Corporation issued $100 miilion of 5.75% fixed-to-floating rate subordinated notes.
The proceeds of the notes were used to partly fund the redemption of $103.1 million of 8.42% junior subordinated
deferrable interest debentures, held of record by Cullen/Frost Capital Trust [. As a result of the redemption, the
Corporation incurred $5.3 million in expense during 2007 related to a prepayment penalty and the write-off of the
unamortized debt issuance costs. Concurrently, the $100 million of 8.42% trust preferred securities issued by
Cullen/Frost Capital Trust [ were also redeemed. On January 7, 2008, the Corporation redeemed $3.1 million of
floating rate junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures held of record by Alamo Trust. Concurrently, the
%3.0 million of floating rate trust preferred securities issued by Alamo Trust were also redeemed. See Note 9
IBorrowed Funds in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report
for additional information.

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

The Corporation’s financial statements included herein have been prepared in accordance with accounting
srinciples generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP™). GAAP presently requires the Corporation to measure
Jnancial position and operating results primarily in terms of historic doliars. Changes in the relative value of money
4ue 10 inflation or recession are generally not considered. The primary effect of inflation on the operations of the
Corporation is reflected in increased operating costs. In management’s opinion, changes in interest rates affect the
financial condition of a financial institution to a far greater degree than changes in the inflation rate. While interest
rates are greatly influenced by changes in the inflation rate, they do not necessarily change at the same rate or in the
same magnitude as the inflation rate. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors that are beyond the control of
the Corporation, including changes in the expected rate of inflation, the influence of general and local economic
conditions and the monetary and fiscal policies of the United States government, its agencies and various other
governmental regulatory authorities, among other things, as further discussed in the next section.

Regulatory and Economic Policies

The Corporation’s business and earnings are affected by general and local economic conditions and by the
monetary and fiscal policies of the United States government, its agencies and various other governmental
regulztory authorities, among other things. The Federal Reserve Board regulates the supply of money in order to
influence general economic conditions. Among the instruments of monetary policy available to the Federal Rescrve
Boarc are (i) conducting open market operations in United States government obligations, (ii} changing the
discount rate on financial institution borrowings, (iii) imposing or changing reserve requirements against financial
institution deposits, and (iv) restricting certain borrowings and imposing or changing reserve requirements against
certain borrowings by financial institutions and their affiliates. These methods are used in varying degrees and
combinations to affect directly the availability of bank loans and deposits, as well as the interest rates charged on
loans and paid on deposits. For that reason alone, the policies of the Federal Reserve Board have a material effect on
the earnings of the Corporation.

Governmental policies have had a significant effect on the operating results of commercial banks in the past
and are expected to continue to do so in the future; however, the Corporation cannot accurately predict the nature,
timing or extent of any effect such policies may have on its future business and earnings.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 21 — New Accounting Standards in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this repon for details of recently issued accounting pronouncements and their expected
impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The disclosures set forth in this item are qualified by Item 1A. Risk Factors and the section captioned
“Forward-Looking Statements and Factors that Could Affect Future Results” included in Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of this report, and other cautionary
Statements set forth elsewhere in this report.

Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange
rates, commedity prices, and other relevant market rates and prices, such as equity prices. The risk of loss can be
assessed from the perspective of adverse changes in fair values, cash flows, and future earnings. Due to the nature of
its operations, the Corporation is primarily exposed to interest rate risk and, to a lesser extent, liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk on the Corporation’s balance sheets consists of reprice, option, and basis risks. Reprice risk
results from differences in the maturity, or repricing, of asset and liability portfolios. Option risk arises from
“embedded options” present in many financial instruments such as loan prepayment options, deposit early
withdrawal options and interest rate options. These options allow customers opportunities to benefit when market
interest rates change, which typically results in higher costs or lower revenue for the Corporation. Basis risk refers to
the potential for changes in the underlying relationship between market rates and indices, which subsequently result
in a narrowing of the profit spread on an earning asset or liability. Basis risk is also present in administered rate
liabilities, such as savings accounts, negotiable order of withdrawal accounts, and meney market accounts where
historical pricing relationships to market rates may change due to the level or directional change in market interest
rates.

The Corporation seeks to avoid fluctuations in its net interest margin and 10 maximize net interest income
within acceptable levels of risk through periods of changing interest rates. Accordingly, the Corporation’s interest
rate sensitivity and liguidity are moenitored on an ongeing basis by its Asset and Liabitity Committee (“ALCO"),
which oversees market risk management and establishes risk measures, limits and policy guidelines for managing
the amount of interest rate risk and its effect on net interest income and capital. A variety of measures are used to
provide for a comprehensive view of the magnitude of interest rate risk, the distribution of risk, the level of risk over
time and the exposure to changes in certain interest rate relationships.

The Corporation utilizes an earnings simulation model as the primary gquantitative tool in measuring the
amount of interest rate risk asscciated with changing market rates. The model quantifies the effects of various
interest rate scenarios on projected net interest income and net income over the next 12 months. The model
measures the impact on net interest income relative to a base case scenario of hypothetical fluctuations in interest
rates over the next 12 months. These simulations incorporate assumptions regarding balance sheet growth and mix,
pricing and the repricing and maturity characteristics of the existing and projected balance sheet. The impact of
interest rate derivatives, such as interest rate swaps, caps and floors, is also included in the model. Other interest
rate-related risks such as prepayment, basis and option risk are also considered.

The Committee continuously monitors and manages the balance between interest rate-sensitive assets and
liabilities. The objective is to manage the impact of fluctuating market rates on net interest income within
acceptable levels. In order to meet this objective, management may lengthen or shorten the duration of assets or
liabilities or enter into derivative contracts to mitigate potential market risk.

As of December 31, 2007, the model simulations projected that a 100 basis point increase in interest rates
would result in a nominal increase in net interest income while a 200 basis point increase in interest rates would
result in a negative variance in net interest income of 0.3%, relative to the base case over the next 12 months. The
model simulations also projected that 100 and 200 basis point decreases in interest rates would result in negative
variances in net interest income of 0.6% and 1.7%, respectively, relative to the base case over the next 12 months. As
of December 31, 2006, the model simulations projected that 100 and 200 basis point increases in interest rates
would result in positive variances in net interest tncome of 1.6% and 2.3%, respectively, relative to the base case
over the next 12 months, while decreases in interest rates of 100 and 200 basis points would result in negative
variances in net interest income of 1.7% and 4.7%, respectively, relative to the base case over the next 12 months.
During the fourth quarter of 2007 the Corporation entered into three interest rate swap contracts with a total notional
amount of $1.2 billion. The interest rate swap contracts were designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges
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with the objective of protecting the overall cash flows from the Corporation’s monthly interest receipts on a rolling
porifolio of $1.2 billion of variable-rate loans outstanding throughout the 84-month period beginning on October 25,
2007 aad ending on October 25, 2014 from the risk of variability of those cash flows such that the yield on the
underlying loans would remain constant at 7.559% to 8.55%%. depending upon the applicable swap contract. In
conjunction with entering into the interest rate swap contracts, the Corporation terminated its three interest rate
floor contracts, which had a total notional amount of $1.3 billion. These actions resulted in a decrease in the
Corporation’s sensitivity to changes in interest rates in 2007 compared to 2006. See Note |7 — Derivative Financial
Instruments in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

As of December 31, 2007, the effect of a 200 basis point increase in interest rates on the Corporation’s
derivative holdings would result in a 2.00% negative variance in net interest income. The effect of a 200 basis point
decrease in interest rates on the Corporation’s derivative holdings would result in a 1.98% positive variance in net
interest income.

The effects of hypothetical fluctuations in interest rates on the Corporation’s securities classified as “trading”
under SFAS 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” are not significant, and, as
such, separate quantitative disclosure is not presented.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Ernst & Young LLP
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conselidated balance sheets of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. (the “Corpo-
ration”} as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
shareholders’ equily, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Qur responsibility is 10 express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Cuilen/Frost Bankers, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Corporation adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Puyment, to account for stock based
compensation.

We also have audiled, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 1, 2008 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

éxvmt + MLLP

San Antonio, Texas
February 1, 2008
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Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Interest income:
Loans, including fees . ... ... ... it $573,039  $502,657  $359,587
Securities:
Takable . o 148,467 133,184 121,377
TAX-GXEMIPL. . .o ot vt v e e s 17,050 11,317 10.566
Interest-bearing deposils . ... ... ... 396 251 150
Federa! funds sold and resell agreements. . .. .. ... .. .o i 29,805 36,550 18,147
Total IMErEst IMCOMIE. .« o v vt vt vt v i n oo nes 768.847 683,959 509.827
Interest expense:
DEPOSIES . o oottt 160,237 155,090 78,934
Federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements . . . .................. 31,951 31,167 16,632
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures ... .. ... ... oo 11,283 17,402 14,908
Subordinated notes payable and other borrowings. .. ... e 16639 11137 8.087
Total INETESE €XPENSE « « v v v v v o e ot v en s r e 250,110 214,796 118.561
Net inferest iNCOME . . ... . ..o it 518,137 469,163 391,266
Provision for possible 10an 10SSES . . ... ... v i 14,660 14.150 10.250
Net interest income after provision for possible loan losses . ... ... 504,077 455,013 381.016
Non-interest income:
TEUSE fBES .« « o o e o ettt e e 70,359 63,469 58,353
Service charges on deposit accounts . .. ... ... i 80.718 77.116 78,751
Insurance commissions and f88S. . .. .. .. i e 30,847 28.230 27,731
Other charges, commissions and fees . ... ... .. .. e 32,558 28,105 23,125
Net gain (loss) on securities ransactions . . . .. .. ... ovvv i 15 (1) 19
BT .« v oo e e e 53,734 43828 42,400
Total NON-INErEst INCOME . . . o\ oot e e ittt e es 268,231 240,747 230,379
Non-interest expense:
Salaries and Wages . . . .. ..o 209,982 190,784 166.039
Employee benefits . ... ... 47.095 46,231 41.577
NELOCCUPANCY © .« « « v o v e vve s tia s s n e et 38,824 34,695 31107
Furniture and eqUipmMent . . ..o o v vt e 32,821 26,293 23912
Intangible amMOTGZATION . . .. .. ... i i 8,360 5,628 4,859
(0117 T P PUPEPP PP 124,864 106,722 99.493
Total NON-INTETESt EXPENSE . . . . . o v i ia e o 462,446 410,353 367,007
Income before imcome taXes . . . . .. ... e 300,862 285.407 244,388
INCOME LAXES -« oo v o e v vt e e e e et e e e m it 97,791 91,816 78.965
Net inCOme . .. .ottt et e e $212,071  $193.591  $165.423
Earnings per common share:
BaSIC o ot ot et $ 360 $ 349 § 315
DIl . . o v et et e e e e 355 342 3.07

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc,
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Assets:

Cashandduefrombanks .. ..., ... ... . . . . . i,
Interest-bearing deposits . . ... . .. L
Federal funds sold and resell agreements. .. ...........................

Total cash and cash equivalents . . . ........... ... . ... ... ... ... ...
Securities held to maturity, at amortized COSt. . . .. ... ot i e
Securities available for sale, at estimated fair value . . ... .................
Trading account SECUMTIES. . . .. v vt i e et i e
Leoans, net of unearned discounts. . . . .. ... . e

Less: Allowance for possible loan losses ... ........ ... ... ... . ...,

Net loans
Premises and equipment, net. .. ... ... .. L e
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, NEL . . .. . .. .. .. i i e
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies. . .. .......... ... ... ... ...
Accrued interest receivable and other assets. . . ...... ..o vt

Total assets . . .. ..

Liabilities:

Deposits:
Non-interest-bearing demand deposits .. ........... .. ... ... . ... ...,
Interest-bearing deposits

Total deposits .. ... .. ... . .
Federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements
Subordinated notes payable and other borrowings
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures ... . ... ... .. L.
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities . . ............ ... ... ... ...

Total liabilities .. ... ... ... . e

Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 10,000,000 shares authorized; none

ISSUEA . . . e e e e
Junior participating preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 250,000 shares

authorized; none issued . . ... ... ... .
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 210,000,000 shares authorized,;

60,236,862 shares issued in 2007 and 59,839,144 shares issued in 2006 ... ..
Additional paid-incapital . ......... .. ..
Retained earmings . . . .. ..ottt e e
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, netoftax . ... ....... .. ... ... ..
Treasury stock, 1,574,732 shares in 2007 and no shares in 2006, at cost. . ., . ..

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity. .. .......... ... ... . .....

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,

2007 2006
$ 836,539 $ 707,683
5,898 1,677
354,075 735,225
1,196,512 1,444,585
8,125 10,096
3,407,012 3,330,953
11,913 9,406
7.769,362 7,373,384
(92,339) {96.085)
7,677,023 7,277,299
219,615 219,533
526,851 524.117
31,523 38,480
116,231 111,742
290,209 257,978
$13,485014 $13.,224,189

$ 3,597,903

$ 3,699,701

6,931,770 6,688,208
10,529,673 10,387.909
933,072 864,190
261,146 186,366
139,177 242,270
144,858 166,571
12,007,926 11,847,306
602 598
573,799 548,117
992,138 883,060
(7,382) {54,892)
(82,069) —
1,477,088 1,376,883
313,485,014  $13,224,189




Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Operating Activities:
NELIMCOME © v v v o et et ettt a et et it e $ 212071 $ 193,591 $ 165423
Acjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:
Provision for possible loan losses. . . .. ... ..o e 14,660 14,150 10,250
Deferred tax expense (henefity . ... .. ... e 857 (1,266) 555
Accretion of loan discounts . . . ... .. o oo (13,066) (10,824) (10,124)
Securities premium amortization (discount accretion}, net. .. .... .. (2,000) (1,516) 329
Net (gain) loss on securities transactions. . . .. ...« onn (13 1 (1%
Depreciation and amortization . . ... ... ...l 31,357 25,169 24,357
Origination of loans held for sale, net of principal collected . . ... .. (77.701) (66,443) (60,839}
Proceeds from sales of loans held forsale. ... ... .. .. ... 65,024 73,248 76,431
Net gain on sale of loans held for sale and other assets. .. ........ (1.841) (2,149) (3,418)
Stock-based coOmpeEnsation. . ... ... e 9,650 9,240 1,986 |
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation . . .. ........ ... 187 113 11,371 ,
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation . . . ....... ... (8413 (16,243) — !
Net proceeds from settlement of legal claims. . . ............... — — (2,389) !
Earnings on life insurance policies . ... ... .. oo (4,489) (4,123) (3,934) |
Net change in: ,
Trading account SeCurities . ... .. ..ot (2.507) (3,189) (1,546)
Accrued interest receivable and otherassets. . ... ............ (26,035) 22,308 (52,150)
Accrued interest payable and other hiabilities . . ... ........... 3,634 (285,202) (23,847
Net cash from operating activities. . . ... ............... 201,283 (53,135 132,436
Investing Activities:
Securities held to maturity:
PUICRASES. © o v oot et it e {1,000) — —_
Maturities, calls and principal repayments . . .. .. ... ... .. 2,965 2,596 4,004
Securities available for sale:
PUICHASES. © o v e e e et (13,592,106)  (14,070,071)  (10,763,788)
SalBS . o v et e e e e 64,924 26,912 19,812
Maturities, calls and principal repayments . ... ... ... ... .. 13,474,788 13,977,742 10,944,589
Netchange inloans ... ... ... ot (393,891) (180,517) (605,415)
Net cash paid in acquisitions . .. ... ... .. oo (2,828) (100,074) (13,297
Proceeds from sales of premises and equipment. ... . ........... 5,022 208 465
Purchases of premises and equipment . . .. ... .. o (26,087) (27,494) (18,098)
Benefits received on life insurance policies . .. .......... ... ... — — 6,553
Proceeds from sales of repossessed properties . ... ............. 6,938 1,750 3457
Net cash from investing activities . . .. ................. (461,275) (368,948) (421,718)
Financing Activities:
Net change In deposits . .. . ... et e 141.764 (113,996) 721,655
Net change in shori-term borrowings .. .. ....... .. . .oone 68,882 105,607 234,187
Proceeds from notes payable . .. .. ... .o 08,799 — —
Principal payments on notes payable and other borrowings .. .. .. .. (128,313) (19,251) (6,255)
Proceeds from stock option eXercises . ...... ... ..o iva o 23,600 42,703 35,805
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation . .. .......... 8,413 16,243 —
Purchase of treasury stock . . .. ... . o (110,406) (4.666) {14,972)
Cashdividends paid . . ... .. ... oo (90,320} (73,400) (61,499)
Net cash from financing activities . ... ............ ... ... 11,919 (46,760) 908,921
Net change in cash and cash equivalents. . .. ................... (248,073) (468.843) 619,639
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. ... .............. .. 1,444,585 1,913,428 1,293,789
Cash and cash equivalents at endof year . . .. ... ................ $ 1,196,512 $ 1444585 § 1913428

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc,

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Ag¢cumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensive
Cotmmon Paid-In Retained Income (Loss), Treasury
Stock Capital Earnings Net of Tax Stock Total
Balance at January 1,2005 .. ... .. ... $536 $207.343  $697.872 $(10.784) $ (72,572 § 822,395
Comprehensive income:
Netincome. .. .................. — — 165,423 — — 165,423
Other comprehensive loss, net of 1ax . . . — —_ — (39.658) — {39,658)
Total comprehensive income . . ., . 125,765
Stock issued in acquisition of Horizon
Capital Bank (1,400,000 shares) . ... .. 14 61,371 — — — 61,385
Stock option exercises (1,419,195 shares). . — — (25,603) — 61,408 35,805
Tax benefit from stock-based
compensation . ... ............... — 11,37} — — — 11,371
Purchase of treasury stock
(312412 shares) .. ............... — — — — (14,972) (14,972)
Non-vested stock awards (52,100 shares) . . — (2,455) — — 2,455 —
Stock-based compensation expense
recognized in eamings . ... ... ... ... — 1,997 — — (n 1,986
Cash dividends ($1.165 per share). . .. ... — — (61,499) — — (61,499)
Balance at December 31,2005 ... ... .. 550 279,627 776,193 (50,442) (23.692) 982,236
Comprehensive income:
Netingome. . ...t ien e — —_ 193,591 — —_ 193,591
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax . . . — — — (4.450) — {4,450}
Total comprehensive income . . . . . 189,141
Stock issued in acquisition of Summit
Bancshares (3,818,934 sharesy. . . ... .. 38 215235 — — — 215273
Stock option exercises (1,572,230 shares). . 10 28.695 (13.324) — 27.322 42,703
Tax benefit from stock-based
compensation . ... ............... — 113 — — — H3
Excess tax benefits from siock-based
COMPERSALION . . ... .t ureens. — 16,243 — — — 16,243
Purchase of treasury stock
(86.855shares) . ... .............. — — — — (4.666) (4.666)
Non-vested stock awards {52,100 shares) ., . — (1,036} — — 1,036 —
Stock-based compensation expense
recognized in earnings . . . .......... — 9,240 — — — 9,240
Cash dividends ($1.32 per share) . ... ... — e (73.400) — — (73,400
Balance at December 31, 2006 . . . .. . .. 598 548.117 883,060 (54,892) — 1.376,883
Comprehensive income:
Netincome. .. .................. — — 212,071 — — 212,071
Other comprehensive jncome. net of
LT, — — —_ 47,510 — 47,510
Total comprehensive income . ... ... 259,581
Stock option exercises (876,844 shares). . . 4 10,451 (11,960) — 25,105 23,600
Tax benefits from stock-based
compensation . .................. — 187 — — — 187
Excess tax benefits from stock-based
compensation ... .. .............. — 8.413 — — — 8,413
Purchase of teeasury stock
(2115658 sharesy .. .............. — — — — (110,406) (110,406)
Non-vested stock awards (61,800 shares) . . — (3,019) (213} — 3,232 —
Stock-based compensation expense
recognized inearpings .. ........ ... — 9,630 — — — 9.650
Cash dividends ($1.54 per share) ....... — — (90,820) — — (90,820)
Balance at December 31, 2007 .. ... ... $602 $573.799  §992,138 $ (7.382) $ (82,009) $1.477.088

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements

{table amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations. Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. (Cullen/Frost) is a financial holding company and a bank
holding company headquartered in San Antonio, Texas that provides, through its subsidiaries, a broad array of
praducts and services throughout numerous Texas markets. In addition to general commercial and consumer
banking, other products and services offered include trust and investment management, investment banking,
insurance brokerage, leasing, asset-based lending, treasury management and item processing.

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cullen/Frost and all
otler entities in which Cullen/Frost has a controlling financial interest (collectively referred to as the “Corpo-
ration”). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
accounting and financial reporting policies the Corporation follows conform, in all material respects, to accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

The Corporation determines whether it has a controlling financial interest in an entity by first evaluating
whether the entity is a voting interest entity or a variable interest entity under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. Voting interest entities are entities in which the total equity investment at risk is
sufficient 1o enable the entity to finance itself independently and provides the equity holders with the obligation to
absorb losses, the right to receive residual returns and the right to make decisions about the entity’s activities. The
Corporation consolidates voting interest entities in which it has all, or at least a inajority of, the voting interest. As
defined in applicable accounting standards, variable interest entities (VIEs) are entities that lack one or more of the
characteristics of a voling interest entity. A controlling financial interest in an entity is present when an enterprise
has a variable interest, or a combination of variable interests, that will absorb a majority of the entity’s expected
losses. receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both. The enterprise with a controlling
financial interest, known as the primary beneficiary, consolidates the VIE. The Corporation’s wholly owned
subsidiaries, Cullen/Frost Capitai Trust II, Alamo Corporation of Texas Trust [ and Summit Bancshares Statutory
Trust I are VIEs for which the Corporation is not the primary beneficiary. Accordingly. the accounts of these entities
are not included in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.

Certain items in prior financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. All
acquisitions during the reported periods were accounted for using the purchase method. Accordingly, the operating
results of the acquired companies are included with the Corporation’s results of operations since their respective
dazes of acquisition (see Note 2 — Mergers and Acquisitions).

Use of Estimates.  The preparation of financial stutements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The allowance for possible loan losses. the fair values
of financial instruments, and the status of contingencies are particularly subject to change.

Cash Flow Reporting. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, deposits with other financial institutions that
have an initial maturity of less than 90 days when acquired by the Corporation, federal funds sold and resell
agreements. Net cash flows are reported for loans. loans held for sale, deposit transactions and short-term
borrowings.

Cash paid for interest totaled $244.0 million in 2007, $211.3 million in 2006 and $109.5 million in 2005. Cash
paid for income taxes totaled $84.6 million in 2007, $75.6 miliion in 2006 and $61.3 million in 2005. Significant
non-cash transactions included $327.7 million of unsettled securities purchases in 2005, $215.3 million and
$61.4 million of common stock issued in connection with the acquisitions in 2006 and 2005, and transfers of loans
to other real estate owned and foreclosed assets in connection with loan foreclosures of $7.6 million in 2007,
$2.2 million in 2006 and $460 thousand in 2003,
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Concentrations and Restrictions on Cash and Cash Equivalents.  The Corporation maintains deposits with
other financial institutions in amounts that exceed federal deposit insurance coverage. Furthermore, federal funds
sold are essentially uncollateralized loans to other financial institutions. Management regularly evaluates the credit
risk associated with the counterparties to these transactions and believes that the Corporation is not exposed to any
significant credit risks on cash and cash equivalents.

The Corporation was required to have $86.2 million and $85.9 million of cash on hand or on deposit with the
Federal Reserve Bank to meet regulatory reserve and clearing requirements at December 31, 2007 and 2006.
Deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank do not earn interest.

Repurchase/Resell Agreements. The Corporation purchases certain securities under agreements to resell.
The amounts advanced under these agreements represent short-term loans and are reflected as assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The securities underlying these agreements are book-entry securities.
The Corporation aiso sells certain securities under agreements to repurchase. The agreements are treated as
collateralized financing transactions and the obligations to repurchase securities sold are reflected as a liability in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The dollar amount of the securities underlying the agreements
remain in the asset accounts.

Securities.  Securities are classified as held to maturity and carried at amortized cost when management has
the positive intent and ability to hold them until maturity. Securities to be held for indefinite periods of time are
classified as available for sale and carried at fair value, with the unrealized holding gains and losses reported as a
component of other comprehensive income, net of tax. Securities held for resale in anticipation of short-term market
movements are classified as trading and are carried at fair value, with changes in unrealized holding gains and losses
included in income. Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase.
Securities with limited marketability, such as stock in the Federal Reserve Bank and the Federal Home Loan Bank,
are carried at cost.

Interest income includes amortization of purchase premiums and discounts. Realized gains and losses are
derived from the amortized cost of the security sold. Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-
sale securities below their cost that are deemed to be other than temporary are reflected in earnings as realized
losses. In estimating other-than-temporary impairment losses, management considers, among other things, (i) the
length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, (ii) the financial condition and near-term
prospects of the issuer, and (iii} the intent and ability of the Corporation to retain its investment in the issuer for a
period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value.

Loans. Loans are reported at the principal balance outstanding net of unearned discounts. Interest income on
loans 1s reported on the level-yield method and includes amortization of deferred loan fees and costs over the loan
term. Net loan commitment fees or costs for commitment periods greater than one year are deferred and amortized
into fee income or other expense on a straight-line basis over the commitment period. Income on direct financing
leases is recognized on a basis that achieves a constant periodic rate of return on the outstanding investment.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payment obligations as they become due, as well as when required by regulatory provisions. When interest
accrual is discontinued, ail unpaid accrued interest is reversed. Interest income is subsequently recognized only to
the extent cash payments are received in excess of principal due. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the
principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.

Loans are considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable the Corporation
will be unable to collect all amounts due in accordance with the original contractual terms of the loan agreement,
including scheduled principal and interest payments. Impairment is evaluated in total for smaller-balance loans of a
similar nature and on an individual loan basis for other loans. If a loan is impaired, a specific valuation allowance is
allocated, if necessary, so that the loan is reported net, at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the
loan’s existing rate or at the fair value of collateral if repayment is expected solely from the collateral. Interest
payments on impaired loans are typically applied to principal unless collectibility of the principal amount is
reasonably assured, in which case interest is recognized on a cash basis. Impaired loans, or portions thereof, are
charged off when deemed uncollectible.
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Loans Acquired Through Transfer. Loans acquired through the completion of a transfer, including loans
acquired in a business combination, that have evidence of deterioration of credit quality since origination and for
which it is probable, at acquisition, that the Corporation will be unable to collect all contractually required payment
receivable are initially recorded at fair value (as determined by the present value of expected future cash flows) with
no valuation allowance. The difference between the undiscounted cash flows expected at acquisition and the
investment in the loan, or the “accretable yield,” is recognized as interest income on a level-yield method over the
life of the loan. Contractually required payments for interest and principal that exceed the undiscounted cash flows
expected at acquisition, or the “nonaccretable difference,” are not recognized as a yield adjustment or as a loss
acerual or a valuation allowance. Increases in expected cash flows subsequent to the initial investment are
recognized prospectively through adjustment of the yield on the loan over its remaining life. Decreases in expected
cash flows are recognized as impairment. Valuation allowances on these impaired loans refiect only losses incurred
after the acquisition (meaning the present value of all cash flows expected at acquisition that ultimately are not to be
received).

Loans Held for Sale. The Corporation originates student loans primarily for sale in the secondary market.
Accordingly, student toans are classified as held for sale and are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, determined
on an aggregate basis. Student loans are generally sold on a non-recourse basis after the deferment period has ended;
however, from time to time, the Corporation may sell such loans prior to the end of the deferment period. Gains or
losses recognized upon the sale of loans are determined on a specific identification basis. Student loans totaled
$62.9 million and $47.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and are included in total leans in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Allowance for Possible Loan Losses.  The allowance for possible loan losses is a reserve established through a
pravision for possible loan losses charged to expense, which represents management’s best estimate of probable
losses that have been incurred within the existing portfolio of loans. The allowance, in the judgment of manage-
ment, is necessary to reserve for estimated loan losses inherent in the loan portfolio. The allowance for possible loan
losses includes allowance allocations calculated in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS™) No, 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan,” as amended by SFAS 118, and allowance
allocations calculated in accordance with SFAS 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” The level of the allowance
reflects management’s continuing evaluation of industry concentrations, specific credit risks. loan loss experience,
current loan portfolio quality, present economic, political and regulatory conditions and unidentified losses inherent
in the current loan portfolio, as well as trends in the foregoing. Portions of the allowance may be allocated for
specific credits; however, the entire allowance is available for any credit that, in management’s judgment, should be
charged off. While management utilizes its best judgment and information available, the ultimate adequacy of the
allowance is dependent upon a variety of factors beyond the Corporation’s control, including the performance of the
Corporation’s loan portfolio, the economy, changes in interest rates and the view of the regulatory authorities
toward loan classifications.

The Corporation’s allowance for possible loan losses consists of three clements: (i) specific valuation
allowances established for probable losses on specific loans; (ii) historical valuation allowances calculated based
on historical loan loss experience for similar loans with similar characteristics and trends; and (iii} unallocated
general valuation allowances determined based on general economic conditions and other qualitative risk factors
borh internal and external to the Corporation.

Premises and Equipment.  Land is carried at cost. Building and improvements, and furniture and equipment
are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation, computed principally by the straight-line method based on the
estimated useful lives of the related property. Leasehold improvements are generally depreciated over the lesser of
the term of the respective leases or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Foreclosed Assets.  Assets acquired through or instead of loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially
recorded at fair value less estimated selling costs when acquired, establishing a new cost basis. Costs after
acquisition are generally expensed. If the fair value of the asset declines, a write-down is recorded through expense.
The valuation of foreclosed assets is subjective in nature and may be adjusted in the future because of changes in
economic conditions. Foreclosed assets are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets and totaled $5.4 million and $5.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
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Goodwill, Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of businesses acquired over the fair value of the net
assets acquired. Prior to 2002, goodwill was amortized over its estimated life using the straight-line method or an
accelerated basis (as appropriate) over periods generally not exceeding 25 years. On January 1, 2002, in accordance
with a new accounting standard, the Corporation stopped amortizing goodwill and adopted a new policy for
measuring geodwill for impairment. Under the new policy, goodwill is assigned to reporting units. Goodwill is then
tested for impairment at least annually, or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value. See Note 7 — Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.

Intangibles and Other Long-Lived Assets.  Intangible assets are acquired assets that lack physical substance
but can be distinguished from goodwill because of contractual or other legal rights or because the asset is capable of
being sold or exchanged either on its own or in combination with a related contract, asset, or liability. The
Corporation’s intangible assets relate to core deposits, non-compete agreements and customer relationships.
Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized on an accelerated basis over their estimated life. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized until their lives are determined to be definite. Intangible assets,
premises and equipment and other long-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable from future undiscounted cash
flows. If impaired, the assets are recorded at fair value. See Note 7 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

Insurance Commissions and Fees. Commission revenue is recognized as of the effective date of the
insurance policy or the date the customer is billed, whichever is later. The Corporation also receives contingent
commissions from insurance companies as additicnal incentive for achieving specified premium volume goals
and/or the loss experience of the insurance placed by the Corporation. Contingent commissions from insurance
companies are recognized when determinable, which is generally when such commissions are received or when the
Corporation receives data from the insurance companies that allows the reasonable estimation of these amounts.
The Corporation maintains a reserve for commission adjustments based on estimated policy cancellations. This
reserve was not significant at December 31, 2007 or 2006.

Stock-Based Compensation.  Prior to January 1, 2006, employee compensation expense under stock option
plans was reported only if options were granted below market price at grant date in accordance with the intrinsic
value method of Accounting Principles Beard Opinien (APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock issued to Employees,”
and related interpretations. Because the exercise price of the Corporation’s employee stock options aiways equaled
the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense was recognized on options
granted. The Corporation adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123, *Share-Based Payment (Revised 2004),” on
January 1, 2006. SFAS 123R eliminates the ability to account for stock-based compensatien using APB 25 and
requires that such transactions be recognized as compensation cost in the income statement based on their fair
values on the measurement date, which, for the Corporation, is the date of the grant. The Corporation transitioned to
fair-value based accounting for stock-based compensation using a modified version of prospective application
(“modified prospective application™). Under modified prospective application, as it is applicable to the Corporation,
SFAS 123R applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after January 1, 2006.
Additionatly, compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered
(generally referring to non-vested awards) that were outstanding as of January 1, 2006 will be recognized as the
remaining requisite service is rendered during the period of and/or the periods after the adoption of SFAS 123R. The
attribution of compensation cost for those earlier awards is based on the same method and on the same grant-date
fair values previousiy determined for the pro forma disclosures required for companies that did not previously adopt
the fair value accounting method for stock-based employee compensation. Compensation expense for non-vested
stock awards is based on the fair value of the awards, which is generally the market price of the stock on the
measurement date, which, for the Corporation, is the date of grant, and is recognized ratably over the service period
of the award.

SFAS No. 123R, requires pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share for all periods prior to the
adoption of the fair value accounting method for stock-based employee compensation. The pro forma disclosures
presented in Note |3 — Employee Benefit Plans use the fair value method of SFAS 123 to measure compensation
expense for stock-based employee compensation plans for years prior to 2006.
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Advertising Costs.  Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the
change in deferred tax assets and liabilities (excluding deferred tax assets and liabilities related to business
combinations or components of other comprehensive income). Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected
future tax amounts for the temporary differences between carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities,
computed using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets to the expected
amount most likely to be realized. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of a sufficient
level of future taxable income and recoverable taxes paid in prior years. Although realization is not assured,
management believes it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will be realized.

The Corporation files a consolidated income tax return with its subsidiaries. Federal income tax expense or
benefit has been allocated to subsidiaries on a separate return basis.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share. Basic earnings per common share is based on net income
divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period excluding non-vested
stock. Diluted earnings per common share include the dilutive effect of stock options and non-vested stock awards
granted using the treasury stock method. A reconciliation of the weighted-average shares used in calculating basic
earnings per common share and the weighted average common shares used in calculating diluted earnings per
common share for the reported periods is provided in Note 11 — Shareholders’ Equity and Earnings Per Common
Share.

Comprehensive Income. Comprehensive income includes all changes in shareholders’ equity during a
period, except those resulting from transactions with shareholders. Besides net income, other components of the
Corporation’s comprehensive income include the after tax effect of changes in the net unrealized gain/loss on
securities available for sale, changes in the funded status of defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans and
chinges in the accumulated gain/loss on effective cash flow hedging instruments. Comprehensive income is
reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.

Derivative Financial Instruments. The Corporation’s hedging policies permit the use of various derivative
financial instruments to manage interest rate risk or to hedge specified assets and liabilities. All derivatives are
recorded at fair value on the Corporation’s balance sheet. To qualify for hedge accounting, derivatives must be
highly effective at reducing the risk associated with the exposure being hedged and must be designated as a hedge at
the inception of the derivative contract. The Corporation considers a hedge to be highly effective if the change in fair
value of the derivative hedging instrument is within 80% to 125% of the opposite change in the fair value of the
hedged item attributabie to the hedged risk. If derivative instruments are designated as hedges of fair values, and
such hedges are highly effective, both the change in the fair value of the hedge and the hedged item are included in
current earnings. Fair value adjustments related to cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income
and are reclassified to earnings when the hedged transaction is reflected in earnings. Ineffective portions of hedges
are reflected in earnings as they occur. Actual cash receipts and/or payments and related accruals on derivatives
related to hedges are recorded as adjustments to the interest income or interest expense associated with the hedged
item. During the life of the hedge, the Corporation formally assesses whether derivatives designated as hedging
instruments continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of hedged items. If it
is determined that a hedge has ceased to be highly effective, the Corporation will discontinue hedge accounting
prospectively. At such time, previous adjustments to the carrying value of the hedged item are reversed into current
earnings and the derivative instrument is reclassified to a trading position recorded at fair value.

The Corporation may be required to recognize certain contracts and commitments as derivatives when the
characteristics of those contracts and commitments meet the definition of a derivative.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments, Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant
market information and other assumptions. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant
judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of broad
markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect the
estimates. The fair value estimates of existing on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments do not include the
value of anticipated future business or the value of assets and liabilities not considered financial instruments.
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Transfers of Financial Assets. Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the
assets has been surrendered. Contro) over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (i) the assets have
been isolated from the Corporation, (ii) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from
taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (iii} the Corporation does not
maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity.

Loss Contingencies.  Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of
business are recorded as liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be
reasonably estimated.

Trust Assets.  Assets of the Corporation’s trust department, other than cash on deposit at Frost Bank, are not
included in the accompanying financial statements because they are not assets of the Corporation.

Note 2 — Mergers and Acquisitions

The acquisitions described below were accounted for as purchase transactions with all cash consideration
funded through internal sources. The purchase price has been allocated to the underlying assets and liabilities based
on estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The operating results of the acquired companies are included with
the Corporation’s results of operations since their respective dates of acquisition.

Prime Benefits, Inc.  On December 1, 2007, the Corporation acquired Prime Benefits, Inc., an independent,
Austin-based insurance agency. Prime Benefits, which offered group employee benefits plans, including medical
and dental, life, long-term care and disability insurance primarily for businesses, was fully integrated into Frost
Insurance Agency. The purchase of Prime Benefits did not significantly impact the Corporation’s financial
statements.

Swmmit Bancshares, Inc. On December 8, 2006, the Corporation acquired Summit Bancshares, Inc.
including its subsidiary, Summit Bank, N.A. (“Summit™), a publicly-held bank holding company and bank located
in Fort Worth, Texas. The Corporation purchased all of the outstanding shares of Summit for approximately
$370.1 million. The total purchase price includes $215.3 million of the Corperation’s common stock (3.8 million
shares), $149.7 million in cash and approximately $5.1 million in acquisition-related costs. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Summit was fully integrated into Frost Bank.

Alamo Corporation of Texas.  On February 28, 2006, the Corporation acquired Alamo Corporation of Texas
(“Alamo™} including its subsidiary. Alamo Bank of Texas, a privately-held bank holding company and bank located
in the Rie Grande Valley of Texas. The Corporation purchased all of the outstanding shares of Alamo for
approximately $88.0 million. The purchase price includes $87.0 million in cash and approximately $1.0 million in
acquisition-related costs. Alamo was fully integrated into Frost Bank during the second quarter of 2006.

Texas Communiry Bancshares, Inc.  On February 9, 2006, the Corporation acquired Texas Community
Bancshares, Inc. including its subsidiary, Texas Community Bank and Trust, N.A. (“TCB™), a privately-heid bank
holding company and bank located in Dallas, Texas. The Corporation purchased all of the outstanding shares of
TCB for approximately $32.1 million. The purchase price includes 331.1 million in cash and approximately
$1.0 million in acquisition-related costs. Upon completion of the acquisition, TCB was fully integrated into Culien/
Frost and Frost Bank. As of December 31, 2007, the Corporation had a liability totaling $352 thousand related to
TCB shares that have not yet been tendered for payment.
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The total purchase prices paid for the acquisitions of TCB, Alamo and Summit were allocated based on the
estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as set forth below.

TCB Alamo Summit
Cash and cash equivalents .. . . . ........ ... ... ... i, $ 27,595 § 27,281 $110,674
Securities available forsale. .. ... .. .. e 15,842 52,499 146,448
LOANS, MEL. . . ot e e e e 64,376 222,867 814,321
Premises and equipment, net . .. ... .ot i e 427 10,551 11,585
Core deposit intangible asset . . .. ....... .. ... ... ... Lo L 3,355 6,381 20,374
Goodwill ... . e 19,359 58,542 278,313
Other a88e18 .. . .t it e e 4,371 6.441 7.788
DEPOSIES . v v vt v e e e (101,298)  (280.285)  (973,928)
Other bOrTOWIngS . . .. . . oL i i — (11,012) (39,507)
Other liabilities . .. .. ... e i i e (1,932) (5,280) (5,932)

$ 32,095 $ 87985 §370,i36

The core deposit intangible assets acquired in these transactions will be amortized using an accelerated method
over a period of 10 years. Additional information related to intangible assets and goodwill is included in Note 7 —
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Pro forma condensed consolidated results of operations assuming TCB,
Alamo and Summit had been acquired at the beginning of the reported periods arc not presented because the
combined effect of these acquisitions was not considered significant for financial reporting purposes.

Horizon Capital Bank.  On October 7, 2005, the Corporation acquired Horizon Capital Bank (“Horizon™), a
privately-held bank headquartered in Houston, Texas. The Corporation purchased all of the outstanding shares of
Hortizon for approximately $109.3 million. The total purchase price includes $61.4 million of the Corporation’s
common stock (1.4 million shares), $46.9 million in cash and approximately $1.0 million in acquisition-related
costs. Upon completion of the acquisition, Horizon was fully integrated into Frost Bank.

The total purchase price paid for the acquisition was allocated based on the estimated fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as set forth below,

Cash and cash equivalents . ... ... ... it e $ 33,559
Securities available for Sale . .. . .. i e e e 26,963
T U 1T (e 323,099
Premises and equipment, NEL . . ... ... e e 9,20}
Core deposit intangible asset ... ... ... . . .. e 4,856
GoadWill . . .o e e e e e e 68,310
L1 (TS -1 = £ A N 8,677
DEPOSITS © o vt e et e e (319,061)
Other BOITOWINES. . . .o\ oo e e (44,000)
Other Habilities . . .. oo e e e e e e e (2,352)
$ 109,252

The core deposit intangible assets acquired in this transaction will be amortized using an accelerated method
over a period of 10 years. Additional information refated to intangible assets and goodwill is included in Note 7 —
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
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Note 3 — Securities Held to Maturity and Securities Available for Sale

Year-end securities held 10 maturity and available for sale consisted of the following:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Held to Maturity
U.S. government agencies
and corporations . ... ... $ 7025 § 103 % 4 8 72148 9096 & 87 $ 14 $ 9169
Other ................ 1,000 — — 1,000 1.000 — 11 989
Towal . .............. 3 8125 § 103 $ 14 § 8214 % 1009 § 387 % 25 % 10158
Available for Sale
US. Treasury . . ......... $ - 5 - § — 3 — % 89954 $ 1 § 272 § 89,683
U.S. government agencies
and corporations ., .. .. 2,865,597 9,756 30,042 2,845311 2,946,212 5,507 49,110 2,902,609
States and political
subdivisions ... ....... 524,745 3.040 3,700 524,085 309,002 2,672 1,298 310,376
Other .. .............. 17.616 — — 37,616 28.285 — — 28,285

Towal .. ............. $3,427958 81279  $33,742 $3.407.012 $3.373.453 $8,180 $50,680 $3.330.953

Securities with a carrying value totaling $2.2 billion and $2.1 billion at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were
pledged to secure public funds, trust deposits, repurchase agreements and for other purposes, as required or
permitted by law.
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Year-end securities with unrealized losses, segregated by length of impairment, were as follows:

Less than 12 Months More than 12 Months Total
Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
December 31, 2007
Held to Maturity
U.S. government agencies and
COTporations . . .. .......... $ 2159 $ 12 § 126 § 2 8 2285 % 14
Total ................... $ 2159 § 12 §% 126 % 2 3 2,285 % 14
Available for Sale
U.S. government agencies and
Corporations . . ... ......... §299.546 $ 720 $1,287.910 329,322 $1,587456 330,042
States and political
subdivisions . . ... ......... 201,627 3,300 26,471 400 228,098 3,700
Total ... ... ... .. $501,173  $4,020 $1,314,381 $29,722 $1,815,554 $33,742
December 31, 2006
Held to Maturity
U.S. government agencies and
COTPOrAtIONS . . . v . v e v v v e nn $ 732 % 1 % 2869 § 13 % 3601 % 14
Other..................... —_ — 989 11 989 11
Total ... ..., $ 732 % 1 $ 3858 % 24 % 4590 % 25
Available for Sale
US. Treasury. . ............. $ — $ — % 84,708 % 272 % 84708 § 272
U.S. government agencies and
corporations . . .. .......... 764,803 3,009 1,593,831 46,101 2,358,634 49,110
States and political
subdivisions . . ............ 61,791 528 34,728 770 96,519 1,298
Total ......... ..., $826,594  $3,537  $1,713,267 $47,143  $2,539,861 $30,680

Declines in the fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities below their cost that are deemed
to be other than temporary are reflected in earnings as realized losses. In estimating other-than-temporary
impairment losses, management considers, among other things, (i) the length of time and the extent to which
the fair value has been less than cost, (ii) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and (iii) the
intent and ability of the Corporation to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for
any anticipated recovery in fair value.

Management has the ability and intent to hold the securities classified as held to maturity until they mature, at
which time the Corporation will receive full value for the securities. Furthermore, as of December 31, 2007,
management also had the ability and intent to hold the securities classified as available for sale for a period of time
sufficient for a recovery of cost. The unrealized losses are largely due to increases in market interest rates over the
yields available at the time the underlying securities were purchased. The fair value is expected to recover as the
bonds approach their maturity date or repricing date or if market yields for such investments decline. Management
does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. Accordingly, as of December 31,
2007, management believes the impairments detailed in the table above are temporary and no impairment loss has
been realized in the Corporation’s consolidated income statement,
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of securities at December 31, 2007 are presented below by
contractual maturity. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right
to call or prepay obligations. Mortgage-backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations and equity securities
are shown separately since they are not due at a single maturity date.

Held to Maturity Available for Sale
Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Due inone yearorless.................vveuin... 3 — 3} — $ 40,838 $ 40,841
Due after one year throvgh five years .. ............. 1,000 1,000 123,535 124,542
Due after five years through ten years .. .. .. ... ... ... — — 91,006 91,803
Due afterten years . ... ... ... ... . ... ..... ... — — 303,899 301,482
Mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage
obligations ......... ... ... . ... . . i . 7,125 7,214 2,831,064 2,810,728
Equity securities . . . ...ttt — — 37,616 37,616
Total. . ... e $8,125 $8,214 $3,427958  $3,407,012
Sales of securities available for sale were as follows:
2007 2006 2005
Proceeds from Sales . .. ..o ot e $64,924  $26912 $19,812
Grossrealized gains . . . .. ... ... .. e 15 117 19
Gross realized 10SSeS . ... . oo i e e — 118 —

Note 4 — Trading Account Securities

Year-end trading account securities, at estimated fair value, were as follows:

2007 2006
L TR & - 1 1 OGP $11,913  $8,515
States and political subdivisions. . . ... ... L — 891

$11913  $9,406

The net gain on trading account securities, which includes amounts realized from sale transactions and mark-
to-market adjustments, totaled $2.2 million in 2007, $2.1 million in 2006 and $1.9 million in 2005.
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Note 5§ — Loans

Year-end loans consisted of the following:

2007 2006
Commercial and industrial;
ComMIMEICIal « . oo e e e $3,472,759  $3,229,570
OB o v v e e e e e e e e e e 184,140 174,075
ASSEI-DASEA . .. e e e e e e 32,963 33,856
Total commercial and industrial . . ... . ... . ... . e 3,689,862 3,437,501
Real estate:
Construction;
(073} 1171 111 C; 7:1 560,176 649,140
(O8I0 111 o P 61,595 114,142
Land:
COMIMETCIAL . o ottt et e e e e e e e e e i e s 397,319 407,055
COMBUITIBE + ¢« o o e e e e e e e e et e e e e et e e 2,996 5,394
Commercial MOMEAZES . . ... v ottt ot ettt e e 1,982,786 1,766,469
1-4 family residential mortgages . ... .. ... ... ..l 98,077 125,294
Home equity and other conSUmEr .. ...t 587,721 508,574
Total teAl BSTATE. . o v v v v et e et e e e e e 3,690,670 3,576,068
Consumer;
5173 17 =<7 SR 2,031 3,475
Student loans held forsale . ....... ... e 62,861 47,335
(07317~ A O P 323,320 310,752
(0181 7<; R G R 29,891 27,703
Unearned diSCOUNEIS . . ..ottt it it e e e et et e e (29,273) (29,450)
Total JOANS - . . o o e et e e e e e e e e e e e $7,769,362  $7,373,384

Concentrations of Credit. Most of the Corporation’s lending activity occurs within the State of Texas,
including the four largest metropolitan areas of Austin, Dallas/Ft. Worth, Houston and San Antonio, as well as other
rmarkets. The majority of the Corporation’s loan portfolio consists of commercial and industrial and commercial
real estate loans. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no concentrations of loans related to any single
industry in excess of 10% of total loans.

Student loans Held for Sale.  Student loans are primarily originated for resale on the secondary market. These
loans, which are generally sold on a non-recourse basis, are carried at the lower of cost or market on an aggregate
basis.

Foreign Loans. The Corporation has U.S. dollar denominated loans and commitments to borrowers in
Mexico. The outstanding balance of these loans and the unfunded amounts available under these commitments were
not significant at December 31, 2007 or 2006,

Related Party Loans. In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation has granted loans to certain
directors, executive officers and their affiliates (collectively referred to as “related parties”) totaling $10.9 million at
December 31, 2007 and $9.9 million at December 31, 2006. These loans were made on substantially the same terms,
including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other
unaffiliated persons and do not involve more than normal risk of collectibility. During 2007, total principal
additions were $109.9 million and total principal reductions were $108.9 million.

Non-Performing/Past Due Loans. Loans are placed on non-accrual status when, in management’s opinion,
the borrower may be unable to meet payment obligations, which typically occurs when principal or interest
payments are more than 90 days past due. Non-accrual loans totaled $24.4 million at December 31, 2007 and
$52.2 million at December 31, 2006. Had non-accrual loans performed in accordance with their original contract
terms. the Corporation would have recognized additional interest income of approximately $2.3 million in 2007,
$2.9 million in 2006 and $2.4 million in 2005. Accruing loans past due more than 90 days totaled $14.3 million at
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December 31, 2007 and $10.9 million at December 31, 2006. There were no restructured loans outstanding during
2007 or 2006,

Impaired Loans, Year-end impaired loans were as follows:

2007 2006
Balance of impaired loans with no allocated allowance. . ........................ $14986 % 5933
Balance of impaired loans with an allocated allowance. . ........... ... ........... 2,166 38,254
Total recorded investment in impaired loans . . . .. ....... ... ... .. .. ... ... .. $17,152  $44,187
Amount of the allowance allocated to impaired loans . ., .. ... ... .. ..., ... ..... $ 1,556 § 8729

The impaired loans included in the table above were primarily comprised of collateral dependent commercial
loans. The average recorded investment in impaired loans was $30.6 miilion in 2007, $29.2 million in 2006 and
£27.5 million in 2005. No interest income was recognized on these loans subsequent to their classification as
impaired.

Loans Acquired Through Transfer  Approximately $4.7 million of loans acquired in the acquisition of
Summit in 2006 had evidence of deterioration of credit quality since origination and it was probable that all
contractually required payments receivable would not be collected on these loans. These loans were recorded at
their fair value of $3.2 million with no associated allowance for loan losses in accordance with American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™) Statement of Position (“*SOP”) (3-3, “Accounting for Certain Loans or
Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer.” As of December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of these loans totaled $75
thousand. Additional disclosures required by SOP 03-3 are not provided because the amounts are not significant.

Allowance for Possible Loan Losses.  Activity in the allowance for possible loan losses was as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Balance at the beginning of the year . . ... ... .. ... ... ... .. ... .., $ 96,085 $80325 $75810
Provision for possible loan losses .. ............. ... ... ... ..., 14,660 14,150 10,250
Allowance for possible loan losses acquired ....................... — 12,720 3,186
Net charge-offs:

Losses charged to the allowance . ..... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. .. (25,159)  (18,933)  (15,105)

Recoveries of loans previously charged off ................... ... 6,753 7,823 6,184

Net charge-offs . . .. ... . e (18,406) (11,110} (8,921)
Balance attheend of the year. ... ... .. v, $92,339 $96,085 $ 80,325
Note 6 — Premises and Equipment
Year-end premises and equipment were as follows:
2007 2006
Land. .. . e e $ 63867 $ 61,835
Buildings . ... ... e 163,602 151,203
Furniture and equipment . . ... ... ... . L. 161,928 152,561
Leasehold improvements . . . .. ... ...ttt e 50,540 49,316
ConsStruction in ProOgress . . . ...ttt it et et e e 6,242 12,932
446,179 427,847
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization. .. .................. ... ... (226,564)  (208,314)
Total premises and equUIPMENt, NEL ... ..ottt i e e $219,615 § 219,533

Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment totated $18.1 million in 2007, $16.3 million in 2006
and $14.4 million in 2005.
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Note 7 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill. Goodwill totaled $526.9 million at December 31, 2007 and $524.1 million at December 31, 2006.
During 2006, the Corporation recorded goodwill totaling $355.4 million in connection with the acquisitions of
TCB, Alamo and Summit. During 2007, as a result of a reallocation of the purchase price based on additional
information related to the valuation of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed, goodwill recorded in
connection with the acquisition of TCB was decreased $767 thousand, goodwill recorded in connection with the
acquisition of Alamo was decreased $835 thousand and goodwill recorded in connection with the acquisition of
Summit was increased $2.4 million. During 2005, the Corporation recorded goodwil} totaling $68.6 million in
cennection with the acquisition of Horizon. During 2006, this goodwill was reduced $283 thousand as a result of a
reallocation of the purchase price based on additional information related to the valuation of certain assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. During the second quarter of 2005, the Corporation wrote-off goodwill totaling $2.0 million
in connection with the settlement of legal claims against certain former employees of Frost Insurance Agency. See
Note 2 — Mergers and Acquisitions.

Other Intangible Assets. Other intangible assets were as follows:

Gross Net
Intangible  Accumulated Intangible
Assets Amortization Assets
December 31, 2007
COte dBPOSITS. © « « oo ittt e $59,152 $(31,342)  $27.,810
Customer relationships. ... ... .. . .. o o 5,056 2,527 2,529
Non-compele agreements . . . ... oot it anr e 2,554 (1,370) 1,184

366,762 $(35,239)  $31,523

December 31, 2006

COre dePOSILS. . . v v e e et $66,233 $(30,475) $35,778
Customer relationships. ... ... i i e 3914 (2,026) 1,888
Non-compete agreéements . ... .. vu vt in e e nearan e orenns 1,793 (979) 814

$71,960 $(33,480)  $38,480

During 2006, the Corporation recorded core deposit intangibles totaling $30.1 million in connection with the
acquisitions of TCB, Alamo and Summit, During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Corporation recorded a core deposit
irtangible totaling $5.8 million in connection with the acquisition of Horizon. During 2006, the core deposit
irtangible recorded in connection with the acquisition of Horizon was reduced $905 thousand based upon a final
determination of its value. See Note 2 — Mergers and Acquisitions. During 2005, the Corporation wrote-off certain
customer relationship intangibles totaling $147 thousand in connection with the settlement of legal claims against
certain former employees of Frost Insurance Agency.

Other intangible assets are amortized on an accelerated basis over their estimated lives, which range from 5 1o
10 years. Amortization expense related to intangible assets totaled $8.9 million in 2007, $5.6 million in 2006 and
$4.9 million in 2005. The estimated aggregate future amortization expense for intangible assets remaining as of
December 31, 2007 is as follows:

B0 st e e e e e e e $ 7.857
y50 01 I RGPPSO 6,269
20 1 10 A O U 4,649
2541 1 [ I 3,882
54 ) 12 GO GG 3,168
TS ==, oSS RO 5,698

$31.523
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Note 8 — Deposits

Year-end deposits were as follows:

2007 2006
Non-interest-bearing demand deposits:
Commercial and individual . .. ... ... ... . . . . . e $ 3,171,510 % 3,384,232
Correspondent banks . . .. .. ... .. e 350,123 237,463
Public funds . ... ... . .. e e 76,270 78,006
Total non-interest-bearing demand deposits .. ...................... 3,597,903 3,699,701
Interest-bearing deposits:
Private accounts:;
Savings and interest checking ... ... .. ... 1,722,305 1,470,792
Money markel aCCOUNLS ., L . ..o v ittt et e e e 3,404,472 3,393,961
Time accounts under $100,000. . . . ... . ... ... . . ... .. . ... ... ... 618,719 612,466
Time accounts of S100,000 Or MOTE . .. ..\ o0t e e 801,269 791,699
Public funds . . ... e e 385,005 419,290
Total interest-bearing deposits . .. ... ... .. .. e 6,931,770 6,688,208
Total deposits . .. ..o e $10,529,673 510,387,909

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, interest-bearing public funds deposits included $170.5 million and
$127.0 million in savings and interest checking accounts, $107.6 million and $97.8 million in money market
accounts, $4.8 million and $6.6 million in time accounts under $100 thousand, and $102.1 million and $187.9 mil-
lion in time accounts of $100 thousand or more, respectively.

The Corporation had approximately $93.8 million and $64.1 million of non-interest-bearing demand deposits
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 that were received under a contractual relationship assumed in connection with the
acquisition of Horizon. Deposits from foreign sources, primarily Mexico, totaled $699.5 million and $711.0 million
at December 31, 2007 and 2006. Deposits from certain directors, executive officers and their affiliates totaled
$59.3 million and $41.9 miliion at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Scheduled maturities of time deposits, including both private and public funds, at December 31, 2007 were as
follows:

2008 . e e e e e e e $1,388,885
200D e e e e e e e e e e e 135,755
2000 e e e e e e e 1,593
22 1 1 Y 635
21 1 —_
Thereafler . . . . .. e 20

$1,526,888

Scheduled maturities of time deposits in amounts of $100,000 or more, including both private and public
funds, at December 31, 2007, were as follows:

Due within 3 months O 1e88 . . . o ot it e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $395,069
Due after 3 months and within 6 MONS . . ... . . et e 213,699
Due after 6 months and within 12 months . . ... .. ... . . e 230,862
Due after 12 Mmonths . . .. .. e e 63,744

$903,374
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Note 9 — Borrowed Funds

Line of Credit. Cullen/Frost has available a $25 million short-term line of credit with another financial
institution. The line of credit matures annually and bears interest at a fixed LIBOR-based rate or floats with the
prime rate. There were no borrowings outstanding on this line of credit at December 31, 2007 or 2006.

Federal Home Loan Bank Advances. Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) advances totaled $11.1 million and
$36.4 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, The advances mature at varying dates through 2013 and had a
weighted-average rate of 5.24% and 4.38% at December 31, 2007 and 2006. The advances are collateralized by a
blanket floating lien on all first mortgage loans, certain pledged securities, the FHLB capital stock owned by the
Corporation and any funds on deposit with the FHLB.

Scheduled minimum future principal payments on Federal Home Loan Bank advances at December 31,2007
were as follows:

D008 o e e e e e e $ 4,569
100 R PR 16
1 0] 1§ PPN 6,517
01 I PSP PR 19
BOL 2 e e e s 18
T e e i =) R 7

$11,146

Federal Funds Purchased and Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase. Federal funds purchased
are short-term borrowings that typically mature within one to ninety days. Federal funds purchased totaled
$20.5 million and $45.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006. Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are
secured short-term borrowings that typically mature within thirty to ninety days. Securities sold under agreements
to repurchase are stated at the amount of cash received in connection with the transaction. The Corporation may be
required to provide additional collateral based on the fair value of the underlying securities. Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase totaled $912.6 million and $818.7 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Subordinated Notes Payable. On February 15, 2007, the Corporation issued $100 million of 5.75% fixed-io-
finating rate subordinated notes due February 15, 2017. The notes, which qualify as Tier 2 capital for Cullen/Frost,
bear interest at the rate of 5.75% per annum, payable semi-annually on each February 15 and August 15,
commencing on August 15, 2007 until February 15, 2012. From and including February 15, 2012, to but excluding
the maturity date or date of earlier redemption, the notes will bear interest at a rate per annum equal to three-month
LIBOR for the related interest period plus 0.53%, payable quarterly on each February 15, May 15, August 15 and
November 15, commencing May 15, 2012. The notes are subordinated in right of payment to all of the
Corporation’s senior indebtedness and effectively subordinated to all existing and future debt and all other
liabilities of our subsidiaries. The notes cannot be accelerated except in the event of bankruptcy or the occurrence of
certain other events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization. The Corporation may elect to redeem the notes
(subject to regulatory approval), in whole or in part, on any interest payment date on or after February 15,2012 ata
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest. Unamortized debt
issuance costs related to these notes, which are included in other assets, totaled $1.1 million at December 31, 2007,
Proceeds from sale of the notes were used to fund a portion of the redemption of certain junior subordinated
deferrable interest debentures as further discussed below.

In August 2001, Frost Bank issued $150 million of subordinated notes that mature in 2011 and bear interest at
6.875%, per annum, which is payable semi-annually. The notes, which are not redeemable prior to maturity, qualify
as Tier 2 capital for both Frost Bank and Cullen/Frost. Proceeds from the sale of the notes were used for general
corporate purposes. Unamortized debt issuance costs related to these notes, which are included in other assets,
totaled $485 thousand and $621 thousand at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures. On February 21, 2007, the Corporation redeemed
$103.1 million of 8.42% junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures, Series A due February 1, 2027, held of
racord by Cullen/Frost Capital Trust I. As a result of the redemption, the Corporation incurred $5.3 million in
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expense during the first quarter of 2007 related to a prepayment penalty and the write-off of the unamortized debt
issuance costs. Concurrently, $100 million of 8.42% trust preferred securities issued by Cullen/Frost Capital Trust I
(“Trust 1) were also redeemed.

At December 31, 2007, the Corporation had $139.2 million of junior subordinated deferrable interest
debentures issued to three wholly owned Delaware statutory business trusts, Cullen/Frost Capital Trust 11
(“Trust II""), Alamo Corporation of Texas Trust [ (“Alamo Trust”) and Summit Bancshares Statutory Trust I
{(“Surnmit Trust™). At December 31, 2006, cutstanding junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures totaled
$242.3 million, and included the aforementioned $103.1 million of debentures issued to Trust I that were redeemed
in 2007. Unamortized debt issuance costs retated to Trust II, which are included in other assets, totaled $1.5 million
and $1.6 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006. The trusts are considered variable interest entities for which the
Corporation is not the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, the accounts of the trusts are not included in the
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements. See Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
for additional information about the Corporation’s consolidation policy. Details of the Corporation’s transactions
with the currently active capital trusts are presented below.

In February 2004, Trust II issued $120 million of floating rate (three-month LIBOR plus a margin of 1.55%)
trust preferred securities, which represent beneficial interests in the assets of the trust. The trust preferred securities
will mature on March 1, 2034 and are redeemable with the approval of the Federal Reserve Beard in whole or in part
at the option of the Corporation at any time after March 1, 2009 and in whole at any time upon the occurrence of
certain events affecting their tax or regulatory capital treatment. Distributions on the trust preferred securities are
payable quarterly in arrears on March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year. Trust II also issued
$3.7 million of commeon equity securities to Cullen/Frost. The proceeds of the offering of the trust preferred
securities and common equity securities were used to purchase $123.7 million of floating rate (three-month LIBOR
plus a margin of 1.55%, which was equal to 6.67% and 6.94% at December 31, 2007 and 2006) junior subordinated
deferrable interest debentures issued by the Corporation, which have terms substantially similar to the trust
preferred securities.

Alamo Trust is a Delaware statutory trust formed in 2002 for the purpose of issuing $3.0 million in trust
preferred securities. Alamo Trust was acquired by Cullen/Frost through the acquisition of Alamo on February 28,
2006. The trust preferred securities will mature on January 7, 2033 and are redeemable with the approval of the
Federal Reserve Board in whole or in part at the option of the Corporation at any time after January 7, 2008 and in
whole at any time upon the occurrence of certain events affecting their tax or regulatory capital treatment.
Distributions on the trust preferred securities are payable quarterly in arrears on January 7. April 7, July 7, and
October 7 of each year. Alamo Trust also issued $93 thousand of common equity securities to Alamo. The proceeds
of the offering of the trust preferred securities and common equity securities were used to purchase $3.1 million of
floating rate (three-month LIBOR plus a margin of 3.30%, which was equal to 8.54% and 8.67% at December 31,
2007 and 2006) junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by Alamo, which have terms substantially
similar to the trust preferred securities. On January 7, 2008, the Corporation redeemed the $3.1 million of floating
rate junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures held of record by Alamo Trust, Concurrently, the $3.0 million
of floating rate trust preferred securities issued by Alamo Trust were also redeemed.

Summit Trust is a Delaware statatory trust formed in 2004 for the purpose of issuing $12.0 million in trust
preferred securities. Summit Trust was acquired by Cullen/Frost through the acquisition of Summit Bancshares on
December 8, 2006. The trust preferred securities will mature on July 7, 2034 and are redeemable with the approval
of the Federal Reserve Board in whole or in part at the option of the Corporation at any time after July 7, 2009 and in
whole at any time upon the occurrence of certain events affecting their tax or regulatory capital treatment.
Distributions on the trust preferred securities are payable quarterly in arrears on January 7, April 7, July 7 and
October 7 of each year. Summit Trust also issued $372 thousand of common equity securities to Summit. The
proceeds of the offering of the trust preferred securities and common equity securities were used to purchase
$12.4 million of floating rate (three-month LIBOR plus a margin of 2.65%, which was equal to 7.89% and 8.02% at
December 31, 2007 and 2006) junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by Summit, which have
terms substantially similar to the trust preferred securities.
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The Corporation has the right to defer payments of interest on the debentures at any time or from time to time
for a period of up to twenty consecutive quarterly periods with respect to each deferral period. Under the terms of
the debentures, in the event that under certain circumstances there is an event of default under the debentures or the
Corporation has elected to defer interest on the debentures, the Corporation may not, with certain exceptions,
declare or pay any dividends or distributions on its capital stock or purchase or acquire any of its capital stock.

Payments of distributions on the trust preferred securities and payments on redemption of the trust preferred
securities are guaranteed by the Corporation on a limited basis. The Corporation also entered into or assumed
agreements with the trusts as to expenses and liabilities pursuant to which the Corporation has agreed, on a
subordinated basis, to pay any costs, expenses or liabilities of each trust other than those arising under the trust
preferred securities. The obligations of the Corporation under the junior subordinated debentures, the related
indentures, the trust agreements establishing the trusts, the guarantees and the agreements as o expenses and
liabilities, in the aggregate, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee by the Corporation of each trust’s
obligations under the trust preferred securities.

Despite the fact that the accounts of the capital trusts are not included in the Corporation’s consolidated
financial statements, the trust preferred securities issued by these subsidiary trusts are included in the Tier 1 capital
of Cullen/Frost for regulatory capital purposes as allowed by the Federal Reserve Board. In February 2005, the
Federal Reserve Board issued a final rule that allows the continued inclusion of trust preferred securities in the Tier 1
capital of bank holding companies. The Board’s final rule limits the aggregate amount of restricted core capital
elements (which includes trust preferred securities, among other things) that may be included in the Tier | capital of
most bank holding companies to 25% of all core capital elements, including restricted core capital elements, net of
geodwill less any associated deferred tax liability. Large, internationally active bank holding companies (as
defined) are subject to a 15% limitation. Amounts of restricted core capital elements in excess of these limits
generally may be included in Tier 2 capital. The final rule provides a five-year transition period, ending March 31,
2009, for application of the quantitative limits. The Corporation does not expect that the quantitative limits will
preclude it from including the $135 million in trust preferred securities outstanding in Tier | capital. However, the
trust preferred securities could be redeemed without penalty if they were no longer permitted to be included in Tier |
capital.

Note 10 — Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements, Commitments, Guarantees and
Contingencies

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk.  Tn the normal course of business, the Corporation enters
into various transactions, which, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, are not included in its
consolidated balance sheets. The Corporation enters into these transactions to meet the finuncing needs of its
customers. These transactions include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit, which involve, to
verying degrees, elements of credit risk and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts recognized in the consolidated
bulance sheets. The Corporation minimizes its exposure to loss under these commitments by subjecting them to
credit approval and monitoring procedures.

The Corporation enters into contractual commitments to extend credit, normally with fixed expiration dates or
termination clauses, at specified rates and for specific purposes. Substantially al! of the Corporation’s commitments
to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards at the time of loan funding.
Commitments to extend credit totaled $4.8 billion and $4.0 billion at December 31, 2007 and 2006,

Standby letters of credit are written conditional commitments issued by the Corporation to guarantee the
performance of a customer to a third party. In the event the customer does not perform in accordance with the terms
of the agreement with the third party, the Corporation would be required to fund the commitment. The maximum
potential amount of future payments the Corporation could be required to make is represented by the contractual
amount of the commitment. If the commitment were funded, the Corporation would be entitled to seek recovery
from the customer. The Corporation’s policies generally require that standby letter of credit arrangements contain
security and debt covenants similar to those contained in loan agreements. Standby letters of credit totaled
$235.9 million and $254.8 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006.
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The Corporation considers the fees collected in connection with the issuance of standby letters of credit to be
representative of the fair value of its obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. In accordance with applicable
accounting standards related to guarantees, the Corporation defers fees collected in connection with the issuance of
standby letters of credit. The fees are then recognized in income proportionately over the life of the standby letter of
credit agreement, At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Corporation had deferred standby letter of credit fees
totaling $1.4 million and $1.2 million, which represent the fair value of the Corporation’s potential obligations
under the standby letter of credit guarantees.

Credit Card Guaraniees. The Corporation guarantees the credit card debt of certain customers to the
merchant bank that issues the cards. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the guarantees totaled $11.7 million and
$10.4 million, of which amounts, $5.3 million and $5.5 million were fully collateralized.

Securities Lending. The Corporation lends certain customer securities to creditworthy brokers on behalf of
those customers, If the borrower fails to return these securities, the Corporation indemnifies its customers based on
the fair value of the securities, The Corporation holds collateral received in securities lending transactions as an
agent. Accordingly, such collateral assets are not assets of the Corporation. The Corporation requires borrowers to
provide collateral equal to or in excess of 100% of the fair value of the securities borrowed. The collateral is valued
daily and additional collateral is requested as necessary. The maximum future payments guaranteed by the
Corporation under these contractual agreements (representing the fair value of securities lent to brokers) totaled
$1.9 billion at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2007, the Corporation held in trust liquid assets with a fair
value of $1.9 billion as collateral for these agreements.

Lease Commitments. The Corporation leases certain office facilities and office equipment under operating
leases. Rent expense for all operating leases (otaled $18.2 million in 2007, $16.2 million in 2006 and $13.1 million
in 2005, Future minimum lease payments due under non-cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2007 were as
follows:

2008 . e $16,148
2000 e O 13,861
2000 .. e e e e e 10,826
2.0 1 9,060
200 e e e e e e e 6,877
B 1155 15 V(=] 37,485

394,257

It is expected that certain leases will be renewed, or equipment replaced with new leased equipment, as these
leases expire. Aggregate future minimum rentals to be received under non-cancelable subleases greater than one
year at December 31, 2007, were $1.3 million.

The Corporation leases a branch facility from a partnership interest of a director. Payments related to this lease
totaled $812 thousand in 2007, $810 thousand in 2006 and $758 thousand in 2005. The terms of the lease are
substantially the same as those offered for comparable transactions with non-related parties at the time the lease
transaction was consummated.

Change in Control Agreements. The Corporation has change-in-control agreements with certain executive
officers. Under these agreements, each covered person could receive, upon the effectiveness of a change-in-control,
two to three times (depending on the person) his or her base compensation plus the target bonus established for the
year, and any unpaid base salary and pro rata target bonus for the year in which the termination occurs, including
vacation pay. Additionally, the executive’s insurance benefits will continue for two to three full years after the
termination and all long-term incentive awards will immediately vest.

Litigarion. 'The Corporation is subject 10 various claims and legal actions that have arisen in the normal
course of conducting business. Management does not expect the ultimate disposition of these matters to have a
material adverse impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.

90




Note 11 — Shareholders’ Equity and Earnings Per Common Share

Earnings Per Common Share. The following table presents a reconciliation of the number of shares used in
the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per common share.
2007 2006 2005

Weighted-average shares outstanding for basic eamnings per share .. 58,951,683 55,467,112 52,480,558

Dilutive effect of stock options and non-vested stock awards . ... .. 761,380 1,174,438 1,322,798
Weighted-average shares outstanding for diluted earnings per
SHATE . . e e e 59.713,063 56,641,550 53,803,356

Stock Purchase Rights. Under a shareholder protection rights agreement established in 1999, every share of
common stock carries the right (a “Right”), under certain circumstances, to purchase a unit of one one-hundredth of
a saare of junior participating preferred stock at a price of $100.00 per unit. The Rights, which expire on February 8,
2009, will only become exercisable upon distribution. Distribution of the rights will not occur until ten days after the
earlier of (i) the commencement of, or announcement of an intention to make, a tender offer or exchange offer that
weuld result in a person or group, with certain exclusions, acquiring the benefictal ownership of 10.0% or more of
the Corporation’s outstanding common stock, or (ii) the public announcement that a person or group has acquired
beneficial ownership of 10.0% or more of the Corporation’s outstanding common stock.

The purchase price payable, and the number of units of preferred stock issuable, upon exercise of the Rights are
subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution in the event of a stock dividend, among other things. The
Cerporation may redeem the Rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of $0.01 per Right at the sole discretion of the
Ccrporation’s Board of Directors at any time prior to distribution of the Rights. The Corporation’s Board of
Directors may amend the terms of the Rights without the consent of the holders of the Rights, except that after the
distribution of the Rights, no amendment may be made that would materially adversely affect the interests of the
holders of the Rights. Until a Right is exercised, the holder of a Right will have no rights as a stockholder of the
Corporation, including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive dividends.

Stock Repurchase Plans. The Corporation has maintained several stock repurchase plans authorized by the
Corporation’s board of directors. In general, stock repurchase plans allow the Corporation to proactively manage its
caital position and return excess capital to shareholders. Shares purchased under such plans also provide the
Corporation with shares of common stock necessary to satisty obligations related to stock compensation awards.
Under the current plan, which was approved on April 26, 2007, the Corporation was authorized to repurchase up to
2.5 million shares of its common stock from time to time over a two-year period in the open market or through
pr.vate transactions. Under the plan, the Corporation repurchased 2.1 million shares at a total cost of $109.4 million
during 2007. Under the prior plan, which expired on April 29, 2006, the Corporation was authorized to repurchase
up to 2.1 million shares of its common stock from time to time over a two-year period in the open market or through
private transactions. No shares were repurchased during 2006. During 2005, the Corporation repurchased 300
thousand shares at a cost of $14.4 million. Over the life of this plan, the Corporation repurchased a total of 833.2
thousand shares at a cost of $39.9 million.

Note 12 — Regulatory Matters

Capital. Banks and bank holding companies are subject to various regulatory capital requirements admin-
istered by state and federal banking agencies. Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt
corrective action regulations, involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items
calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Capiial ameunts and classifications are also subject to qualitative
judgments by regulators about components, risk weighting and other factors,

Quantitative measures established by regulations to ensure capital adequacy require the maintenance of
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of total and Tier 1 capital (as defined in the regulations) 1o
risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier 1 capital to adjusted quarterly average assets (as defined).

Cullen/Frost’s and Frost Bank'’s Tier 1 capital consists of shareholders’ equity excluding unrealized gains and
losses on securities available for sale, the funded status of the Corporation’s defined benefit post-retirement benefit
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plans, goodwill and other intangible assets. Tier 1 capital for Cullen/Frost also includes $135 million of trust
preferred securities issued by Trust II, Alamo Trust and Summit Trust (see Note 9 — Borrowed Funds). Cullen/
Frost’s and Frost Bank’s total capital is comprised of Tier ! capital for each entity plus $90 million of the
Corporation’s aggregate $130 million of 6.875% subordinated notes payable and a permissible portion of the
allowance for possible loan losses. The $100 million of 5.75% fixed-to-floating rate subordinated notes issued
during 2007 are not included in Tier 1 capital but are included in total capital of Cullen/Frost.

The Tier 1 and total capital ratios are calculated by dividing the respective capital amounts by risk-weighted
assets. Risk-weighted assets are calculated based on regulatory requirements and include total assets, excluding
goodwill and other intangible assets, allocated by risk weight category and certain off-balance-sheet items
{primarily loan commitments). The leverage ratio is calculated by dividing Tier | capital by adjusted guarterly
average total assets, which exclude goodwill and other intangible assets.

Actual and required capital ratios for Cullen/Frost and Frost Bank were as follows:

Required to he Well

Minimum Reguired Capitalized Under
for Capital Prompt Corrective
Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Regulations
Capital Capital Capital
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
December 31, 2007
Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets A
Cullen/Frost. . ................. ... $1,353,i25 12.59% $859,730 8.00% N/A N/A
FrostBank....................... 1,288,306  12.05 855,265 8.00 $1,069,081 10.00%
Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets
Cullen/Frost.............c........ 1,070,786 9.96 429865 4.00 N/A N/A
FrostBank....................... 1,105,967 1035 427632  4.00 641,449 6.00
Leverage Ratio :
Cullen/Frost...................... 1,070,786 8.37 511,636 4.00 N/A N/A
FrostBank....................... 1,105,967 8.65 511,164 4.00 638,955 5.00
December 31, 2006
Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets
Cullen/Frost. . .................... $1332,744  1343% $793.889  B.00% N/A N/A
Frost Bank....................... 1,234,583 1245 793,555 8.00 $ 991,944 10.00%
Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets
CullenfFrost. . .................... 1,116,659 11.25 396,944  4.00 N/A N/A
FrostBank.................... ... 1,018,498  10.27 396,778  4.00 595,166 6.00
Leverage Ratio
Cullen/Frost. ., .................... 1,116,659 9.56 467,275  4.00 N/A N/A
FrostBank....................... 1,018 498 8.73 466,835 400 583,543 5.00

Frost Bank has been notified by its regulator that, as of its most recent regulatory examination, it is regarded as
well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. Such determination has been made
based on Frost Bank’s Tier 1, total capital, and leverage ratios. There have been no conditions or events since this
notification that management believes would change Frost Bank’s categorization as well capitalized under the
aforementioned ratios.

Dividend Restrictions. In the ordinary course of business, Cullen/Frost is dependent upon dividends from
Frost Bank to provide funds for the payment of dividends to shareholders and to previde for other cash
requirements. Banking regulations may limit the amount of dividends that may be paid. Approval by regulatory
authorities is required if the effect of dividends declared would cause the regulatory capital of Frost Bank to fall
below specified minimum levels. Approval is also required if dividends declared exceed the net profits for that year
combined with the retained net profits for the preceding two years. At December 31, 2007, Frost Bank could pay
dividends of up to $189.2 million to Cullen/Frost without prior regulatory approval and without adversely affecting
its “well capitalized” status.
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Note 13 — Employee Benefit Plans

Retirement Plans

Profit Sharing Plans.  The profit-sharing plan is a defined contribution retirement plan that covers employees
who have completed at least one year of service and are age 21 or older. All contributions to the plan are made at the
discretion of the Corporation based upon the fiscal year profitability. Contributions are allocated to eligible
participants pro rata, based upon compensation, age and other factors. Plan participants self-direct the investment of
allocated contributions by choosing from a menu of investment options. Account assets are subject to withdrawal
restrictions and participants vest in their accounts after three years of service. Expense related to this plan totaled
$10.8 millicn in 2007, $8.7 million in 2006 and $8.8 million in 2005,

The Corporation maintains a separate non-qualified profit sharing plan for certain employees whose partic-
ipazion in the qualified profit sharing plan is limited. The plan offers such employees an alternative means of
receiving comparable benefits. Expense related to this plan totaled $7235 thousand in 2007, $393 thousand in 2006
and $439 thousand in 2005.

Retirement Plan and Resroration Plan. The Corporation maintains a non-contributory defined benefit plan
(the “Retirement Pian”) that was frozen as of December 31, 2001. The plan provides pension and death benefits to
substantially all employees who were at least 21 years of age and had completed at least one year of service prior to
December 31, 2001. Defined benefits are provided based on an employee’s final average compensation and years of
service at the time the plan was frozen and age at retirement. The freezing of the plan provides that future salary
increases will not be considered. The Corporation’s funding policy is to contribute yearly, at least the amount
necessary to satisfy the funding standards of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”). In the
ordinary course of business, Frost Bank acts as agent for the plan in securities lending transactions in which the plan
lends certain of its securittes to third parties.

The Corporation’s Restoration of Retirement Income Plan (the “Restoration Plan™) provides benefits for
eligible employees that are in excess of the limits under Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, that apply to the Retirement Plan. The Restoration Plan is designed to comply with the requirements of
ERISA. The entire cost of the plan, which was also frozen as of December 31, 2001, is supported by contributions
from the Corporation.

The Corporation uses a December 31 measurement date for its defined benefit plans. Combined activity in the
Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ................ ... .. ... $129,863  $126,766  $114,630
Interest COSt .. . ... . ... .. 7.476 7,180 6,766
Actuarial (gain) loSS . .. ... . L e (11,842) (134) 9,189
Benefits paid. . ... ... .. e (4,229) (3,949) (3,819)
Benefit obligation atend of year .. ........... ... ... .. .. ... 121,268 129,863 126,766
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year. ................... 91,736 83,204 77,143
Actual return on plan @ssets. . ... ... e e e e 10,475 8,023 4,440
Employer contributions . . .. .. ... ... ... ... 4,483 4,458 5,440
Benefits paid. . ... ... o e e (4,229) (3,949) (3,819)
Fair value of plan assets atendof year. . ..................... 102,465 91,736 83,204
Funded status of the planatend of year ... ... ... .............. 18,803 38,127 43,562
Unrecognized net actoarial loss. . . ... ... ... . .. — — (44,560)
Accrued benefit (asset) liability recognized . .................... $ 18,803 § 38,127 $ (998
Accumulated benefit obligation atend of year. .. .................. $121,268  $129.863  $126,766




Certain disaggregated information related to the Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans as of year-end
was as follows:

Retirement Plan Restoration Plan

2007 2006 2007 2006
Projected benefit obligation . . ......................... $107,706  $115,187  $13,562 §14,676
Accumulated benefit obligation . . ...................... 107,706 115,187 13.562 14,676
Fair value of planassets . ........... ... ... ... ... ... 102,465 91,736 — —

The components of the combined net periodic benefit cost for the Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans
were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Expected return on plan assets, net of expenses. . ... .. ... . ... ... .. ... $(8,187) $(7,454) $(7,008)
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . ......................... 7476 7,180 6,766
Net amortization and deferral . . .. ... .. ... .. . . 2,655 2,997 2,146
Net periodic benefit cost. . .. ... . e $1,944 $2723 31,904

Amounts related to the Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans recognized as a component of other
comprehensive income were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Net actuarial gain (l0SS). . .. ...t e $16,785 $3,701  $(9,613)
Deferred tax (expense) benefit . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... . (5.873)  (1,295) 3,365
Other comprehensive income (loss), netof tax .. .................... $10,910 $2406 $(6,248)

Amounts recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss as of year-end that have not
been recognized as a component of the combined net period benefit cost of the Corporation’s defined benefit
pension plans are presented in the following table. The Corporation expects to recognize approximately $1.2 million
of the net actuarial loss reported in the following table as of December 31, 2007 as a component of net periodic
benefit cost during 2008.

2007 2006
Net actuarial loSS . . . . ... $(24,074)  $(40,859)
Deferred tax benefit . . .. .. e 8,426 14,301
Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, netof tax. .. .. ... ... $(15,648) $(26,558)

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations as of the end of the years
indicated and the net periodic benefit cost for the years indicated are presented in the table below. Because the plans
were frozen, increases in compensation are not considered after 2001.

2007 2006 2005

Benefit obligations:

DISCOUNE TA1E . . .. oo e 6.50% 585% 5.75%
Net periodic benefit cost:

DISCOUNL TAE .« « .\ oottt ettt ettt e e e e e et e e e 5.85% 575% 6.00%

Expected return on plan assets. . .. .. .. ... 875 875 875
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The asset allocation of the Corporation’s Retirernent Plan as of year-end is presented in the following table.
The Corporation’s Restoration Plan is unfunded.

2007 2006
EqQuily SECUMIES . . o . vttt ettt e e 73.7% T3.7%
Debt securities (fixed InCOME) . . . ... it i e s 21.5 20.8
Cash and cash equivalents. . ... ... .. . ... . . . e e 43 55
oM. . e e e e 100.0% 100.0%

Management uses an asset allocation optimization model to analyze the potential risks and rewards associated
with various asset allocation strategies on a quarterly basis. As of December 31, 2007, management’s investment
objective for the Corporation’s defined benefit plans is to achieve long-term growth. This strategy provides for a
target asset mix of approximately 70% invested in equity securities, approximately 30% invested in fixed income
debt securities with any remainder invested in cash or short-term cash equivalents. The modeling process calculates,
with a 90% confidence ratio, the potential risk associated with a given asset atlocation and helps achieve adequate
diversification of investment assets. The plan assets are reviewed annually to determine if the obligations can be met
with the current investment mix and funding strategy.

The asset allocation optimization model is used to estimate the expected long-term rate of return for a given
asset allocation strategy. Expectations of returns for each asset class are based on comprehensive reviews of
historical data and economic/financial market theory. During periods with volatile interest rates and equity security
prices, the model may call for changes in the allocation of plan investments to achieve desired returns. Management
assumed a long-term rate of return of 8.75% in the determination of the net periodic benefit cost for 2007. The
expected long-term rate of return on assets was selected from within the reasonable range of rates determined by
historical real returns, net of inflation, for the asset classes covered by the plan’s investment policy and projections
of inflation over the long-term period during which benefits are payable to plan participants.

The Corporation’s investment strategies prohibit selling assets short and the use of derivatives. Additionally,
the Corporation’s defined benefit plans do not directly invest in real estate, commodities, or private investments.
The plans may lend certain plan securities to creditworthy brokers. The brokers must provide collateral equal to or
in excess of 102% of the fair value of the securities borrowed.

As of December 31, 2007, expected future benefit payments related to the Corporation’s defined benefit plans
were as follows:

1 $ 4,398
000 L e 5,461
20 L0 e e e e e e 5,820
70 7,603
20 e e e 6,609
2013 through 2007 . Lo e e e 39,019

$68,910

The Corporation expects to contribute $5.2 million to the defined benefit plans during 2008,

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. The Corporation maintains a supplemental executive retirement
plan (“SERP”) for one active key executive. The plan provides for target retirement benefits, as a percentage of pay,
beginning at age 55. The target percentage is 45 percent of pay at age 55, increasing to 60 percent at age 60 and later,
Benefits under the SERP are reduced, dollar-for-dollar, by benefits received under the profit sharing, non-qualified
profit sharing, defined benefit retirement and restoration plans, described above, and any social security benefilts.

Post-Retirement Healthcare Benefits. The Corporation provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to
certain former employees. The related unfunded benefit obligations totaled $574 thousand and $973 thousand
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and are reported as a component of accrued interest payable and other liabilities in
the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets at such dates. The net periodic benefit cost was a net benefit of $103
thcusand in 2007 and a net cost of $420 thousand in 2006 and $394 thousand in 2005. The Corporation’s share of
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benefits paid under the plan totaled $652 thousand in 2007 and $1.2 million in 2006. The discount rates used to
determine the benefit obligations were 5.50% and 5.85% at December 31, 2007 and 2006. The discount rates used to
determing the net periodic benefit cost was 5.85% for 2007, 5.75% for 2006 and 6.00% for 2005. The assumed
health care cost trend rate for 2008 is 9.00%; however, the ultimate trend rate is expected to be 5.00%, which is
expected to be achieved by 2010. The estimated effect of a one percent increase or a one percent decrease in the
assumed healthcare cost trend rate would not significantly impact the service cost and interest cost components of
the net periodic benefit cost or the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation. The Corporation’s contributions
related to post-retirement health care benefits are expected to be $127 thousand in 2008, Future benefit payments
are expected to be less than $150 thousand in 2008 with a diminishing annual amount through 2017,

Amounts related to the Corporation’s post-retirement healthcare benefit plan recognized in other compre-
hensive income totaled $183 thousand, or $119 thousand net of tax expense of $64 thousand, during 2007 and $661
thousand, or $429 thousand net of tax expense of $232 thousand, during 2006. No amounts related to the
Corporation’s post-retirement healthcare benefit plan were recognized in other comprehensive income during 2005,
Amounts related to the Corporation’s post-retirement healthcare benefit plan included in accumulated other
comprehensive income at December 31, 2007 totaled $548 thousand, ($844 thousand net of tax of $296 thousand),
of which amount, the Corporation expects to recognize approximately $145 thousand as a component of net
periodic benefit cost during 2008.

Savings Plans

401(k) Plan and Thrift Incentive Plan. The Corporation maintains a 401(k) stock purchase plan that permits
each participant to make before- or after-tax contributions in an amount not less than 2% and not exceeding 20% of
eligible compensation and subject to dollar limits from Internal Revenue Service regulations. The Corporation
matches 100% of the employee’s contributions to the pian based on the amount of each participant’s contributions
up to a maximum of 6% of eligible compensation. Eligible employees must complete 90 days of service in order to
enroll and vest in the Corporation’s matching contributions immediately. Expense related to the plan totaled
$8.7 million in 2007, $7.7 million in 2006 and $6.3 million in 2005. The Corporation’s matching contribution is
initially invested in Cullen/Frost common stock. However, employees may immediately realtocate the Corpo-
ration’s matching portion, as well as invest their individual contribution, to any of a variety of investment
alternatives offered under the 401{(k) Plan.

The Corporation maintains a thrift incentive stock purchase plan to offer certain employees whose partic-
ipation in the 401(k) plan is limited an alternative means of receiving comparable benefits, Expense related to this
plan totaled $98 thousand in 2007, $72 thousand in 2006 and $63 thousand in 2005,

Stock Compensation Plans

The Corporation has three active executive stock plans (the 1992 Stock Plan, the 2001 Stock Plan and the 2005
Omnibus Incentive Plan) and two active outside director stock plans (the 1997 Director Stock Plan and the 2007
Outside Directors Incentive Plan). The executive stock plans were established to help the Corporation retain and
motivate key employees, while the outside director stock plans were established as a means to compensate outside
directors for their service to the Corporation. All of the plans have been approved by the Corporation’s shareholders.
The Compensation and Benefits Committee (“Committee™) of the Corporation’s Board of Directors has sole
authority to select the employees, establish the awards to be issued, and approve the terms and conditions of each
award contract under the executive stock plans.

The 2001 Stock Plan superceded the 1992 Stock Plan and all remaining shares anthorized for grant under the
superceded 1992 Stock Plan were transferred to the 2001 Stock Plan. During 2005, the 2005 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (*2005 Plan™) was established to replace all other previously approved executive stock plans and the remaining
shares authorized for grant under the 2001 plan were cancelled. Under the 2005 Plan, the Corporation may grant,
among other things, nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock awards, stock appreciation rights, or
any combinatton thereof to certain employees.

During 2007, the 2007 Qutside Directors Incentive Plan (the “2007 Directors Plan) was established to replace
the 1997 Director Stock Plan (the “1997 Directors Plan”). The 2007 Directors Plan allows the Corporation to grant
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nonqualified stock options, stock awards and stock award units to outside directors. Subject to the terms of the plan,
stock options, stock awards and/or stock award units may be awarded in such number, and upon such terms, and at
any time and from time to time as determined by the Committee.

Options awarded under the 2007 and 1997 Directors Plans during the periods presented have a six-year life
with immediate vesting. Options awarded prior to 2001 under the 1997 Directors Plan have a ten-year life with
immediate vesting. Options related to other plans awarded since 1999 have a six-year life with a three-year-cliff
vesting period. Options awarded in 1998 have a ten-year life with a three-year-cliff vesting period. In general,
options awarded prior to 1998 have a ten-year life with a five-year vesting period. Beginning in October 2003,
options awarded under the 2005 Plan have a ten-year life and vest in equal annual installments over a four-year
period. Non-vested stock awards are generally awarded with a four-year cliff vesting period.

Each award from all plans is evidenced by an award agreement that specifies the option price, the duration of
the option, the number of shares to which the option pertains, and such other provisions as the Committee
determines. The option price for each grant is at least equal to the fair market value of a share of Cullen/Frost’s
common stock on the date of grant. Options granted expire at such time as the Committee determines at the date of
grant and in no event does the exercise period exceed a maximum of ten years. Upona change-in-control of Cullen/
Frost, as defined in the plans, all outstanding options immediately vest.

A combined summary of activity in the Corporation’s active stock plans is presented in the following table.
Non-Vested Stock

Awards Outstanding Stock Options Outstanding

Weighted- Weighted-

Shares Average Average

Available Numiber of Grant-Date Number of Exercise

for Grant Shares Fair Value Shares Price
Balance, January 1, 2005 . . ... ......... 1,159,773 196,980 $39.73 6,043,950 $30.29
Shares authorized — 2005 Plan. . .... ... 4,000,000 — —_ — —
Granted . ... e (906,100) 52,100 50.01 854,000 49.68
Stock options exercised. . .. ... ... ... _— — — (1,419,500) 23.03
Stock awards vested . ... ............. — (2,223) 33.25 — —
Forfeited ............ ..o ... 84,005 (305) 3595 (83,700) 27.10
Canceled .......... ... v, (1,131,278) — — — —
Balance, December 31,2005, .. ......... 3,206,400 246,552 41.97 5,394,750 34.61
Granted ... ...... .. 0. (889,400) 52,100 57.88 837,300 57.68
Stock options exercised. .. ... ......... — _ — (1,572,230) 27.16
Stock awards vested . ... ... ... ... ... — {61,546) 33.46 — —
Forfeited ......... .. ... ... ... ... 115,931 (1,306) 38.30 (114,625) 47.51
Canceled .............. ... ... (46,906} — — — —
Balance, December 31, 2006. ........... 2,386,025 235,800 47.72 4,545,195 41.19
Shares authorized — 2007 Directors

Plan . ....... . ... . . 500,000 — — — —
Granted ........ .00t (990,900} 61,800 48.85 929,100 48.96
Stock options exercised. . ........... ., — — — (876,844) 26.91
Stock awards vested . . ..., ... .. ... — (64,500} 38.12 —_— —
Forfeited ......... .o, 71,175 — —_ (71,175) 48.32
Canceled . ... ... .. .. ..t (70,1500 — — — —_
Balance, December 31,2007 . ... ........ 1,896,150 233,100 50.68 4,526,276 45.44
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Other information regarding options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Average Weighted-
Weighted- Remaining Average
Range of Number Average Contractual Number of Exercise

Exercise Prices of Shares Exercise Price Life in Years Shares Price

$20.00 - $25.00 296,800 $24.16 0.73 296,800 $24.16
25.01 - 30.00 129,500 26.88 0.82 129,500 26.88
30.01 - 35.00 361,051 32.94 1.09 361,051 32.94
35.01 - 40.00 581,475 38.05 1.64 581,475 38.05
40.01 - 45.00 35,000 4276 2.52 34,500 42.74
45,01 - 50.00 1,573,700 48.20 6.82 663,600 47.33
50.01 - 55.00 751,250 50.12 7.58 402,350 50.16
55.01 - 60.00 797,500 57.68 8.72 214,375 57.63
Total 4,526,276 4544 5.55 2,683,651 41.02

Proceeds from stock option exercises totaled $23.6 million in 2007, $42.7 million in 2606 and $35.8 million in
2005. Shares issued in connection with stock option exercises are issued from available treasury shares. If no
treasury shares are available, new shares are issued from available authorized shares. During 2007, 397,718 shares
issued in connection with stock option exercises were new shares issued from available authorized shares, while
479,126 shares were issued from available treasury stock. During 2006, 1,006,494 shares issued in connection with
stock option exercises were new shares issued from available authorized shares, while 565,736 shares were issued
from available treasury stock. During the 2005, all shares issued in connection with stock option exercises and non-
vested stock awards were issued from available treasury stock.

The total intrinsic value of outstanding in-the-money stock options and outstanding in-the-money exercisable
stock options was $29.3 million and $27.4 million at December 31, 2007, The total intrinsic value of stock options
exercised was $22.1 million in 2007, $45.6 million in 2006 and $32.5 million in 2005. The total fair value of share
awards vested was $3.3 million during 2007, $3.3 million in 2006 and $114 thousand in 2005.

Stock-based Compensation Expense. Stock-based compensation expense totaled $9.7 million in 2007,
$9.2 million in 2006 and $2.0 million in 2005. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized ratably over
the requisite service period for all awards. The total income tax benefit recognized in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income related to stock-based compensation was $3.4 million in 2007, $3.2 million
in 2006 and $695 thousand in 2005. Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options
totaled $18.5 million at December 31, 2007. At such date, the weighted-average period over which this unrec-
ognized expense was expected to be recognized was 2.9 years. Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense
related to non-vested stock awards was $6.8 million at December 31, 2007. At such date, the weighted-average
period over which this unrecognized expense was expected to be recognized was 2.3 years.

Valuation of Stock-Based Compensation.  The fair value of the Corporation’s employee stock options granted
is estimated on the measurement date, which, for the Corporation, is the date of grant. Prior to the fourth quarter of
2006, the fair value of stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted-
average fair value of stock options granted was $12.69 for options granted prior to the fourth quarter of 2006 and
$11.09 for 2005. The Corporation estimated expected market price volatility and expected tertn of the options based
on historical data and other factors. The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the fair value of options
granted prior to the fourth quarter of 2006 are detailed in the table below:

2006 2005
Risk-free interest rate . .. . .. ... .. .. e 4.93% 4.20%
Dividend yield .. ... ... . e 2.49% 2.53%
Expected market price volatility .. ......... ... .. .. . . .. 23.0% 23.0%
Expected (BIIN . . ... . . e 5.1 Years 6.1 Years




During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Corporation changed its methodology for estimating the fair value of
stock options granted from the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to a binomial lattice-based valuation model.
The: Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of publicly traded
options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. The Corporation’s employee stock options have
characteristics that are significantly different from those of publicly traded options in that the Corporation’s stock
options are not transferable and are frequently exercised well in advance of expiration. Additionally, the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model does not aliow for the use of dynamic assumptions about interest rates, expected
volatility and expected dividends, among other things. Because of the limitations of the Black-Scholes options-
pricing model, SFAS 123R indicates that the use of a more complex binomial lattice-based valuation model that
takes into account employee exercise patterns based on changes in the Corporation’s stock price and other variables,
an¢ allows for the use of other dynamic assumptions, may result in a better valuation of employee stock options.
Accordingly, management concluded that the use of a binomial lattice-based model provides fair value estimates
that better achieve the fair value measurement objective of SFAS 123R.

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during 2007 and the fourth quarter of 2006, estimated
using a binomial lattice-based valuation model, was $10.10 and $11.97. The assumptions used to determine the fair
value of options granted during 2007 and the fourth quarter of 2006 are detailed in the table below.

2007 2006
Risk-free Interest [l . . . . oo ot v et i oo s i e ian e ae e 3.70% to 5.24% 0.43% to 11.84%
Weighted-average risk-free interestrate .. .............. ... .. 4.53% 471%
Dividend yield. . . ... ... i 2.51% 2.50%
Expected market price volatility . . ................ .. ... .. 17.68% to 26.22%  15.30% to 27.90%
Weighted-average expected market price volatility. .. ........... 24.61% 25.70%
Expected eIt . . ... ..ottt s 5.2 to 6.9 Years 5.2 to 7.0 Years
Weighted-average expected term. .. ... ... ...t 5.6 Years 5.6 Years

Expected volatility is based on the short-term historical volatility (estimated over the most recent two years)
and the long-term historical volatility (estimated over a period at least equal to the contractual term of the options)
of the Corporation’s stock, and other factors. A variance targeting methodology is utilized to estimate the
convergence, or mean reversion, from short-term to long-term volatility within the model. In estimating the fair
value of stock options under the binomial lattice-based valuation model, separate groups of employees that have
similar historical exercise behavior are considered separately. The expected term of options granted is derived using
a regression model and represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The range
of expected term results from certain groups of employees exhibiting different behavior.

The fair value of non-vested stock awards for the purposes of recognizing stock-based compensation expense
is *he market price of the stock on the measurement date, which, for the Corporation, is the date of the award.
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Pro Forma Net Income and Earnings Per Common Share.  The following pro forma information presents net
income and eamnings per share for 2005 as if the fair value method of SFAS 123 had been used to measure
compensation cost for stock-based compensation plans. For purposes of these pro forma disclosures, the estimated
fair value of stock options and stock awards is amortized to expense over the related vesting periods.

2005
Net income, as reported . ... .. ... e e $165,423
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of related
taX EE OIS . o o e e e e e e e 1,291
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value method for
all awards, net of related tax effects . . ... .. ... . e (5,296)
Pro fOrmMa TEL INCOIMIE - - .« vttt et e e et ettt e e e e e e e e e e $161.418
Earnings per common share:
Basic —as reported ... ... ..o e .. § 315
Basic —pro forma . .. .. .. e e 3.08
Diluted — as reported . . . ... e 3.07
Diluted — Pro fOIImA . ., . ... et e e e e e e 3.00

Note 14 — Other Non-Interest Income and Expense

Other non-interest income and expense totals are presented in the following tables. Components of these totals
exceeding 1% of the aggregate of total net interest income and total non-interest income for any of the years
presented are stated separately.

2007 2006 : 2005
Other non-interest income:
Check card income . . . ... .ot ii eeeeeeeea $ 12747  $ 12095 % 9401
0 71 11 40,987 31,733 32,999
TOtal. . . e e e e $ 53,734 $ 43,828  $42.400
Other non-interest expense:
Legal and other professional fees. . ........... ... ... ... .. .... $ 17,744  $ 17,180  $12,102
Advertising, promotions and public relations . .................... 13,694 11,109 11,293
Stationery, printing and supplies . ... ... ... .. oL 7,702 7,195 6,143
Outside compuler SEIVICES. . . ..ottt it i e e 4,454 4,030 10,310
L8 7 (T 81,270 67,208 59,645
Total. . . e e e $124,864  $106,722  $99,493
Note 15 — Income Taxes
Income tax expense was as follows:
2007 2006 2005
Current iNCOME taX EXPEIMSE . . .\ vt oot e sttt te et n e, $96,934  $93,082 $78410
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) .. ......... ... .. .. i aann, 857 (1,266) 555
Income (aX eXPEnse ... .. it it e $97.791 $91,816 $78,965
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Reported income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory
income tax rate of 35% to income before income taxes as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Income tax expense computed at the statutory rate . .................. $108,452  $99,892  $85.536
Effect of tax-exempt Interest. . . . ... ..o vv i e (10,040) (6,482) (4,986)
Rank owned life insurance income .. ..., .. . i s (1,571) (1,443} (1,377)
(8] { V=1 (AP U 950 (151) (208)
Income tax expense, asreported . ... .. ... .. i $ 97,791  $91,816  $78,965
Year-end deferred taxes were as follows:
2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for possible loan losses. ... ... ... i o $ 31,834 §$32,339
Net unfunded liability for defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans . .. ........ 8,131 14,069
Stock-based COMPenSation . . .. ... ... e 6.354 3,927
Gain on sale Of @S8E1S . . .ottt e e e e 2,804 2,899
Non-acerual loans . ... o e e 1,391 1,127
INOn-compete agreements. . . . . ... ..o uun vt un e 1,272 1,318
Building modification reserve ... ... .. ... ..ot 1,268 1,268
Reserve for medical inSUrance . .. ...t it s 989 2,436
Net unrealized loss on securities available for sale and effective cash flow hedging :
EIIVALIVES . o v ot e e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e —_— 15,488
1013 =) o SO OO 2,932 3,688
Total gross deferred tax assets .. ... .. et 56,975 78,559
Deferred tax liabilities:
IMangible @SSElS ... oot (12,571)  (14,018)
Defined benefit post-retirement benefitplans .. ... ... . ... i (3,455) (2,143)
Deferred loan origination COSIS ... .. .. ...ttt tanurnrnnnr it aess (1,826) (676)
Premises and eQUIPIMENT .. . . .. .. e e (1.810) (2,964)
1T =1 P UG (1,737) (878)
Prepaid €XPenSes . .. oo vt e (1,157) (1,227
Net unrealized gain on securities available for sale and effective cash flow hedging
QEIVAIIVES . o . ot st ettt et s s e e e e e e e s (4,156) —
01112 o o (2,334) (2,284)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities. . ... ... .. i o (29,046) (24,190}
Net deferred taX as5et. . o o vt vt e ettt e te e oo et e e $27929 § 54,369

No valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was recorded at December 31, 2007 and 2006 as management
believes it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will be realized because they were supported by
recoverable taxes paid in prior years,

The Corporation adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement 109,” effective January I, 2007. Interpretation 48 prescribes a
recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Benefits from tax positions should be recognized in the
financial statements only when it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by
the appropriate taxing authority that would have full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that
meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than
fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold should be recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in
which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not
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recognition threshold should be derecognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that
threshoid is no longer met. Interpretation 48 also provides guidance on the accounting for and disclosure of
unrecognized tax benefits, interest and penalties. Adoption of Interpretation 48 did not have a significant impact on
the Corporation’s financial statements.

The Corporation files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction. The Company is no longer subject to
U.S. federal income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2004. During the third quarter of 2007, the
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed an examination of the Corporation’s U.S. income tax returns for 2004
and 2005. The adjustments resulting from the examination did not have a significant impact on the Corporation’s
financial statements.

Note 16 — Other Comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive income is reported in the accompanying statements of changes in shareholders’ equity.
Information related to net other comprehensive income (loss) is as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Securities available for sale:
Change in net unrealized gain/loss during the peried . . .. ........... $21,569  $(9,888) $(50,951)
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in income. . . . .. (15) 1 (19}
Change in funded status of defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans .. 16,968 4,362 (9,613)
Change in accumulated gain/loss on effective cash flow hedging
deTIvatives . .o o e e e e e s 34,571 (1,322) (430)
73,093 (6,847  (61,013)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense . .. ... ... ... i e 25,583 2397y (21,355
Net other comprehensive income (loss). . ............ ... ... .... $47,510 3(4,450) $(39,658)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, as of year-end were as follows:

2007 2006
Net unfunded lability for defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans. . .. ... ...... $(15,100)  $(26,129)
Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities available forsale . .. .................... (13,615)  (27,625)
Accumulated gain (loss) on effective cash flow hedging derivatives .. ............. 21,333 (1,138)

$ (7,382) $(54,892)

Note 17 — Derivative Financial Instruments

The fair value of derivative positions outstanding is inciuded in accrued interest receivable and other assets and
accrued interest payable and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and in the net change
in each of these financial statement line items in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

Interest Rate Derivatives. The Corporation utilizes interest rate swaps, caps and floors to mitigate exposure
to interest rate risk. Many of the Corporation’s interest rate derivative positions are matched to specific fixed-rate
commercial loans or leases that the Corporation has entered into with its customers. These derivative positions have
been designated as hedging instruments to hedge the risk of changes in the fair value of the underlying commercial
loan/lease due to changes in interest rates. The related contracts are structured so that the notional amounts reduce
over time to generally match the expected amortization of the underlying loan/lease.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Corporation entered into three interest rate swap contracts with a total
notional amount of $1.2 billion. The interest rate swap contracts were designated as hedging instruments in cash
flow hedges with the objective of protecting the overall cash flows from the Corporation’s monthly interest receipts
on a rolling portfolio of $1.2 billion of variable-rate loans outstanding throughout the 84-month period beginning on
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October 25, 2007 and ending on October 25, 2014 from the risk of variability of those cash flows such that the yield
on the underlying loans would remain constant. The desired constant yield is 7.559% in the case of the first contract
(urderlying loan pool totaling $650.0 million carrying an interest rate equal to Prime), 8.059% in the case of the
second (underlying loan pool totaling $230.0 million carrying an interest rate equal to Prime plus a margin of
50) basis points) and 8.559% in the case of the third contract (underlying loan pool totaling $320.0 million carrying
an interest rate equal to Prime plus a margin of 100 basis points). The Corporation expects to maintain pools of such
loans having the aforementioned total principal balances over the entire 84-month term of the swaps. Under the
swaps, the Corporation will receive a fixed interest rate of 7.559% and pay a variable interest rate equal to the daily
Federal Reserve Statistical Release H-15 Prime Rate (“Prime”), with monthly scttlements. The interest rate swaps
were entered into at current market rates on the transaction date. Accordingly, no premium was paid or received in
connection with the swaps.

In conjunction with entering into the aforementioned interest rate swap contracts, the Corporation terminated
its three interest rate floor contracts, which had a total notional amount of $1.3 billion. These interest rate floor
contracts were designated as hedging instraments in cash flow hedges with the objective of protecting the overall
cash flows from the Corporation’s monthly interest receipts (over a 36-month period) on a rolling portfolio of
$1.3 billion of variabie-rate loans from the risk of a decrease in those cash flows to a level such that the yield on the
underlying loans would be less than a range of 6.00% to 7.00%, depending upon the applicable floor contract, These
floor contracts would have otherwise expired on December 15, 2008. As of the date of termination, the accumulated
after-tax loss applicable to these floor contracts included in accumulated other comprehensive income totaled $740
thousand. This amount will be reclassified into earnings during the future periods when the formerly hedged
transactions would have impacted earnings.

The Corporation also has certain interest rate derivative positions that are not designated as hedging
instruments. These derivative positions relate to transactions in which the Corporation enters into an interest rate
swap, cap and/or floor with a customer while at the same time entering into an offsetting interest rate swap, cap
and/or floor with another financial institution. In connection with each swap transaction, the Corporation agrees to
pay interest to the customer on a notional amount at a variable interest rate and receive interest from the customer on
a similar notional amount at a fixed interest rate. At the same time, the Corporation agrees to pay another financial
institution the same fixed interest rate on the same notional amount and receive the same variable interest rate on the
same notional amount, The transaction allows the Corporation’s customer to effectively convert a variable rate loan
to a fixed rate. Because the Corporation acts as an intermediary for its customer, changes in the fair value of the
urderlying derivative contracts offset each other and do not impact the Corporation’s results of operations.
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The notional amounts and estimated fair values of interest rate derivative positions outstanding at year-end are
presented in the following table. The estimated fair values of the subordinated debt interest rate swap and the
interest rate floors on variable-rate loans are based on a quoted market price. Internal present value models are used
to estimate the fair values of the other interest rate swaps, caps and floors.

2007 2006
Notional Estimated Notional Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Interest rate derivatives designated as hedges of fair value:
Commercial loan/lease interest rate swaps............. $ 180508 § (5600) $ 15337 § 182
Interest rate derivatives designated as hedges of cash flows:
Interest rate floors on variable-rate loans . . ............ — — 1,300,000 366
Interest rate swaps on variable-rate loans . ... ... ....... 1,200,000 33,857 — —
Non-hedging interest rate derivatives:
Commercial loan/lease interest rate swaps ... ........... 328,226 12,028 200,910 3,320
Commercial loan/lease interest rate swaps. . ........... 328,226 (12,928) 200910 (3,320)
Commercial loan/lease interestrate caps .. ............ -— — 17,500 5
Commercial loan/lease interest rate caps . ... .......... — — 17,500 (5
Commercial loan/lease interest rate floors . ... ...... .. — — 17,500 8
Commercial loan/lease interest rate floors .. ........... — — 17,500 (8)

The weighted-average receive and pay interest rates for interest rate swaps and the weighted-average strike
rates for interest rate caps and floors outstanding at December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Weighted-Average

Interest Interest
Rate Rate
Paid Received

Interest rate swaps:

Fair value hedge commercial loan/lease interest rate swaps ... ................... 478%  4.88%
Cash flow hedge interest rate swaps on variable-rate loans. . ..................... 7.25 7.56
Non-hedging interest rate SWaPs . . .. .. ..ottt ettt 5.18 5.18

Interest rate contracts involve the risk of dealing with both bank customers and institutional derivative
counterparties and their ability to meet contractual terms. Institutional counterparties must have an investment
grade credit rating and be approved by the Corporation’s Asset/Liability Management Committee.

The Corporation’s credit exposure on interest rate swaps is limited to the net favorable value and interest
payments of all swaps by each counterparty. In such cases collateral may be required from the counterparties
involved if the net value of the swaps exceeds a nominal amount considered to be immaterial. The Corperation’s
credit exposure, net of any collateral pledged, relating to interest rate swaps was approximately $29.1 million at
December 31, 2007. This credit exposure includes approximately $16.2 million related to upstream financial
institution counterparties and $12.9 million related to bank customers. Collateral levels are monitored and adjusted
on a regular basis for changes in interest rate swap values.

For fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of both the derivative hedging insteument and the hedged
item are recorded in current earnings as other income or other expense. The extent that such changes in fair value do
not offset represents hedge ineffectiveness. For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the
derivative hedging instrument is reported in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion (indicated
by the excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of the derivative over that which is necessary to offset the
cumulative change in expected future cash flows on the hedge transaction) is recorded in current earnings as other
income or other expense. The amount of hedge ineffectiveness reported in earnings was not significant during any
of the reported periods. The accumulated net after-tax gain related to derivatives included in accumulated other
comprehensive income totaled $21.3 million at December 31, 2007.
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During the first quarter of 2006, the Corporation terminated certain interest rate swaps with a total notional
amount of $334.6 million. The swaps were designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedges of certain fixed-
rate commercial loans. The cumulative basis adjustment to fair value resulting from the designation of these loans as
hedged items totaled $4.4 million upon termination of the swaps. This cumulative basis adjustment is being treated
similar to a premium and amortized as an offset to interest income over the expected remaining life of the
underlying loans using the effective yield method.

Commodity Derivatives. The Corporation enters into commodity swaps and option contracts 10 accommo-
date the business needs of its customers. Upon the origination of a commodity swap or option contract with a
customer, the Corporation simultaneously enters into an offsetting contract with a third party to mitigate the
exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices.

The notional amounts and estimated fair values of commodity derivative positions outstanding at December 31,
2007 and December 31, 2006 are presented in the following table. The estimated fair values are based on quoted
marker prices.

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Notional Notional Estimated Notional Estimated
Units Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Commodity swaps:

Oil .. e Barrels 355 $ 7,997 27 $ 36
Oil ... ... e e Barrels 355 {7,909) 27 (29)
Natural gas . ..o oiio i MMBTUs 1,510 820 600 952
Natural a5 . ... .o MMBTUs 1,510 (786) 600 (953)

Commodity options:
Ol . e e e Barrels 383 3,335 566 1,837
Oil .. e Barrels 383 (3,334) 566 {1,835)
Natural gas ... .. oovi i MMBTUs — — 1,440 1,006
Natural gas ... ... oo MMBTUs —_ — 1,440 (1,006)

Foreign Currency Derivatives. 'The Corporation enters into foreign currency forward contracts to accom-
modate the business needs of its customers. Upon the origination of a foreign currency forward contract with a
customer, the Corporation simultaneousty enters into an offsetting contract with a third party to negate the exposure
to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The notional amounts and fair values of open foreign currency
forward contracts were not significant at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Note 18 — Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for cash and cash equivalents, accrued interest and the
cash surrender value of life insurance policies. Fair value estimates for other financial instruments are discussed
below:

Securities. Fair value estimates are based on quoted market prices, if available. If a quoted market price is not
available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for similar instruments.

Loans. The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for variable-rate loans that reprice frequently
and with no significant change in credit risk. The fair value of fixed-rate loans and variable-rate loans which reprice
on an infrequent basis is estimated by discounting future cash flows using the current interest rates at which similar
loans with similar terms would be made to borrowers of similar credit quality. Fair values for impaired loans are
estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis or the underlying collateral values. Fair value of loans held for sale
is based on quoted market prices.

Derivatives. The estimated fair value of the variable rate loan interest rate swaps, foreign currency contracts
and commodity swaps/options are based on a quoted market price. Internal present value models are used to
estimate the fair values of the other interest rate swaps, caps and floors.
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Deposits.  The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for demand deposits. The fair value of fixed-
rate deposit liabilities with defined maturities is estimated by discounting future cash flows using the interest rates
currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.

Borrowings. The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for short-terrn borrowings. The fair value
of long-term fixed-rate borrowings is estimated using quoted market prices, if available, or by discounting future
cash flows using current interest rates for similar financial instruments.

Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures. The estimated fair value approximates carrying value
for variable-rate junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures that reprice quarterly.

Subordinated notes payable. Fair value is estimated based on the quoted market prices of similar
instruments.

Loan commitments, standby and commercial letters of credit.  The Corporation’s lending commitments have
variable interest rates and “escape” clauses if the customer’s credit quality deteriorates. Therefore, the fair values of
these items are not significant and are not included in the following table.

The year-end estimated fair values of financial instruments were as follows:

2007 2006
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ... ............ $ 1,196,512  § 1,196,512 § 1,444,585 § 1,444,585
Securities ... ... ... .. 3,427,050 3,427,139 3,350,455 3,350,517
Loans .. ... ... 7,769,362 7,810,533 7,373,384 7,364,545
Allowance for loan losses ... ............ (92,339) —_ (96,085) —

Netloans............ ... ... .. ..... 7,671,023 7,810,533 7,277,299 7,364,545
Cash surrender value of life insurance

policies . . ... ... .. 116,231 116,231 111,742 111,742
Commercial loan/lease interest rate swaps

designated as hedges of fair value. ... . ... — — 182 182
Interest rate swaps on variable rate loans

designated as hedges of cash flows. ... ... 33,857 33,857 — —
Interest rate floors on variable-rate loans

designated as hedges of cash flows ... .... — — 366 366
Non-hedging commercial loan/lease interest

rate swaps, caps and floors. ... ......... 12,928 12,928 3,333 3,333
Commeodity and foreign exchange

derivatives . . .. ..... .. .. e 12,152 12,152 3,831 3,831
Accrued interest receivable, . . ... ... ... ... 66,045 66,045 63,824 63,824
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2006

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial labilities:
DEPOSILS .. oot 10,529,673 10,533,646 10,387,909 10,389,906
Federal funds purchased and repurchase
AGLEEIMENIS. . . .o vt v i e e ca e e 933,072 933,072 864,150 864,150
Junior subordinated deferrable interest
debentures . . ..o 139,177 139,177 242,270 246,708
Subordinated notes payable and other
DOITOWINZS. - o oo e v e 261,146 265,257 186,366 195,319
Commercial loan/lease interest rate swaps
designated as hedges of fair value. . ... ... ' 5,600 5,600 — —
Non-hedging commercial loan/lease interest
rate swaps, caps and floors. ... ... ... .. 12,928 12,928 3,333 3,333
Commodity and foreign exchange
derivatives . . ..o e 12,029 12,029 3,823 3,823
Accrued interest payable .. ... .. ... .. 36,244 36,244 30,170 30,170

Fair vatue estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market information and information
about the financial instrument. These estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from
offering for sale at one time the Corporation’s entire holdings of a particular financial instrument. These estimates
are subjective in nature and require considerable judgment to interpret market data. Accordingly, the estimates
presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Corporation could realize in a current market
exchange, nor are they intended to represent the fair value of the Corporation as a whole. The use of different market
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amourts. The
fair value estimates presented herein are based on pertinent information available to management as of the
respective balance sheet date. Although management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect the
eqtimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued since the presentation dates,
and therefore, estimates of fair value after the balance sheet date may differ significantly from the amounts
presented herein.

In addition, other assets, such as property and equipment, and liabilities of the Corporation that are not defined
as financial instruments are not included in the above disclosures. Also, nonfinancial instruments typically not
recognized in financial statements nevertheless may have value but are not included in the above disclosures. These
include, among other items, the estimated earning power of core deposit accounts, the trained work force, customer
goodwill and similar items.
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Note 19 — Operating Segments

The Corporation is managed under a matrix organizational structure whereby significant lines of business,
including Banking and the Financial Management Group (“FMG”), overlap a regional reporting structure. The
regions are primarily based upon geographic location and include Austin, Corpus Christi, Dallas, Fort Worth,
Houston, Rio Grande Valley, San Antonio and Statewide. The Corporation is primarily managed based on the line of
business structure, In that regard, all regions have the same lines of business, which have the same product and
service offerings, have similar types and classes of customers and utilize similar service delivery methods. Pricing
guidelines for products and services are the same across all regions, The regional reporting structare is primarily a
means to scale the lines of business to provide a local, community focus for customer relations and business
development.

The Corporation has two primary operating segments, Banking and FMG, that are delineated by the products
and services that each segment offers. The Banking operating segment includes both commercial and consumer
banking services, Frost Insurance Agency and Frost Securities, Inc. Commercial banking services are provided to
corporations and other business clients and include a wide array of lending and cash management products.
Consumer banking services include direct lending and depository services. Frost Insurance Agency provides
insurance brokerage services to individuals and businesses covering corporate and personal property and casualty
products, as well as group health and life insurance products. Frost Securities, Inc. provides advisory and private
equity services to middle market companies. The FMG operating segment includes fee-based services within
private trust, retirement services, and financial management services, including personal wealth management and
brokerage services. The third operating segment, Non-Banks, is for the most part the parent holding company, as
well as certain other insignificant non-bank subsidiaries of the parent that, for the most part, have little or no activity.
The parent company’s principal activities include the direct and indirect ownership of the Corporation’s banking
and non-banking subsidiaries and the issuance of debt. Its principal source of revenue is dividends from its
subsidiaries.

The accounting policies of each reportable segment are the same as those of the Corporation except for the
following items, which impact the Banking and FMG segments: (i} expenses for consolidated back-office
operations are allocated to operating segments based on estimated uses of those services, (ii} general overhead-
type expenses such as executive administration, accounting and internal audit are allocated based on the direct
expense level of the operating segment, (iii) income tax expense for the individual segments is calculated essentially
at the statutory rate, and (iv) the parent company records the tax expense or benefit necessary to reconcile to the
consolidated total.

The Corporation uses a match-funded transfer pricing process to assess operating segment performance. The
process helps the Corporation to (i} identify the cost or opportunity value of funds within each business segment,
(ii) measure the profitability of a particular business segment by relating appropriate costs to revenues, (iii) evaluate
each business segment in a manner consistent with its economic impact on consolidated earnings, and (iv) enhance
asset and liability pricing decisions.
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Financial results by operating segment are detailed below. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified

to conform to the current presentation.

Banking FMG Non-Banks Consolidated
2007
Net interest income (EXPENSE) . . v v e vvnennn o $511,773 % 23,378  $(16,414)  $518,737
Provision for possible loan losses ................... 14,733 (73) —— 14,660
NOD-Iinterest iNCOME . .. v . v vt et oo e niae e eee e 177,245 90,316 670 268,231
NoOB-interest eXpense. . . ..o oot v e et it ane e, 380,847 71,740 9,859 462,446
Income (loss) before income taxes. ... ... ......... 293,438 42,027 (25,603) 309,862
Income tax expense (benefit). .. ............ ... ... .. 93,051 14,710 (9,970) 97,791
Netincome (0SS} . . v oo i i $200,387 o $ 27,317  $(15633)  $212,071
Revenues from (expenses to} external customers ... ... .. $689.018  $113,694  $(15,744)  $786,968
Average assets (in millions). ............ ... ... . ... $ 13,004 § 261§ 12 $ 13,042
2006
Net interest income (expense) . . ..........ocvuvrenn.. $464,032 % 22519  $(17,388)  $469,163
Provision for possible loan losses .............. ... .. 14,147 3 — 14,150
NOR-INterest INCOME . . . . v ittt e et e e e e i 161,079 78,401 1,267 240,747
NOR-INIETESt EXPENSE. . v v v v v e et e e e nian e e e 340,224 66,056 4,073 410,353
Income (loss) before income taxes. . ................. 270,740 24,861 (20,194) 285,407
Income tax expense (benefit). .. ...... ... ... ... ..... 86,599 12,209 (6,992) 91,816
Netincome (loss) . ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ....... $184.141 § 22,652  $(13,202)  $193,591
Revenues from (expenses to) external customers ... ... .. $625,111  $100,920  $(16,121)  $709,910
Average assets (in millions). . ...... ... .. .. ... .. ... $ 11,522 8§ 440 15 $ 11,581
2005
Net interest income (EXpense) . . ... ...ovveeeunenn.. $392,189 % 13962  $(14,885)  $391,266
Provision for possible loan losses . .................. 10,177 73 — 10,250
Non-interest inCome . .. ... ...ttt 158,474 70,700 1,205 230,379
Non-interest eXpense. .. . ... ... iernnnnnennn.. 304,965 58,048 3,094 367,007
Income (loss) before income taxes. . ................. 235,521 25,641 (16,774) 244,388
Income tax expense (benefit). . ..................... 76,344 8,975 {6,354) 78,965
Netincome (1088) . ... . ... ... ... $159,177 § 16,666  $(10420) $165,423
Revenues from (expenses to} external customers ... ... .. $550,663 $ 84,662  $(13,680) $621,645
Average assets (in millions). . ... ... ... ... iiin. $ 10,080 $ 471" § 16 $ 10,143

$18.1 billion, at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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Note 20 — Condensed Financial Statements of Parent Company

Condensed financial statements pertaining only to Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. are presented below. Investments

in subsidiaries are stated using the equity method of accounting.

Condensed Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Income:
Dividend inCOME. . . o vt v e e e e e e e e $141,114  $101,173  $186,294
Interest and Other INCOIME . . . . . it ittt ettt e e e e 2,123 4,195 2,422
Total NGO . . ottt e e e e e 143,237 105,368 188,716
Expenses:
TREETESL EXPEIISE . . . o o ottt ittt e e 16,426 17,402 14,908
Salaries and employee benefits ... ..... ... . ... ... oL, 1,174 1,798 1,089
OEREr . oo 9,776 3,523 2,757
Total EXPenses. . . ..o e e 27,376 22,723 18,754
Income before income taxes and equity in undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries (distributions in excess of earnings of subsidiaries). ... 115,861 82,645 169,962
Income tax benefit . ... ... . . . . ... e 10,425 7,626 6,843
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries (distributions in excess of
earnings of subsidiaries) .......... ... ... L i e 85,785 103,320 (11,382)
Net income ... ... .. e e $212,071  $193,591  $165,423

Condensed Balance Sheets

December 31,

2007 2006
Assets:
a8t . e e e e e e 5 3,031 % 103,654
Resell agreements. . .. .. ... .. i e 55,730 500
Total cash and cash equivalents . . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... . ... ..., 60,761 104,154
Investment in subsidiaries . . . . v v vttt e e 1,655,476 1,524,393
Other a888LS . . . . ... o e 5,947 5,139
TOUAl BSSBES . « .« o v e et e e e e e e e $1,722,184  $1,633,686
Liabilities:
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures . .. .......... .......... $ 139,177 % 242,270
Subordinated notes payable. . . ... ... ... L 100,000 —
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities. . .. ..... ... ... .. ... ... 5,919 14,533
Total Habilities .. ..ot e e e e 245,096 256,803
Shareholders’ Equity .. ......... ... ... . ... . . 1,477,088 1,376,883
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity. ... ........ ... ... .. .. ....... $1,722,184  $1,633.686
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Operating Activities:
Netincome. . . ... .. .. i e e $212,071 3193591  $165423
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operaling activities:
tEquity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries) distributions in

excess of earnings of subsidiaries .. ....... ... .. ... ... ..., (85,785  (103,320) 11,382
Stock-based compensation. . .. ... ... ... o 247 253 —
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation . ................ — — 11,371
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation . ........... (7,969) (15,625) —
Net change in other assets and other liabilities , . ., ... ... ...... 1,651 23,697 (5,889)
Net cash from operating activities. . . . .................. 120,215 98,596 182,287
Investing Activities:
Net cash paid in acquisitions. . .. ....... .. .. ... . ... ... ... (1,903) (100,074) (13,297)
Redemption of capital — Cullen/Frost Capital Trust1 ............ 3,093 —_ —_
Capital contributions to subsidiaries ......................... (250) (164,760) {33,623)
Net cash from investing activities .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... 940 (264,834) (46,920)
Financing Activities:

Proceeds from notes payable. . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 98,799 —_ —
Redemption of junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures. ... (103,093) — —
Proceeds from stock option exercises. . . ...... ... ... ... 23,600 42,703 35,805
Proceeds from stock-based compensation activities of subsidiaries . . . 9,403 8,987 1,986
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation . . .. .......... 7,969 15,625 —
Purchase of treasury stock. . .. ... ... ... e e (110,406) (4,666} (14,972)
Cashdividends paid . .. ... .. ... ... i i (90,820) (73.400)  (61,499)
Net cash from financing activities . . . ... ................ (164,548) (10,751} (38,680)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents. ... ............. (43,393)  (176,989) 96,687
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ............. 104,154 281,143 184,456
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . .. ............. $ 60,761 % 104,154  $281,143

Note 21 — New Accounting Standards

Statements of Financial Accounting Standards

SFAS No. 123, “Share-Based Payment {Revised 2004).” SFAS 123R establishes standards for the accounting
for transactions in which an entity {i) exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services, or (ii) incurs liabilities
in exchange for goods or services that are based on the fair value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be
settled by the issuance of the equity instruments. SFAS 123R eliminates the ability to account for stock-based
compensation using APB 25 and requires that such transactions be recognized as compensation cost in the income
statement based on their fair values on the measurement date, which is generally the date of the grant. The
Corporation adopted the provisions of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. The impact of SFAS 123R on the
Corporation’s financial statements is discussed in Note 13 — Employee Benefit Plans.

SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations (Revised 2007} SFAS 141R replaces SFAS 141, “Business Com-
binations,” and applies to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other
businesses. SFAS {41R requires an acquirer, upon initially obtaining control of another entity, to recognize the
assets, liabilities and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value as of the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration is required to be recognized and measured at fair value on the date of acquisition rather than at a later
date when the amount of that consideration may be determinable beyond a reasonable doubt. This fair value
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approach replaces the cost-allocation process required under SFAS 141 whereby the cost of an acquisition was
allocated to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value. SFAS 141R
requires acquirers to expense acquisition-related costs as incurred rather than allocating such costs to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, as was previously the case under SFAS 141, Under SFAS 141R, the requirements
of SFAS 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” would have to be met in order to
accrue for a restructuring plan in purchase accounting. Pre-acquisition contingencies are to be recognized at fair
value, unless it is a non-contractual contingency that is not likely to materialize, in which case, nothing should be
recognized in purchase accounting and, instead, that contingency would be subject to the probable and estimable
recognition criteria of SFAS 3, “Accounting for Contingencies.” SFAS 141R is expected to have a significant impact
on the Corperation’s accounting for business combinations closing on or after January 1, 2009.

SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB
Statement No. 3.” SFAS 154 establishes, unless impracticable, retrospective application as the required method for
reporting a change in accounting principle in the absence of explicit transition requirements specific to a newly
adopted accounting principle. Previously, most changes in accounting principle were recognized by including the
cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle in net income of the period of the change. SFAS 154
carries forward the guidance in APB Opinion 20 “Accounting Changes,” requiring justification of a change in
accounting principle on the basis of preferability. SFAS 154 also carries forward without change the guidance
contained in APB Opinion 20, for reporting the correction of an error in previously issued financial statements and
for a change in an accounting estimate. The adoption of SFAS 154 on January 1, 2006 did not significantly impact
the Corporation’s financial statements.

SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Insiruments.” SFAS 155 amends SFAS 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” and SFAS 140, “Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” SFAS 155 (i) permits fair value remeasurement
for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation,
(ii) clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of SFAS 133,
(iii) establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are
freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring
bifurcation, (iv) clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded
derivatives, and (v) amends SFAS 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special purpose entity from
holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial
instrument. The adoption of SFAS 155 on January 1, 2007 did not significantly impact the Corporation’s financial
statements,

SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140.”
SFAS 156 amends SFAS 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities — a replacement of FASB Statement No. 125, by requiring, in certain situations, an entity to recognize
a servicing asset or servicing liability each time it undertakes an obligation to service a financial asset by entering
into a servicing contract. All separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities are required to be
initially measured at fair value. Subsequent measurement methods include the amortization method, whereby
servicing assets or servicing liabilities are amortized in proportion to and over the period of estimated net servicing
income or net servicing loss or the fair value method, whereby servicing assets or servicing liabilities are measured
at fair value at each reporting date and changes in fair value are reported in earnings in the period in which they
occur. If the amortization method is used, an entity must assess servicing assets or servicing liabilities for
impairment or increased obligation based on the fair value at each reporting date. Adoption of SFAS 156 on
January 1, 2007 did not have a significant impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.

SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for the Corporation on January 1, 2008 and is not expected to have a
significant impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.

SFAS No. 158, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Qther Postretirement Plans, an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88 106, and 132(R).” SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the
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ovarfunded or underfunded status of defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans as an asset or a liability in its
statement of financial position. The funded status is measured as the difference between plan assets at fair value and
the benefit obligation (the projected benefit obligation for pension plans or the accumulated benefit obligation for
other post-retirement benefit plans). An employer is also required to measure the funded status of a plan as of the
date of its year-end statement of financial position with changes in the funded status recognized through
comprehensive income. SFAS 158 also requires certain disclosures regarding the effects on net periodic benefit
cost for the next fiscal year that arise from delayed recognition of gains or losses, prior service costs or credits, and
the transition asset or obligation. The Corporation was required to recognize the funded status of its defined benefit
post-retirement benefit plans in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, The Corporation had
previously recognized the funded status of its Retirement and Restoration plans in prior financial statements. The
effect of recognizing the funded status of other defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans was not significant. See
Note 13 - Employee Benefit Plans for additional information related to these plans. The requirement to measure
plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the year-end statement of financial position is effective for the
Corporation’s financial statements beginning with the year ended after December 31, 2008. The Corporation
currently uses December 31 as the measurement date for its defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans.

SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.” SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure eligible items at fair
value at specified election dates. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been
elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. The fair value option (i} may be applied
instrument by instrument, with certain exceptions, (i) is irrevocable (unless a new election date occurs) and (iii) is
applied only to entire instruments and not to portions of instruments. SFAS 159 is effective for the Corporation on
January 1, 2008 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.

SFAS No. 160, “Noncontroiling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment of ARB
Statement No. 51.” SFAS 160 amends Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51, “Consolidated Financial
Statements.” to establish accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and for
the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 clarifies that a non-controlling interest in a subsidiary, which is
sometimes referred to as minority interest, is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported
as a component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, SFAS 160 requires
consolidated net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the
nen-controlling interest, Tt also requires disclosure. on the face of the consolidated income statement, of the
amounts of consolidated net income attributable (o the parent and to the non-controlling interest. SFAS 160 is
efiective for the Corporation on January 1, 2009 and is not expected to have a significant impact on the
Corporation’s financial statements.

Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Positions and Interpretations

FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 115-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Appli-
cation to Certain Investments.” FSP 115-1 provides guidance for determining when an investment is considered
impaired, whether impairment is other-than-temporary, and measurement of an impairment loss. An investment is
considered impaired if the fair value of the investment is less than its cost. If, after consideration of all available
evidence to evaluate the realizable value of its investment, impairment is determined to be other-than-temporary,
thzn an impairment loss should be recognized equal to the difference between the investment’s cost and its fair
value. FSP 115-1 nullifies certain provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 03-1, “The Meaning
of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments,” while retaining the disclosure
requirements of EITF 03-1 which were adopted in 2003. The adoption of FSP 115-1 on January 1, 2006 did not
significantly impact the Corporation’s financial statements.

FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB
Statement 109.” Interpretation 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Benefits from
tax positions should be recognized in the financial statements only when it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority that would have full knowledge of
all relevant information. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured at the
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largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Tax
positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be recognized in the
first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that
no longer meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be derecognized in the first subsequent
financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met. Interpretation 48 also provides guidance on the
accounting for and disclosure of unrecognized tax benefits, interest and penalties. The adoption of Interpretation 48
on January 1, 2007 did not significantly impact on the Corporation’s financial statemenis.

FS5SP No. 45-1 “Definition of Settlement in FASB Interpretation No. 48.” FSP 48-1 provides guidance on how to
determine whether a tax position is effectively settled for the purpose of recognizing previously unrecognized tax
benefits. FSP 48-1 was effective retroactively to January 1, 2007 and did not significantly impact the Corporation’s
financial statements.

Emerging Issues Task Force Issues

Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 06-4, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation and Postre-
tirement Benefit Aspects of Endorsement Split Dollar Life Insurance Arrangements.” EITF (06-4 requires the
recognition of a liability and related compensation expense for endorsement split-dollar life insurance policies that
provide a benefit to an employee that extends to post-retirement periods. Under EITF 06-4, life insurance policies
purchased for the purpose of providing such benefits do not effectively settle an entity’s obligation to the employee.
Accordingly, the entity must recognize a liability and related compensation expense during the employee’s active
service period based on the future cost of insurance to be incurred during the employee’s retirement. If the entity has
agreed to provide the employee with a death benefit, then the liability for the future death benefit should be
recognized by following the guidance in SFAS 106, “Employer’s Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
Than Pensions.” The Corporation expects to adopt EITF 06-4 effective as of January 1, 2008 as a change in
accounting principle through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. The amount of the adjustment is
not expected (o be significant,

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statements of Position

SOP No. 03-3, "Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer” SOP 03-3 addresses
accounting for differences between the contractual cash flows of certain loans and debt securities and the cash flows
expected to be collected when loans or debt securities are acquired in a transfer and those cash flow differences are
attributable, at least in part, to credit quality. As such, SOP 03-3 applies to loans and debt securities acquired
individually, in pools or as part of a business combination and does not apply to originated loans. The application of
SOP 03-3 limits the interest income, including accretion of purchase price discounts, that may be recognized for
certain loans and debt securities. Additionally, SOP 03-3 does not allow the excess of contractual cash flows over
cash flows expected to be collected to be recognized as an adjustment of yield, loss accrual or valuation allowance,
such as the allowance for possible loan losses. SOP 03-3 requires that increases in expected cash flows subsequent
to the initial investment be recognized prospectively through adjustment of the yield on the loan or debt security
over its remaining life. Decreases in expected cash flows should be recognized as impairment. In the case of loans
acquired in a business combination where the loans show signs of credit deterioration, SOP 03-3 represents a
significant change from prior purchase accounting practice whereby the acquiree’s allowance for loan losses was
typically added to the acquirer’s allowance for loan losses. The adoption of SOP 03-3 on January 1, 2005 did not
have a material impact on the Corporation’s financial statements,

SEC Staff Accounting Bulletins

Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When
Quantifving Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.” SAB 108 addresses how the effects of prior
year uncorrected errors must be considered in quantifying misstatements in the current year financial statements.
The effects of prior year uncorrected errors include the potential accumulation of improper amounts that may result
in a material misstatement on the balance sheet or the reversal of prior period errors in the current period that result
in a material misstatement of the current period income statement amounts. Adjustments to current or prior period
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financial statements would be required in the event that after application of various approaches for assessing
mezteriality of a misstatement in current period financial statements and consideration of all relevant quantitative
and qualitative factors, a misstatement is determined to be material. SAB 108 is applicable to all financial
statements issued by the Corporation after November 15, 2006.

SAB No. 109, “Written Loan Commitments Recorded at Fair Value Through Earnings.” SAB No. 109
supersedes SAB 105, “Application of Accounting Principles to Loan Commitments,” and indicates that the
expected net future cash flows related to the associated servicing of the loan should be included in the measurement
of all written loan commitments that are accounted for at fair value through earnings. The guidance in SAB 109 is
applied on a prospective basis to derivative loan commitments issued or modified in fiscal quarters beginning after
December 15, 2007. SAB 109 is not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.
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Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.

Consolidated Average Balance Sheets
{Dollars in thousands — tax-equivalent basis}

The following unaudited schedule is presented for additional information and analysis
Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
Interest Interest
Average Income/ Yield/  Average Income/  Yield/
Balance Expense Cost Balance Expense  Cost
Assets:
Interest-bearing deposits. . . . ... . o e $ 7454 % 396 531% % 4000 $ 251 6.28%
Federal funds sold and resell agreements. . ... .............. 579.964 29,895 515 718,950 36,550 5.08
Securities:
Tax-EXEMPL . . . e e e 412,083 26,520 641 275419 17,685 646
Taxable . . . .. ... e 2,876,235 148467 508 2,680,706 133,184 485
Total securities . .. ... .. ... L. 3,288,318 174987 524 2,956,125 150869 5.00
Loans, net of unearned discount, . . . ... ..... .. ..., . .c..... 7,464,140 579,027  1.76 6,523,906 506,264 7.76
Total earning assets and average rate earned . , , . ... ... ... 11,339,876 784,305  6.39 10,202,981 693934 676
Cashanddue frombanks. . ......... ... ... ........... 626,253 615,609
Allowance for possible loan losses . . .. ... ... ............. (95,226) (85.038)
Premises and equipment, net. . . . . ....... ... ... ... 219,873 200,008
Accrued interest receivable and other assets . . ... ... ... ... ... 950,906 _ 647.693
Total @sSels . . . . . . ... e $13,041,682 $11,581,253
Liabilities:
Non-interest-bearing demand deposits:
Commercial and individual . . ... ... ... . ... .. .. .... $ 3224741 $ 3,005,811
Correspondent banks . . .. ... ... ... .. . ... ... ... 248,591 277,332
Publicfunds. .. ... ... ... ... .. . ... 50,800 51,137
Total non-interest-bearing demand deposits. . ... . ..., ... 3,524,132 3,334,280
Interest-bearing deposits:
Private accounts:
Savings and interest checking ... ....... ... ... ... .. 1,401,437 6,555 047 1,283,830 4,579 036
Money market deposit accounts . . . ... ... ... .. ... ... 3494704 107486 3.08 3,022,866 92,075 3.05
TIME BCCOUNES |, o v oo vt h e e e e s c et e 1,382,707 60,264 436 1,122,979 42,806 3.81
Publicfunds. ... ... .. .. ... . . . . e 409,661 15,932 3.89 420,441 15,630 3.72
Total interest-bearing deposits . ... ................. 6,688,509 190,237 234 5850,116 155,090 2.65
Total deposits. . . ... ... ... 10,212,641 9,184,396
Federal funds purchased and repurchase agreements .. ......... 867,152 31,951 3.68 764,173 31,167  4.08
Junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures . . .. ... ...... 153,582 11,283  7.35 230,178 17,402  7.56
Subordinated notes payable and othernotes . . .. . ... ......... 237,671 15,591 6.56 150,000 3991  6.66
Federal Home Loan Bank advances . . .. .................. 22,447 1,048 467 25,574 1,146 448
Total interest-bearing liabilities and average rate paid ... ... 7969361 250,110 3.14 7,020,041 214,796 3.06
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities . . .............. 153,167 153,333
Total liabilities. . . . .. ........... . ... ............ 11,646,660 10,507,654
Shareholders’ equity . .. ......... ... . ... ... . ... ... 1,395,022 1,073,599
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity . . . ... ... ...... $13,041,682 $11,581,253
Net interest iNCOME. . . . ... vttt i e e e $534,195 $479,138
Netinterest spread . . .. ... ... .. .. ... . 3.75% 3.710%
Net interest income to fotal average earning assets . . .. ..., ..... 4.69% 4.67%

For these computations: (i} average balances are presented on a daily average basis, (ii) information is shown on a taxable-equivalent basis
assuming a 35% tax rate, (iii) average loans include loans on non-accrual status, and (iv) average securities include unrealized gains and losses on

securities available for sale, while yields are based on average amortized cost.
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Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002
Interest Interest Interest Interest
Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yietd/ Average Income/ Yietd/
Balance Expense Cost Balance Expense Cost  Balance Expense Cost Balance Expense Cost
$ 5644 § 150 266% 3 6175 $ 63 1.02% $ 8869 $ 104 1.17% $ 14220 § 199 140%
521,674 18.147  3.48 564,286 8834 157 825452 9,601 1.16 244,790 3,991 1.63
260,217 16,521 648 219,674 14,138 6.68 200,844 13,184 636 181,928 12,697 698
2586004 121,377 468 2,739,001 125999 4.63 2478427 117342 473 1,983,502 112,079 5.65
2847111 137,898 4.84 2958675 140,137 477 2679271 130526 4.87 2165430 124976 5.76
5504477 361304 646  4823,198 250,174 519 4497483 233,902 520 4536999 265931 586
8,968,906 517499 577 3,352,334 1399208 479 8011081 374133 467 6961439 394,897 567
604,625 746.257 1,046,690 893,995
(77.551) (81,232) (83,616) (79,394)
175,829 168,714 168,705 161,941
_AT1436 432776 __ 440,969 _ 415,164
$10,143,245 $9.618.849 $9,583,829 $8.353,145
$ 2,639.071 §2,395,663 $2,133,906 $1,942.228
323712 469,635 848,737 553,318
_ 45967 422 __ 35081 44886
3 008,750 2,914,520 3,037,724 2,540,432
1,206,055 3000 025 1,171,883 1,09¢ 0.09 1,052,637 916 0.09 1,003,713 1,800 0.18
2,646,975 48,158 1.82 2444734 24508 100  2,153.489 20,601 096 1,857,130 23,860 1.28
894,459 20499 2.29 865,176 10,173 1.18 1,001,581 12,793 1.28 1,155,746 24767 214
376,547 7,268 193 370373 3379 091 331915 3.006 093 337,289 4956 147
_ 5.124.036 78,934 154 4,852,166 39,150 0.81 4,539,622 37406 082 4,353,878 55,383 1.27
£,132,786 7,766,686 7,571,346 6,894,310
605,965 16,632 274 564,489 5775 102 854,517 4,059 048 400,511 5359 134
226.805 14908  6.57 212271 12,144 532 103,093 8735 847 103,093 8735 847
150,000 7.626 5.08 150,000 4974 332 150,399 4645 309 152,062 5902 3.88
10,807 461 427 1,115 63 563 10,936 343 314 19,981 746 373
5017613 118561 194 5,780,041 62,106 107 5,658,567 55188 098  5.029.525 76,125 151
136,242 135,215 153,544 131.915
9,262,605 8.829,776 8,849,835 7,701,872
_ 8B0.640 789,073 733,994 651,273
$10,143,245 $9.618,849 $9.583,829 $8,353,145
$398,938 $337,102 $318,945 $318,772
3.83% 3.72% 3.69% 4.16%
4.45% 4.05% 3.98% 4.58%
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ITEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, an evaluation was carried out by the
Corporation’s management, with the patticipation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-13(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by
this report. No changes were made to the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) during the last fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. (the “Corporation”) is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Corporation’s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of the Corporation’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

As of December 31, 2007, management assessed the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting based on the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting established in “Internal
Control — Integrated Framework,” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway
Commission. Based on the assessment, management determined that the Corporation maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on those criteria.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial
statements of the Corporation included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on the
effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. The report,
which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, is included in this Item under the heading “Attestation Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
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Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Report of Ernst & Young LLP
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.

We have audited Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.’s (the “Corporation”) internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Cullen/Frost Bankers,
Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balances sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the related consolidated
statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and the cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2007 of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. and our report daled February 1, 2008 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon,

St + LLP

San Antonio, Texas
February 1, 2008
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 1, 2008, Cullen/Frost’s board of directors approved amendments to Cullen/Frost’s bylaws (i) to
provide for the phased declassification of the board of directors of Cullen/Frost, commencing with the 2009 annual
meeting of shareholders, and (ii) to expressly provide for the issuance of uncertificated shares, in response to a New
York Stock Exchange requirement that all listed securities be eligible for a direct registration system.
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PART I

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain information regarding executive officers is included under the section captioned “Executive Officers
of the Registrant” in Part I, Item 1, elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other information required by
this ltem is incorporated herein by reference to the Corporation’s Proxy Statement (Schedule 14A) for its 2008
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the Corporation’s fiscal year-end.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Corporation’s Proxy Statement
(Schedule 14A) for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
Corporation’s fiscal year-end.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Certain information regarding securities authorized for issuance under the Corporation’s equity compensation
plans is included under the section captioned “Stock-Based Compensation Plans” in Part IL, Item 5, elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the
Corporation’s Proxy Statement (Schedule 14A) for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the
SEC within 120 days of the Corporation’s fiscal year-end.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Corporation’s Proxy Statement
(Schedule 14A) for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
Corporation’s fiscal year-end.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Corporation’s Proxy Statement
(Schedule 14A) for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
Corporation’s fiscal year-end.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1.

Consolidated Financial Statements. Reference is made to Part I1, Item 8, of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules, These schedules are omitted as the required infor-
mation is inapplicable or the information is presented in the consolidated financial statements or
related notes.

Exhibits,  The exhibits to this Annuval Report on Form 10-K listed below have been included only with
the copy of this report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Copies of individual exhibits
will be furnished to shareholders upon written request to Cullen/Frost and payment of a reasonable fee.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed

Number Exhibit Description Herewith  Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

31 Restated Articles of Incorporation of 10-Q 0-7275 31 7/26/06
Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.

32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of
Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.

4.1 Shareholder Protection Rights Agreement 8-A 0-7275 1 2/1/99
dated as of January 26, 1999 between
Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. and The Frost
National Bank, as Rights Agent

4.2% Instruments Defining the Rights of Holders
of Long-Term Debt

10.1+  Restoration of Retirement Income Plan for 10-K 0-7275 10.1 3/31/99
Participants in the Retirement Plan for
Employees of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc, and
its Affiliates (as amended and restated)

10.2+  The 401(k) Stock Purchase Plan for S-8  333-108321 4.4 8/28/03
Employees of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. and
its Affiliates

103+ 1991 Thrift Incentive Stock Purchase Plan 5-8 33-39478 4.4 3/18/91
for Employees of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.
and its Affiliates

10.4+  Culien/Frost Bankers, Inc. Resiricted Stock S-8 33-53492 44 10120492
Plan

10.5+  Cullen/Frost Bankers, In¢c. Supplemental 10-K 0-7275 10.13 3130095
Executive Retirement Plan

10.6+  Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. 1997 Director S-8  333-102133 4.4 12/23/02
Stock Plan

10.7+  Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc, 1992 Stock Plan, S-8  333-68928 45—4.7  9/4/01
as amended

10.8+  Change-In-Control Agreements with Five
Executive Officers

10.9+  Change-In-Control Agreements with Five
Executive Officers

10.10+ Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. 2001 Stock Plan S5-8  333-68928 44 9/4/01

10.11+ Retirement Agreement with a former 10-K 0-7275 10.10 3/28/03

Executive Officer
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Herewith Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
10.12+ Deferred Compensation Plan for Covered 10-K 0-7275 10.11 3/28/03
Employees
10.13+ Cullen/Frost Restoration Profit Sharing Plan 10-K 0-7275 10.12 2/4/05
10.14+ 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan S-8  333-127341 4.4 8/9/05
10.15+ 2007 Outside Director Incentive Plan S-8  333-143397 44 5031007
21.1 Subsidiaries of Cullen/Frost Bankers, [nc. X
231 Consent of Independent Registered Public X
Accounting Firm
241 Power of Attorney X
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief X
Executive Officer
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief X
Financial Officer
32.1++ Section 1350 Certification of the Chief X
Executive Officer
32.2++ Section 1350 Certification of the Chief X

%

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Financial Officer

The Corporation agrees to furnish to the SEC, upon request, copies of any such instruments.

++ This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed”* for purposes of Section 18 of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, or
otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into
any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(b) Exhibits — See exhibit index included in Item 15(a)3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(¢) Financial Statement Schedules — See Item 15(a)2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to bhe signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized,

Date: February 1, 2008 CULLEN/FROST BANKERS, INC,

(Registrant)

By: /s/  PHILLIP D. GREEN
Phillip D. Green
Group Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/  T.C. FROST*

T.C. Frost

fs/ RICHARD W. EVANS, JR.*

Richard W. Evans, Jr.

/s PHILLIP D. GREEN

Phillip D. Green

/s/ R, DENNY ALEXANDER*

R. Denny Alexander

/s/ CARLOS ALVAREZ*

Carlos Alvarez

/s{ ROYCE S. CALDWELL*

Royce S. Caldwell

fs/ CRAWFORD H. EDWARDS*

Crawford H. Edwards

/sf  RUBEN M. ESCOBEDO*

Reben M. Escobedo

Title

Senior Chairman of the Board
and Director

Chairman of the Board and
Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

Group Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008




SIGNATURES - (Continued)

Signature:

fs/  PATRICK B. FROST*

Patrick B. Frost

/s/ KAREN E. JENNINGS*

Karen E. Jennings

fs/ RICHARD M. KLEBERG, II*

Richard M. Kleberg, 111

fs/ ROBERT §. MCCLANE*

Robert S, McClane

/s/ 1DA CLEMENT STEEN*

Ida Clement Steen

/s/  HORACE WILKINS, JR.*

Horace Wilkins, Jr.

*By: /s/ PHILLIP D. GREEN

Phillip D. Green
As attorney-in-fact for the persons indicated

Title

Director and President of

The Frost National Bank

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Group Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)
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Date

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008

February 1, 2008



Cullen/Frost Bankers,Inc.

A Texas Financial Services Family

100 West Houston Street
San Antonio, Texas 78205

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
To Be Held on April 24, 2008

To the Shareholders of
CULLEN/FROST BANKERS, INC.:

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. (“Cullen/Frost™) will be held in the Commanders
Room at The Frost National Bank (“Frost Bank™), 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas on Thursday, April 24,
2008, at 11:00 a.m., San Antonio time, for the following purposes:

1. To elect four nominees to serve as Class 11T directors for a three-year term that will expire at the 2011 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders; and

3

To ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP to act as independent dudllOl‘S of Cullen/Frost for the fiscal year
that began January [, 2008; and :

3. To transact any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

You must be a shareholder of récord at the close of business on March 7, 2008 to vote at the Annual Meeting. Inorder
to hold the meeting, holders of a majority of the outstanding shares must be present either in person or by Proxy.

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE 2008
ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS: ’

Cullen/Frost is making available at www.proxydocs.com/cfr this Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders and its 2007 Annual Report to Shareholders.

Your vote is very important. 'Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, we urge you to
vote and submit your proxy by the Internet, telephone or mail in order to ensure the presence of a quorum. If you attend the
meelting, you will have the right to revoke the proxy and vote your shares in person.

Shareholders of record may vote:

1. By Internet: go to www.proxydocs.com/cfr; or

2. By phone: toll-free: call 1-866-390-5375; or
3. By mail: complete and return the enclosed proxy card in the postage prepaid envelope provided.

If your shares are held in the name of a broker, bank or other shareholder of record, please follow the voting
instructions that you receive from the shareholder of record entitled to vote your shares.

All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

SNtk

STAN McCORMICK :
Executive Vice President
Corporate Counsel and Secretary

Dated: March 25, 2008
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Cullen/Frost Bankers,Inc.

A Texas Financial Services Family

W

100 West Houston Street
San Antonio, Texas 78205

PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
To Be Held on April 24, 2008

INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. (“Cullen/Frost™) is soliciting proxies to be used at the
Annual Meeting of Sharcholders and any adjournment or postponement thereof. The meeting will be held in the
Commanders Room at The Frost National Bank (“Frost Bank™), 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio, Teg(as
78205, on Thursday, April 24, 2008 at 11:00 a.m., San Antonio time. This Proxy Statement and the accompanying
proxy card will be mailed to shareholders beginning on or about March 25, 2008. ‘

Internet Availability Of Proxy Materials And Voting

Under new rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC"), we are pleased to provide
access 10 our proxy materials on the Internet. We have elected to provide access to our proxy materials both by
sending you this full set of proxy materials, including a proxy card, and by notifying you of the availability of our
proxy materials on the Internet. This Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and our 2007
Annual Report to Shareholders are available at our proxy materials website at www.proxydocs.com/cfr. This
website does not utilize any functions that identify you as a visitor to the website, and thus protects your privacy.

At the website, www.proxydocs.com/cfr, you may also elect how you would like to receive proxy materials in
the future. You can choose from three options:

|
(1) to receive a notice by mail indicating that the proxy materials are available on the Internet,

(2) to continue to receive a full set of paper proxy materials by mail, or
(3) to receive a notice by e-mail indicating that the proxy materials are available on the Internet.

If you make no election in the future, we will send you by mail either a notice or a full set of proxy materials. If
you choose not to receive a full set of paper proxy materials in the future, you will still be able to request one later if
you change your mind.

By choosing to receive your future proxy materials by e-mail and the Internét, you will reduce the cost of
printing and mailing proxy materials, as well as help in the conservation of our natural resources. If you choose to
receive future proxy materials by e-mail, you will receive an e-mail next year with instructions containing a link to
those materials and a link to the proxy voting site. Your election to receive proxy materials by e-mail will remain in
effect until you terminate it.




In addition, we are offering the option this year to vote and submit your proxy by the Internet. If you have
Internet access, we encourage you to record your vote by the Internet. We believe it will be convenient for you, and it
saves postage and processing costs. In addition, when you vote by the Internet, your vote is recorded immediately,
and there is no risk that postal delays will cause your vote to arrive late and therefore not be counted. If you do not
vote by the Internet, please vote by telephone or by completing and returning the enclosed proxy card in the postage
prepaid envelope provided. Submilting your proxy by either Internet, telephone or proxy card will not affect your
right to vote in person if you decide to attend the Annual Meeling.

Record Date and Voting Rights

The close of business on March 7, 2008 has been fixed as the record date for the determination of sharehoiders
entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. The only class of securities of Cullen/Frost outstanding and entitled to vote at
the Annual Meeting is Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share. On March 7, 2008, there were outstanding
58,696,866 shares of Common Stock, with each share entitled to one vote.

Proxies

All shares of Cullen/Frost Common Stock represented by properly executed proxies, if timely returned and not
subsequently revoked, will be voted at the Annual Meeting in the manner directed in the proxy. If a properly
executed proxy does not provide directions, it will be voted for all proposals listed on the proxy and in the discretion
of the persons named as proxies with respect to any other business that may properly come before the meeting.

A shareholder may revoke a proxy at any time before it is voted by delivering a written revocation notice to the

- Corporate Secretary of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc., 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205. A

shareholder who attends the Annual Meeting may, if desired, vote by ballot at the meeting, and such vote will revoke
any proxy previously given.

Quorum and Voting Requirements

A quorum of shareholders is required to hold a valid meeting. 1f the holders of at least a majority of the issued
and outstanding shares of Cullen/Frost Common Stock are present at the Annual Meeting in person or represented
by proxy, a quorum will exist. Shares for which votes are withheld, as well as abstentions and broker non-votes, are
counted as “present” for establishing a quorum.

Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting. Accordingly, the nominees
receiving the highest number of votes will be elected. In the election of Directors, votes may be cast “for” or
“withhold authority” with respect to any or all nominees. Votes that are “withheld” will be excluded entirely from
the vote and will have no effect on the outcome of the vote.

With respect to the other matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting, including the ratification of Ernst &
Young LLP to act as our independent auditors for the 2008 fiscal year, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a
majority of the shares of Cullen/Frost’s Common Stock having voting power and present in person or represented by
proxy at the annual meeting will be the act of the sharcholders, In voting for these other matters, shares may be voted
“for” or “against” or “abstain”. An abstention will have the effect of a vote against these other matters,

Under the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., member brokers generally may not vote
shares held by them in street name for customers, a so-called “broker non-vote,” unless they are permitted to do so
under the rules of any national securities exchange of which they are a member. Under the rules of the New York
Stock Exchange, Inc. ("NYSE™), a member broker that holds shares in street name for customers has anthority to
vote on “routine” iterns if it has transmitted proxy-soliciting materials to the beneficial owner but has not received
instructions from that owner. The election of Directors and the proposal to ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP
to act as Cullen/Frost’s independent auditors are both “routine” items and the NYSE rules permit member brokers
that do not receive instructions to vote on these items.




Expenses of Solicitation

Cullen/Frost will pay the expenses of the solicitation of proxies for the Annual Meeting. In addition to the
solicitation of proxies by mail, Directors, officers, and employees of Cullen/Frost may solicit proxies by telephone,
facsimile, in person or by other means of communication. Cullen/Frost also has retained Georgeson Inc.
(“Georgeson™) to assist with the solicitation of proxies. Directors, officers, and employees of Cullen/Frost will
receive no additional compensation for the solicitation of proxies, and Georgeson will receive 2 fee not to exceed
$7,000.00, plus reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses. Cullen/Frost has requested that brokers, nominees,
fiduciaries, and other custodians forward proxy-soliciting material to the beneficial owners of Cullen/Frost
Common Stock. Cullen/Frost will reimburse these persons for out-of-pocket expenses they incur in connection
with its request.




ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(Item 1 On Proxy Card)

Cullen/Frost’s Bylaws historically provided for a classified Board of Directors. Directors are assigned to one of
three classes, and all classes are as equal in number as possible. The term of office of Class | will expire at the 2009
Annual Meeting. The term of office of Class IT will expire at the 2010 Annual Meeting, and the term of office of
Class III will expire at the 2011 Annual Meeting. On February 1, 2008, the Board of Directors approved an
amendment to Cullen/Frost’s Bylaws to provide for the declassification of the Board of Directors, commencing with
the 2009 Annual Meeting. The declassification will be “phased” so that each existing class of Directors will stand
for election for an annual term upon the expiration of its current term, with the entire Board of Directors to be
elected annually at the 2011 Annual Meeting and thereafter.

The following four Directors currently assigned to Class 111 have been nominated to serve for a new three-year
term: Mr. R. Denny Alexander, Mr. Carlos Alvarez, Mr. Royce S. Caldwell and Ms. Ida Clement Steen. If any
nominee is unable to serve, the individuals named as proxies on the enclosed proxy card will vote the shares to elect
the remaining nominees and any substitute nominee or nominees designated by the Board.

The tables below provide information on each nominee, as well as each Director whose term continues after
the meeting.

Nominees for Three-Year Term Expiring in 2011 (Class III):

Shares Owned*"
Amount and
Nature of
Principal Occupation During Director  Beneficial
Name Age Past Five Years Since Ownership Percent
R. Denny Alexander .. ........ 62 Investments; former Chairman, 1998 124,550 0.21%
Overton Bank & Trust and
former Director, Overton
Bancshares, Inc. (merged with
Cullen/Frost)
Carlos Alvarez . ............. 57 Chairman, President and Chief 2001 112,000 0.19%
. Executive Officer of The
Gambrinus Company
Royce S. Caldwell ........... 69 Former Vice Chairman, 1994 14,800 0.03%
AT&T Inc.
Ida Clement Steen. ... ........ 55 Investments 1996 20,300 0.03%




Directors Continuing in Office Term Expiring in 2010 (Class II):

Nams

Richard W, Evans, Jr. . ........

Karen E. Jennings. . ....... ...

Richard M. Kleberg, Il . .. .. ..
Horace Wilkins, Jr. ... ... ...

Age

57

Directors Continuing in Office Term Expiring in 2009 (Class I):

Name Age
Crawford H. Edwards. ... ... 49
Rubten M. Escobedo . . ... ... 70
Patrick B. Frost . .......... 48
Robert §. McClane. . ....... 68
Directors Retiring in 2008:

TC.Frost. ............... 80

Shares Owned'"
Amount and
Nature of
Principal Occupation During Director  Beneficial
Past Five Years Since Ownership Percent

Chairman of the Board, Chief 1993 618,395 1.05%

Executive Officer, and President

of Cullen/Frost; Chairman of the

Board and Chief Executive

Officer of Frost Bank, a

Cullen/Frost subsidiary

Former Senior Executive Vice 2001 8,100 0.01%

President Advertising and

Corporate Communications,

AT&T Inc.

Investments 1992 40,4259 0.07%

Former President, Special 1997 4,400 0.01%

Markets, AT&T Inc.; former

Regional President, AT&T Inc.

Shares Owned'"
' Amount and Nature
Principal Occupation During Director of Beneficial
Past Five Years Since Ownership Percent

President, Cassco Land 2005 339,0357 0.57%
Company
Certified Public Accountant 1996 35,000 0.06%
President, Frost Bank, a 1997 925,729 1.57%
Cullen/Frost subsidiary
President, McClane Partners, 1985 19.272 0.03%
LLC; former Director of .
Prodigy Communications
Corp.; former President of
Cullen/Frost
Senior Chairman of the Board 1966 443,19011% 0.75%

of Cullen/Frost

(1) Beneficial ownership is stated as of December 31, 2007 except for Mr. Richard W. Evans, Jr., Mr. Patrick B.

Frost and Mr. T.C. Frost which is stated as of February 29, 2008. The owners have sole voting and sole
investment power for the shares of Cullen/Frost Common Stock reported unless otherwise indicated.
Beneficial ownership includes the following shares that the individual had a right to acquire pursuant to
stock options exercisable within sixty (60) days from December 31, 2007 (or February 29, 2008 in the case of
Mr. Richard W. Evans, Jr., Mr. Patrick B. Frost and Mr. T.C. Frost) : Mr. Richard W. Evans, Jr. 106,650;
Mr. Patrick B. Frost 22,875; Mr. Richard M, Kleberg, 111 26,000; Mr. Ruben M. Escobedo 10,000; Ms. Ida
Clement Steen 18,000; Mr. Carlos Alvarez 14,000; Mr. Royce S. Caldwel!l 14,000; Mr. R. Denny Alexander
12,000 Ms. Karen E. Jennings and Mr. Robert S. McClane 8,000; Mr. Crawford H. Edwards and Mr. Horace
Wilkins, Jr. 4,000; and Mr. T.C. Frost 1,000. The number of shares of Cullen/Frost Common Stock beneficially
owned by all Directors, nominees and executive officers as a group is disclosed on page 32.




(2) Includes 21,000 shares held by a charitable foundation for which Mr. R. Denny Alexander disclaims beneficial
ownership.

(3) Includes 1,100 shares in four trusts for which Ms. Ida Clement Steen shares voting and investment power with -
her husband.

(4) Includes the following shares allocated under the 401(k) Stock Purchase Plan for Employees of Cullen/Frost
Bankers, Inc. for which each beneficial owner has both sole voting and sole investment power: Mr. T.C. Frost
52,463; Mr. Richard W. Evans, Jr. 43,898, and Mr. Patrick B. Frost 20,569.

{5) Includes 120,003 shares held by a family limited partnership of which the general partner is a limited liability
. company of which Mr. Richard W. Evans, I is the sole manager.

{(6) Includes 8,400 shares held by a family partnership for which Mr. Richard M. Kleberg, 111 has sole voting and
sole investment powetr.

(M) Includes (a) 103,476 shares held by four trusts of which Mr. Crawford H. Edwards is the trustee, and
(b) 179,675 shares held in the Estate of Caswell O. Edwards, II, Deceased for which voting and investment
power rests with the majority of four co-executors of the Estate.

(8) Includes (a) 425 shares held by Mr. Ruben M. Escobedo’s wife for which Mr. Ruben M. Escobedo disclaims
beneficial ownership, and (b) 2,150 shares for which Mr. Ruben M. Escobedo shares voting and investment
power with his wife.

(9} Includes {a) 707,493 shares held by a limited partnership of which the general partner is a limited liability
company of which Mr. Patrick B. Frost is the sole managing member, {b) 3,855 shares held by Mr. Patrick B,
Frost’s children for which Mr. Patrick B, Frost is the custodian, and {c) 630 shares held by Mr. Patrick B.
Frost’s wife for which Mr. Patrick B. Frost disclaims beneficial ownership. With respect to the 707,493 shares
held by a limited partnership, Mr. Patrick B. Frost has sole voting rights over all shares, sole investment power
over 70,749 shares and shared investment power over 636,744 shares. Mr, T.C. Frost may also have shared
investment power over 636,744 of these shares. See footnote (10) below.

(10) Includes {(a) 336,992 shares held by various trusts of which Mr. T.C. Frost is the trustee, and (b) 33,684 shares
held by the Pat and Tom Frost Foundation Trust for which Mr. T.C. Frost disclaims beneficial ownership.
Mr. T.C. Frost may &lso be deemed to have shared investment power over 636,744 shares held by a limited
partnership; Mr. T.C. Frost owns directly, and is the trustee of a trust that owns, limited partnership interests in
the limited partnership. Mr. Patrick B, Frost shares investment power over these shares with Mr, T.C. Frost.
See footnote (9) above,




GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS !

Meetings and Attendance

The Board of Directors had six meetings in 2007, Each of Cullen/Frost’s current Directors attended at least
88 percent of the meetings of the Board and the Committees of the Board on which he or she served during 2007.

The Board of Directors has a policy which encourages all Directors to attend the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders and in 2007 twelve out of thirteen Directors attended the Annual Meeting.

Committees of the Board

The Board of Directors has five Committees, each of which is described in the chart below.

Committee

Audit

Compensation and
Benefits

Corporate Governance and

Nominating

Executive

Strategic Planning

Members

Ruben M. Escobedo
(Chair)
Royce S. Caldwell

Richard M. Kleberg, II(

Royce S. Caldwell
{Chair)

Ruben M. Escobedo
Karen E. Jennings

Royce 8. Caldwell
(Chair)

Ruben M. Escobedo
Karen E. Jennings

Richard W, Evans, Jr.
(Chair)

Patrick B. Frost

T.C. Frost

Richard W. Evans, Jr.
(Chair)

R. Denny Alexander
Carlos Alvarez
Royce S. Caldwell
T.C. Frost

Meetings

Primary Responsibilities in 2007

Assists Board oversight of the integrity of 6
Cullen/Frost’s financial siatements, Cullen/Frost’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,

the independent auditors” qualilications and

independence, and the performance of the

independent auditors and Cullen/Frost’s internal

audit function.

Appeints, compensates, retains and oversees the
independent auditors, and pre-approves all audit
and non-audit services.

Oversees the development and implementation of 2
Culten/Frost's compensation and benefits programs.

Reviews and approves the corporate goals and
objectives relevant to the compensation of the
CEOQ, evaluates the CEQ’s performance based on
those goals and objectives, and scts the CEO’s
compensation based on the evaluation.

Oversees the administration of Cullen/Frost’s
compensation and benefits plans.

Maintains and reviews Cullen/Frost's corporate 2
governance principles.

Oversees and establishes procedures for the

evaluation of the Board.

Identifies and recommends candidates for election

to the Board.

Acts for the Board of Direciors between meetings, 6
except as limited by resoluticns of the Board,
Cullen/Frost’s Articles of Incorporation or By-

Laws, and applicable law.

Analyzes the strategic direction for Cullen/Frost, 4
including reviewing short-term and long-term

goals.

Monitors Culler/Frost’s corporate mission

statement and capital planning.

The Board has adopted written charters for the Audit Commitiee, the Compensation and Benefits Committee
and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. All of these charters are available at




www.frostbank.com or in print, to any shareholder making a request by contacting the Corporate Secretary,
Stan McCormick, at 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 782035.

As described in more detail below under “Certain Corporate Governance Matters — Director Independence,”
the Board has determined that each member of the Audit Committee, the Compensation and Benefits Commitiee
and the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is independent within the meaning of the rules of the
NYSE. The Board has also determined that each member of the Audit Committee is independent within the
meaning of the rules of the SEC. In addition, the Board has determined that each member of the Audit Commiitee is
“financially literate”” and that at least one member of the Audit Committee has “‘accounting or related financial
management expertise,” in each case within the meaning of the NYSE’s rules. The Board has also determined that
Mr. Ruben M. Escobedo is an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of the SEC’s rules.

Director Nomination Process

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for identifying individuals qualified to
become members of the Board of Directors and for recommending to the Board the nominees to stand for election as
Directors.

In identifying Director candidates, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee may seek input
from Cuilen/Frost’s management and from current members of the Board. In addition, it may use the services of an
outside consultant, although it has not done so in the past. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
will consider candidates recommended by shareholders. Shareholders who wish to recommend candidates may do
so by writing to the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc., ¢fo Corporaie
Secretary, 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205, Recommendations may be submitted at any time.
The written recommendation must include the name of the candidate, the number of shares of Cullen/Frost
Common Stock owned by the candidate and the information regarding the candidate that would be included in a
proxy statement for the election of Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a}, (e) and (f) of Item 401 of Regulation §-K
adopted by the SEC. '

In evaluating Director candidates, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee initially considers
the Board’s need for additional or replacement Directors. It also considers the criteria approved by the Board and set
forth in Cullen/Frost’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, which include, among other things, the candidate’s
personal qualities (in light of Cullen/Frost’s core values and mission statement), accomplishments and reputation in
the business community, the fit of the candidate’s skills and personality with those of other Directors and candidates
and the ability of the candidate to commit adequate time to Board and committee matters. The objective is to build a
Board that is effective, collegial and responsive to the needs of Cullen/Frost. In addition, considerable emphasis is
given to Cullen/Frost’s mission statement and core values, statutory and regulatory requirements, the Board’s goal
of having a substantial majority of independent directors, and the Board’s retirement policy.

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee evaluates all Director candidates in the same manner,
including candidates recommended by shareholders. In considering whether candidates satisfy the criteria
described above, the committee will initially utilize the information it receives with the recommendation or.
otherwise possesses. If it determines, in consultation with other Board members, including the Chairman, that more
information is needed, it may, among other things, conduct interviews,




Director Compensation .

2007 Director Compensation Table

Change in Pension

Valve and
Nonqualified
Fees Earned Non-Equity Deferred
or Paid in Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other
Cash Award  Awards"®  Compensation Earnings Compensation,” Total
Name™ $ ) 4] )] 1$) L)) ]
R. Denny Alexander . ....... 39,000 —_ 24,680 — — —_ 63,680
Carlos Alvarez . .. ......... 36,000 — 24,680 — — — 60,680
Royce S. Caldwell. . .. ...... 60,000 — 24,680 — — — 84,680
Crawford H. Edwards . ...... 50,000 — 24,680 — —_ — 74,680
Ruben M. Escobedo. . .. ... .. 54,000 — 24,680 — — — 78,680
TC Frost . ... ... .-t — — — — — — —_
Karen E. Jennings . . ... .. ... 42,000 — 24,680 — — — 66,680
Richard M. Kleberg, Il ... ... 48,000 — 24,680 — —_ — 72,680
Robert 8. McClane*™® . .. ... .. 38,000 — 24,680 — — 199,742 262,422
Ida Clement Steen. . . . ... ... 47,000 —_ 24,680 — — — 71,680

Horace Wilkins, Jr. .. ....... 61,000 — 24,680 — — -— £5,680

(1) The following information indicates the aggregate number of option awards outstanding for the following
Directors as of December 31, 2007: R. Denny Alexander — 12,000; Carlos Alvarez — 18,000; Royce S.
Caldwel] — 14,000; Crawford H. Edwards — 4,000; Ruben M. Escobedo — 10,000; Karen E. Jennings —
8.000: Richard M. Kleberg, HI — 26,000; Robert 8. McClane — 8,000; Ida Clement Steen — 18,000; Horace
Wilkins, Jr. — 4,000. T.C. Frost had 23,000 option awards outstanding as of December 31, 2007 that have been
granted to him in his capacity as an employee.

(2) Amounts shown represent the amount of stock-based compensation expense related to stock options recognized
during 2007 in accordance with SFAS 123R. As the options vest immediately, the amount of the expénse for
2007 is based upon the grant date fair value of stock options granted during 2007. The grant date fair value of
each option was $12.34. For the assumptions made in the valuation of these options, see Note 13, Employee
Benefit Plans, in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Cullen/Frost’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

(3) Amounts shown represent annuity payments associated with retirement plan benefits and payments made under
the SERP and the accompanying Restoration Plan. For a further description of these plans, see the Compen-
sation Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 14.

(4) Mr. Evans, Cullen/Frost’s Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Patrick Frost, President of Frost Bank, are not
included in this table because they are Named Executive Officers of Cullen/Frost, and they receive no
compensation for their services as Director. For further information on the compensation paid to Messrs. Evans
and Patrick Frost, as well as their holdings of stock awards and option awards, see the Summary Compensation
Table on page 24 and the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table on page 26. Mr. T. C. Frost is also an employee of
Cullen/Frost and received no additional compensation for his service as a Director.

(5) The actuarial present value of Mr. Robert S. McClane’s pension benefit decreased by $165,835 during 2007.

Cullen/Frost employees receive no fees for their services as members of the Board of Directors or any of its
comimittees. Non-employee Directors receive an annual retainer fee of $16,000 and $2,000 for each Board meeting
attended. In addition, non-employee Directors receive $1,000 for attending each meeting of a committee of the
Board to which they have been appointed, except that the Chairman of the Audit Committee receives $1,500 for
each meeting of the Audit Committee attended and all Committee Chairs receive an annual retainer fee of $5,000.




Non-employee Directors are also eligible to receive stock options each year under Cullen/Frost’s 2007 Outside
Directors Incentive Plan. In April 2007, each non-employee Director received options to purchase 2,000 shares of
Cullen/Frost's Common Stock. A total of 20,000 stock options were granted to non-employee Directors in 2007,
The options have a term of six years from the date of the grant, are exercisable immediately from the date of the
grant and have an exercise price of $52.55, which is equal to the closing price of Cullen/Frost's Common Stock on
the date of the grant.

In addition, the Board of Directors also serves as the Board of Directors for Frost Bank, a subsidiary of
Cullen/Frost, and non-employee Directors receive fees for serving in this capacity. In particular, non-employee
Directors receive $2,000 for each meeting of such Board atiended and $1.000 for attending each meeting of a
committee of such Board to which they have been appointed.

Other Directorships

The following are directorships held by nominees and Directors in public companies other than Cullen/Frost or
in registered investment companies:

Mr.Escobedo. . ... .. ... . e Valero Energy Corporation

Miscellaneous Information

There are no arrangements or understandings between any nominee or Director of Cullen/Frost and any other
person regarding such nominee’s or Director’s selection as such, except that Mr. Robert S. McClane’s retirement
agreement with Cullen/Frost provides that, until he reaches age 70, subject to the sole discretion of the Board of
Directors, he will be considered as a candidate for reelection to the Board. In addition, pursuant to such retirement
agreement, Mr. McClane is entitled to office space and secretarial services and support until he reaches age 70.

CERTAIN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS

Cullen/Frost believes that it has operated over the years with sound corporate governance practices that
exemplify its commitment to integrity and to protect both the interests of its shareholders and the other constit-
uencies that it serves. These practices include a substantially independent Board of Directors, periodic meetings of
non-management Directors and a sound and comprehensive code of conduct, which obligates Directors and all
employees to adhere 10 the highest legal and ethical business practices. A review of some of Cullen/Frost’s
corporate governance measures is set forth below.

Director Independence

The Board of Directors believes that a substantial majority of its members should be independent within the
meaning of the NYSE’s rules. To this end, the Board reviews annually the relevant facts and circumstances
regarding relationships between Directors and Cullen/Frost, The purpose of the Board's review is 1o determine
whether any Director has a material relationship with Cullen/Frost (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or
officer of an organization that has a relationship with Cullen/Frost).

in connection with the Board’s latest review, the Board determined that the following Directors, which
compose 77% of the Board, are independent within the meaning of the NYSE’s rules: Mr. R. Denny Alexander,
Mr, Carlos Alvarez, Mr. Royce 8. Caldwell, Mr, Crawford H. Edwards, Mr. Ruben M. Escobedo, Ms. Karen E.
Jennings, Mr. Richard M. Kleberg, III, Mr. Robert 5. McClane, Ms. Ida Clement Steen and Mr, Horace Wilkins, Jr.
Mr. Richard W, Evans, Jr. and Mr. Patrick B. Frost are not independent because they are executive officers of
Cullen/Frost. Mr. T.C. Frost, who is retiring from the Board, is also not independent because he is an executive
officer of Cullen/Frost.

in making its independence determinations, the Board considers the NYSE’s rules, as well as the standards set
forth below. The Board adopted these standards pursuant to the NYSE’s rules to assist in making independence
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determinations. For purposes of the standards, the term “Cullen/Frost Entity” means, collectively, Cullen/Frost and
each of its subsidiaries.

Credit Relationships. A proposed or outstanding relationship that consists of an extension of credit by a
Cullen/Frost Entity to a Director or a person or entity that is affiliated, associated or related to a Director should not
be deemed to be a material relationship if it satisfies each of the following criteria:

+ Itis not categorized as “classified” by the Cullen/Frost Entity or any regulatory authority that supervises the
Cullen/Frost Entity.

« It is made on terms and under circumstances, including credit standards, that are substantially similar to
those prevailing at the time for comparable relationships with other unrelated persons or entities and, if
subject to the Federal Reserve Board’s Regulation O (12 C.ER. Part 215), is made in accordance with
Regulation O.

« In the event that it was not made, in the case of a proposed extension of credit, or it was terminated in the
normal course of the Cullen/Frost Entity’s business, in the case of an outstanding extension of credit, the
action would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Director or the business,
results of operations or financial condition of any person or entity related to such Director.

Non-Credit Banking or Financial Products or Services Relationships. A proposed or outstanding relation-
ship in which a Director or a person or Entity that is affiliated, associated or related to a Director procures non-credit
banking or financial products or services from a Cullen/Frost Entity should not be deemed to be a material
relationship if it (i) has been or will be offered in the ordinary course of the Cullen/Frost Entity’s business and (ii) has
been or will be offered on terms and under circumstances that were or are substantially similar to those prevailing at
the time for comparable non-credit banking or financial products or services provided by the Cullen/Frost Entity to
other unrelated persons or entities.

Property or Services Relationships. A proposed or outstanding relationship in which a Director or a person or
Entity that is affiliated, associated or related to a Director provides property or services to a Cullen/Frost Entity
should not be deemed to be a material relationship if the property or services (i) have been or will be procured in the
ordinary course of the Cullen/Frost Entity’s business and (ii) have been or will be procured on terms and under
circumstances that were or are substantially similar to those that the Cullen/Frost Entity would expect in procuring
comparable property or services from other unrelated persons or entities,

Meetings of Non-Management Directors

Cullen/Frost’s non-management Directors meet in executive sessions without members of management
present at each regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. The Chair of the Board’s Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee, who is currently Mr. Royce S. Caldwell, presides at the executive sessions.

Communications with Directors

The Board of Directors has established a mechanism for shareholders or other interested parties to communicate
with the non-management Directors as a group and the presiding non-management Director. All such communications,
which can be anonymous or confidential, should be addressed to the Board of Directors of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.,
c/o Corporate Counsel, 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205,

In addition, the Board of Directors has established a mechanism for shareholders or other interested parties that
have concerns or complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters (o communicate
them to the Audit Committee. Such concerns or complaints, which can be anonymous or confidential, should be
addressed to the Audit Committee of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc., c/o Corporate Counsel, 100 West Houston Street,
San Antonio, Texas 78205,

For shareholders or other interested parties desiring to communicate with the non-management Directors, the
presiding non-management Director or the Audit Committee by e-mail, telephone or U.S. mail, please see the
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information set forth on Cullen/Frost’s website at www.frostbank.com. Alteratively, any shareholder or other
interested party may communicate in writing by contacting the Corporate Secretary, Stan McCormick, at 100 West
Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 78203. These communications can be anonymous or confidential.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, which reaffirm Cullen/Frost’s
commitment to having strong corporate governance practices. The Guidelines set forth, among other things,
the policies of the Board with respect to Beard composition, selection of Directors, retirement of Directors, Director
orientation and continuing training, executive sessions of non-management Directors, Director compensation and
Director responsibilities. The Guidelines are available on Cullen/Frost’s website at www.frostbank.com or in print,
to any shareholder making a request by contacting the Corporate Secretary, Stan McCormick, at 100 West Houston
Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to promote the highest legal and
ethical business practices by Cullen/Frost. The Code applies to Directors and Cullen/Frost employees, including
Cullen/Frost’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal accounting officer. The Code
addresses, among other-things, honest and ethical conduct, accurate and timely financial reporting, compliance
with applicable laws, accountability for adherence to the Code and prompt intemal reporiing of violations of the
Code. The Code prohibits retaliation against any Director, officer or employee who in good faith reports a potential
violation. The Code is available on Cullen/Frost’s website at www.{rostbank.com or in print, to any shareholder
making a request by contacting the Corporate Secretary, Stan McCormick at 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio,
Texas 78205. As required by law, Cullen/Frost will disclose any amendments to or waivers from the Code that apply
to its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal accounting officer by posting such information
on its website at www.frostbank.com.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION

Compensation and Benefits Committee

Charter. The Compensation and Benefits Committee’s charter is posted on Cullen/Frost’s website at
www.frostbank.com.

Scope of authority.  The primary function of the Compensation and Benefits Committee (the “Committee™) is
to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility with respect to:

a) establishing. in consultation with senior management, Cullen/Frost’s general compensation philosophy,
and overseeing the development of Culien/Frost’s compensation and benefits programs;

b) overseeing the evaluation of Cullen/Frost’s executive management;

c) reviewing and approving the corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of the CEO,
evaluating the performance of the CEO in light of those goals and objectives, and setting the CEO’s
compensation level based on this evaluation;

d) making a recommendation to the Board with respect to, and if appropriate under the circumnstances,
approving on behalf of the Board, non-CEQ Executive Officer compensati’orl and any adoption of or
amendment to a material compensation or benefit plan, including any incentive compensation plan or
equity based plan;

e) providing oversight of regulatory compliance with respect to compensation matters; and
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f) reviewing the components and amount of Board compensation in relation to other similarly situated
companies. The Board retains the authority to set director compensation and to make changes to director
compensation.

Delegation authority. While the Committee approves the annual normal grant of stock options and restricted
stock to officers, it delegates authority to the CEO to allocate a specified pool of stock options to address special
needs as they arise.

Role of executive officers. After consulting with the Committee’s compensation consultant, the CEO
recommends to the Committee base salary, target bonus levels, actual bonus payments and long-term incentive
grants for Cullen/Frost officers. The Committee considers, discusses and modifies the CEQ’s recommendations, as
appropriate, and takes action on such proposals. The CEO does not make recommendations to the Committee on his
own pay levels. The Committee, in executive session and without members of Company management present,
determines the pay levels for the CEO to be ratified by the Board of Directors.

Role of compensation consultants. Beginning in 2005, the Committee directly retained Hewitt Associates
LLC (Hewitt) as its outside compensation consultant. The Commitiee informed Hewitt in writing that it expected
Hewitt to advise it if and when there were elements of management proposals to the Committee that Hewitt believed
the Committee should not support, set expectations for Hewitt to be frank and upfront with the Committee at all
times, and stated that Hewitt's ongoing engagement would be determined by the Committee,

The role of the consultant is to serve Cullen/Frost and work for the Committee in its review of executive and
director compensation practices, including the competitiveness of pay levels, executive compensation design
issues, market trends, and technical considerations. The nature and scope of services rendered by Hewitt on the
Committee’s behalf is described below:

» Competitive market pay analyses, including Total Compensation Measurement™ (TCM™) services, proxy
data studies, Board of Director pay studies, dilution analyses, and market trends;

= Ongoing support with regard to the latest relevant regulatory, technical, and/or accounting considerations
impacting compensation and benefit programs;

+ Assistance with the redesign of any compensation or benefit programs, if desired/needed;
+ Preparation for and attendance at selected management, committee, or Board of Director meetings; and
= Other miscellaneous requests that occur throughout the year.

The Committee did not direct Hewitt to perform the above services in any particular manner or under any
particular method. The Committee has the final authority to hire and terminate the consultant, and the Committee
evaluates the consultant periodically.

Hewitt consultants attended both of the Committee meetings in 2007 and assisted the Committee with the
market data and an assessment of executive compensation levels, annual incentive plan design, CEO compensation,
and information with respect to the new proxy disclosure rules.

Compensation and Benefits Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Some of the members of the Compensation and Benefits Committee, and some of these persons’ associates, are
current or past customers of one or more of Cullen/Frost's subsidiaries. Since January 1, 2007, transactions between
these persons and such subsidiaries have occurred, including borrowings. In the opinion of management, all of the
transactions have been in the ordinary course of business, have had substantially the same terms, including interest
rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with persons not related to the lender,
and did not involve more than the normal risk of collectibility or present other unfavorable features. Additional
transactions may take place in the future.
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Compensation and Benefits Committee Report

The Compensation and Benefits Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensarion Discussion and
Analysis with management. Based on our review and discussions, we have recommended to the Board of Directors
that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement and incorporated into Cullen/
Frost’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007,

Royce S. Caldwell, Committee Chairman
Ruben M. Escobedo
Karen E. Jennings

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

This discussion is included to provide the material information necessary to understand the objectives and
policies of Cullen/Frost’s compensation program for the CEO, the CFO and the other three most highly
compensated executive officers of Cullen/Frost (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”):

Richard W. Evans, Jr. Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President of Cullen/Frost;
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Frost Bank

Phillip D. Green Chief Financial Officer of Cullen/Frost; Chief Financial Officer of Frost Bank

Patrick B. Frost President of Frost Bank

David W. Beck, Jr. President and Chief Business Banking Officer of Frost Bank

Richard Kardys Group Executive Vice President and Executive Trust Officer of Frost Bank

Objectives of the Compensation Program

The Cullen/Frost Compensation Program is administered by the Compensation and Benefits Committee (the
“Committee”). The objectives of the program are to:

* Reward current performance;

* Motivate future performance;

» Encourage teamwork;

* Remain competitive as compared to the external marketplace;

» Maintatn a position of internal equity;

» Effectively retain Culien/Frost’s executive management team; and

* Increase shareholder value by strategically aligning executive management and shareholder interests.

Design of the Total Compensation Program and Overview of Compensation Decisions Made in 2007
Pay Philosophy

In general, it is Cullen/Frost’s compensation philosophy to target aggregate executive compensation at the
50th percentile of the external market (described below). In addition to external competitiveness, the Committee
evaluates the following factors when making compensation decisions for executive officers:

= Performance,
* Internal equity;

« Experience;
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» Strategic importance;
« Technical implications such as tax, accounting, and shareholder dilution; and
+ Advice from the independent compensation consultant.

The Committee does not assign a specific weighting to these factors and may exercise its discretion when
making compensation decisions for Named Executive Officers. '

When reviewing the components of the compensation program, the Committee, together with the head of
Human Resources, works to ensure the total package is competitive with the external marketplace and remains
balanced from an internal equity standpoint. However, it is the total package that should be competitive, and not
necessarily the individual elements. ' ' '

The Committee does not maintain a stated policy with regard to cash versus non-cash compensation, However,
the allocation of cash and non-cash compensation for each of the Named Executive Officers is reviewed annually.

In general, the Committee does not take into account amounts realizable from prior compensation when
making future pay decisions, However, grant date amounts and values are contemplated, particularly when
establishing long-term incentive award grants. The Committee began reviewing a total compensation tally sheet for
Mr. Evans in 2007, and plans to continue this practice on an annual basis. Cullen/Frost uses the tally sheet to inform
the Committee on Mr. Evans’ annual total compensation and accumulated wealth from the Company’s equity and
retirement benefit plans.

Benchmarking and Peer Companies

Under the direction of the Committee, Cullen/Frost conducts annual benchmarking of base pay, annual
incentive pay, and long-term incentive pay. The competitiveness of other forms of pay is reviewed on a periodic
basis.

External market data is provided by our external consultant, Hewitt Associates. The Committee believes that
the external market should be defined as peer companies in the banking industry of a similar asset size to Cullen/
Frost. For 2007, market data was collected from public filings for the following 28 companies comprising the
Lehman Brothers Small-Cap Bank Index (excluding Cullen/Frost):

Associated Banc-Corp East West Bancorp Texas Capital Bancshares
Bank of Hawaii First Midwest Bancorp UCBH Holdings

BankAtlantic Bancorp FirstMerit Corp UnionBanCal Corp

Boston Private Financial Fulton Financial United Bankshares

Cathay General Greater Bay Bancorp Valley National Bancorp
Central Pacific Financial Huntington Bancshares Webster Financial Corporation
Chittenden Corp Pacific Capital Bancorp Westamerica Bancorp

City National Bank South Financial Group . Wilmington Trust Corp
Colonial Bancgroup Susquehanna Bancshares . .

Commerce Bancshares SVB Financial Group

Additionally, market data was collected from multiple published survey sources representing national
financial institutions of a similar asset size to Cullen/Frost. The Committee believes that the combination of peer
company data and survey data reflects Cullen/Frost’s external market for business and executive talent. Accord-
ingly, the Committee uses both of these sources when targeting Cullen/Frost’s executive compensation at the
50th percentile of the external market. The Committee does not utilize any stated weighting of external market data
with which to benchmark compensation levels of the Named Executive Officers. Instead, the Committee evaluates
the market data prepared by Hewitt, along with the other factors listed previously to determine the appropriate
compensation levels of the Named Executive Officers on an individual basis.
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Elements of the Compensation Program

To ensure achievement of the program objectives, compensation is provided to the Named Executive Officers
in the following elements;

* Base Pay;

* Annual Incentive Pay;

* Long-Term Incentive Pay;
« Benefits;

« Perquisites; and

» Post-Termination Pay,

The purpose, design, determination of amounts, and 2007 pay decisions are described below.

Base Pay

Base pay is an important element of executive compensation because it provides executives with a base level of
monthly income. As discussed in the Pay Philosophy section, internal and external equity, performance, experience,
and other factors are considered when establishing base salaries. The Committee does not assign a specific
weighting to these factors when making compensation decisions. Base salary changes are generally approved in
October of each year and are effective January 1st of the following year. No specific weighting is targeted for base
salaries as a percentage of total compensation.

During their fall 2007 meeting, the Committee approved base pay increases for Mr. Evans and the other Named
Executive Officers, The increases were based on external market data, internal equity, and each individual’s
performance as well as specific concerns over a heightened market for executive talent in the Texas banking market.

The Committee observed that the base pay of Mr. Evans approximated the 50th percentile of external market
data, while the base pay levels for the remaining Named Executive Officers approximated the 75th percentile.

The base pay increases approved by the Committee became effective January 1, 2008 and approximated 3% of
existing base pay, ranging from 2.7% to 3.4%. Base pay levels can be seen in the Summary Compensation Table.
While the base pay of these remaining Named Executive Officers approximaied the 75th percentile of the extemnal
market, their total compensation still approximated the 50th percentile of the external market.

As discussed in the Compensation and Benefits Committee section, Mr. Evans makes recommendations to the
Comnmittee on the pay levels of his direct reports for the Committee’s review and approval, Mr. Evans does not make
recommendations to the Committee on his own pay levels. The Committee, in executive session and without
members of Company management present, determines the pay levels for Mr. Evans to be ratified by the Board of
Directors.

Annual Incentive Pay

Annual incentive pay is provided to Named Executive Officers to recognize achievement of financial targets
both on the overall corporate level and the individual level and is paid in accordance with the quantitative and
qualitative terms of the Management Bonus Plan. This reward is paid in the form of a cash bonus.

The bonus plan for the Chief Executive Officer differs from that of the other Named Executive Officers. Both
bonus plans are described in the sections that follow.
Bonus Plan for the Chief Executive Officer

Annually, during their first quarter meeting, the Committee establishes a target tied to net income for the Chief
Executive Officer’s bonus, thereby directly refating the reward of the executive to the performance of Cullen/Frost.
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This measurement has historically been 0.8% of net income. After the close of the fiscal year, the Committee then
exercises only downward discretion to arrive at a bonus payment amount to Mr. Evans. Traditionally, the Committee
has not paid a bonus at the full 0.8% of fiscal year net income, but closer to 70% of his base salary earnings.

For 2007 the Committee approved a target of 0.8% of fiscal year net income for Mr. Evans’ bonus. To
determine the bonus payment amount, the Committee exercised downward discretion based on the following
qualitative measures approved by the Committee.

Performance Measure Description

Operating Results . . ........... Provides direction to ensure that Cullen/Frost meets its
financial goals, both in terms of achieving budgetary results
and in its commitment to performance compared to its peers.

Leadership . . ................ Leads Cullen/Frost, setting a philosophy — based on the
corporate culture — that is well understood, widely supported,
consistently applied, and effectively implemented.

Strategic Planning. . . .......... Establishes clear objectives and develops strategic policies to
ensure growth in Cullen/Frost’s core business and expansion
through appropriate acquisitions. Is committed to the utilization
of advanced technology applications to support these growth
goals, and maintains the long-term interest of Cullen/Frost in
all actions.

Human Capital

Management and

Development . ............... Ensures the effective recruitment of a diverse workforce,
consistent retention of key employees and the ongoing
motivation of all staff. Offers personal involvement in the
recruiting process and provides feedback.

Communications. . ............ Serves as chief spokesperson for Cullen/Frost, communicating
effectively with all of its stakeholders.

External Relations . ........ ... Establishes and maintains relationships with the investment
community to keep them informed on Cullen/Frost’s progress.
Serves in a leadership role in civic, professional and
community organizations., Reinforces key customer
relationships through regular market visits and customer
contacts.

Board Relations . ............. Works closely with the Board of Directors to keep them fully
informed on all important aspects of the status and
development of Cullen/Frost. Facilitates the Board’s
composition and committee structure, as well as its governance
and any regulatory agency relations.

For 2007, Cullen/Frost’s actual performance was slightly below budgeted expectations. Cullen/Frost’s budget
for a given year typically represents a meaningful increase in earnings per share over the previous year. In finalizing
a budget, the current economic and interest rate environments are considered as well as analyst expectations. The
budget must be ratified by the Board of Directors. In light of this, and taking into account the qualitative measures
shown above, the Committee exercised downward discretion from the initial target of 0.8% of net income. The
Committee elected to pay a bonus to Mr. Evans of $367,500. This was ratified by the Board of Directors on
January 24, 2008, and can be seen in the Summary Compensation Table. '

At the October 2007 meeting, the Committee reviewed the competitiveness of the Chief Executive Officer’s
bonus payment, and found it to be below the 50th percentile of the external market data provided by Hewitt, The
Committee targets total compensation, and not the individual elements, at the 50th percentile.

For 2008. the Committee has again approved a target for Mr. Evans of 0.8% of fiscal year net income.
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Bonus Plan for the Other Named Executive Officers

The remaining Named Executive Officers participate in the Management Bonus Plan., Annually, a bonus pool
is generated if financial performance of Cullen/Frost meets the budgeted net income for the year. The Committee
approves the corporate and individual objectives as well as the payment targets, which are expressed as a percentage
of the executives’ base salary earnings for the year. There is not a stated cap on this plan. However, over the past nine
years, the most paid to any Named Executive Officer in excess of target was 140% of target.

For 2007, Cullen/Frost established the following individual targets as a percentage of 2007 base salary
earnings for the Named Executive Officers in the Management Bonus Plan:

Phillip D). Green. . . ... e e e e 50%
Pairick B. FIOst . L .. o e e e 45%
David W. BecK, Jr. ... 45%
Richard Kardys ... ... . e e e 45%

The individual targets are not formula driven. For all of the Named Executive Officers in the Management
Bonus Plan, the targets are set at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer and must be approved by the
Committee. The bonus targets are based on external market data provided by Hewitt, internal equity considerations,
and strategic objectives for corporate performance. The targets are reviewed annually at the Fall meeting of the
Committee and altered as deemed appropriate. Payment amounts for the Named Executive Officers are made based
on recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer and approval of the Committee, Bonus amounts in excess of, or
below target may be paid at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer with the approval of the Committee. Before
the Chief Executive Officer makes recommendations to the Committee regarding the other Named Executive
Officers, the Chief Executive Officer discusses these issues with Hewitt. The Committee has the discretion to
approve, disapprove or alter the recommendations.

The primary criteria for bonus payments for the Named Executive Officers are summarized in the following
table: '

Executive Primary Criteria for Incentive Payment

Phillip D. Green . ... .......... Measurement of financial performance vs. budgeted net income
for Cullen/Frost and for Frost Bank

Patrick B. Frost .............. Measurement of financial performance vs. budgeted net income

for Cullen/Frost and for Mr. Frost’s assigned regions (to
include the Austin, Corpus Christi, San Antonio and the
Rio Grande Valley markets)

David W. Beck, Jr. . ........... Measurement of financial performance vs. budgeted net income
for Cullen/Frost and for Frost Bank
Richard Kardys. . ............. Measurement of financial performance vs. budgeted net income

for Cullen/Frost and achievement of budgeted goals for the
assigned areas of principal responsibility (to include the
Financial Management Group and Frost Insurance Agency)

As previously stated, Cullen/Frost’s actual performance was slightly below budgeted expectations. Therefore,
according to the guidelines of the plan, a bonus pool would not have been generated. However, based on the strong
financial results for the company, the marginal amount by which budgeted expectations were not met, the extent to
which the other stated performance criteria were met, and the need to retain talent in the competitive Texas market,
the Chief Executive Officer recommended to the Committee that bonus payments for Mr. Green, Mr. Frost,
Mr. Beck, and Mr. Kardys be at made at 70% of target. The Committee approved this recommendation. Because the
2007 bonuses for these Named Executive Officers are being paid at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer and
the Committee and outside of the Management Bonus Plan guidelines, they are shown in the Summary Com-
pensation Table under the heading “Bonus™ as opposed to “Non-Equity Incentive Plan”. The 2007 bonuses were
paid in February of 2008.
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In October 2007, the Committee reviewed the competitiveness of each Named Executive Officer’s target
incentive level and determined that they were slightly below the 50th percentile of the external market. The
Committee targets total compensation, and not the individual elements, at the 50th percentile.

No changes were made to targets for the Named Executive Officers for 2008.

No specific weighting is targeted for annual incentive pay as a percentage of total compensation.

Long-Term Incentive Pay

Long-term incentives are awarded to the Named Executive Officers in an effort to align management and
shareholder interests, ensure future performance of Cullen/Frost, enhance ownership opportunities, and to increase
shareholder value. Cullen/Frost maintains the 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“‘Plan™) which was approved by
shareholders and authorizes the granting of the following types of awards for executives:

+ Stock Options;

Stock Appreciation Rights;

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units;

« Performance Unit and Performance Share Awards;
+ Cash-Based Awards; and

» Other Stock-Based Awards.

As shown in the Summary Compensation table, long-term incentives are awarded to the Named Executive
Officers in the form of stock options and restricted stock. The size of the grant is determined by the Committee
taking into account a variety of factors, including, grants from prior years, external market data, internal equity
considerations, performance, overall share usage, shareholder dilution, and cost. It has generally been the
Committee’s practice to award long-term incentives in a combined package of approximately half stock options
and half restricted stock, based on the estimated economic value of awards on the date of grant. The weighting
between stock options and restricted stock allows Cullen/Frost to strike the desired balance between performance
and retention and minimizes the impact to shareholder dilution.

Stock Options

Stock options are utilized to align management and shareholder interests and to reward executives with
shareholder value creation. Stock options were granted at the fair market value of $48.85 on the date of grant,
October 22, 2007. The fair value of the stock options granted was calculated in accordance with FAS 123R and was
$11.95 per share issued to the Named Executive Officers. The options granted in 2007 vest 25% per year beginning
on the first anniversary from the date of grant and have a life of ten years. The vesting schedule and life were
strategically chosen to be competitive, enhance our retention efforts, and help to manage shareholder dilution.

Restricted Stock

Shares of restricted stock are granted to the Named Executive Officers to create an immediate link to
shareholder interests, enhance ownership opportunities, and to maintain a stable executive team. The awards
granted in 2007 vest 100% four years from the date of the grant. This vesting schedule is both competitive and
consistent with our traditional practice.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

Cullen/Frost does not currently maintain a formal policy for executive stock ownership requirements. The
Commiitee believes that the use of restricted stock for the Named Executive Officers serves to reinforce stock
ownership and aligns executive and shareholder interests.
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While the Committee believes a significant portion of Named Executive Officers’ total compensation should
be linked to Cullen/Frost’s stock price, no specific weighting is targeted for long-term incentive pay as a percentage
of totat compensation.

In 2007, the Committee, in its discretion, increased the number of both restricted shares and stock options
awarded to Named Executive Officers as compared to the previous two years. These awards resulted in similar
economic values to the Named Executive Officers as compared to the prior year’s awards. Because fewer restricted
shares are needed to provide an equivalent stock option value, the Committee placed a slightly higher weighting on
restricted shares than stock options for 2007 in order to minimize overall share usage. In its review, the Committee
observed that long term incentive awards to the Named Executive Officers appear to be slightly above the
50th percentile of external market data. The Committee determined that it was critical to continue to place a strong
emphasis on future financial performance and increasing shareholder value, while offering a competitive total
rewards package overall. The actual awards granted in 2007 can be seen in the Summary Compensation Table and
the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table.

Historically, the Cornmittee has generally approved and granted long-term incentive awards to the Named
Executive Officers and any other designated employees at the Fall meeting or at the hire date of new designated
employees, as applicable. Cuilen/Frost maintains no policy, whether official or unofficial, for timing the granting of
stock options or other equity-based awards in advance of the release of material nonpublic information, Qur practice
has been 1o grant long 1erm-incentive awards on the date of the Fall Committee meeting,
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Benefits

Cullen/Frost provides a benefits package including health and welfare and retirement benefits to remain
competitive with the market and to meet the basic security needs of our employees including the Named Executive
Officers. The following table provides a brief summary of Cullen/Frost’s retirement bepefit programs:

Retirement Benefit Plan

401¢(k) Plan

Thrift Incentive Plan for the
401(k)
Profit Sharing Plan

Profit Sharing Restoration Plan

Retirement Plan‘!

Retirement Restoration Plan‘"”

SERP

Deferred Compensation Plan

Purpose

Named Executive
Officer
Participation

All Employee
Participation

A qualified plan to provide for the
welfare and future financial security of
the employees as well as align
employee and sharcholder interests.

A non-qualified plan to provide benefits
comparable 1o the 401(k) for Named
Executive Officers.

A qualified plan to provide for the
welfare and future financial security of
the employees.

A non-qualified plan that provides
benefits comparable to the Profit
Sharing Plan for Named Executive
Officers.

A qualified plan to provide for the
welfare and future financial security of
the employees.

A non-gualified plan to provide benefits
comparable to the Retirement Plan for
Named Executive Officers. ‘

A non-qualified plan to provide target
retirement benefits for Mr. Evans and
Mr, McClane, a former executive
officer and current Director.

A non-qualified plan to preserve
Cullen/Frost’s tax deduction under
Section 162 (m), and to provide a
vehicle for the deferment of
nondeductible income.

(1) Plan was frozen on December 31, 2001.

v

%

For a detailed description of the above referenced benefit plans, see the narrative following the 2007 Pension

Benefits Table.

See the All Other Compensation Table for detail on benefits received by the Named Executive Officers.

Perquisites

Cullen/Frost uses perquisites for Named Executive Officers to provide a competitive offering and conve-
niences. Below is a brief summary of the perquisites provided and the rationale for their use:

Physical Examinations — In order to ensure the continued health of our executive team, the Named Executive
Officers were given the opportunity to undergo a thorough physical examination with the physician of their choice
with the cost 10 be underwritten by Cullen/Frost.
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Personal Financial Planning Services — To ensure the continued financial stability of our executive team, and
to help maximize the amount executives realize from our compensation programs, the Named Executive Officers
were given the opportunity to engage a financial advisor of their choice to provide Personal Financial Planning
Services with the capped cost to be underwritten by Cullen/Frost.

Home Security Services — To ensure the safety of our executive team, home security services are provided in
certain instances. '

Club Memberships — Club Memberships are provided to all the Named Executive Officers to be used at their
discretion for both personal and business purposes, This provides the Named Executive Officers with the ongoing
opportunity to network with other community leaders.

Use of Jet Aircraft — Through a provider in the fractional aircraft industry, Cullen/Frost has acquired 200 hours
per year of jet aircraft usage. These hours are used by Mr. Evans in connection with his extensive business travel
requirements. Such usage reduces travel time and related disruptions and provides additional security, thereby
increasing Mr. Evans’s availability, efficiency, and productivity. Mr. Evans has been authorized to use a portion of
these hours for non-business purposes, which should generally not exceed ten percent of the available hours
annually. Mr. Evans did not use the jet aircraft for non-business purposes during 2007.

Life Insurance — Group Life Insurance is provided to the Named Executive Officers with a death benefit equal
to three times base salary earnings for the most recent year not to exceed $1,250,000 for Mr. Evans, Mr. Green,
Mr. Beck, and Mr. Kardys. The death benefit for Mr. Frost is two times base salary carnings for the most recent year
not to exceed $1,250,000. In addition, an Executive Insurance Policy is maintained for Mr. Evans with a death
benefit of $1,000,000. See the All Other Compensation Table for more detail.

The aggregate perquisite value received by each Named Executive Officer can be seen in the All Other
Compensation Table.

Post-Termination Pay

Cullen/Frost has change-in-control agreements with all the Named Executive Officers as well as other key
employees of the Company. The main purposes of these agreements are to:

« help executives evaluate objectively whether a potential change in control is in the best interests of
shareholders;

« help protect against the departure of executives, thus assuring continuity of management, in the event of an
actual or threatened merger or change in control; and

+ maintain compensation and benefits comparable to those available from competing employers,

Under the agreements, the Named Executive Officer could receive severance payments of three times base
salary and target bonus if their position were terminated by Cullen/Frost within two years following a
change-in-control, if the termination is for reasons other than cause, death, disability or retirement. “Cause” is
generally defined in the agreements as an executive’s (1) witlful and continued failure to substantially perform his
duties after delivery of a written demand for substantial performance; (2) willful engagement in conduct materially
injurious to Cullen/Frost; or (3} conviction of a felony. The Committee established the change-in-control benefits at
their current level to be competitive and to provide executives with a levet of pay and benefits comparable to what
they had immediately prior to a change in control.

Change-in-control is considered in the agreements to be:

= an acquisition of beneficial ownership of 20 percent or more of Cullen/Frost Common Stock by an
individual, corporation, partnership, group, association, or other person;

= certain changes in the composition of a majority of the Board of Directors; or

» certain other events involving a merger or consolidation of Cullen/Frost or a sale of substantially all of its assets.
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Further, the change-in-control agreements provide that the Named Executive Officers could receive severance
payments if they terminate their employment for good reason within two years following a change-in-control.
“Good reason” is generally considered in the agreements as one or more of the following:

» a significant change or reduction in the executive’s responsibilities;

« an involuntary transfer of the executive to a location that is fifty miles farther than the distance between the
executive’s current residence and Cullen/Frost’s headquarters;

« a significant reduction in the executive’s current compensation;
» the failure of any successor to Cullen/Frost to assume the exccutive’s change-in-control agreement; or

» any termination of the executive’s employment that is not effected pursuant to a written notice which
indicates the reasons for the termination.

The change-in-control agreements also provide for a continuation of the welfare benefits of health care, life
and accidental death and dismemberment, and disability insurance coverage for three years following termination
of employment without cause or for good reason, as well as a tax gross-up payment in an amount necessary to make
the executive whole for any excise taxes paid as a result of the severance payments,

Upon a change-in-control, all stock options would become immediately exercisable and all the vesting
restrictions would lapse on all outstanding restricted shares.

Under the change-in-control agreements, a change-in-control would have no impact on benefits available to
Named Executive Officers under the frozen retirement and retirement restoration plans.

The Committee believes that the change-in-control agreements are consistent with our objective to remain
competitive, as compared to the external marketplace with our executive compensation program. The
change-in-contro} agreements do not affect decisions to be made regarding other elements of compensation.

For detailed estimated payments upon a change-in-control, please see the Change in Control Payments Table.

There are no other severance policies or employment contracts in place for the Named Executive Officers. If
any of the Named Executive Officers were to have their employment with Cullen/Frost severed, the Committee
would make all post-termination pay determinations based on the individual situation(s).

Policy on 162(m)

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally limits the corporate tax deduction to $1,000,000 in a
taxable year for compensation paid to each “covered employee” of Cullen/Frost, which under Section 162(m),
generally includes all the Named Executive Officers (except for the Chief Financial Officer), unless the com-
pensation is “performance based”.

In order to preserve Cullen/Frost’s tax deduction, the Committee approved the Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.
Deferred Compensation Plan For Covered Employees. In the event that a “covered employee’s™ total compensation
would exceed the amount deductible under Section 162(m), this plan allows the Committee, in its discretion, to
defer cash components of the “covered employee’s” compensation until the plan year after he or she ceases to be a
“covered employee™ or upon his or her death or disability. Currently, Mr. Evans is the only “covered employee”
participating in the plan.

For 2007, nondeductible compensation totaled approximately $1.2 million and resulted primarily from
compensation related to the vesting of restricted stock granted in 2003, As the only cash component of Mr. Evans’
compensation subject to 162(m) is his base salary, the Committee has not in its discretion deferred any
compensation.
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Policy on Recovery of Awards

Cullen/Frost corrently has no written policy with respect to recovery of awards when financial statements are
restated. However, in the event of a restatement, Cullen/Frost would recover any awards as required by applicable
law.

Conclusion

We believe the 2007 Compensation Program was competitive from an external standpoint and equitable from
an internal standpeint. In addition, we are satisfied that our objectives were met by the program. We fully anticipate
continuing to administer an executive compensation program that is conservative, remaining consistent with our
corporate philosophy.

2007 Compensation

Summary Compensation Table

The Table below gives information on compensation for the CEQ, the CFO iand the other three most highly
compensated executive officers of Cullen/Frost (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”).

2007 Summary Compensation Table

Change in
Pension Value
and
Nongqualified
Non-Equity Deferred
Stock _ Options  Incentive Plan Compensation  All Other
Salary Bonus'" Awards® Awards® Compensation™ Earnings™ Compensation®™  Total

Name and Principal Position Year  (§) $) $) $) $) (%) ($) $)

Richard W. Evans, Jr. . ........ 2007 750,000 — 1,065,273 437,993 367,500 30,122 241464 2,892,352
Chairman and CEO, 2006 675000 | — 984,541 376,896 472,500 198,273 252,040 2,959,250
Cullen/Frost

Phillip D. Green. . ........... 2007 400,000 140,000 270,152 110,897 — — 99,510 1,020,559
Chief Financial Officer, 2006 350,000 ©  — 256,900 99,804 175,000 24,157 92,461 998,322
Cullen/Frost

Patrick B. Frost .. ........... 2007 350,000 110,250 208,322 85462 — — 53,270 807,304
Prestdent, 2006 316,000 — 199,753 79,153 142,200 11,174 49274 797,554
Frost Bank, a Cullen/Fros
subsidiary :

David W. Beck, Jr. . . .. e 2007 350,000 110,250 247417 99018 — — 109,779 916,464
Chief Business Banking Officer, 2006 325,000 — 234,003 90513 146,250 37,352 104,638 937,756
Frost Bank, a Cullen/Frost
subsidiary

Richard Kardys ............. 2007 350,000 P10,250 209,340 86,603 106,917 863,110

Group Executive Vice President, 2006 310,000 — 199,753 79,153 139,500 43,809 94,621 866,836
Financial Managemeni Group,

Frost Bank, a Cullen/Frost

subsidiary

(1) Amounts shown represent the annual cash bonus discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
Amounts shown above were paid in February of 2008 based on 2007 performance.

(2) Amounts shown represent the amount of stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and
restricted stock recognized during 2007 in accordance with SFAS 123R. The amount of the expense for 2007 is
based upon the portion of the grant date fair value of stock options granted during 2004 through 2007 and the
grant date fair value of restricted stock awarded during 2004 through 2007 for which the required vesting
service was provided during 2007. See Note 13 to the Consclidated Financial Statements in Cullen/Frost’s
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3)

4)

(5)

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 for a discussion of the associated
assumptions used in the valuation of stock-based compensation awards.

Amounts shown represent the annual cash bonus discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis. The
amount shown above for Mr. Evans was paid in February 2008 based on 2007 performance. The amounts shown
above as being earned in 2006 were paid in February of 2007,

Amounts shown above for Mr. Evans represent earnings of the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan of
$30,122 in 2007. The actuarial present value of Mr. Evans’ pension and SERP benefit decreased by $319,280
during 2007. The actuarial present value of Mr. Green’s pension benefit decreased by $41,934 during 2007, The
actuarial present value of Mr. Frost’s pension benefit decreased by $34,471 during 2007. The actuarial present
value of Mr. Beck’s pension benefit decreased by $33,493 during 2007. The actuarial present value of
Mr. Kardys® pension benefit decreased by $12,302 during 2007. The primary reason for the decrease in
actuarial present value of pension benefits was an increase in the discount rate. See Note 13 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in Cullen/Frost’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 for
a discussion of the discount rate used. There were no above-market or preferential earnings on compensation
that is deferred on a basis that is not tax-qualified.

This column includes other compensation not properly reported elsewhere in this table. The All Other
Compensation Table that follows provides additional detail regarding the amounts in this column.

2007 All Other Compensation Table

Perquisites Execntive Profit
and Other Medical Thrift Group Thrift Executive Life Sharing
Personal Exam Plan Term Plan Life Insurance  401(k) Contri-
' Benefits'™ Gross Up Match®  Life  Gross Up™ Insurance™ Gross Up'™ Match bution ™  Total
Name Year (5) %) ($) $ ($) () ($) ($} (4] %
Richard W. Evans, Jr. . .. .. 2007 13,449 81 31,500 9,504 11,503 19,000 6,833 13,500 136,095 241464
2006 16,694 1,216 27,300 9900 9832 19,000 10,898 13,200 144,000 252,040
Phillip D. Green ... ... .. 2007 0,564 — 10,500 2,162 3.834 — — 13,500 59950 99,510
2006 13,954 1,409 7800 2,139 2,809 — — 13,200 51,150 92,461
Patrick B, Frost, . .. ... .. 2007 9,139 67 7500 1,165 2,739 — — 13,500 19,160 53,270
2006 9,812 — 5760 1,048 2,074 — — 13200 17380 49274
David W. Beck, Jr. ... ... 2007 7,930 462 7,500 3999 2,588 — — 13,500 73,800 109,779
2006 12,128 117 ‘ 6,300 3999 2,144 — -— 13,200 66,750 104,638
Richard Kardys. . ....... 2007 3,200 — 7500 5544 2,588 — — 13,500 69,585 106917
2006 7182 — 5400 5544 1,945 — — 13,200 61,350 94,621
(1) Amounts shown include the following perquisites: Personal Financial Planning Services, Physical Examina-

2
3
“

()

tions, Home Security Services, and Club Memberships.
Cullen/Frost contributions to the Thrift Incentive Plan.
Tax reimbursements associated with Cullen/Frost contributions to the Thrift Incentive Plan.

Represents $1,000,000 Executive Life Insurance Policy on Mr. Evans and payment that Culten/Frost made to
make Mr. Evans whole from a tax perspective.

Amounts shown include contributions to both the Profit Sharing Plan and the Profit Sharing Restoration Plan.

Contributions for 2007 to the Profit Sharing Plan and the Profit Sharing Restoration Plan were made March 29, 2007
and were based on 2006 earnings,
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following tables provide information concerning each grant of an award made to a Named Executive
Officer in 2007 under the Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan:

2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

All
Other
Stock Al Other
\ Awards:  Option Grant
E““[',"’ted Future . Number  Awards: Exercise Date Fair
ayments Estimated Future of Number of or Base  Value of
Under Non-Equity ~ Payments Under Equity  gporec  Securities Price of  Stock and
Incentive Plan Awards'” Incentive Plan Awards e Stock Underlying Option Option
Grant  Threshold Target Max Threshold Target Max or Units® Options'”” Awards  Awards
Name Date ($) % (L} W o @ ) {¥/5h) ®
Richard W. Evans, Jr. . .., .. 1072272007 — —_ - — —  — 25,000 80,000 48.85 2,177,250
Phillip D. Green., ... ...... 1072272007 — —_ — — — — 5800 20,000 4885 522,330
Patrick B, Frost . ......... 10/22/2007 — —_ — — — — 4,000 13,000 4885 350,750
David W. Beck, Jr. .. ... ... 10/22/2007 — —_ — — — — 5300 15000 4885 438,155
— _ - —_ — — 4500 15000 4885 399,075

Richard Kardys .......... 10/22/2007

(1) There were no non-equity incentive plan awards made in 2007 that are payable based on performance in future

years.

(2) Amounts shown represent restricted stock awards granted on October 22, 2007, which are fully vested on the
fourth anniversary of their grant date. Dividends are paid on awards of restricted stock at the same rate paid to
all other stockholders generally, which was $0.34 per share in the first quarter 2007 and $0.40 per share in the
second, third and fourth quarters 2007.

(3) Amounts shown represent stock option awards granted on October 22, 2007 at the closing price that day of
$48.85. These options vest 25% per year beginning on the first anniversary of their grant date. The grant date
fair value of stock options awarded to the Named Executive Officers in 2007 was $11.95 per share. See Note 13
to the Consolidated Financiat Statements in Cullen/Frost’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007 for a discussion of the associated assumptions used in the valuation of stock option awards.
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Holdings of Previously Awarded Equity

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End *

The following table sets forth outstanding equity awards held by each of the officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table in 2007 as of December 31, 2007:

Name

Richard W. Evans, Ir . .

Phillip D. Green . . . ..

Patrick B. Frost. . . ...

David W. Beck, Jr.

Richard Kardys. . .. ..

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity Equity
Incentive Incentive
Equlity Plan Awards:  Plan Awards: -
Incentive Number Number of Market or
. Ptan Awards: of Shares Market Unearned Payout Value
Number of Number of Number of or Units  Value of Shares or of Unearned
Securities Securities Securities of Stock  Shares or Units ar Shares, Units
Underlying Underlying Underlying That Units of  Other Rights or Other Rights
Unexereised Unexercised Unexercised  Opiion Option Have Not  That Have  That Have That Have
Grant Options (#) Optinns (¥) Unearned Price  Expiration Vested Not Vested Not Vested Not Vested
Date Exercisable Unexercisable'"”  Options (¥) $) Date i $) # (5)
09/22/1998 90,000 — — 2416 0822408
114052002 21,300 - — 33.30  11/05/08
10/01/2003 32,700 — — 3812  1AS
10/12/2004 32,700 — — 4740 10/12/10 25000 1,266,500 — —
10192005 27,500 27,500 — 5001 BOA19F1S 20,000 1013200 — —_
1042412006 13,750 41,250 57.88 10/24/16 20,000 1,013,200 — —
1012212007 — 80,000 — 48.85 10/22/17 25,0000 1266500 — —
90,000 4,559,400
11/05/2002 6,200 — — 3330 11/05/08
10/01/2003 9,300 — — 38.12  10/01/09
1212004 9,300 — — 47.40  10/12710 6,500 329,290 — —
10/E9/2005 6,750 6,750 — 50.01  10/1%/15 5,000 253,300 — —
10/24/2006 3375 10,125 — 57.88 10/24/16 5,000 253,300 — —
1072272007 —_ 20,000 — 48.85 102217 5,800 203,828
22300 1,129,718
0972271998 22,000 — — 24,16 0922008
11/05/2002 5,000 — — 3330  11/05/08
10/01/2003 7,500 — — 3812 10401409
10/12/2004 1,500 — — 4740 1/12/10 5,000 253,300 — —
10/19/2005 5,250 5,250 — 5001 10/19/15 3,900 197,574 — —
10/24/2006 2,625 7875 — 57.88 1024016 3,900 197,574 — —
1042272007 — 13,000 - 48.85 1002217 4,000 202,640
16,800 851,088
11/05/2002 5,600 — — 3330 11/05/08
10/01/2003 B.400 -— — 38.12  10/01/09
10/12/2004 8,400 — — 4740 1071210 5,000 303,960 — —
10/19/2005 6,150 6,150 — 3001 10/19/15 4,604) 233,036 — —_
10/24/2006 3,075 9,225 — 51.88  1/24/16 4,600 233,036 — —
10/22/2007 — 15,000 — 48.85 1012217 5,300 268,498
20,500 1,038,530
09/22/1998 18,000 — — 24.16  09/22/08
11/05/2002 5,000 — — 3330 11/05/08
10172003 7.500 — — 3812 10/01/09
12272004 7.500 — — 4740 10/12/10 5,000 253,300 — —
10/19/2005 5,250 5,250 — 50.01  10/19t5 3,900 197,574 — —
10/24/2006 2625 7875 — 57.88 10/24/16 3,901} 197,574 -— —
1042272007 — 15,000 — 48.85 10/22N17 4,500 227,970 — —
17,300 876418
(1) Options granted prior to 2005 vest 100% at the three (3} year anniversary of their grant date. All other options

2007 OQutstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table

vest 25% per year beginning on the first anniversary of their grant date. Vesting dates for the various stock
option grants shown above are as follows:
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Grant Date

L R S
FISA2002 . o
LO/L2003 . . o
1071272004 . . . e
L0/1972005 . . .o e

LIOR24/2006. . ..o e

L022/2007 . . oo e e

Portion Vesting

Vesting Date

100%
100%
100%
100%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%
25%

(2) All restricted stock awards fully vest on the fourth anniversary of their grant date.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table sets forth the value realized by each of the officers named in the Summary Compensation

Table in 2007 as a result of the exercise of options and the vesting of stock

in 2007:

2007 Option Fxercises and Stock Vested Table

Option Awards

9/22/2001

11/5/2005

10/1/2006
10/12/2007
10/19/2006
10/19/2007
10/19/2008
10/19/2009
10/24/2007
10/24/2008
10/24/2009
10/24/2010
10/22/2008
10/22/2009
10/22/2010
10/22/2011

Stock Awards

Number of Number of
Shares Acquired  Value Realized  Shares Acquired  Value Realized

on Exercise on Exercise on Vesting on Vesting
Name (# $) ) 6]
Richard W. Evans, Jr. ......... — — 25,000 1,268,250
Phillip D. Green. . ... ... ...... 80,000 2,193,969 6,500 329,745
Patrick B. Frost . ............. 50,000 1,543,335 5,000 253,650
David W. Beck, Jr. ........... — — 5,800 294,234
Richard Kardys .............. — — 5,000 253,650

The Named Executive Officers did not defer receipt of any amount on exercise or vesting of awards.

The Named Executive Officers did not transfer any awards for value.
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Post-Employment Benefits
Pension Benefits _
The following table details the defined benefit plans in which each of the officers named in the Summary

Compensation Table in 2007 participates:

2007 Pension Benefits Table

Number of Payments

Years of Present Value During

Credited of Accumulated Last Fiscal

Service'® Benefits™ Year
Name Plan Name (#) 3 $
Richard W. Evans, Jr. Retirement Plan for Employees of 30.8334 663,194 0
Phillip D. Green Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. and its Affiliates 21.4167 269,392 0
Patrick B. Frost (as amended and restated)® 17.4167 151,417 0
David W. Beck, Jr. 25.5833 495,989 0
Richard Kardys 24.8334 553,470 0
Richard W. Evans, Jr.  Restoration of Retirement Income Plan for 30.8334 3,077,085 0
Phillip D. Green Participants in the Retirement Plan for 214167 368.001 0
Patrick B. Frost Employees of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. and 17.4167 181,911 0
David W. Beck, Jr. its Affiliates (as amended & restated)!” 25.5833 412,589
Richard Kardys 24.8334 448,331
Richard W. Evans, Jr.  Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. Supplemental 36.75 1,949,529 0

Executive Retirement Plan

(1) This plan was frozen on December 31, 2001.

(2) Because both the Retirement Plan and the Retirement Restoration Plan were frozen as of December 31, 2001,
the number of years of credited service shown above for each Named Executive Officer are also as of that date.
Please note, these plans were replaced by the defined contribution Profit Sharing Plan and the accompanying
nonqualified Profit Sharing Restoration Plan.

(3) See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Cullen/Frost’s Annual Report for the year ended
December 31, 2007 for a discussion of the associated assumptions used in the calculation of the present value of
the accumulated benefits.

{4) Under the tzrms of the Retirement Plan, the only Named Executive Officers that are eligible for early retirement
are Mr. Evans, Mr. Beck, and Mr. Kardys. Eligibility for early retirement is defined as age 55 or older with five
years of service.

Profit Sharing Plan

On Januvary 1, 2002, Cullen/Frost adopted a qualified profit-sharing plan that replaced its defined benefit plan.
The profit sharing plan is a defined contribution retirement plan that covers all employees, including the Named
Executive Officers, who have completed at least one year of service, are age 21 or older, and are otherwise eligible
for benefits. All contributions to the plan are made at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer based upon
Cullen/Frost’s fiscal year profitability, and are not formula driven. Contributions are allocated to eligible partic-
ipants pro rata, based upon compensation, age, and other factors. Historically, contributions have approximated 2%
of eligible compensation, which is generally defined as base salary plus cash incentives, subject to IRS limits, plus
percentage adjustments for certain age levels. In addition, for those employees who attained the age of 45 prior to
January 1, 2002 and who were participants in the now frozen Retirement Plan, an additional contribution is made
based on age and years of service. Plan participants self-direct the investment of allocated contributions by choosing
from a menu of investment options. Account assets are subject to withdrawal restrictions and participants vest in

29




their accounts after three years of service. There were no distributions made during 2007 to the Named Executive
Officers from the Profit Sharing Plan.

Profit Sharing Restoration Plan

Cullen/Frost maintains a separate nonqualified profit sharing plan for certain employees whose participation in
the qualified Profit Sharing Plan is limited by IRS rules. Contributions to the Profit Sharing Restoration Plan are
made using the same approach as contributions to the Profit Sharing Plan but for eligible compensation dollars
earned in excess of the RS limits. Distributions under this plan are made at the same time and in the same form as
under the Profit Sharing Plan. There were no distributions made during 2007 to the Named Executive Officers from
the Profit Sharing Restoration Plan.

Retirement Plan

The gualified Retirement Plan for Employees of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. and its Affiliates (as amended and
restated), is a defined benefit plan that was frozen on December 31, 2001. This frozen plan provides, subject to IRS
limits, a monthly benefit based on a formula driven percentage of an eligible employee’s final average compen-
sation, based on the highest three vears of compensation in the last ten years of service prior to January 1, 2002, and
years of credited service. Participants in this plan are fully vested in their accrued benefits upon attaining age 65 or
after five years of service, whichever occurs first.

Retirement Restoration Plan

The nonqualified Restoration of Retirement Income Plan for Participants in the Retirement Plan for
Employees of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. and its Affiliates (as amended and restated), which was also frozen
on December 31, 2001, exists to provide benefits comparable to the Retirement Plan for those named employees
whose participation in the Retirement Plan is limited by IRS rules.

SERP

Cullen/Frost maintains a nonqualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) to provide target
retirement benefits, as a percent of annual cash compensation, defined as base salary earnings plus bonus earnings,
beginning at age 55 for Mr. Evans. The target percentage is 45% of annual cash compensation at age 55, increasing
to 60% at age 60 and later. Benefits under the SERP are reduced dollar-for-dollar by benefits received under the
Retirement Plan, the Retirement Restoration Plan, and any Social Security benefits. SERP benefits will also be
reduced by the annuity equivalent of any account balance in the Profit Sharing Plan and the Profit Sharing
Restoration Plan at retirement.

401(k) Plan

Cullen/Frost maintains a 401(k) stock purchase plan that permits each participant to make before or after-tax
contributions in an amount not less than 2% of eligible compensation, and not ¢xceeding 20% of eligible
compensation and subject to dollar limits from IRS rules, Cullen/Frost maiches 100% of the employee’s contri-
butions to the plan based on the amount of each participant’s contributions up to a maximum of 6% of eligible
compensation. Eligible employees must complete 90 days of service in order to enroll and vest in Cullen/Frost’s
matching contributions immediately. Cullen/Frost’s matching contribution is initially invested in Cullen/Frost
Common Stock. However, employees may immediately reatlocate Cullen/Frost’s matching portion, as well as
invest their individual contribution in a variety of investment alternatives offered under the 401(k) Plan.

Thrift Incentive Plan

Cullen/Frost maintains a nonqualified thrift incentive stock purchase plan for certain employees whose
participation in the 401(k) Plan is limited by IRS rules as an alternative means of receiving comparable benefits.
Cullen/Frost uses a similar approach to contributions to the Thrift Incentive Plan as used in the 401(k} Plan,
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matching 100% of the employee’s contributions to the plan based on the amount of each participant’s coniributions
up to a maximum of 6% of base salary only. Amounts are distributed to participants at the end of each calendar year.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

In order to preserve Cullen/Frost’s tax deduction under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, the
Committee has approved a nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan for the Chief Executive Officer and the next
four highest paid executive officers of Cullen/Frost (the “Covered Employees”). This plan requires that certain
components of the compensation of a Covered Employee that would exceed the deductible amount under
Section 162(m) of $1,000,000 be deferred until the plan year after he or she ceases to be a Covered Employee
or until his or her death or disability. Interest is accrued for account balances in this plan at prime rate, Mr. Evans is
the only Covered Employee participating in the plan. Payments made to Mr. Evans under the Non-equity Incentive
Plan are excluded from the provisions of Section 162(m). Therefore, during 2007, there were no deferrals made on
Mr. Evan's behalf. Details regarding Mr. Evans’s participation in the plan are set forth in the following table:

2007 Nonqualified Deferred Cbmpensarion Table

Executive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
Contributions in Contributions in Earnings in Withdrawals/ Balance at Last
) Last Fiscal Year Last Fiscal Year Last Fiscal Year Distributions Fiscal Year End
Name $ ($) ($) ($) $
Richard W. Evans, Ir. . ... — —_ 30,122 o 392,110

Phillip D. Green ........ — — — — —
Patrick B. Frost. . .. ... .. ’ — — — — —
David W. Beck, Ir. ...... —_— — — — -
Richard Kardys . . ... .. .. — — — — —

The earnings shown above are also reported in the Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Earnings column of the Summary Compensation Table,

Potential Payments on Termination

Under the existing change-in-control agreements, each Named Executive Officer could receive severance
payments of three times base salary and target bonus plus a prorated bonus payment if his position were terminated
by Cullen/Frost within two years following a change-in-control. The severance payment would be made in a lump
sum. In addition, the plan calls for a continuation of welfare benefits for three years as discussed previously in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

There are no other severance policies or employment contracts in place for the Named Executive Officers and,
generally, vesting of unvested stock options and restricted stock awards will not accelerate upon termination other
than in the event of a change-in-control. '

For calculation purposes, the change-in-control is assumed to have occurred on December 31, 2007, the last
business day of the year. The closing price of the stock on December 31, 2007 of $50.66 was used to calculate the
value of the Unvested Stock Option Spread and the value of the Unvested Restricted Stock.
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Change-in-Control Payments

Change-in-Control Payments Table

Prorata Unvested Unvested Welfare
Cash Bonus Stock Option Restricted Benefit
Severance Payment Spread Stock Values Excise Total
Name ®" $) $® ®"™ ®®  Tax® $)
Richard W. Evans, Jr. ... 3,825,000 525,000 162,674 4,559,400 26,340 — 9,098,414
Phillip D. Green ....... 1,800,000 200,000 40,588 1,129,718 22,326 — 3,192,632
Patrick B. Frost . ... . ... 1,522,500 157,500 26,940 851,088 25,346 — 2,583,374
David W. Beck, Jr. ... .. 1,522,500 157,500 31,146 1,038,530 20,854 —_— 2,770,530

Richard Kardys . ... .... 1,522,500 157,500 30,560 876,418 18,157 — 2,605,135

(1) The amounts shown as cash severance represent the base salary and target bonus for each Named Executive
Officer as of December 31, 2007, multiplied by three. The calculations for Mr. Evans are based on a target
bonus of 70% of his base salary earnings.

(2) The amounts shown above represent the prorata bonus payment as of December 31, 2007, which would be a full
year at the stated target.

(3) The amounts shown above represent the difference between the grant price and the closing market price on
December 31, 2007 of $50.66 on the unvested shares of stock options granted as of December 31, 2007.

(4) The amounts shown above represent the value of all unvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2007 using
the closing market price on December 31, 2007 of $50.66.

(5) The amounts shown above represent the present value of the portion of welfare benefits paid by Cullen/Frost for
each of the Named Executive Officers over a three-year period.

(6) Based on the assumptions described above, none of the payments and benefits that would have been payable to
the Named Executive Officers under the change-in-control agreements or other plans would have exceeded the
Internal Revenue Code Section 280G safeharbor limit. As a result, the payments and benefits described above
would not have been subject to an excise tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 4999. Accordingly, no excise
tax gross-up payments would have been payable under the change-in-control agreements.

Executive Stock Ownership

. The table below lists the number of shares of Cullen/Frost Common Stock beneficially owned by each of the
Named Executive Officers and by all Directors, nominees, and executive officers of Cullen/Frost as a group:

Shares Owned'"
Amount and Nature of

Name Beneficial Qwnership'” Percent
Richard W, Evans, JL.. . ... ..ot 618,395 1.05%
Phillip D. Green. .. ......oovvevirnnnn... (P 118,893® 0.20%
Patrick B. FTOSt . . .o i ittt it e e e e 925,729 1.57%
David W. Beck, Jr. ... o e e 78,845 0.13%
Richard Kardys ....... ... . ... .. . ... .. ... e 182,323 031%
All Directors, nominees and executive officers as a Groﬁp (21 persons) . ... .. 3,085,257 5.23%

(1) Beneficial ownership is stated as of December 31, 2007 except for Mr. Richard W, Evans, Jr. and Mr. Patrick B.
Frost which is stated as of February 29, 2008. The owners have sole voting and investment power for the shares
of Cullen/Frost Common Stock reported unless otherwise indicated. Beneficial ownership includes the
following shares that the individua!l had a right to acquire pursuant to stock options exercisable within sixty
(60) days from December 31, 2007 (or February 29, 2008 in the case of Mr. Richard W. Evans, Jr. and
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Mr. Patrick B. Frost): Mr. Richard W, Evans, Ir. 106,650; Mr. Phillip D. Green 34,925; Mr. Patrick B. Frost
22,875; Mr. David W. Beck, Jr. 31,625; Mr. Richard Kardys 45,875, and all Directors, nominees and executive
officers as a group 360,950,

(2) Includes the following shares allocated under the 401(k) Stock Purchase Plan for which each beneficial owner
has both sole voting and sole investment power: Mr. Richard W. Evans, Ir. 43,898; Mr. Phillip D. Green 23,193;
Mr. Patrick B. Frost 20,569; Mr. David W. Beck, Ir. 26,432; and Mr. Richard Kardys 26,683.

(3) Includes 120,003 shares held by a family limited partnership of which the general partner is a limited liability
company of which Mr. Richard W. Evans, Jr. is the sole manager.

(4) Includes (a) 707,493 shares held by a limited partmership of which the general partner is a limited liability
company of which Mr. Patrick B. Frost is the sole managing member, (b) 3,855 shares held by Mr. Patrick B.
Frost’s children for which Mr. Patrick B. Frost is the custodian, {c} 630 shares held by Mr. Patrick B. Frost’s
wife for which Mx. Patrick B. Frost disclaims beneficial ownership. With respect to the 707,493 shares held by a
limited partnership, Mr. Patrick B. Frost has sole voting rights over all shares, sole investment power over
70,749 shares and shared investment power over 636,744 shares. Mr. T.C. Frost may also have shared
investment power over 636,744 of these shares, See footnote (9) on page 6.

(5) Includes 731,544 shares for which Directors, nominees and executive officers share voting power and
investment power with others. Also includes 271,778 shares allocated under the 401(k) Steck Purchase Plan
for which the executive officers have both sole voting power and sole investment power.

(6) Includes 27,635 shares pledged by Mr. Green.

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

At December 31, 2007, the only persons known by Cullen/Frost, based on public filings, to be the beneficial
owners of more than five percent of the outstanding Common Stock of Cullen/Frost were as follows:

Voting Authority Investment Authority %?ﬁ:t—:lcti;f Percent
Name and Address Sole Shared None Sole Shared None Ownership of Class
Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc. . . . . . 261,198  -0-@ [,502,14) 190,684 56,581 1,516,074Y 4966678 85%
P. O. Box 1600
San Antonio, Texas 78296
Lord, Abbett & Co. LLC .. ... 3458634  -0- -0- 3,584,034 -0- -0- 3,584,034 6.13%

90 Hudson Street
Jersey City, New Jersey 07302

Entities associated with. . .. ... 2,681,772 -0- -0- 3,106,860 0- 0- 3,106,860 531%
Barclays Global Investors

45 Fremont Strect

San Francisco, California 94103

(1) Cullen/Frost owns no securities of Culten/Frost for its own account. All of the shares are held by Cullen/Frost’s
subsidiary bank, Frost Bank. Frost Bank has reported that the securities registered in its name as fiduciary, or in
the names of various of its nominees are owned by many separate accounts. The accounts are governed by
separate instruments, which set forth the powers of the fiduciary with regard to the securities held.

(2) Does not include 3,203,339 shares held by participants in the Cullen/Frost 401(k} Stock Purchase Plan.

(3) Based upon information in Schedule 13G filed on February 14, 2008, reporting ownership as of December 31,
2007,

(4) Based upon information in a Schedule 13G filed on February 5, 2008, reporting ownership as of December 31,
2007, by Barclays Global Investors, N.A., Barclays Global Fund Advisors, Barclays Global Investors, Lid,
Barclays Global Investors Japan Trust and Banking Company Limited, Barclays Global Investors Japan
Limited, Barclays Global Investors Canada Limited, Barclays Global Investors Australia Limited and Barclays
Global Investors (Deutschland) AG, each of which does not affirm the existence of a group. The reporting
entities, taken as a whole, report sole voting power with respect to 2,681,772 shares and sole dispositive power
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with respect to all 3,106,860 shares. According to the filing, the reported shares are held by the reporting entities
in trust accounts for the economic benefit of the beneficiaries of those accounts.

CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS AND RELATIONSHIPS

Some of the Directors and executive officers of Cullen/Frost, and some of these persons’ associates, are current
or past customers of one or more of Cullen/Frost’s subsidiaries. Since January 1, 2007, transactions between these
persons and such subsidiaries have occurred, including borrowings. In addition, the offices of the Hulen Financial
Center of Frost Bank in Fort Worth, Texas are leased on a long-term basis from 4200 South Hulen Partners, L.P. a
Texas limited partnership, of which Mr. R. Denny Alexander, a Director of Cullen/Frost, owns a 13.3 percent
interest and is the managing general partner. During 2007, lease payments of $812,666 were made by Frost Bank
and Frost Insurance Agency, Inc. to 4200 South Hulen Partners, L.P. In the opinion of management, all of the
foregoing transactions, including borrowings, have been in the ordinary course of business, have had substantially
the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions
with persons not related to the lender, and did not involve more than the normal risk of collectibility or present other
unfavorable features. Additional transactions may take place in the future.

Policies and Procedures for Review, Approval or Ratification of Related Person Transactions

The Board of Directors has adopted a written related-party transactions policy. Cullen/Frost regularly monitors
its business dealings and those of its Directors and executive officers to determine whether any existing or proposed
transactions would constitute a related-party transaction requiring approval under this policy. In addition, our Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics requires Directors and executive officers to notify Cullen/Frost of any relationships
or transactions that may present a conflict of interest, including those involving family members. Our Directors and
executive officers are also required to complete a questionnaire on an annual basis designed to elicit information
regarding any such related-party transactions.

When Cullen/Frost becomes aware of a proposed or existing transaction with a related party, Cullen/Frost’s
Corporate Counsel/Corporate Secretary, in consultation with management and external counsel, as appropriate,
determines whether the transaction would constitute a related-party transaction requiring approval under this policy.
If such a determination is made, management and Cullen/Frost’s Corporate Counsel/Corporate Secretary, in
consultation with external counsel, determine whether, in their view, the transaction should be permitted, whether it
should be modified to avoid any potential conflict of interest, whether it should be terminated, or whether some
other action should be taken. Such action is then referred to Cullen/Frost’s Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee, at its next meeting (or earlier, if appropriate}), for review and final determination as it deems
appropriate.

In determining whether to approve a related-party transaction, the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee will consider, among other factors, the following:

« whether the terms of the transaction are fair to Cullen/Frost and on the same basis as would apply if the
transaction did not involve a related party;

» whether there are business reasons for Cullen/Frost to enter into the transaction;
» whether the transaction would impair the independence of an outside director; and

» whether the transaction would present an improper conflict of interest for any related party of Cullen/Frost,
taking into account the size of the transaction, the overall financial position of the related party, the direct or
indirect nature of the related party’s interest in the transaction, and the ongoing nature of any proposed
relationship.

Any member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee who has an interest in the transaction
under discussion will abstain from voting on the approval of the transaction, but may, if so requested by the
Chairperson of the Committee, participate in some or all of the Committee’s discussions of the transaction.
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SELECTION OF AUDITORS
(ITEM 2 ON PROXY CARD)

The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders of Cullen/Frost ratify the selection of Ernst & Young
LLP, certified public accountants, as independent auditors of Cullen/Frost. Ernst & Young LLP have audited the
financial statements of Cullen/Frost since 1969.

Neither Cullen/Frost’s Articles of Incorporation nor its Bylaws require that the shareholders ratify the selection
of Ernst & Young LLP as its independent auditors, Cullen/Frost is doing so because it believes it is a matter of good
corporate practice. Should the shareholders not ratify the selection, the Audit Committee will reconsider its
determination to retain Ernst & Young LLP, but may elect to continue to retain Ernst & Young LLP. Even if the
selection is ratified, the Audit Committee, in its discretion, may change the appointment at any time during the year
if it determines that the change would be in the best interests of Cullen/Frost and its shareholders.

The following table provides information on fees paid by Cullen/Frost to Ernst & Young LLP.

Fees Paid To Independent Auditors

2007 2006
Audit Fees' .o $ 804,636.00 $ 731,275.00
Audit-Related Fees® . $ 231,900.00 $ 345,600.00
Tax Fees™ . ..o $  79.625.00 $ 106,550.00
A Other Fees . . oo et ot e et e e e e e e e e % 000 % 0.00
Total FEes .. oo vve e e e e $1,152,161.00  $1,183,425.00

(1) Audit fees for 2007 include fees for the audit of management’s assessment of the effectiveness of Cullen/Frost’s
internal coatrol over financial reporting.

(2) Audit-related fees are fees for audits of employee benefit plans, audits of Trust Department collective
investment funds, internal control reviews of Trust Department employee benefit operations, and consultation
concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.

(3) Tax fees arz fees for review of the tax return, assistance with examination by taxing authorities, preparation of
the Form 5500 for the employee retirement plan and for the Trust Department collective investment funds, and
consultation and technical advice on tax matters.

The Audit Committee pre-approves each audit and non-audit service provided by Emst & Young LLP to
Cullen/Frost. Pursuant to the Audit Committee’s charter, the Audit Committee has delegated to each of its members
the authority to pre-approve any audit or non-audit services to be performed by the independent auditors, provided
that any such approvals are presented to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

Representatives from Ernst & Young LLP are not expected to be present at the Annual Meeting. If any
shareholder desires to ask Ernst & Young LLP an appropriate question, management will ensure that the question is
sent to them and that an appropriate response is made directly to the shareholder.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in its oversight of (i) the integrity of
Cullen/Frost’s financial statements, (ii) Cullen/Frost’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (iii) the
independent auditors’ qualifications and independence, and (iv) the performance of the independent auditors and
Cullen/Frost’s internal audit function. The Audit Commiltee operates pursuant to a written charter that is available
at www.frosthank.com or in print, by contacting the Corporate Secretary, Stan McCormick at 100 West Houston
Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205, The Committee met six times in 2007. The Board has determined that each
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member of the Audit Committee is independent within the meaning of the NYSE’s rules and the SEC’s rules. The
Board has also determined that each member of the Audit Committee is “financially literate” and that at least one
member of the Audit Committee has “accounting or related financial management expertise,” in each case within
the meaning of the NYSE’s rules, In addition, the Board has determined that Mr, Ruben M., Escobedo is an “audit
committee financial expert” within the meaning of the SEC’s rules.

Management of Cullen/Frost is responsible for the preparation, presentation, and integrity of Cullen/Frost’s
financial statements, for the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and for the maintenance of
appropriate accounting and financial reporting principles and policies and internal controls and procedures that
provide for compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations. The independent auditors
are responsible for auditing Cullen/Frost’s financial statements, expressing an opinion as to conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles, and auditing management’s assessment of internal control over financial
reporting. Members of the Audit Committee are not full-time employees of Cullen/Frost and are not, and do not
represent themselves to be, performing the functions of auditors or accountants. Accordingly, as described above,
the Audit Committee provides oversight of the responsibilities of management and the independent auditors.

In the performance of its oversight function, the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited
financial statements with management and the independent auditors. The Audit Committee has also discussed with
the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61,
Communication with Audit Committees, as currently in effect. In addition, the Audit Committee has received the
written disclosures and the letter from the independent auditors required by Independence Standards Board
Standard No. L, Independence Discussions with Audit Committees, as currently in effect, and has discussed with the
independent auditors the independent auditors’ independence.

Based upon the reviews and discussions described in this report, and subject to the limitations on the role and
responsibilities of the Audit Committee referred to above and in its charter, the Audit Committee recommended to
the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in Cullen/Frost’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Ruben M. Escobedo, Committee Chairman
Royce S, Caldwell
Richard M. Kieberg, I1I
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SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 1€(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires Cullen/Frost’s Directors and executive officers
to file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the NYSE relating to their ownership and changes
in ownership of Cullen/Frost’s Common Stock. Based on information provided by Cullen/Frost’s Directors and
executive officers and a review of such reports, Cullen/Frost believes that all required reports were filed on a timely
basis during 2007, except that Mr. Paul Bracher made a late filing with respect to a purchase of shares through a
401(k) plan and a late filing with respect to shares owned but inadvertently omitted in a previous filing,
Mr. Crawford H. Edwards made a late filing with respect to a gift received, Mr. William L. Perotti made a late
filing with respect to shares sold by his spouse, and the following executive officers made a late filing with respect to
the withholding of restricted Common Stock upon vesting to pay withholding taxes: David W, Beck, Jr.,, Robert A.
Berman, Paul H. Bracher, Richard W. Evans, Jr., Patrick B. Frost, Richard Kardys, Paul J. Olivier, William L.
Perotti, and Emily A. Skillman,

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

To be eligible under the Securities and Exchange Commission’s shareholder proposal rule (Rule 14a-8) for
inclusion in Cullen/Frost’s proxy statement, proxy card, and presentation at Cullen/Frost’s 2009 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders (currently scheduled to be held on April 23, 2009), a proper shareholder proposal must be received by
Cullen/Frost at its principal offices no later than November 25, 2008. For a proper shareholder proposal submitted
outside of the process provided by Rute 14a-8 to be eligible for presentation at Cullen/Frost’s 2009 Annual Meeting,
timely notice thereof must be received by Cullen/Frost not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days before the date of
the meeting (for an April 23, 2009 meeting, the date on which the 2009 Annual Meeting is currently scheduled,
notice is required no earlier than January 23, 2009 and no later than February 22, 2009). The notice must be in the
manner and form required by Cullen/Frost’s Bylaws. If the date of the 2009 Annual Meeting is changed, the dates
set forth above will change.

OTHER MATTERS

Management of Cullen/Frost knows of no other business to be presented at the meeting. If other matters do
properly come before the meeting, the enclosed proxy confers discretionary authority on the persons named as
proxies to vote the shares represented by the proxy as to those other matters.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

ST itk

STAN McCORMICK
Executive Vice President
Corporate Counsel and Secretary

Dated: March 25, 2008

A copy of Cullen/Frost’s 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K is available without charge (except for exhibits,
which are available upon payment of a reasonable fee) upon written request to Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.,
Attention; Greg Parker, 100 West Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas 78205, Sharcholders may obtain copies of
Cullen/Frost’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as well as the charters
for its Audit Committee, Compensation and Benefits Committee, and Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee, by writing to the same address. In addition, copies are available on Cullen/Frost’s website at
www.frostbank.com.
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CuLLEN/FROST BANKERS,.ING.

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

100 West Houston STREET (z10) 220-4011

San AnTonro, TeExas 78205 FROSTBANK@FROSTBANK.COM

FROSTBANK.COM

GE RTIFICATIONS
The certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of Cullen/Frost Bankers, Inc.,
required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, have been filed as exhibits to Cullen/Frost’s
2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the certification of the Chief Executive Officer of

Cullen/Frost, fequired under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., has been filed with the Exchange,

Ford 1TO-K AND INVESTOR INQUIRIES

Analystg, investors and others desiring additional information about Cullen/Frost Bankers. [nc. may

contact Greg Parker, Executive Vice President. Director of Investor Relations, at {210) 2203632,

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Baxk or New York

101 Barcray StrReerT  No. 12 East - New York, NY 10286  1-800-524-4458
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